UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

The Integration of Support Persons into Maternity Care and Quality of Care in Kenya: A Person-Centered Approach

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/96c2c709

Author Nakphong, Michelle Kao

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

The Integration of Support Persons

into Maternity Care and Quality of Care in Kenya: A Person-Centered Approach

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in Community Health Sciences

by

Michelle Kao Nakphong

© Copyright by

Michelle Kao Nakphong

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

The Integration of Support Persons

into Maternity Care and Quality of Care in Kenya: A Person-centered Approach

by

Michelle Kao Nakphong Doctor of Philosophy in Community Health Sciences University of California, Los Angeles 2022 Professor May Sudhinaraset, Chair

<u>Background</u>: There is an urgent need to improve both the clinical and person-centered dimensions of quality during intrapartum care to reduce maternal mortality and morbidity and achieve health equity in Kenya. Substandard care has been identified in 9 of 10 maternal deaths in Kenya and evidence shows that women of lower social position (e.g., younger, less educated, unmarried) have poorer access to quality care. The World Health Organization (WHO) quality of care (QoC) framework for maternal and newborn health has identified women's access to their preferred social and emotional support as one essential component of the experience of care, but facilitating social support tends not to be prioritized by providers and facilities. Many support persons (SPs) encounter policies barring their presence, endure negative provider attitudes, and lack means to interact with women and providers. However, a gap in the literature includes an examination of how health care systems can better facilitate the support that women need and want during maternity care. Moreover, integrating SPs into maternity care and facilitating their supportive roles improves how providers' treatment and care for women. SPs can garner more respectful treatment and advocate on behalf of women, which is especially important in Kenya where women frequently encounter mistreatment and lack autonomy in their own health care. Although integration of SPs has been proposed to improve QoC, existing studies have narrowly focused on mistreatment and overlooked other elements of QoC (i.e., other experience of care measures, clinical quality), representing a major gap in literature.

<u>Theory</u>: The theoretical framework for this study builds upon the World Health Organization (WHO) quality of care (QoC) framework for maternal and newborn health, incorporating concepts from the person-centered care framework for reproductive health equity. The framework uses a systems-approach by situating these concepts within the socioecological model.

<u>Purpose</u>: This study aims to address these gaps and proposes a new concept in the support literature, the *Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)* into maternity care, which refers to the extent to which SPs are integrated into care that is respectful and responsive to women's needs and preferences. This includes <u>communicating information to SPs</u>, facilitating <u>decision-making support</u>, making them feel welcome, and engaging with their questions and <u>concerns</u>.

<u>Methods</u>: The objective of this study was to examine how PC-ISP in maternity care is associated with women's and SPs' reports of QoC. This research used novel data from the Strengthening Person-Centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study in Kenya, which surveyed both women and SPs at six facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties about their experiences of maternity care. I developed survey questions based on the PC-ISP concept that

iii

were administered to both women (n=1,138) and SPs (n=606) to better understand women's preferences for PC-ISP and women's and SPs' experiences of PC-ISP. I used multivariable regression models to examine PC-ISP by women's social status and SP types, assess how PC-ISP is associated with QoC outcomes specified by the WHO QoC framework, and assess how facility factors relating to capacity modify those associations.

<u>Results</u>: This study provides detailed evidence regarding women's unmet need for support, showing that women wanted support from their SPs in different ways than previously measured: consulting on decisions, wanting SPs to know and understand their condition and care, and opportunities for SPs to engage with providers about their questions and concerns. But, in practice, a substantial proportion of women reported that their SPs were not integrated in these ways. I found disparities in SP integration; for example, women with low-income, low-prestige occupations were less likely to report that SPs were welcome to ask questions and male partners were less likely to report being given information about women's condition and care compared to mothers/mothers-in-law. Facility factors, such as number of providers assisting delivery and SPs' perception of crowding, were consistently positively associated with SP integration, while facility types (i.e., public hospital, private hospital, public health centre/dispensary) displayed inconsistent positive and negative associations with SP integration. Findings also highlighted how women's experiences of PC-ISP is associated with women's positive experiences of care, better clinical care experiences, higher satisfaction with care, and greater willingness to return to facilities for care, but mixed evidence of SPs' experiences associated with QoC, finding positive associations with increased key practices and women's satisfaction, but negative associations with willingness to return to the facility. Results also showed that associations between women's experiences of PC-ISP and QoC were modified by facilities' capacity: I found evidence of

stronger positive associations between PC-ISP and Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC) and key practices at facilities with higher patient-volumes and higher patient:bed ratios (i.e., crowded).

<u>Conclusions</u>: Findings from this study provide insight into how health systems can practically increase support for women, address disparities in who has access to SPs, and improve clinical and person-centered QoC. Particularly in crowded facilities with high-patient volumes, integrating SPs may help facilitate high quality care. Greater efforts are needed to integrate SPs in ways that keep women at the center of their own care, including developing methods to assess and respect women's preferences for support during care, educating SPs in how to constructively provide support in conjunction with providers, training providers on how to integrate SPs in equitable yet standardized ways, and creating accountability systems to ensure policies and practices are implemented equitably. Interventions to better integrate SPs can be a low-cost and person-centered approach to improve QoC in maternity care in Kenya.

The dissertation of Michelle Kao Nakphong is approved.

Anne R. Pebley

Jessica D. Gipson

Hiram Beltran-Sanchez

Elisa F. Long

Patience Afulani

May Sudhinaraset, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

DEDICATIONS

This dissertation is dedicated to all the women who birthed alone but needed and wanted support. May this research increase women's access to support persons and the advocacy they deserve. Thank you also to all the Kenyan women who participated in the SPARQ study and shared their experiences about maternity care.

Thank you to my incredible chair, Dr. May Sudhinaraset, for all of your mentorship and guidance throughout my Ph.D. program and the dissertation process. Years ago, I came to you with an idea about women's preferences for support during childbirth and you nurtured it into a dissertation and a research agenda. Thank you for your generosity and openness to welcome me onto your studies, add completely new questions to your survey, and collaborate with you on project after project. I have learned so much from you about being an investigator, a leader, balancing work and family life, and just being a good person overall. I have loved working with you and learned how to love doing research through your example. I look forward to continuing to work with you over the years.

Thank you to my wonderful committee members, who have contributed tremendously to this dissertation work and provided expert guidance and mentorship. Thank you Dr. Pebley, whose challenge to contextualize this research more and to explain things in plain language has profoundly shaped not only how I approached my dissertation, but all of the research I do. Thank you to Dr. Beltran-Sanchez who has been a tremendous methodological mentor, just given so much of your time and expertise to making this research rigorous, and a joy to collaborate with.

Dr. Gipson, thank you for your approach to keeping women at the center of their own care and to amplify women's voices. Thank you for your support from the very beginning of my program. Thank you to Dr. Long for your systems approach to quality of care. I am so grateful for how you have influenced my thinking about selection effects and endogeneity. Thank you also for your friendship as we went through pregnancy and birth of our second children right around the same time. And thank you to Dr. Afulani for the tremendous feedback you've given and the groundwork you laid in person-centered care. This research builds on the foundation that you developed, and I might have cited you on every page of this dissertation.

Thank you to my friends who have been with me through moves across states and oceans. A huge thank you to my parents who instilled curiosity in me and who have always supported me and my siblings, Pauline and Phil, who are always ready with a hug and a funny story.

And lastly, thank you to my children, Pascal and Bruno, and my partner, Aggapop "AJ" Nakphong. Pascal and Bruno, thank you for keeping me grounded and all your hugs and kisses that motivated me to finish this dissertation. AJ, you have been my ultimate support person and inspired this research by being a fearless advocate during my first birth experience, ensuring that care was high quality and respectful. You have been my ever constant support, a sounding board ready to give constructive feedback, a caring father to Pascal and Bruno, and you always make sure our family has eaten well.

Funding

Thank you to the California Center for Population Research and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation for providing funding for this research. The contents of this dissertation do not represent their views and they had no part in data collection, analysis, publication, or presentation of the findings.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION
COMMITTEEError! Bookmark not defined.
DEDICATIONS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
List of Acronymsxiii
List of Figures and Tablesxiii
Chapter 1. Background
Significance1
Specific Aims
Chapter 2. Literature Review
1. Improving the quality of care in maternity care: the provision and experience of care 15
2. Social support: an essential domain of quality care
3. Barriers to support persons in maternity care: providers and institutions
4. Proposal of the Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity
care
Chapter 3. Conceptual Framework
Chapter 4. Methods
Setting
Data
PC-ISP themes and survey questions
Analyses
Chapter 5. Who wants and has access to support during childbirth?: Understanding women's preferences and experiences of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP): Aim 1
Abstract 71
Introduction
Methods
Results 82
<i>Aim 1a: Examine the individual, support persons', household, and facility-level determinants of women's preferences for PC-ISP</i>

Aim 1b: Examine the individual, support persons', household, and facility-level determinants of experiences of PC-ISP	women's 89
Discussion	
Study Implications	103
Chapter 6. Centering support persons' experiences of maternity care: results persons' surveys: Aim 2	from support 105
Abstract	105
Introduction	106
Methods	110
Results	
Discussion	127
Study Implications	
Chapter 7. How does integrating support persons influence the quality of care Associations of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) wit centered and clinical outcomes: Aim 3	?: h person-
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Results Aim 3a: Estimate how women's and support persons' reports of PC-ISP are associated with wor person-centered quality of care outcomes	
Aim 3b: Estimate how women's and support persons' reports of PC-ISP are associated with wor clinical quality of care outcomes Sub-Aim 3c: Examine the degree that facility factors moderate associations between PC-ISP and 170	nen's reports of 167 d QoC outcomes
Discussion	
Study Implications	
Chapter 8. Conclusions and Research, Practice, and Policy Implications	
Research Implications	
Practice Implications	195
Policy implications	197
Conclusions	199
Appendices	200
Appendix 5A-C. Chapter 5 appendices	
Appendix 6A-E. Chapter 6 appendices	
Appendix 7A-E. Chapter 7 appendices	

R	References	238
	Appendix B. Sensitivity analyses using alternative constructions of the PC-ISP score	234
	Appendix A. SP types, number of SPs, and timing of support: Sub-Aim 2b	217

List of Acronyms

Acronym	Meaning
PC-ISP	Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons
PCMC	Person-Centered Maternity Care
QoC	Quality of Care
SP	Support person
WHO	World Health Organization

List of Figures and Tables

Figure Description	Page
Figure 1.1 Analytical Model and Proposed Study Aims	9
Figure 2.1 Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP), the	14
intersection of Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC) and social support	
Figure 3.1 Theoretical Framework	50
Figure 7.1 Associations between women's reported PC-ISP measures and	162
PCMC sub-domains	
Figure 7.2 Predicted probabilities of willingness to return to the facility by	164
women's reported PC-ISP combined score, logistic regression results	
Figure 7.3 Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and	169
maternal/newborn key practices using OLS	
Figure 7.4 Moderating effect of total bed numbers on PC-ISP and PCMC,	172
satisfaction, and key practices	
Figure 7.5 Moderating effect of patient:bed ratio on PC-ISP and PCMC and	173
key practices	

Table Description	Page
Table 4.1. PC-ISP variables and survey questions	58
Table 4.2. Variable list by aims	65
Table 5.1 Women-reported PC-ISP measures	77
Table 5.2 Descriptive characteristics of the sample of women	83
Table 5.3 Frequencies of PC-ISP preferences and reports	85
Table 5.4 Factors associated with summative PC-ISP preferences variable	86
using OLS	
Table 5.5 Multivariate logistic models for individual women's PC-ISP	88
preference indicators	
Table 5.6 Factors associated with total woman-reported PC-ISP experiences	89
using OLS	

Table 5.7 Factors associated with the combined PC-ISP experience score,	91
random intercept model	
Table 5.8 Multivariable logistic models for separate PC-ISP experience	93
indicators	
Table 6.1 PC-ISP indicators included in the SPs' survey	111
Table 6.2 Descriptive characteristics of the sample of SPs	119
Table 6.3 Frequencies of SP-reported PC-ISP experiences	121
Table 6.4 Multivariable logistic regression results for PC-ISP indicators:	124
provided information about women, provided information about newborn,	
welcome to ask questions	
Table 6.5 Multivariable results for PC-ISP indicators: help decide during	126
health care, and help speak up during health care	
Table 7.1 PC-ISP indicators, for women's and SPs' surveys	149
Table 7.2 Outcome distributions among the sample of women	160
Table 7.3 Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and PCMC scores	161
using OLS	
Table 7.4 Associations between SPs' reported PC-ISP and women's reported	161
PCMC using OLS	
Table 7.5 Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and satisfaction	163
with care using OLS	
Table 7.6 Associations between SP-reported PC-ISP scores and women's	164
satisfaction with care using OLS	
Table 7.7 Associations between women's PC-ISP scores and willingness to	165
return to the facility using logistic regression	
Table 7.8 Associations between SPs' PC-ISP and women's willingness to	166
return to the facility using logistic regression	
Table 7.9 Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and coverage of	168
key clinical practices using OLS	
Table 7.10 Associations between SP-reported PC-ISP and key practices	169
using OLS	
Table 7.11 Facility capacity measures	170
Table 7.12 Interactions between woman-reported PC-ISP and total beds in	171
the facility (mean-centered) using linear and logistic regression	
Table 7.13 Interactions between woman-reported PC-ISP and patient:bed	173
ratio (mean-centered) using linear and logistic regression	

Michelle K. Nakphong

EDUCATION

Ph.D. Community Health Sciences, expected 2022, University of California, Los Angeles Minor: Management, Anderson School of Management
M.A. Urban Leadership, 2015, Azusa Pacific University, Azusa, California
B.A. Public Health, Natural Sciences, 2003, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland

SELECTED EXPERIENCE

Graduate Student Researcher, UCLA, 2018-2022 Program Manager, Mae Fah Luang Foundation, Thailand 2015-2017 Co-Director, Thai Peace Foundation, Thailand 2012-2015 Community Organizer, Thai Peace Foundation, 2007-2012 Research Assistant and Lab Coordinator, UCLA Semel Institute, 2003-2006

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Sudhinaraset M, Choi HY, **Nakphong MK**, Woofter R, Brindis CD. Contraceptive use and the role of Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals: a cross-sectional survey of undocumented young adults. *Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare*. 2022; In press.

Nakphong MK, De Trinidad Young ME, Morales B, Guzman IY, Chen L, Kietzman KG. Social exclusion at the intersections of immigration, employment, and healthcare policy: a qualitative study of Mexican and Chinese immigrants in California. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2022; 298, 114833.

Nakphong MK, Sacks EM, Opot J, Sudhinaraset M. The association between newborn separation, maternal consent, and health outcomes: findings from a longitudinal study in Kenya. *BMJ Open.* 2021; 11(9):e045907.

Ro A, **Nakphong MK**, Choi HY, Nguyen A, Sudhinaraset M. The association between social ties and depression among Asian and Pacific Islander undocumented young adults. *BMC Public Health*. 2021; 21:994.

Nakphong MK and Beltran-Sanchez H. Socioeconomic status and the double burden of malnutrition in Cambodia between 2000 and 2014: overweight mothers and stunted children. *Public Health Nutrition*. 2021; 24(7): 1806-1817.

Sudhinaraset M, Giessler KM, **Nakphong MK**, Roy KP, Sahu AB, Sharma K, Montagu D, Greene CE. Can changes to improve person-centered maternity care be spread across public health facilities in Uttar Pradesh, India? *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*. 2021; 29(1):1-15.

Montagu D, Giessler KM, **Nakphong MK**, Green C, Roy KP, Sahu AB, Sharma K, Sudhinaraset M. A comparison of intensive vs. light-touch quality improvement for maternal health in Uttar Pradesh, India. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2020; 20(1):1121

Montagu D, Giessler KM, **Nakphong MK**, Roy KP, Sahu AB, Sharma K, Green CE, Sudhinaraset M. Results of a person-centered maternal health quality improvement intervention in Uttar Pradesh, India. *PLOS One*. 2020; 15(12):e0242909

Nakphong MK and von Ehrenstein OS. Intimate partner violence and childhood illnesses in Cambodia: a cross-sectional study. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*. 2020; 105: 223-228.

Lazalde G and **Nakphong MK.** YouTube as lactation consultant: A content analysis of breastfeeding videos on YouTube. *Public Health Review*. 2019; 2(1):1-13.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS

Sudhinaraset M, **Nakphong MK**, Young ME. Latinx and Asian immigrants face high levels of job exclusion, workplace violations in California. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for Health Policy Research

Kao, HM. Effective cooperatives: Ideology, disappointment, and success. *The New Urban World Journal*. 2013; 2(2): 21-33.

SELECTED PRESENTATIONS

Nakphong MK*, Afulani PA, and Sudhinaraset M. Who wants and has access to support during childbirth?: An examination of integrating support persons into maternity care in Kenya. Poster presentation, Population Association of America, April 6-9, 2022

Nakphong MK* and Sudhinaraset M. Person-centered integration of support persons into maternity care (PC-ISP) in Kenya: Examining the context of access to support during childbirth. Oral presentation, American Public Health Association Annual Meeting, October 27, 2021.

Chapter 1. Background

Significance

The need to improve the quality of maternity care in Kenya

Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for approximately two-thirds (196,000) of the world's maternal deaths (The World Bank, 2019). In Kenya, it is estimated that 342 women die per 100,000 births between childbirth and the 42 days following pregnancy (The World Bank, 2017). These estimates still far exceed the Sustainable Development Goal target of reducing maternal deaths to less than 70 per 100,000 births (WHO, 2017a). The leading causes of death (e.g., hemorrhage, hypertensive disorders, etc.) are considered preventable, and highlight the need for appropriate diagnosis, treatment, and management (Khan et al., 2006; Partnership for Maternal Health, 2011; WHO, 2015).

While Kenya has made notable social progress in the past two decades, reaching several Millennium Development Goals including reduced child mortality and narrowed gender gaps in education (UNDP Kenya & Ministry of Devolution and Planning, 2013), maternal health indicators observed only modest improvements. For example, the annual rate of reduction for the maternal mortality ratio was only 4.3% between 2000 and 2017—these gains are short of the 6.1% rate of reduction needed to reach 2030 targets (WHO, 2019).

Low quality of care in Kenya is consistently cited as a crucial factor that must be addressed to increase utilization of maternal health services and improve outcomes (Escamilla et al., 2018; Keats et al., 2017; Sharma et al., 2017). This was underscored by the recent 2017 Kenyan Ministry of Health report which identified substandard facility-based care (e.g., delays in starting treatment, inadequate monitoring) for 9 out of 10 maternal deaths (Godia et al., 2017). Moreover, the experience of care has emerged as an important dimension of the quality of care meriting attention. Expectations of negative attitudes and behavior of health care staff, such as harassment or neglect are among the most common reasons for avoiding facility deliveries, and reports indicate that some women call facilities in advance to check which staff are on duty to make decisions about delivering in certain facilities (Wubs et al., 2016). Mistreatment of women during maternity care is also prevalent, with studies estimating that one-in-five women in Kenya report being treated disrespectfully or feeling humiliated during maternity care (Abuya et al., 2015). Negative experiences of care can undermine efforts to improve maternal and newborn health (Bohren, Mehrtash, et al., 2019; Bradley et al., 2016a), and thus, a focus on improving women's experience of care as a crucial dimension of quality of care is needed. New strategies are needed to improve clinical and person-centered dimensions of the quality of maternity care.

Integrating support persons may improve the quality of maternity care

Giving birthing women (henceforth referred to as "women") access to their social support person (SP) of choice is one essential component of quality of care defined by the WHO Quality of Care (QoC) framework for maternal and newborn health (Tunçalp et al., 2015). In addition, the receipt of social support during intrapartum care is associated with multiple positive birth and health outcomes such as shorter labors, fewer cesarean deliveries, improved breastfeeding outcomes, and better postpartum mental health (Bohren et al., 2017; Hodnett et al., 2012).

However, women are still commonly denied SPs during maternity care in Kenya and lack advocates during care (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Studies also show that SPs continue to face provider and facility barriers in providing support to women including negative attitudes from providers, denial of information about care, and lacking permission or space to stay with women in maternity wards (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Kaye

et al., 2014). Consequently, women may have less opportunities to be involved in their own care, be neglected when they need medical attention, and are vulnerable to mistreatment (Balde et al., 2020; M. K. Longworth et al., 2015; McMahon et al., 2015).

Integrating SPs into maternity care is one potential strategy to improve women's experience of care and improve outcomes by centering SPs in the context of women's care (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). Integrating SPs by giving women opportunities to consult SPs on decisions, making SPs feel welcome, providing SPs with information, or engaging with SPs' questions or concerns, is posited to increase support for women and thus improve health outcomes (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). Research suggests that when SPs are integrated in care, providers behave differently and provide higher quality of care—a reason that may explain why social support is associated with positive outcomes (Keirse et al., 1989; Kozhimannil et al., 2016). Emerging literature supports this theory, showing that having an SP present during maternity care is associated with lower mistreatment and higher person-centered care in Kenya (Abuya et al., 2015; Balde et al., 2020; Kiti et al., 2022). This suggests that SP integration may also be associated with other dimensions of QoC, such as clinical quality.

Methodologically, current concepts and measurement of SP integration has focused mainly on labor and delivery companionship, although this may not align with women's preferences since studies have shown that up to 60% of Kenyan women do not want a companion during labor and/or delivery (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021). Instead, qualitative evidence suggests that women do want their SPs integrated into their care in other ways, such as bridging communication with providers and consulting for decisions (Bondas-Salonen, 1998; Tokhi et al., 2018). A more detailed

investigation of women's preferences for SP integration and the processes of support (rather than on the receipt of support) is needed.

In addition, although literature recommends greater SP integration in maternity care, there is little information about how much integration occurs in practice and whether SPs are integrated differentially according to women's or SPs' social status. Some studies have shown that the proportion of women who were allowed a companion in Kenya is still low (only 6-42% and 4-16% of women report being allowed labor and delivery companionship, respectively) (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Moreover, evidence sugggests that providers discriminatorily allow women access to SPs, for example, wealthier, employed, and literate women are almost twice as likely to be allowed companion support compared to the poorest, unemployed, and literate women (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). More information is needed about SPs' experience of care, the extent that SPs are integrated in various ways and if disparities exist in SP integration according to women's or SPs' social status.

Lastly, a health systems perspective is needed to effectively design interventions (Darling, 2007). Normalized provider practices, facility policies, and facility capacity contribute to the exclusion of SPs in maternity care and must be addressed for programs and policies to successfully integrate SPs (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017). Furthermore, evidence suggests that integrating SPs in settings where SPs are not normally allowed has a greater effect on positive health outcomes (e.g., lower likelihood of cesarean deliveries, needing pain medication) (Bohren et al., 2017) indicating that SPs may critically interact with the context of the health care environment to influence the delivery of care and women's experiences of care. Little quantitative research has focused on what facility factors contribute to SP integration and potentially moderate associations between SP integration and

QoC. A multi-level examination will help illuminate facility-level factors that may be targeted for interventions to integrate SPs. The specific aims for this research are:

Specific Aims

This research describes and examines the new concept of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP), which is defined as the extent to which SPs are integrated into care that is respectful and responsive to women's needs and preferences, ensuring that women's needs and preferences guide clinical decisions (Institute of Medicine (US), 2001; Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). This includes communicating information to SPs, facilitating decision-making support, making them feel welcome, and engaging with their questions and concerns. Leveraging unique data of women and SPs from the Strengthening Person-Centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study in Kenya. The SPARQ study surveyed women who recently delivered at six facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties before discharge. Data were collected from 1,138 women who had an SP (or SPs) and 606 of their SPs about their experiences of care. This study aimed to understand women's and SPs' experiences of PC-ISP, identify disparities in PC-ISP across women's and SPs' social status, and assess how PC-ISP is associated with PCMC and QoC outcomes. Figure 1.1 graphically presents the proposed aims and conceptual model for this study. The specific aims for this research are:

Aim 1: Examine the women's, support persons', household, and facility-level determinants of <u>women's</u> a) preferences for PC-ISP and b) experiences of PC-ISP. Literature indicates that preferences to involve SPs in care have changed over time and that younger, more educated women desire greater involvement from their social networks. Thus, for Aim 1a, I hypothesized that women who are younger, more educated, born in Nairobi/Kiambu

counties (i.e., non-migrants) (individual-level), have an SP present during labor and/or delivery (SP-level), have more household decision-making power (household-level), and deliver at private facilities (vs. public) (facility-level) are more likely to prefer PC-ISP. **Aim 1b** investigated patterns of PC-ISP experiences and how they may be differentially associated with the social position of women and SPs. Maternal health care literature has highlighted that facility-based care is frequently marked by social hierarchy and that women of lower social position are subject to worse treatment from providers and lower QoC. I hypothesized that women of lower social position, that is, those who are younger, less educated, not born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties (individual-level factors), who have a type of SP (or SPs) who are of lower social position, for example, non-male partners (vs. male partner) (SP-level), have less household decision-making power (household-level), deliver at public facilities (vs. private), and whose deliveries are assisted by doctors/clinical officers (vs. midwives, nurses etc.) (facility-level) are less likely to report experiences of PC-ISP.

Aim 2: Examine the associations between women's, support persons', dyadic, household, and facility-level factors and <u>support persons'</u> experiences of PC-ISP. Given that women of lower social position are subject to worse treatment from providers, I also expected that SPs of lower social position are also more likely to experience worse treatment from providers. Literature also suggests that the facility environment (e.g., crowding, infrastructure) also influences the degree to which providers integrate SPs. For **Aim 2**, I hypothesized that SPs who are younger, have lower occupational prestige, are not male partners (SP-level), accompany younger, less educated women, who were not born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties (woman-level), report lower relational connectedness (dyad-level), assist women who less household decisionmaking power (household-level), deliver at public hospitals, and whose deliveries are assisted by

doctors (facility-level) are less likely to report higher PC-ISP. I also hypothesized that SPs who report poorer perceptions of the facility environment (facility-level) are less likely to report higher PC-ISP.

Sub-Aim 2b: Explore the associations between women's, support persons', dyadic, household, and facility-level factors and types of SPs, number of SPs, and their timing of support. This exploration sought to highlight potential factors that shape the characteristics of women's SPs and support by examining bivariate associations. Little research has explored factors associated with having different types of SPs (e.g., male partners, mothers, mothers-inlaw, sisters, other family, friends, etc.), number of SPs, and timing of support (e.g., accompanying to the hospital, labor and/or delivery, post-partum). I hypothesized that i) the type of SPs (reported by women and SPs), ii) number of SPs (reported by women) and iii) and the timing of support (reported by women and SPs) differed by women's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility factors.

Aim 3: Estimate how women's and support persons' reports of PC-ISP are associated with women's reports of quality of care (QoC) outcomes specified by the WHO QoC framework: a) person-centered outcomes and b) clinical care outcomes. For Aim 3a, I examined how PC-ISP is associated with women's experience of care, measured by the Personcentered maternity care (PCMC) scale (30-item). I conceptualize a bi-directional relationship between PC-ISP and PCMC and that they mutually reinforce one another. Thus, I hypothesized that both women's and SPs' PC-ISP are positively associated with PCMC. PCMC and PC-ISP are also posited to improve the provision of clinical care, which, in turn, improves other personcentered outcomes including *satisfaction with care* and *willingness to return* to the facility. Aim **3b** examines associations between PC-ISP and a clinical QoC outcome, *coverage of key*

practices. I hypothesized that both women's and SPs' PC-ISP experiences are positively associated with both person-centered and clinical QoC outcomes, net of individual, household, and facility factors.

Sub-Aim 3c: Examine the degree that facility factors related to capacity moderates associations between PC-ISP and QoC outcomes. Providers commonly cite staff shortages, lack of material resources, and crowding as reasons why they cannot integrate SPs or provide supportive care. However, evidence suggests that in settings where quality is poor and SPs are not allowed, SPs may have a greater influence on maternity care and health outcomes. Therefore, I hypothesized that facility capacity factors (i.e., staff capacity, patient volume, and crowding) moderates associations between PC-ISP and QoC outcomes, such that at understaffed, crowded facilities with high-patient volumes, PC-ISP is more strongly associated with higher QoC compared to well-staffed, uncrowded facilities with low-patient volumes.



Figure 1.1. Analytical Model and Proposed Study Aims

Aim 2: Examine support persons' PC-ISP

Overview of the dissertation

In Chapter 2, I present a review of the literature situating this study on integrating SPs at the intersection of person-centered care and social support literatures. I then ground this study in the WHO QoC framework for maternal and newborn health and describe the person-centered approach. I also highlight provider and facility barriers to SPs, showing that these factors must be addressed to integrate SPs across the health care system. Finally, I propose the Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity care concept and sub-domains, describing how it fills gaps in literature and measurement. In Chapter 3, I present the conceptual framework for this study. I conceptualize PC-ISP as a component of an integrated framework comprising the WHO QoC framework, Personcentered Maternity Care (PCMC), and the socioecological model. PC-ISP is conceptualized as a complement to PCMC as both are constructs that mututally reinforce each other. PC-ISP and PCMC interact with the provision of care (i.e., technical delivery of care) within the WHO QoC framework and are embedded within interconnected levels of the social and physical context (SP relationship/households, facilities, broader socioeconomic context).

In Chapter 4, I describe the methods used in this study. I describe the social and health care setting of Nairobi and Kiambu counties in Kenya where this study takes place. I also provide information about my data source for this dissertation research, the Strengthening Person-centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study. I present the PC-ISP questions administered to women and SPs and describe the combined PC-ISP scores, including their construction and measures of reliability. I also preesent information about other multi-level factors examined and QoC variables in line with the WHO QoC framework. I also describe the analytical methods used for each of the aims including sensitivity analyses and methods to address confounding and clustering by facility.

In Chapter 5, I present the study corresponding to Aim 1. The objective in this chapter was to examine women's a) preferences for integrating SPs and b) experiences of whether SPs were integrated into their care using PC-ISP measures reported by women. Results of this study indicate that women desired specific ways of integrating SPs aside from birth companionship but that these preferences varied by women's, SPs', and household characteristics. Findings also highlight how women and SPs were treated differently due to differences in social status, SP types, and facility characteristics.

Chapter 6 presents the study corresponding to Aim 2. The objective of this chapter was to examine how SPs perceive being integrated into care using PC-ISP measures. Results of this study highlight poor communication between providers and SPs and SPs' subsequent lack of information about care. Findings also highlight facility crowding as an important factor influencing SP integration.

In Chapter 7, I present the study that addresses Aim 3. The primary objective of this study was to estimate associations between PC-ISP experiences and QoC indicators specified by the WHO QoC framework. Using both women and SP-reported PC-ISP measures, I found evidence that PC-ISP was associated with women's greater satisfaction with care and coverage of key practices, but mixed evidence that PC-ISP is associated with higher person-centered maternity care and willingness to return to the facility. The secondary objective was to examine how facility factors related to capacity modify PC-ISP and QoC associations. Using data reported by facilities about their capacity for patient volume, crowding, and staffing, I found evidence of a statistical interaction between PC-ISP and facility measures of patient volume and crowding.

Chapter 8 discusses the findings from studies presented in chapters 5 through 7, including themes and contradictions found across studies, such as the tension highlighted between women's autonomy and experiences of integrating SPs. I also discuss limitations emphasizing the constraints of PC-ISP measures and the study design on causal inference, strengths of the PC-ISP concept relative to gaps in literature, and methodological considerations for this study. Finally, I conclude with directions for future research and implications for policy and practice, providing recommendations for efforts to integrate SPs in Nairobi and Kiambu counties and beyond.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

Introduction

This research aims to understand how integrating support persons into maternity care influences quality of care (QoC) in Kenya. In this dissertation, I define a support person (SP) as a lay person (i.e., those who are not medical professionals employed by the facility) who accompanies or remains with a birthing woman (henceforth referred to as "women") in or near the maternity ward during labor, delivery or postpartum to provide social support (Maimbolwa et al., 2001; Simmonds et al., 2012). Integrating SPs involves creating a welcoming environment for SPs, facilitating opportunities for women to consult with SPs for decision-making, and educating and informing SPs about the processes of care (Alio et al., 2013; Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Brüggemann et al., 2007; Mgawadere et al., 2019; Tokhi et al., 2018). The extent to which providers integrate SPs during intrapartum care determines the degree to which SPs can adequately support women. For example, when SPs are informed about women's condition and procedures, they can better practically assist women and providers, monitor women's conditions and advocate on their behalf, as well as arrange postpartum caregiving. Integrating SPs is also important for longer-term health including decreased postpartum depression, decreased low Apgar scores (the status of a newborn's overall condition), and decreased prolonged newborn hospital stays (Bohren et al., 2017; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018).

In this study, I propose the *Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity care* and define it <u>as the extent to which SPs are integrated into care that is</u> <u>respectful and responsive to women's needs and preferences, ensuring that women's needs and</u> <u>preferences guide clinical decisions (Institute of Medicine (US), 2001).</u> I conceptualize PC-ISP as addressing gaps at the intersection of the Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC) and social support literatures (Figure 2.1).

First, PCMC refers to the delivery of care that is respectful of and responsive to women's needs and preferences, ensuring that it guides all clinical decisions (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). PCMC addresses some aspects of how maternity care can facilitate social support, such as whether women were allowed companions or could receive food and supplies; however, it does not highlight the process or extent to which SPs are integrated into care. In addition, PCMC focuses primarily on women's experiences of care. Although it acknowledges that women are embedded in families and social networks and that SPs, families and social networks are also beneficiaries of the health system, PCMC does not incorporate SPs' experiences of care. PC-ISP captures the SPs' experiences of care and centers SPs in the context of women's care.

Second, social support during childbirth broadly refers to women's receipt of support to facilitate her transition from pregnancy to motherhood (Leahy-Warren, 2018). Support literature has focused on the types of support women receive (e.g., companionship, emotional support, informational support, etc.) but PC-ISP is focused on the *processes* of support, highlighting the SP and their experiences, and acknowledging that they shape the support received by women. Social support literature has also shown multiple positive outcomes associated with the receipt of increased social support such as less reported mistreatment of women (defined as physical or verbal abuse, discrimination, non-consented procedures and non-supportive care), shorter labors, decreased need for pain medication, and fewer cesarean deliveries, among others (Abuya et al., 2015; Bohren et al., 2017; Chalmers & Wolman, 1993; Hodnett et al., 2012). This research on PC-ISP bridges the PCMC and social support literatures by calling attention to how the health

care system integrates SPs into care-a process of support-and investigates its associations with

person-centered and clinical QoC outcomes.





The following literature review comprises four sections. In the first section, I ground the present study in the World Health Organization (WHO) Quality of Care Framework for Maternal and Newborn Health. I also use PCMC to guide this inquiry within women's and SPs' experience of care. In the second section, I present literature on social support as an essential component of quality care. I discuss extant literature on the positive benefits of social support and women's preferences for support. Here, I also reconceptualize the role of the SP, assuming a broader definition than what has been used in most literature and note that an understanding of how SPs influence multiple aspects of the delivery of care (e.g., beyond mistreatment) represents a major gap in literature. In section 3, I present literature about how the health system presents barriers for women to access SPs and highlight that integration of SPs has been proposed to

address these barriers. Lastly, in section 4, I propose a definition for the *Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)* into maternity care. I also describe themes in literature, propose sub-domains of PC-ISP, and discuss the limitations of existing concepts and measures.

1. Improving the quality of care in maternity care: the provision and experience of care

Particularly in low-income countries and low-resource settings, facility-based maternity care is characterized by hierarchies of power and rigid institutional rules (Sadler et al., 2016; Sochas, 2019). Women are vulnerable to mistreatment in maternity care, which includes physical or verbal abuse, discrimination, non-consented procedures, and non-supportive care (Bohren et al., 2015). Because of this, women often lack control over what happens and cannot influence the care they receive throughout their childbirth experience (McMahon et al., 2014). Women are often scolded, shamed, and sometimes physically punished when they try to gain the attention of providers, request pain relief, or "break the rules," such as making noise or crying during labor (Jewkes et al., 1998; Sen et al., 2018; Sochas, 2019). Research on mistreatment during maternity care in Kenya has found that only 57-60% of women have reported that doctors, nurses, and other staff always treated them with respect and that 11-18% reported verbal abuse at least once during their stay at the facility (P. Afulani et al., 2019).

Improving both clinical care and women's experience of care are critical to making progress in health outcomes and achieving equity (Independent Expert Review Group (iERG), 2013; Tunçalp et al., 2015). Recently, women's experience of care has gained attention as an important component of quality, especially as emerging evidence indicates that women's experiences of care (e.g., communication with providers, degree of involvement in clinical decision-making, etc.) also influence maternal and newborn health outcomes including maternal and newborn complications, depression, etc. (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, & Montagu, 2016; Gitobu et al., 2018; Souza et al., 2013; Sudhinaraset et al., 2020, 2021). Evidence has indicated that solely increasing facility-based care or coverage of essential biomedical interventions, such as providing magnesium sulfate for prevention and treatment of eclampsia, is insufficient to reduce maternal mortality (WHO, 2007).

To this end, the WHO outlined an agenda to make high-quality reproductive, maternal, and newborn health care available, accessible, and acceptable for all who need it (WHO, 2015). The WHO Quality of Care Framework for Maternal and Newborn Health defines quality of care (QoC) as comprising inter-linked dimensions of the provision and experience of care. The provision of care refers to the clinical and technical delivery of care, such as the implementation of evidence-based practices for routine care and management of complications. The experience of care refers to how women were treated by providers and their perceptions of service, including whether communication was effective, whether they were treated respectfully and with dignity, and whether they received adequate emotional support (Tunçalp et al., 2015). The framework proposes that concurrent progress in both the provision and experience of care will improve clinical as well as person-centered QoC outcomes, specifically, coverage of key practices, person-centered maternity care, satisfaction with care, and willingness to return to the facility for care. However, more evidence is needed to develop new interventions to improve the quality of maternal health care and reduce disparities in care delivery.

A person-centered approach to enhance the experience of care

Given widespread mistreatment during maternity care across contexts, global calls for action have advocated for person-centered care to be established as the standard of care, arguing that dignified care is a basic human right (Betron et al., 2018; Bohren, Mehrtash, et al., 2019; Miller & Lalonde, 2015; Shakibazadeh et al., 2018). Person-centered maternity care (PCMC) refers to health care that is respectful of and responsive to individual women and their families' preferences, needs and values, and engages them in clinical decision-making processes (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017; WHO, 2007). PCMC covers several sub-domains of care including dignity and respect, communication and autonomy, and supportive care. Often, existing models of medical care in lower-income countries center around the institution and providers (Bruggemann et al., 2014). The person-centered model shifts the focus towards women at the center of their own care. Practically, this gives women a voice in their health care, ensuring that they understand procedures and medications, are involved in decisions, provide consent, and that providers are attentive and respectful when they need help. Person-centered care is proposed as a primary pathway to increase patient safety, improve treatment, and improve interactions with providers (WHO, 2007).

A person-centered approach also acknowledges social and cultural determinants of health which drive health inequities (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). Social and cultural determinants include how health systems are organized, norms about gender and violence, women's role and status in society, and stigma and discrimination that may be related to education, social status, ethnicity, or social groupings. Health system factors such as lack of leadership, poor facility standards, and provider demoralization and shortages often fuel discriminatory or preferential care for certain groups (Bowser & Hill, 2010; Kruk & Freedman, 2008). Social and gender norms contribute to inequalities in obstetric care when power differentials between providers and patients are normative and women are placed in subordinate positions (Jewkes & Penn-Kekana, 2015; WHO, 2016c).

Historically, most studies conducted on intrapartum care have not included womanreported outcomes or investigated women's experiences of care (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019), although they have become more commonly examined in recent literature. To fully address person-centered care, examining women's experiences from their own perspectives is critical, such as how they evaluate the quality of service received or perceive treatment from providers. Women's perceptions of QoC are also crucial because they influence how women interact with providers, seek future care, and shape broader community attitudes towards health services and systems (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017; WHO, 2017b).

Admittedly, reliance on women's reports has notable limitations, especially because perceptions of care are shaped by expectations. When poor QoC is normalized and expected, women tend to underreport mistreatment when compared to providers' or observers' reports (Bohren, Mehrtash, et al., 2019; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). This is particularly pronounced for women of lower social position, who are more likely to expect poorer care (P. Afulani, Kirumbi, et al., 2017; Bohren et al., 2016; Warren et al., 2017). Regardless, these limitations do not invalidate women's perceptions, but suggest that women's reports should be complemented with other data, such as providers' reports, SPs' reports, or direct observations.

These limitations also indicate that better measures are needed. Use of broad measures of perceived quality or satisfaction have produced contradictory results precisely because they are subject to expectations. Measures like the PCMC scale that measure women's direct experiences (e.g., whether women were called by their name, whether providers explained procedures, etc.) have been shown to be more robust to examine the effect of social position on experiences of
care (P. Afulani, Diamond-Smith, et al., 2017). For example, in rural western Kenya, wealthier, employed, literate, and married women report higher PCMC than unemployed illiterate and unmarried women (P. Afulani, Sayi, et al., 2018). In addition, those who deliver in health centres and private facilities report higher PCMC than in public hospitals. In peri-urban Nairobi, literate women who were attended by a nurse, midwife, or clinical officer were more likely to report higher PCMC compared to illiterate women or those attended by an unskilled attendant or anxiliary nurse/midwife (Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Makanga, et al., 2021).

Although PCMC acknowledges that care should be respectful and responsive to women and their families' preferences, needs, and values (P. Afulani, Diamond-Smith, et al., 2017), the roles of families and social networks have been largely overlooked in PCMC. Importantly, a person-centered approach recognizes that SPs, families, and communities are also participants and beneficiaries of health systems (WHO, 2016b). The experiences and perspectives of SPs, as caregivers, are under-studied and under-represented. SPs' perspectives influence women's expectations of care, decisions to seek care, and experiences of care (Moyer et al., 2014; Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). Arguably, SPs' perspectives are particularly important because they are among women's closest relationships, are closely involved with women's care, and directly interact with the clinical care setting. Their perceptions of QoC can also influence women's (and communities') future decisions to seek care at facilities (Moyer et al., 2014; WHO, 2017b). Yet, only a small number of qualitative studies have explored the experiences and perspectives of SPs (M. K. Longworth et al., 2015), and they have rarely been surveyed as a group. The few studies that have surveyed SPs have usually focused on specific types of SPs, such as male partners and have investigated their perceptions about the birth experience and attitudes towards involvement in their partners' health care (Adeyemi et al., 2018; Labrague et al., 2013). While these studies

also examined SPs' perceptions of the facility environment and interactions with providers, they only investigated how these factors influenced SPs' involvement, not women's experiences of care. A gap in the literature includes quantitative assessments of how SPs' experiences of care subsequently influence women's experiences of care and future care-seeking behavior. Incorporating the perspectives of SPs, together with women's, are crucial to shaping personcentered health policy and services.

2. Social support: an essential domain of quality care

Within the WHO framework, access to women's preferred social and emotional support is an essential component of broader QoC and specifically women's experiences of care (Tunçalp et al., 2015). In this dissertation, I assume a broad definition of 'social support' in the context of perinatal health. I define social support as the receipt of support to facilitate a woman's transition from pregnancy to subsequent motherhood (Leahy-Warren et al., 2018). This encompasses certain functions (e.g., instrumental, informational, emotional support), but can also have structural characteristics (i.e., women's membership in social networks).

Social support has been shown to be one of the most important factors that improves women's perceptions of their childbirth experience (Hodnett, 2002). Social support during the perinatal period has also been associated with multiple positive maternal health and behavioral outcomes. Studies have found that social support during labor and delivery is associated with shorter durations of labor, less need for pain medication, fewer delivery complications, decreased rate of cesarean deliveries, and increased exclusive breastfeeding postpartum (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Essex & Pickett, 2008; Federenko & Wadhwa, 2004; Gaudino et al., 1999; Hodnett et al., 2012; Kennell et al., 1991; Langer et al., 1998; Madi et al., 1999; Sapkota et al., 2013; Sosa, 1986; Zhang et al., 1996). Social support also contributes to better neonatal health including lower likelihood of adverse birth outcomes, better Apgar scores, and decreased prolonged neonatal intensive care (Bohren et al., 2017; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). Social support during childbirth also has implications for mental health, as it has been shown to decrease stress and is associated with less postpartum depression (Gjerdingen et al., 1991; Hetherington et al., 2015). Increasing social support during the critical birth period, a modifiable factor, has the potential to measurably improve maternal and neonatal health.

Although many studies have examined the positive effects of social support during maternity care, there are notable limitations. Most studies evaluating the effects of support on clinical outcomes were conducted in high and middle-income countries, where women largely have access to companionship and other forms of support. Especially because access to SPs remains a challenge in many low-resource settings (Ibitoye & PhetIhu, 2018; Maimbolwa et al., 2001), it is still largely unknown whether social support has similar effects in contexts where providers and facilities do not facilitate social support.

Reconceptualizing the support person: beyond birth companions and considering women's preferences

The definition of "support person" has been inconsistent in the literature, frequently varying by the activities/functions performed and the timing of support during the birthing process (i.e., before labor and delivery, during labor and delivery, and post-partum). I define a support person (SP) as a lay person (i.e., those who are not medical professionals employed by the facility) who accompanies or remains with a woman, in or near the maternity ward during labor, delivery or postpartum to provide social support (including doulas, Accredited Social

Health Advocates (ASHAs), etc.). Existing international guidelines assert that women have the right to an SP (or SPs) to support, encourage, or assist them throughout labor and delivery (Tunçalp et al., 2015; WHO, 2018). Several studies have used the term 'support persons' to reflect local customs of support during childbirth, which may or may not include labor and delivery companionship. For example, Maimbolwa et al. (2001) defined 'social support woman' in Zambia as a female person who accompanies a woman to the maternity unit and remains near the unit until the birth of the baby. Simmonds et al. (2012) described the role of SPs in indigenous Western Australian culture as 'escorts' who provide company and share knowledge about birth with women, but do not stay with women during labor and delivery. Because women may want support in a variety of ways that vary by cultural preferences and personal circumstances, I assume a broad definition of SPs.

The literature on social support during childbirth has been dominated by birth companionship, which is defined as the *continuous presence* of an SP through labor and delivery (Bohren et al., 2017; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Lunda et al., 2018). As a result, the concept of the SP has been conflated with birth companionship (WHO, 2013). I argue that the focus on companionship is too narrow and does not accurately reflect women's needs and preferences for support. Despite evidence that many women globally do not desire birth companionship, the prevailing emphasis on birth companionship is driven by preferences and practice in Western, high-income countries (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Bohren et al., 2017; Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). Studies have shown that many women do not want an SP present during labor or delivery because of concerns for modesty, or fear of abuse or interference (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Alexander et al., 2014; Dim et al., 2011; Ganle et al., 2016; Kwambai et al., 2013; Maimbolwa et al., 2001). For example, in Kenya, one study found that 18.4% and

63.4% of women surveyed did not want a companion during labor and delivery, respectively, further challenging assumptions that women desire continuous support throughout labor and delivery (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). Studies in other contexts in sub-Saharan Africa have reported that 17-42% of women interviewed did not desire labor and delivery companion support (Alexander et al., 2014; Dim et al., 2011; Maimbolwa et al., 2001). The discrepancy between women's reported preferences for support and the dominance of companionship in literature underscores the need to re-assess the role of the SP and the array of supportive functions they perform.

Thus, I define SPs more broadly, as they may assume a variety of supportive roles (e.g., physical, emotional, or informational support, advocacy) whether they are present with women during labor and delivery or not. Types of SPs can include male partners, mothers, mothers-in-law, sisters, other family members, friends or neighbors, depending on women's cultural and personal preferences (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; WHO, 2017b). SPs may provide for women's physical needs such as bringing women to facilities or providing them with food or supplies, their emotional needs by encouragement or reassurance, and their informational needs by sharing knowledge about the birth experience or facilitating communication with providers (Simmonds et al., 2012; Sudhinaraset et al., 2017; WHO, 2013). Women may also include SPs as a strategy to garner needed medical attention, prevent or address mistreatment, and serve as a necessary communication link with providers (Ampim et al., 2021; McMahon et al., 2014).

However, there is little understanding of how different types of SPs may provide different kinds of support throughout the processes of childbirth. In addition, existing studies have primarily investigated the influence of labor and delivery companionship, neglecting other important periods of intrapartum care (e.g., accompaniment to the facility, post-partum) and

narrowly focused on mistreatment and disrespectful care as outcomes. There is a large gap in the literature examining who SPs are (including how many), at what periods they provided support to women, and associations with other measures of women's experience of care. This dissertation examines the types of SPs, number of SPs, and the timing of support and how these are associated with women's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility-level factors. This highlights the factors at multiple levels that shape structures of social support for women and provides insight into how the health system can better accommodate the diversity of women's social support systems. This research also examines associations between the type of SP, number of SPs, the timing of support during the birthing process (e.g., accompaniment to the facility, labor and delivery, postpartum) and women's experiences of care, as measured by the person-centered maternity care (PCMC).

Literature suggests that SPs can dramatically alter the delivery of maternity care. For example, research has suggested that SPs' interpersonal interactions with providers during care may actually underlie the positive associations between social support and positive health outcomes. Keirse (1989) questioned the mechanisms of associations between social support and decreased pain medication, fewer delivery complications and cesarean deliveries: "However, since the interventions in labour are much more related to caregiver differences than to differences between labouring women—as variation in practices demonstrate—a more important mechanism for any influence of the partner's presence on the outcome of labour is likely to be a change in the behaviour of the physician." Some qualitative studies have shown that SPs can identify gaps in clinical care and summon providers for needed exams and procedures (Alexander et al., 2014; Banda et al., 2010). Others have also argued that inclusion of SPs during childbirth affects the social dynamic of care and theorize that providers interact and relate to women differently when SPs are present (Kozhimannil et al., 2016).

Recent studies have investigated how SPs can affect health care providers' interactions with women in intrapartum care. One Kenyan study found that women who had no family or friends present during care were twice as likely to report that a health provider's interactions or facial expressions made them feel uncomfortable (Abuya et al., 2015). Another study in India found that women who reported less support at childbirth (e.g., fewer number of supportive actions, such as bringing water/food, talking to providers, providing information, etc.) were more likely to report mistreatment (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, Melo, et al., 2016). Notably, reported lack of support in discussions with providers was most strongly associated with a higher mistreatment score, doubling the odds of mistreatment. This suggests that SPs play an important role in facilitating or mediating women's interactions with providers. Most recently, a multicountry study on mistreatment during childbirth found that the lack of an SP was associated with both greater physical abuse from providers and reports that health workers and staff did not listen to or respond to women's concerns (Balde et al., 2020). Nonetheless, investigations of how inclusion of SPs and their interactions with providers influence other indicators of QoC beyond mistreatment remains a noteworthy gap in literature. This study investigated how SPs interact with providers in the context of providing support to women and how these may be associated with both clinical and person-centered QoC outcomes.

Within the WHO QoC framework, women's preferences are emphasized, specifying that support must be "of [a woman's] choice." Preferences for SPs can vary substantially by culture, setting, and individual circumstances (Kozhimannil et al., 2016). In general, studies have shown that women prefer someone with whom they were familiar and comfortable, but SP

characteristics and types of support provided can influence women's perceptions about the childbirth experience (Lunda et al., 2018).

It must also be acknowledged that not all support is positive for all women and as such, women's preferences to *not* include SPs should be respected. Support may be considered oppressive when it decreases women's control over decision-making processes or results in mistreatment or distress (Betron et al., 2018; Wittmann-Price, 2004). Some women may also consider certain individuals to be overbearing (i.e., coaching in ways that women consider unhelpful) and want to limit some individuals' involvement, or want to exclude individuals because they fear that they will gossip about their information (such as HIV status) or experiences (Odent, 1984; Wanyenze et al., 2022). One study also found that having too many SPs may be undesirable: 90% of women who had multiple family members present (up to 6) wished to have fewer people present (Keirse et al., 1989). Women's preferences and perceptions must be elicited to ensure that efforts to increase support for women do not undermine women's autonomy (Betron et al., 2018).

The few studies that have explored women's preferences for support during childbirth have revealed considerable heterogeneity in preferences within and across settings, yet these studies are still primarily limited to birth companionship. As described earlier, women in sub-Saharan African studies have reported varying preferences for labor and delivery companionship. In addition, most studies have focused on male partners as SPs, but in practice, SPs are often other family or social network members. In contexts like Kenya, the birth process is often viewed as a women's affair and women are frequently preferred as SPs (Alexander et al., 2014; Al-Mandeel et al., 2013; Banda et al., 2010). For instance, Afulani (2018) found that among a sample of postpartum women in Western Kenya, less than a third (29.3%) of women were accompanied by male partners to the facility, and the majority were accompanied by mothers, mothers-in-law, sisters, and friends/neighbors. Evidence also suggests that women's preferences for support are changing over time, especially as gender and social norms shift (Moyer et al., 2014). More educated and younger women tend to favor involving their male partners in care, despiite traditional practices and cultural taboos (Ampim et al., 2020). Although women's preferences are varied and dynamic, the literature lacks assessments of how women want to receive support from their SPs beyond wanting companions during labor and delivery. This dissertation research elicited women's preferences for SPs supportive roles in a variety of ways, such as decision-making, interacting with providers, etc., and how these are associated with women's and support persons' characteristics, as well as household and facility factors.

3. Barriers to support persons in maternity care: providers and institutions

Health care system in Kenya

The health sector in Kenya comprises over 12,000 health facilities, of which approximately half (47%) are public institutions (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2022). The private sector includes private for-profit, non-governmental organizations, and faith-based organizations. Facilities are classified by six levels: 1) community, 2) dispensaries, which provide preventive health services and conduct normal deliveries staffed by nurses 3) health centres, which generally provide much of the outpatient health services, staffed mostly by midwives, nurses or clinical officers, 4) district hospitals, which provide clinical services and are the first level of referral hospitals 5) provincial general hospitals, which are the next level of referral that can provide specialized care, and 6) national referral hospitals, which act as teaching and referral hospitals and provide complex health care staffed by highly skilled personnel (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2011).

There have been continued efforts to improve maternal health at the national and subnational levels, aimed primarily at improving coverage for maternal health services (Kenya Ministry of Devolution and Planning, 2017; UN joint programme on reproductive maternal newborn child and adolescent health 2016-2020, 2017). For instance, all public health facilities across the country abolished delivery fees to improve access to facility-based care (Kenya, 2013) and initiatives have targeted increasing health care capacity (e.g., staff and equipment), strengthening systems, and increasing demand for health services in high maternal mortality areas (Ministry of Health, 2016; UN joint programme on reproductive maternal newborn child and adolescent health 2016-2020, 2017). Although free maternal health care resulted in a significant increase in utilization of facility services, maternal and neonatal mortality failed to decrease as expected, primarily because care continued to be poor quality (Gitobu et al., 2018). In addition, uptake of maternal health services in public health facilities was lower than expected despite fee elimination and increased health care capacity largely because women and communities held negative perceptions of quality of service (Owiti et al., 2018; UN joint programme on reproductive maternal newborn child and adolescent health 2016-2020, 2017).

Evidence indicates significant disparities in access to quality care such that poorer, younger, less educated, and ethnic minority women have poorer access to quality care (Fotso et al., 2008; Sharma et al., 2017; Wairoto et al., 2020; Wirth et al., 2008). In addition, there are notable differences in QoC and patient perceptions of quality for private versus public hospitals in Kenya, which has implications for who can afford and access better QoC. Private facilities

perform better in basic maternal and newborn care and have fewer patient complaints of quality compared to public facilities (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, & Montagu, 2016).

Concurrent with the national government's policy of free maternity services in 2013, the government decentralized health service provision to county governments, save for the five national referral hospitals (Calhoun et al., 2018). Decentralization increased resources and decision-making within local governance systems to identify local solutions to public health problems. Most dispensaries established maternity delivery units which allowed women to access delivery services at the primary care level while complicated deliveries could still be referred to higher level facilities for specialized care (Mochache et al., 2018).

Despite these changes in policy and governance, deliveries increased in hospitals, but not at health centres/dispensaries (Owuor & Amolo, 2019). In urban areas, women tended to choose higher level facilities, although these policies shifted deliveries from private to public facilities (Calhoun et al., 2018; Escamilla et al., 2018). Unfortunately, the increase in deliveries at facilities was not matched by increased health facility capacity resulting in compromised quality of care, which was further exacerbated by delays in the federal government reimbursing funds for services (Tama et al., 2018). Local supervision of facilities also led to notable differences in care by county of residence. For example, women in Kiambu county were more likely to perceive that maternity care was high quality compared to other counties, including Nairobi (Oyugi et al., 2018). Surprisingly, Nairobi also had the highest neonatal mortality rate (39 deaths per 1000 live births)—death in the first month of life—compared to other regions (the neonatal mortality rate nationally is 22 deaths/1000 live births and in the Central region, where Kiambu county is located, is 24 deaths/1000 live births) (National Bureau of Statistics Nairobi, 2015). Evidence indicates that Nairobi health facilities have low quality of newborn care and are ill-

equipped to care for the urban, predominantly poor population; over 50% of Nairobi's sick newborns may not access a facility with adequate resources to provide essential care (Murphy et al., 2018).

Quality of care also differs across sectors (i.e., public vs. private) and facility types. Use of Active Management of Third Stage of Labor to prevent mortality and morbidity, as per WHO and Ministry of Health guidelines, is greatest in government hospitals compared to private health facilities and greater in higher level facilities (i.e., county & national-level) than lower district hospitals (Felarmine et al., 2016). Hospitals also provide better emergency and routine maternal and newborn care than health centres (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, & Montagu, 2016), which may be due to funding mechanisms and constraints: health centres and dispensaries are reimbursed at half the amount compared to hospitals for each delivery (Owuor & Amolo, 2019). Despite disparities in clinical care, women's perceptions of care are often higher in private vs. public hospitals and in lower-level vs. higher level facilities (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, & Montagu, 2016; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021).

Health care system barriers to support during childbirth: providers and facilities

Despite evidence of positive outcomes associated with including SPs in maternity care, literature has shown that a large proportion of women globally lack access to SPs during childbirth (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017). In Kenya, little research has investigated women's access to social and emotional support during childbirth, but some studies indicate that Kenyan women's access to companion support, in particular, is low (P. Afulani et al., 2019). Studies across settings have shown that only 6-42% and 4-16% of women report being allowed labor and delivery companionship, respectively (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019).

Both facilities and providers have been implicated as critical factors that determine women's access to their SPs (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Qualitative evidence about companion support indicates that there continue to be substantial barriers to implementing labor/delivery companionship and integrating SPs into women's care, especially in low and middle-income countries (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). Studies in Africa have highlighted policies explicitly barring labor and delivery companions or inconsistent practices of allowing companions regardless of policies (Alexander et al., 2014; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Integrating women's preferences into care and facilitating support must occur at multiple levels, from individual nurses to organizations and systems (Burman et al., 2013).

Health care providers are key to delivering high quality health care and shaping the experience of care. Providers' attitudes and behaviors are among the most powerful influences of women's satisfaction with childbirth, surpassing the influences of pain, pain relief, and intrapartum medical interventions (Hodnett, 2002). In addition to providing effective and clinically-sound health care, there is an increasing emphasis on the need for practitioners to be responsive to the needs, preferences and values of people accessing health services (WHO, 2007). This has often been met with resistance from providers, especially as providers may feel that the person-centered elements of care are extraneous, and that they are already overtaxed in low-resource settings (Rominski et al., 2017; WHO, 2016c). However, given that providers have more agency within the provider-patient relationship (Sudhinaraset et al., 2019), it is important to provide evidence of how their normalized practices can have an impact on QoC.

Yet, while I highlight provider practices, I also acknowledge that health care providers are embedded in institutions, health care systems, and social systems. Despite wanting to provide the best care, providers are often constrained and frustrated by institutional policies, lack of resources, and social hierarchies (Sen et al., 2018; Solnes Miltenburg et al., 2018; WHO, 2016c). Frequently, providers are subject to discrimination and mistreatment in the health care system themselves (WHO, 2016c). Also, providers may fear being blamed for negative outcomes and deliver care that they perceive to be technically sound but may mistreat women and SPs in the process (e.g., such as slapping or scolding women to motivate women to push) (Rominski et al., 2017). Rather than blame providers, I argue that providers are essential partners in improving QoC and that change must also occur at the institutional and societal levels.

Provider barriers to support persons

Although providers play a critical role in mobilizing support systems for new mothers (Gjerdingen et al., 1991), literature indicates that providers commonly exclude SPs in care (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). Qualitative studies have commonly reported that providers fail to engage or integrate SPs into the model of care, and in some cases, actively exclude SPs. Studies have reported that SPs felt "sidelined," "left out" or ignored by health care professionals (Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Fenwick et al., 2012). At times, when providers exclude SPs, they create conflict between themselves and SPs (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Kaye et al., 2014).

These findings are corroborated by literature exploring providers' reluctance to involve SPs in care, often in spite of recognizing the positive emotional and psychosocial support benefits for women (Banda et al., 2010; Maimbolwa et al., 2001; Qian et al., 2001). Providers

have expressed beliefs that SPs get in the way of the obstetric team (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Qian et al., 2001); disturb midwives (Banda et al., 2010); or will interfere with care such as administering traditional medicine or inciting conflict (Maimbolwa et al., 2001; Qian et al., 2001). These views may also accompany providers' beliefs that they already provide complete care and adequate support, rendering SPs as unnecessary (Cogan & Spinnato, 2009; Horstman et al., 2017).

Evidence also indicates that providers differentially exclude SPs. Though facilities may have explicit policies about access to SPs or visitors during childbirth, they may be discriminatorily implemented by clinical staff. A mixed-methods study conducted in urban Kenya found that providers at the same facilities frequently reported differing practices: some asserted that women were not allowed any access to companions while some stated that a woman was allowed to bring any person of her choice, and yet still other providers granted access based on women's conditions or type of companion, such as allowing only husbands (Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Another study in rural, western Kenya found that wealthier, employed, and literate women had nearly double the odds of being allowed continuous companion support compared to the poorest, unemployed, and illiterate women (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). In contrast to the former study, this study found female relatives were more likely to be allowed as companions than male partners. While these examples illuminate disparities in access to SPs according to social position, they also highlight how localized social norms shape patterns of access.

Facility barriers to support persons

Facility policies and institutional capacity that form the systems, processes, and culture of maternity care are also major factors that shape access to SPs. Kabakian-Khasholian and

Portela's (2017) review of quantitative and qualitative literature concluded that access to SPs largely depended upon facilities' "allocation of resources, organization of care, facility-related constraints and cultural inclinations." Infrastructure limitations such as lack of physical space have been cited as a major barrier to SPs' presence in maternity wards. In their qualitative study on perceptions of QoC, Mgawadere et al (2019) recorded a health provider's sentiments about infrastructure as a necessary prerequisite to facilitating access to SPs, "In most of our labour rooms, it is not possible to allow a companion to be with the woman...We need to work on our infrastructure before we start advocating for companionship during birth." Providers also commonly cite a lack of appropriate resources as a major reason for their inability to provide more supportive care (P. Afulani, Kirumbi, et al., 2017). In Kenya, patient perceptions of quality (e.g., wait times, availability of medicines, staff treatment of patients, etc.) at private facilities is higher than in public facilities, suggesting that facilities with greater resources may have better trained or incentivized staff, higher quality standards and provide more patient-centered care (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, & Montagu, 2016). This likely also influences how SPs are treated.

Facility capacity also shapes access to SPs. While some have argued that within overcrowded, understaffed facilities, SPs may attend to women and fill in gaps in care (Chalmers & Wolman, 1993; Maimbolwa et al., 2001), but evidence shows that when patient volumes are high and staff are outnumbered, providers tend to exclude SPs. Overworked and busy staff perceive that they do not have the time to accommodate SPs, whom the obstetric team often considers to be an additional burden (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). SPs and women can also perceive that crowded facility environments are not conducive to SPs' presence because of a lack of privacy (Adeyemi et al., 2018). These examples illustrate how

institutions and the way they structure systems of care and allocate resources influence women's access to SPs through multiple pathways.

Despite the large body of qualitative literature about provider and facility barriers to SPs in maternity care, there are several gaps in research. Little is known about disparities in practices regarding SPs aside from which women are allowed labor and delivery companions and what types of companions are allowed. More research is needed about whether there are disparities in women's access to SPs for other supportive functions, such as how providers facilitate support for decision-making or communicate with SPs, and the risk factors that are associated with these disparities.

Importantly, integration of SPs into care has been proposed as a way to address provider and facility barriers to SPs, facilitate support, and improve outcomes (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). However, a gap in literature is the extent to which integrating SPs influences the care women receive. Integration of SPs into care has been conceptualized as distinct from merely allowing SPs to be present with women as companions. Companions can still experience substantial barriers (e.g., negative provider attitudes, failure to provide information, inadequate space or privacy, etc.) that can hinder their efforts to provide support, even when allowed to be present with women (Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Boyce et al., 2007; Kululanga et al., 2012; Steen et al., 2012). Rather, integration of SPs is conceptualized as an antecedent to both access and the provision of support, influencing whether SPs are allowed to be present and the quality of support that SPs provide (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). The studies that have found that receipt of social support was positively associated with improved health outcomes and lower mistreatment did not examine or indicate the degree to which SPs were integrated into processes

of maternity care. Thus, we still lack an understanding of how integration of SPs may influence the associations between social support and health outcomes and lower mistreatment. This dissertation research examines integration of SPs into care and estimates associations between integration of SPs and QoC outcomes, accounting for facility factors. Measurably assessing how providers and the facility environment influence SPs' roles which, in turn, contribute to QoC will have implications for institutional policies, health systems management, and clinical practice.

Gaps in the literature

This literature review highlights several notable gaps in the literature regarding the role of SPs. First, a gap in the literature is the assessment of an array of women's preferences for social support. Literature on women's support preferences continues to be dominated by studies on women's preferences for birth companionship. Because evidence indicates that many women do not desire companions during labor and delivery, research on women's needs and preferences for other forms of their SPs' involvement is needed. This research addresses this gap in Aim 1 by eliciting women's preferences for integrating SPs in a variety of ways (i.e., preferences for consulting SPs on decisions, SPs receiving information about their care and condition, etc.).

Second, despite the recognition that SPs are also beneficiaries of the health care system, there is a gap in investigating SPs' experience of care in relation to (or as a part of) women's experience of care. Studies have not examined how SPs' perspectives of providers or their experience with maternity care influence women's perspectives or experiences of maternity care. In addition, literature lacks examinations of SPs' experiences of care for a variety of SP types (e.g., mothers/mothers-in-law, sisters, other family, friends/neighbors). Most studies have focused on the experiences of male partners and overlook other types of SPs as participants in

health care. This study addresses these gaps by investigating both women's and SPs' experiences of PC-ISP in Aims 1 and 2, respectively, including a range of SP types (e.g, male partners, mothers/mothers-in-law, sisters, other family, friends/neighbors). This study also centers the SPs' experiences in the context of women's care by investigating how PC-ISP is associated with woman-reported PCMC and QoC measures in Aim 3.

Third, there are gaps in the determinants that shape structures of social support for women which are important for policy-making (e.g., those aiming to increase male partner involvement). For example, little is known about the multi-level factors that shape women's preferences for different types of SPs, including male partners. The few studies that have investigated factors associated with social support available to women have primarily examined women's individual characteristics. I address this gap in Sub-aim 2b by also examining SPs', dyadic, household, and facility factors associated with types of SPs (e.g., mothers/mothers-inlaw, sisters, other family, friends/neighbors), number of SPs, and other timing of support (i.e., accompanying to hospital, post-partum). In addition, given evidence of provider and facility barriers to support, little is also known about whether disparities exist in women's access to SPs for different supportive functions (aside from labor and delivery companionship). Aims 1 and 2 investigate whether integration of SPs reveals possible social inequities in care and whether certain risk factors are associated with integration or exclusion of SPs.

Fourth, although integrating SPs into care has been proposed to address provider and facility barriers to SPs and facilitate support for women, the extent to which integration of SPs influences the care women receive remains an important gap in literature. While other studies have established that the presence of an SP is associated with lower reported mistreatment by women during maternity care, we still lack an understanding of how integration of SPs

influences other aspects of care care women receive, such as clinical QoC. Aim 3 examines the associations between integrating SPs into care and person-centered and clinical outcomes specified by the WHO QoC framework.

Fifth, there is the need to identify how the health care system—constituting providers and facilities—can facilitate support for women beyond companionship, given that many women do not want labor and/or delivery companionship. Most studies currently focus on how health care systems can implement labor and delivery companionship and facilitate support in the form of receiving food and supplies. This dissertation research addresses this gap in Aims 1 and 2 by investigating how the health care system, as measured by provider and facility factors (e.g., number of providers assisting delivery, crowding), integrates SPs into care in different ways (e.g., decision-making, communicating information, ability to ask questions of providers, etc.). In Aim 3, I also investigate how facility factors related to patient and staff capacity moderate how integrating SPs is associated with QoC.

Lastly, there is a gap in quantitative examinations of SPs' experiences in low-income, low-resource settings where access to SPs remains a challenge. The few studies that have surveyed SPs about their experiences were primarily conducted in high-income countries where women largely have access to companions and other forms of support. In addition, a metaanalysis of companion support across settings found evidence suggesting that companion support yielded greater positive effects on health outcomes (e.g., cesarean deliveries, etc.) in settings where companions were normally not allowed (Bohren et al., 2017). The experiences of SPs interacting with providers and facilities in these settings merit deeper investigation because they may be more important for women's care and well-being. Kenya is one of the few countries where the proportion of women who are allowed companion support has been measured;

estimates indicate that a large proportion of women are still denied SPs (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). This study addresses this gap by analyzing survey data of women and SPs in Kenya, a lower middle-income country (LMIC), where SPs still face barriers to providing support for women.

4. Proposal of the Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity care

Based on the noted gaps in the PCMC and social support literatures, there is a critical need to address how and to what extent SPs are integrated into care; and how integration is associated with women's experience of care. The integration of SPs into maternity care is crucial to addressing QoC from a person-centered approach. In their systematic review of qualitative literature, Bohren et al. (2019) found that integrating SPs increases women's ability to receive support during childbirth. Importantly, as discussed earlier, they conceptualized integrating SPs as distinct from having labor and delivery companions in care, since SPs can still face provider and institutional barriers to providing support to women, even when allowed to be present with women. They proposed that integrating SPs is an antecedent to women's access to SPs that will improve the quality of support. Their findings also suggest that integrating SPs improves intrapartum care and positive birth experiences, as well as post-partum health outcomes.

Thus, I propose the *Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity care* and define it as the extent to which SPs are integrated into care that is respectful and responsive to women's and needs and preferences, ensuring that women's needs and preferences guide clinical decisions (adapted from the definition of patient-centered care) (Institute of Medicine (US), 2001). Integrating SPs into maternity care services ensures that

allowing SPs is normalized in the ways that women want, providers and clinical staff facilitate SPs' presence and roles, and facility policies and structures accommodate SPs. Integrating SPs with the care team establishes that SPs are provided with sufficient information about women's condition and clinical processes, have clear roles and expectations, act as advocates, and help facilitate communication between women and providers. Conversely, when SPs are excluded, providers are resistant, space is inadequate or cannot ensure privacy, or when practices are differentially applied across women and SPs, women lose connection to those who can assist them and speak and act on their behalf.

PC-ISP themes and sub-constructs

The following section presents themes in literature regarding integrating SPs into care. Literature was organized into four PC-ISP themes: *Welcoming environment*, *Decision-making support*, *Communication and provision of information*, and *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*. I propose that these four themes represent important PC-ISP sub-constructs and merit further research.

A. Welcoming environment

Creating a warm and welcoming environment for women and families is a necessary feature of care, especially because their experiences in the care environment influence their perceptions of quality care. In turn, their perceived QoC contributes to theirs and others' future decisions to utilize health services (WHO 2017 IFC). Qualitatively, QoC is often conflated with feeling welcome in the maternity care setting which draws attention to the importance of positive interactions with providers. Studies have found that quality care is commonly defined as good

interpersonal relationships with providers, such as "being greeted" or having a "feeling of belonging" (Mgawadere et al., 2019). SPs report feeling welcome and being able to effectively provide support when health providers treat them favorably and acknowledge their presence as beneficial to women's well-being (Brüggemann et al., 2007). In contrast, when SPs feel excluded or forgotten by providers, they experience uncertainty about their supportive roles and express inability to support women through birth (Deave & Johnson, 2008; Steen et al., 2012).

B. Decision-making support

It is critical that women remain at the center of decision-making in maternity care to promote their autonomy and agency in care (Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). Ensuring agency in decision-making requires that women are adequately supported in the processes of making decisions (Elwyn et al., 2012). Women may need support as they deliberate and may want to consult with SPs as they consider information about clinical care and personal preferences (Rapley, 2008). Especially because family and network members influence women's decisions for maternal health care, such as where and how to seek care and what health behaviors to adopt (Dudgeon & Inhorn, 2004; Moyer et al., 2014; Mullany et al., 2005), women should also be given the opportunity to make clinical care decisions with their SPs. Studies have shown that women want to share decisions about the birth process with their close social relations, especially as they think through options and implications (Cook & Loomis, 2012; Lawton et al., 2016; Seidler et al., 2019; Vedam et al., 2019).

It is important to note that in many contexts, decisions about maternity care are still unilaterally made by providers (Kaye et al., 2014; Kululanga et al., 2012). In these settings, SPs may play a particularly important advocacy role by facilitating women's involvement in

decision-making processes (Dunne et al., 2014). Giving women opportunities to consult with SPs can increase avenues for women to be involved in their own health care, especially when women trust SPs to represent them and intervene on their behalf (Ampim et al., 2021; Kaye et al., 2014).

In addition, giving women the opportunity to make decisions with SPs has implications for the subsequent provision of social support. Inclusion in decision-making processes contributes to SPs' own positive experiences of maternity care (H. L. Longworth & Kingdon, 2011). And when desired by women, shared decision-making can further strengthen linkages among social networks that can result in greater social support among women, families, and communities (WHO, 2017b). For example, joint decision-making in maternal health care has been associated with greater subsequent involvement and supportive behaviors from SPs during childbirth (Mullany et al., 2005).

C. Communication and provision of information

When health care providers give information about maternity care processes, SPs are more confident in their ability to support women (Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Deave & Johnson, 2008). Greater knowledge and awareness of pregnancy and birth increase SPs' involvement in birth and postnatal care (Alio et al., 2013; Mullany, 2006; Porrett et al., 2013). When SPs are aware and knowledgeable about women's conditions and the processes of care, they can help monitor women's conditions and summon providers for needed clinical care (Kaye et al., 2014). Conversely, unclear birth expectations and insufficient information about pregnancy and childbirth increase SPs' feelings of stress and frustration, reducing their ability to support women (Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Boyce et al., 2007; Kululanga et al., 2012). Furthermore, communicating information to SPs about women's condition and care can improve women's ability to engage in their own care, including clinical dimensions. Conveying information to SPs about women's condition and care may help ensure that clinical information is properly heard and understood (Ampim et al., 2021). This may be especially important in aiding women and their families in how they make decisions (H. L. Longworth & Kingdon, 2011) and ensuring adequate informed consent (Elwyn et al., 2012; Kululanga et al., 2012).

Some studies suggest that education and information need to be specifically tailored for SPs. Several studies found that SPs' participation in women's antenatal education alone was insufficient, and that more education and information was specifically needed during intrapartum care. SPs reported feeling unprepared and expressed needs for more information about the birth process, their specific roles during birth, parenting, baby care and relationships. (Deave & Johnson, 2008; Kaye et al., 2014; Kululanga et al., 2012). Providing educational materials about the importance and role of SPs within labor wards has been shown to be useful, facilitate support, and subsequently contribute to women's positive experiences of both support and care (Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018).

D. Ability to ask questions and express concerns to providers

The opportunity to interact with providers, ask providers questions during care, and having complications explained are key to SPs having sufficient knowledge and information (Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Bondas-Salonen, 1998; Kululanga et al., 2012). These types of interactions with providers also bolster SPs' competence and confidence to support women (Alio et al., 2013; Widarsson et al., 2015). When SPs are unable to have their questions answered or obtain information about how women's conditions and medical care change throughout childbirth, they are less involved and cannot effectively accommodate women's needs (Kaye et al., 2014).

The ability to ask questions and interact with providers about their concerns also provides avenues for SPs to speak up for women regarding the delivery of clinical care. In contexts where providers allow women minimal involvement in their own care, increasing SPs' engagement with providers allows additional pathways to improve QoC (Ampim et al., 2021). Studies have found that women consider SPs as their 'verbal link' to providers when they wanted to communicate concerns with busy staff but lacked the capacity to gain providers' attention because of pain or immobility (Bondas-Salonen, 1998; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018; Kululanga et al., 2012). Evidence also shows that when SPs can interact with providers, they can point out gaps in clinical care and draw providers' attention to needed procedures and exams (Kaye et al., 2014). Moreover, when women are unable to advocate for their own care because they are incapacitated by complications or medical procedures, SPs' ability to advocate on their behalf may be especially crucial (Kaye et al., 2014).

Measuring Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity care

The majority of literature examining how providers integrate family members into maternity care comprises qualitative research (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). Few survey instruments have been developed to assess SPs' experiences of care or their interactions with the health care system. Because I have introduced PC-ISP as a novel construct, I reviewed literature for measures assessing how SPs were integrated into maternal health care or similar measures that assess and evaluate SPs' experience within the clinical care context. I also discuss their utility as well as limitations, specifically related to measuring PC-ISP.

Existing measures used to assess interactions between support persons and providers in care

The little extant research and measures related to providers' interactions with SPs in maternal health care have focused on male partner involvement. Several instruments have been designed to assess men's experiences in maternal health care. For example, the Kuopio Instrument for Fathers (KIF) primarily assesses men's perceptions of childbirth (Sapountzi-Krepia et al., 2009; Vehviläinen-Julkunen & Liukkonen, 1998), but includes five questions regarding their perceptions of providers such as "The staff were very professional," "I trusted the staff," "The staff were busy," "I was grateful to the staff," and "The staff were unfriendly." Similarly, Porrett et al. (2013) used a 14-item questionnaire to evaluate men's attendance of antenatal classes and how it influenced their childbirth experiences. They assessed men's perceptions of the antenatal classes with two items ("I found the educators in the antenatal classes were helpful and sympathetic" and "I felt well-informed") and included a general measure of self-efficacy ("I felt I was able to help my partner"). Another male involvement study conceptualized male partners' interactions with health providers as one facet of broader involvement in maternity care (Ampt et al., 2015). Of five involvement indicators used, one item regarding the provider-partner interaction was included: "Discussion of partner's most recent pregnancy and birth with a health care provider." They conceptualized this as an indicator of greater depth of involvement.

These instruments have several limitations in the context of this inquiry of PC-ISP. All of the measures regarding SPs' interactions with providers were developed specifically to examine male partner companionship and involvement (either descriptively or as an outcome), since in those contexts SPs were assumed to be male partners. In reference to PC-ISP, these instruments

were related to sub-constructs: *Welcoming environment* (i.e., feelings towards health providers/staff), *Communication and provision of information* (i.e., antenatal education), and *Ability to ask questions and express concern* (i.e., discussion of pregnancy and birth with provider). These measures did not, however, address *Communication and provision of information* during intrapartum care and did not include measures about facilitating *Decisionmaking support*. In addition, only one of the measures described a supportive role of the SP (i.e., discussion of birth with provider). And most notably, none of the measures addressed how providers integrated the SP into women's maternity care. Moreover, none of the studies that used these measures assessed how SPs' experiences or involvement influenced women's reported experiences or care. It is important to examine the SPs' experiences of care beyond whether they were present or not to better understand how these experiences influence the care that women receive.

Chapter 3. Conceptual Framework

My conceptual model (Figure 3.1) establishes PC-ISP within the WHO QoC framework (Tunçalp et al., 2015) and Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC) (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). This model is also situated within the socioecological model to illustrate how forces at multiple, intersecting levels influence the delivery of care.

WHO quality of care framework for maternal and newborn health

The WHO QoC framework for maternal and newborn health conceptualizes QoC as a multidimensional process, recognizing that biomedical and social factors influence health outcomes (Tuncalp et al., 2015). This framework proposes that improving both the provision and experience of care will increase likelihood of QoC outcomes: person-centered outcomes (e.g., person-centered maternity care, satisfaction with care, willingness to return to the facility) and clinical care outcomes (e.g., increased coverage of key practices), and subsequent health outcomes. The provision of care refers to evidence-based practices for routine and emergency care and effective information and referral systems. For example, these include whether women had a vaginal examination at intake, had blood pressure checked, contractions timed, and fetal heartbeat assessed, among others (WHO, 2016d). The experience of care includes effective communication, dignity and respect, and the social and emotional support of her choice. These elements ensure that care acknowledges and respects women's needs and values. The WHO framework conceptualizes an interplay between the provision and experience of care such that both dimensions are critically needed. (Bohren et al., 2014; WHO, 2007). Care that is of high quality should be clinically sound, responsive, and respectful.

The experience of care: Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC)

Person-centered maternity care (PCMC) refers to maternity care that is dignified, equitable, and responsive to women's needs and preferences, ensuring that it guides all clinical decisions (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). PCMC encompasses parts that are based in human rights and universal standards of practice as well as components that account for cultural differences which shape expectations of care. PCMC covers three sub-domains, including Dignity and Respect, Autonomy and Communication, and Supportive Care. PCMC's guiding framework, the Person-centered care framework for reproductive health equity, extends the WHO QoC framework to also account for social determinants of health that drive inequities, manifested by differential treatment based on social status, community influence, or gendered norms. Too often, maternity care is inequitable and discriminatory, and women are given worse care because of poverty or lack of education (Sadler et al., 2016; Sen et al., 2018).

The PCMC framework consequently proposes interactions between three contextual levels: 1) Societal and community determinants of health equity, 2) women's health-seeking behaviors, and 3) facility-level factors, including the provision of clinical care and personcentered dimensions of care. Societal and community determinants of health equity include broader social and gendered norms, recognizing that broader patterns of stigma, discrimination and mistreatment are reflected in women's experience of health care (Bingham et al., 2019; WHO, 2016c). These determinants contribute to women's expectations and decisions to seek care, such as when women avoid using maternity services because they fear abuse or mistreatment (Bradley et al., 2016a; Gage, 2007).

Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) into maternity care

Access to women's emotional and social support of her choice is one essential component of QoC (Tunçalp et al., 2015). Literature indicates that the extent to which SPs are integrated into maternity care determines whether women can receive social support (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). PC-ISP refers to the extent to which SPs are integrated into care that is respectful and responsive to women's and SPs' needs and preferences, ensuring that women's needs and preferences guide clinical decisions. This encompasses several key provider practices during intrapartum care, including making family members feel welcome (Banda et al., 2010; Brüggemann et al., 2007; Mgawadere et al., 2019), allowing women to consult with SPs about decisions in care (Mullany et al., 2005; Tokhi et al., 2018), communicating information to SPs about health conditions and care (Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Bondas-Salonen, 1998; Kululanga et al., 2012), and answering their questions and listening to their concerns (Alio et al., 2013; Deave & Johnson, 2008; Widarsson et al., 2015).

This model thus conceptualizes PC-ISP as a complement to PCMC, capturing the quality of engagement regarding social support within the model of care. This model proposes that PC-ISP and PCMC mutually reinforce one another. For example, PCMC likely increases PC-ISP, as providers who are respectful of women's preferences will likely respect women's desires to integrate SPs. On the other hand, PC-ISP increases SPs' abilities to act as advocates or facilitate communication between women and providers, etc. These experiences are posited to subsequently modify and improve women's interactions with providers, garner more respectful treatment, and therefore increase PCMC.

Likewise, building from the WHO QoC framework and the person-centered framework for reproductive health equity, this model also conceptualizes that PC-ISP interacts with the provision of care (i.e., clinical practices). PC-ISP provides avenues for women to improve the

delivery of care by calling upon SPs to gain the attention of providers and advocate for necessary and better clinical treatment.



Figure 3.1 Adapted WHO Quality of Care and PCMC Framework

Socioecological framework

Lastly, this conceptual framework employs a socioecological approach to orient QoC within broader systems at multiple levels. A systems-based socioecological approach has been widely used in public health research and conceptualizes the individual embedded within an interconnected ecology of social and physical contexts (Bronfenbrenner, 1986; Darling, 2007). The individual is thus influenced by and actively interacts with multiple levels of this ecology, which, in turn impact her health. Literature on disparities in perinatal care recommends a socioecological approach to examine inequities in QoC to outline modifiable factors at the societal, facility, relationship and individual levels (Bingham et al., 2019).

Within this model, the individual is situated within her most proximal setting, which is embedded in increasingly distal levels: microsystems, mesosystems, and finally, macrosystems. Microsystems include the closest level of relationships that involve frequent, regular interactions and activities, generally constituting family or kin. Family members are typically those closest to and most trusted by women, though not always, whom she wants to integrate into care. Mesosystems are the next layer of the social ecology which includes larger institutions, structures, and processes. Here, I conceptualize the facility and broader health system as a mesosystem, as the physical and social environment for intrapartum caregiving processes. The institutional policies, normalized practices, physical space, and allocation of human and material resources shape both provider practices and women's experience of care. Lastly, macrosystems represent overarching patterns and systems that organize more proximal systems in society. These include factors such as cultural norms, and economic and political systems which organize cultural norms and norms about gender, social stratification, and distribution of resources within the broader population.

Chapter 4. Methods

In this chapter I describe the methods I used for this study. I first present the setting of the study, providing background information about Nairobi and Kiambu counties in Kenya and the health care system. I then describe the Strengthening Person-centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study, which is the overarching study that provided the data used in this research. I also present detail about the variables I examined, including PC-ISP measures that I developed, QoC indicators, and other factors examined. Finally, I describe the analytical approach for each of the three specific aims including model-building, methods to address clustering and confouding, and sensitivity analyses.

Setting

Nairobi is the capital and largest city in Kenya with a population of 4.4 million. Kiambu county, as part of the Nairobi metropolitan area, is the second most populous county in Kenya (2.4 million). The administration under the British laid down the political and socioeconomic structure for African residents' lives, including social institutions, governance, and housing (Ese & Ese, 2020). Following independence in 1963, racial segregation shifted into social segregation, which persists today (Charton-Bigot & Rodriguez-Torres, 2010): now over half (56%) of the urban population lives in informal slum settlements and is projected to continue to grow (UN Habitat, 2015).

The demographics of Nairobi and Kiambu counties reflect its history of social and income inequality. These urban counties are a destination for migration as people seek economic and educational opportunities. But resources are still inequitably distributed, shown by the large proportion of the population that still live in poor, informal communities. In these two counties,

women have the highest educational attainment in the country and deliver in facilities (vs at home) at proportions much higher than compared to the rest of Kenya (Nairobi: 89%, Kiambu: 93%, nationally: 61%) (National Bureau of Statistics Nairobi, 2015). Yet paradoxically, Nairobi's neonatal mortality rate (NMR) at 39 deaths per 1000 live births is higher than all other regions in Kenya (in the central region of Kiambu NMR is 24 deaths per live births; national NMR is 22 deaths per live births) (National Bureau of Statistics Nairobi, 2015). Literature has cited inequitable access to high quality services as factors underlying poor maternal and newborn health outcomes (Calhoun et al., 2018; Fotso et al., 2008).

Data

I used quantitative data from the Strengthening Person-centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study. The SPARQ study is a longitudinal study that investigated PCMC and associations with maternal health and neonatal outcomes in central Kenya (Sudhinaraset et al., 2021). Data were collected between September 2019 and January 2020 from 6 facilities in Kiambu and Nairobi counties, which were selected as a mix of public and private facilities with high patient volumes (i.e., over 100 deliveries per month). Patient volumes of selected facilities ranged from 100-900 deliveries per month.

Women's survey:

Women between the ages of 15-49 who had recently delivered in study hospitals were interviewed at the facilities for baseline and were contacted for two follow-up surveys at 2-4 weeks and 10 weeks post-partum. Criteria for inclusion in this study for women were a) between 15-49 years of age, b) spoke English or Kiswahili, c) had given birth vaginally and d) owned a mobile phone and felt comfortable being contacted by the study team. Women were recruited from post-partum wards by female research assistants in collaboration with facility staff. Facility staff approached women who met eligibility criteria and asked if they would be interested in the study. Women were then referred to research assistants and led to a private setting. Research assistants described the study, assessed eligibility, obtained informed consent, and interviewed women. Baseline interviews lasted approximately 1 hour. Women were contacted via phone by research assistants for two follow-up surveys (2-4 weeks and 10 weeks). Follow-up surveys lasted approximately 15-20 minutes. A total of 1,197 women provided baseline data, 1,138 of whom reported that they had at least one SP (i.e., someone either accompany them to the facility, stay with them during labor/delivery, or visit post-partum). Among those women, 965 participants also completed a follow-up survey at 2-4 weeks or 10 weeks post-partum.

Support persons' survey:

In addition, the data set also includes interview data of accompanying SPs, who were also surveyed at the facility at baseline.

Criteria for inclusion for SPs included: a) anyone who accompanied the woman to the hospital, stayed and assisted the woman during labor and/or delivery or visited during the post-partum period, b) at least 18 years of age, and c) spoke English or Kiswahili. Recruitment of SPs was conducted in collaboration with women who participated in the baseline survey. Following completion of their interviews, women identified an SP as a potential participant. Eligible SPs were referred to research assistants in a private setting. Research assistants then described the study, assessed eligibility, obtained informed consent, and interviewed SPs. Surveys lasted
approximately 20 minutes. A total of 606 SPs completed interviews. Only 9 respondents refused the SP survey. The remaining women without accompanying SP surveys did not have an SP who met eligibility criteria.

Ethical approval

The study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Boards at the University of California, San Francisco (protocol number 19-27783) and the Kenya Medical Research Institute (Protocol KEMRI Non-SSC 666). Informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to participation.

PC-ISP themes and survey questions

I define PC-ISP as the extent to which SPs are integrated into care that is respectful and responsive to women's needs and preferences, ensuring that women's needs and preferences guide clinical decisions. I also broadly define a support person (SP) as a lay person (i.e., those who are not medical professionals employed by the facility) who accompanies or remains with a woman, in or near the maternity ward during labor, delivery, or postpartum to provide emotional, physical, and social support (Maimbolwa et al., 2001; Simmonds et al., 2012). Doulas, Accredited Social Health Advocates (ASHAs), or community health workers who provide support but are not employed by the health facility may also be included within the definition of SPs.

In addition, I grounded the concept of PC-ISP in person-centered care. The personcentered model asserts that women should be at the center of their own care (Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). This is important because existing models of medical care in low-resource settings often

center around the institution and providers (Bruggemann et al., 2014). Practically, this gives women a voice in their health care and acknowledges their desires and needs for support. Within the person-centered approach, evaluating women's experiences of care from their own perspectives is critical. Thus, PC-ISP indicators are reported by women, measuring how they perceived that SPs were integrated into their care.

Because existing measures of social support on care are not detailed enough to capture nuances in women's preferences for support and access to SPs, I focused measurement on integrating SPs into care. I conducted a literature review of women's and SPs' experiences of social support in maternity care and identified themes regarding how SPs are excluded from maternity care practices, such as making them feel unwelcome or failure to communicate with them (Kululanga et al., 2012; Mgawadere et al., 2019). I used these themes to define specific areas that SPs can be integrated into care which were then developed into four corresponding sub-constructs of PC-ISP: *Welcoming environment, Decision-making support, Communication and provision of information*, and *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*.

A *welcoming environment* highlights the importance of positive interpersonal relationships between providers and women's preferred SPs (Brüggemann et al., 2007; Mgawadere et al., 2019; WHO, 2017b). Adequate *decision-making support* promotes women's autonomy and agency in their own care by providing the opportunity to consult with SPs about clinical decisions (Cook & Loomis, 2012; Elwyn et al., 2012; Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). *Communication and provision of information* facilitates SPs' involvement in care and clarifies their roles (Alio et al., 2013; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018; Kaye et al., 2014; Porrett et al., 2013). The *ability to ask questions and express concerns* acknowledges the importance of providing opportunities for SPs to engage with providers during care, especially as an avenue to

advocate on behalf of women (Ampim et al., 2021; Bondas-Salonen, 1998; Kaye et al., 2014; Kululanga et al., 2012).

PC-ISP survey questions

The four themes discussed above were used to develop PC-ISP survey questions included in the women's and SPs' surveys. These survey questions were designed to measure the extent to which care integrates SPs that is respectful and responsive to women's needs and preferences. Table 4.1 presents PC-ISP indicators administered to both women and SPs. Five survey questions were administered to women about their PC-ISP experiences. Women were also surveyed regarding their preferences for PC-ISP corresponding to three sub-constructs (*Decision-making support, Communication and provision of information*, and *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*). Possible response options for women's survey questions used a 3-point Likert-type scale: Agree, Somewhat agree, and Disagree.

SPs were asked 5 PC-ISP questions, corresponding to three PC-ISP sub-constructs (*Decision-making support, Communication and provision of information*, and *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*). Response options for SPs' questions were binary (yes vs. no). Two questions (i.e., *Decision-making support* and *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*) were only asked of the subsample of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor or delivery (n=134). Although these questions should have been asked of all SPs, they were only asked of a subset of SPs, thus presenting a limitation of the data (this is addressed further in Aim 2 analyses in Chapter 6).

Table 4.1: PC-ISP variables and survey questions

Women's survey questions (n=1,138)

Subconstruct	Women's PC-ISP experiences	Women's PC-ISP preferences
Welcoming	My family member(s) felt welcome by	
environment	the facility at my delivery	
	I was given the opportunity by my	I wanted to consult my family about
Decision-making	health provider to consult my family	decisions about my care for delivery
support	about my health care decisions	
Communication and provision of information	I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care	I wanted my family to know about my condition/care I wanted my family to understand my condition/care
	My family was welcome to ask my	I would have liked my family
Ability to ask	health care provider questions	members to make sure my provider
questions and	My health care provider listened to my	respects my values and choices
express concerns	Support persons' survey questi	ons (n=606)
Decision-making		
support	Did you help the mother with any decision	ons during the labor and/or delivery? *
Communication	Were you provided resources or informa	tion from the mother's health provider
and provision of	on how to help care for the mother?	_
information	Were you provided resources or information	tion from the mother's health provider
	on how to help care for the newborn?	
Ability to ask	Were you or do you think you would have	ve been welcome to ask the health care
questions and	providers questions about the mother and	l baby's care?
express concerns	Did you ever help speak up to the health	facility staff on behalf of the mother? *

Notes:

* Question was asked of a subset of SPs who reported being present with the woman during her labor and/or delivery (n=134).

To measure the reliability of PC-ISP indicators, Cronbach's alpha was calculated. For the

5 PC-ISP reports in the women's survey, indicators displayed poor reliability (α =0.592), likely

because of the small number of items and low average inter-item covariance (0.017). This is not

surprising, given that PC-ISP items cover a range of PCMC domains and themes. One item in

particular, welcoming environment, showed low item-rest correlation (0.1820). Removing

welcoming environment resulted in a slight improvement in reliability and, for the remaining 4-

items, the alpha coefficient was 0.616, which is still considered 'undesirable,' yet not

unacceptable (DeVellis, 2017). The 5 PC-ISP items in the SPs' survey also demonstrated

undesirable reliability (α =0.618). However, some have suggested that low reliability may not be

a major impediment to a measure's use, especially if it has meaningful content coverage and a degree of unidimensionality (Schmitt, 1996). I argue that although these PC-ISP measures span several domains contributing to low alpha statistics, these measures are still useful because the items are theoretically grounded and that its examination may be constructive for further scale development. Nevertheless, the low reliability could potentially lead to underestimation of associations between PC-ISP and predictors or outcomes.

For analyses, I investigated women-reported PC-ISP experiences, using the 5 items as separate indicators as well as a combined 4-item measure, (summative score of *Decision-making support, Communication and provision of information, Ability to ask questions and express concerns*, range 0-4). Woman-reported PC-ISP variables will be recoded as dichotomous with 1 indicating "Agree" or "Somewhat agree" and 0 for "Disagree" responses. Recoding allowed for easier identification of trends and patterns (De Vaus, 1995). While collapsing a Likert-type scale results in some loss of information, the data loss in this case is considered minimal because of small frequencies in the "Somewhat agree" responses. In this case, for each item, a very small proportion reported "Somewhat agree," ranging from only 1.5-3.9% of the sample. On theoretical grounds, "Agree" and "Somewhat agree" were combined as both response options have positive valence. I conservatively recoded "Don't know" responses as "Agree/Somewhat Agree" and excluded missing responses (2 indicators were missing 19 responses: *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*).

For women's PC-ISP preferences, I also used the 4 items as separate indicators as well as a combined 4-item measure (range 0-4). Similar to the PC-ISP reports, the separate indicator variables were recoded as dichotomous (collapsing "agree" and "somewhat agree" response options).

For SP-reported PC-ISP, I used the 5-items as separate variables. Because 2 questions (*Decision-making support* and *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*) were only administered to the subsample of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor and delivery (n=134), it was not possible to use a combined score due to inconsistent sample sizes.

Quality of Care (QoC) variables

Person-centered outcomes (Aim 3a): The *Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC)* scale is a measure of the experience of care, which has demonstrated high reliability and validity in rural and urban Kenyan populations (P. Afulani, Diamond-Smith, et al., 2017). The PCMC scale was developed as an instrument to assess the extent to which maternity care is respectful and responsive to individual women's preferences, needs, and values. The 30-item PCMC scale was administered in the women's survey and is comprised of three subdomains: *dignity and respect* (6 items), *communication and autonomy* (9 items), and *supportive care* (15 items). Response options for each item were a 4-point Likert-type scale and total combined PCMC score can range from 0 to 90, which I standardized to a 100-point scale.

Women's reported *Satisfaction with care* is a multidimensional construct that encompasses perceptions of the quality and goodness of care (Srivastava et al., 2015). In addition, satisfaction is posited to impact future care-seeking behaviors and broader community perceptions of quality (Aziz Ali et al., 2018). The *Satisfaction with care* variable is a combination of three questions regarding satisfaction with different aspects of care and services received: during labor and delivery, after delivery, and for the newborn received after delivery. Possible responses corresponded to a 4-point Likert-type scale (Very satisfied; satisfied, dissatisfied, very dissatisfied). Together, these three variables demonstrate respectable reliability (α =0.78). The combined *Satisfaction with care* variable sums the three items and ranges from 0-9.

Willingness to return refers to women's stated intentions to return to the facility for future deliveries (Paudel et al., 2015). Intention to use maternal health services is important to assess as progress is still needed to reach universal maternal health care coverage in Kenya (UN joint programme on reproductive maternal newborn child and adolescent health 2016-2020, 2017). This outcome was assessed at women's follow-up interviews (at 2-4 and/or 10 weeks after delivery) by the question "Would you go back to the same provider/facility next time you are delivering a baby? (yes/no)". This outcome variable coded women who reported that they would go back to the same provider/facility at either follow-up interview as 1='willing to return' vs. 0='not willing to return.' Notably, this is the only variable used from follow-up surveys in this study.

Clinical QoC (Aim 3b): I assessed *coverage of key practices*. Women reported on 28 key practices from WHO's standards of maternal and newborn care (Montagu et al., 2020; WHO, 2016d). *Coverage of key practices* is a variable summing the total number of standard procedures or exams received reported by women. These practices include *maternal key practices* (17 questions): pre-delivery practices such as whether a health provider asked how a woman was feeling, had headaches, had bleeding, if her water had broken, if she was examined, had blood pressure and pulse checked, had contractions timed, if the fetal heartbeat was assessed, if she was given a vaginal and post-delivery practices such as blood pressure and pulse checks, whether she was asked if she was in pain, abdominal, perineum, and bleeding examinations, and whether staff

were always accessible. *Newborn key practices* (11 questions) included whether the infant was examined following birth, put immediately on the mother's chest after delivery, wiped dry, was not bathed in the first 6 hours, had temperature assessed, had the cord was examined, and whether a health provider counseled on newborn danger signs, checked if breastfeeding was going well, observed breastfeeding, helped show how to breastfeed, and whether breastfeeding was initiated in the first hour after birth. The *coverage of key practices* variable sums the reported number of these practices for each woman (range 0-28) and comprises two subdomains: *maternal key practices* (range 0-17) and *newborn key practices* (range 0-11). *Coverage of key practices* demonstrated very good reliability (α =0.82), while subdomains *maternal key practices* demonstrated respectable reliability (α =0.79) and *newborn key practices* had undesirable reliability (α =0.63) (DeVellis, 2017).

Other variables

This section presents other variables examined at the women's, SP's, dyadic, household, and facility levels, based on levels of the socioecological model. These variables were examined as predictors in Aims 1 and 2 and included as covariates in Aim 3. Table 4.2 presents independent, dependent, and control variables investigated mapped onto each of the 3 specific aims.

Women's variables: Investigation of individual-level determinants can reveal disparities in care, specifically whether certain groups of women are more likely to have negative experiences of PC-ISP (Aim 1). Individual-level factors include age (continuous), marital status (married or partnered vs. not), parity (continuous), educational attainment (primary or less;

vocational/secondary; college/university), current employment status (employed vs. not), birthplace (born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties vs. not), and health insurance status (covered under health scheme/insurance vs. not). Health status and health conditions could also influence how providers address preferences and whether they integrate SPs. I examined health factors including self-reported health status (ordinal: excellent/very good, good, fair, poor/very poor) and self-report of problems during pregnancy (yes vs. no), and delivery complications (yes vs. no).

Support Person Variables: Recognizing that the social position of SPs may influence interactions with health care providers, I also examined SPs' and dyad-level factors. Women reported on whether an SP (or SPs) were present during different periods of maternity care (e.g., accompanied to the facility, labor and/or delivery, post-partum) and their relation to the SPs. I examined the types of SPs (i.e., male partner; mother/mother-in-law; other family member; friend/neighbor/other), the total number of SPs (continuous), and timing of support (accompanied to the facility, labor and/or delivery, post-partum). In addition, I also examined SP-reported characteristics including age (continuous) and occupation (casual labor, salaried worker, self-employed in petty trade, self-employed small-scale industry, unemployed/homemaker). I also investigated dyadic variables that describe the woman-SP relationship: SPs' relational connectedness to the woman (range 1-7, higher values corresponding with greater connectedness), age difference between the SP and the woman (continuous), how long the SP has known the mother, and whether SPs accompanied the woman to antenatal care (yes vs. no), an indicator of past involvement in maternal health care.

Household factors: Household factors include household composition, such as size, and number of adults and children. Because a woman's position within the household influences her expectations and preferences for care, I also included an indicator of women's empowerment: household decision-making power. The women's survey includes four questions from the Demographic and Health Surveys regarding women's decision-making power in the household woman's health care, major household purchases, daily household purchases, and visits to family or relatives (Kishor & Lekha, 2008). I constructed a variable from these measures, '*empowered in household decisions*,' a dichotomous variable which coded women who reported being involved (i.e., reporting that decisions were made by the "woman only" or "jointly") in all four household decision questions as 'empowered' vs. women who reported not being involved (i.e., reporting that decisions were made by "partner only" or "someone else") in at least one household decision question, coded 'not empowered' (Upadhyay & Karasek, 2012).

Facility-level factors: Facility factors include the type of facility (government hospital; government health centre or dispensary; private facility) and type of provider who assisted with delivery (doctor, clinical officer, nurse, midwife, other, unattended). The physical infrastructure of the facility, such as whether there is adequate space or privacy or is properly equipped, can influence the degree to which providers integrate SPs (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Mgawadere et al., 2019). The facility environment can also influence SPs' perceptions of the QoC received, especially if SPs perceive facilities are crowded, dirty, or ill-equipped (McMahon et al., 2014). I examined SPs' *perceptions of crowding in the health facility environment* (crowded vs. not crowded).

	Aim 1: Examine women's PC-ISP				
Aim 1: Dete	erminants of women's a) preferences and b) reports of PC-ISP				
Dependent	Aim 1a: Women's PC-ISP preferences (4 individual variables,				
variables	combined 4-item measure)				
	Aim 1b: Women's PC-ISP experiences (5 individual variables,				
	combined 4-item measure)				
	**See Table 4.1 for specific measures				
Independent	Woman: Age, marital status, parity, educational attainment, employment				
variables	status, birthplace, health insurance coverage, health status, pregnancy				
	problems, delivery complications				
	SP: Type, total number of SPs, timing of support				
	Household: household size, women's empowerment scale				
	Facility: Type of facility, type of provider at delivery				
	Aim 2: Examine support persons' PC-ISP				
	Aim 2: Determinants of SPs' PC-ISP experiences				
Dependent	SP-reported PC-ISP experiences (5 individual variables)				
variables	**See Table 4.1 for specific measures				
Independent	Women's, SPs', household, and facility factors described above in Aim				
variables	1 will be included.				
	Additional factors included in the SPs' survey include:				
	SP: age, occupation				
	<i>Dyadic:</i> relational connectedness, age difference of dyad, how long the				
	SP has known the mother, and whether the SP accompanied the woman				
	to antenatal care				
	<i>Facility:</i> SPs' perceptions of crowding in the facility environment				
Sub-Aim 2	b: Explore types of SPs, number of SPs, and timing of support				
Dependent	Types of SPs, number of SPs, timing of support				
variables					
Independent	women's, SPS', dyadic, household, and facility factors are the same as				
variables	described in Aim 2.				
A	im 3: Estimate associations between PC-ISP and QoC				
Aim 3a: Associ	ations of PC-ISP and woman-reported person-centered outcomes				
Depenaent variable	Person-centered QoC outcomes: PCMC (full 30-item scale and 3				
	subdomains: Dignity & Respect, Communication & Autonomy,				
	Supportive Care), Satisfaction with care, Willingness to return				
In daman dama	** See p.60-61 for specific measures				
Independent	(5 individual variables, combined				
variables	4-item measure)				
Comminter	We way 's SDe' due die household and facility factors described in				
Covariales	Aims 1 and 2 above				
Aim 2h. Acco	Allis 1 and 2 above.				
AIIII JD: ASSO	<i>Clinical OoC outcoma:</i> Coverage of key practices and subdomains				
variables	(maternal key practices, newhorn key practices)				
variables	(matchai key practices, new join key practices)				

Table 4.2. Variable List by Aims

Independent variables	**See p.61 for specific measure Women-reported PC-ISP experiences (5 individual variables, combined 4-item measure)
Covariates	SP-reported PC-ISP experiences (5 individual variables)**see Table 4.1 for specific measuresWomen's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility factors identified from
Sub-Aim 3c: Facilit	Aims 1 and 2 above. ty canacity as a moderator of associations between PC-ISP and OoC
Dependent variables	PCMC, satisfaction, willingness to return, and coverage of key practices
Independent variables	Women-reported PC-ISP experiences (combined 4-item measure)
Moderating variables	Patient:staff ratio (staffing), total number of beds at the facility (patient volume), patient:bed ratio (crowding)

Analyses

-

Aim 1 Analysis

The objective of Aim 1 was to examine the women's, support persons', household, and facility-level determinants of <u>women's</u> a) PC-ISP preferences and b) PC-ISP experiences. Analyses for both Aim 1a (PC-ISP preferences) and Aim 1b (PC-ISP experiences) followed the same analytical process. I first examineed bivariate associations between dependent variables and all factors at the women's, SPs', household, and facility levels, using chi-square tests and t-tests. Second, I will assess: 1) determinants associated with individual PC-ISP indicators using multivariable binomial logistic regression 2) I assessed determinants associated with the combined PC-ISP score, using multiple linear regression. Both sets of analyses followed a sequential, blocked model building approach, beginning with a model including a block of woman's individual factors, then adding increasingly distal levels for each subsequent model (i.e., adding SPs' factors, then household, etc.). Within each block of variables at a given level, I included theoretically relevant variables as well as all variables that showed statistically significant (two-sided alpha=0.05) bivariate associations. I used cluster-robust standard errors to

account for clustering by facility. I also examined the intra-class correlation across facilities and examined multi-level models to understand whether variation in PC-ISP could be explained by individual facilities' random effects.

Sensitivity analyses assessed the extent to which PC-ISP occurs within and across facilities, as well as possible differences in associations with risk factors by facility. I also assessed confounding that may be due to women's selection of facilities: because women were not randomized to facilities, I also examined differences by women's stated reasons for choosing a particular facility (e.g., referral, close to home, facility was of high quality, etc.).

Aim 2 Analysis

The objective of Aim 2 was to examine the women's, support persons', dyadic, household, and facility-level determinants of <u>support persons</u>' PC-ISP experiences.

I investigated determinants of SPs' reports of PC-ISP as separate indicators, corresponding to different levels of the socioecological model. Analyses for Aim 2 followed the same analytical process as described in Aim 1 above, including examination of bivariate associations, the blocked modeling approach, cluster-robust standard errors, and sensitivity analyses. The SPs' surveys included additional data on SP characteristics, dyadic and facility factors such as SPs' age, occupation (SP-level), relational connectedness, age difference (dyad-level), and perceptions of the facility environment (facility-level).

The objective of Sub-Aim 2b was to explore factors associated with types of support persons, number of support persons, and timing of support.

In this exploratory aim (results are in Appendix A), I descriptively analyzed factors associated with dependent variables: i) the types of SPs (reported by women and SPs), ii) number of SPs (reported by women), iii) the timing of support (reported by women and SPs). I examined differences in frequencies and distributions of factors at each level (i.e., women's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility factors) by i) categories of SP types, ii) total reported number of SPs at the facility, and iii) the timing of support using crosstabs, histograms, and scatterplots, etc. I used bivariate statistics, such as t-tests, chi-square tests, and correlation coefficients, to test for statistically significant differences (two-sided alpha=0.05).

Preliminary analyses also demonstrate that women's and SPs' reports of timing of support are often contradictory. For example, 89% of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor and delivery were contradicted by women's reports of having no SP present during labor and delivery. To address this, I examined factors associated with both women's and SPs' reports of timing of support and compared differences. I also examined whether any factors are associated with concordant vs. discordant reports between women and SPs, to assess possible bias introduced from these contradictory reports.

Aim 3 Analysis

Aim 3 addresses how PC-ISP is associated with QoC across several dimensions. The objectives for this aim were to estimate associations between women and support person-reported PC-ISP and QoC outcomes specified by the WHO QoC framework, specifically, a) personcentered QoC: *Person-centered maternity care* (PCMC), *satisfaction* and *willingness to return* to the facility; and b) clinical QoC: *coverage of key practices*. I estimated associations between both women and SP-reported PC-ISP experiences. Analyses for women's PC-ISP used both separate indicators and the PC-ISP combined scores as primary independent variables. Analyses for SP-reported PC-ISP used separate PC-ISP indicators only. I examined bivariate associations between covariates and QoC variables. I also used linear regression to estimate associations between PC-ISP and *PCMC* (total score and sub-domains), *coverage of key practices* (total key practices and subdomains) and *Satisfaction with care*. Associations between PC-ISP and *Willingness to return* were estimated using logistic regression.

The modeling approach for regression analyses followed a similar blocked approach as described in Aim 1. Using the regression framework, I first used a model examining only bivariate associations between PC-ISP and QoC as the primary association of interest. I then added covariates in blocks corresponding to increasingly distal levels of the socioecological model to examine how factors at each level impacts the variance of the association of interest. To account for clustering by facility, I estimated robust standard errors in statistical models. Sensitivity analyses also examined associations using other forms of regression analyses, such as examining other functional forms including Poisson, negative binomial, and log-transformed outcomes and models for different constructions of variables (e.g., examining satisfaction as a binary or ordinal variable based on distribution and using binomial or ordinal logistic regression, respectively). I also conducted stratified analyses by facility, to examine any heterogeneity within the sample or facility-specific effects. I followed the same process described in Aim 1 for sensitivity analyses and examination of confounding.

The objective of Sub-Aim 3c was to examine facility capacity as a moderator of associations between PC-ISP and QoC.

I used regression models from Aim 3 to assess statistical interactions between the womenreported PC-ISP score and separate facility capacity measures. I examined *patient:staff ratio* as a measure of staff capacity, *total beds in the facility* as a measure of patient volume, and patient:bed ratio as a measure of crowding. Facility capacity measures were mean-centered. Sensitivity analyses included fitting multi-level models, including a cross-level direct effect of facility capacity. Chapter 5. Who wants and has access to support during childbirth?: Understanding women's preferences and experiences of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons

(PC-ISP): <u>Aim 1</u>

Abstract

Integrating support persons (SPs) into maternity care, such as making them feel welcome or providing them with information, is posited to increase support for women and improve health outcomes. Little quantitative research has examined what support women want and how the healthcare system currently facilitates women's support of choice. I propose the Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) concept into the literature and suggest indicators for research and practice. Based on literature, I specify four PC-ISP domains: Welcoming environment, Decision-making support, Communication and provision of information, and Ability to ask questions and express concerns and developed indicators measuring women's preferences and experiences of PC-ISP. I used data from the Strengthening, Person-Centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study. Measures were administered to women (n=1,138) in postpartum surveys at six facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties in Kenya from September 2019 to January 2020. I used multiple linear and logistic regression to estimate how factors at multiple levels were associated with women's PC-ISP preferences and experiences. I found a large unmet need for access to SPs during childbirth: between 73.6-93.6% of women reported that they preferred integrating SPs for PC-ISP indicators, while only 45.3-82.0% of women reported that SPs were integrated into their care across indicators. SPs were integrated differently due to differences in women's social status, SP types, and facility characteristics. More specific, support role-based efforts are needed to facilitate women's needs for support in maternity care.

Introduction

Access to support persons (SPs) has implications for quality of maternal care and health outcomes. Lack of social support in maternity care is associated with higher mistreatment during maternity care (Abuya et al., 2015; Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, Melo, et al., 2016), lower person-centered maternity care (Kiti et al., 2022), higher likelihood of adverse birth outcomes, and worse postpartum mental health (Bohren et al., 2017; Hodnett et al., 2012; Sapkota et al., 2013). Yet, the majority of pregnant and birthing women globally lack access to the social support they want and need during facility-based childbirth (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017). In Kenya, studies across settings indicate that women's access to SPs is low; only 6-42%and 4-16% of women report being allowed labor or delivery companions, respectively (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Moreover, even when SPs are allowed to stay with women during maternity care, provider and facility barriers (e.g., negative provider attitudes, exclusive policies, lack of resources) inhibit SPs abilities to effectively provide support (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017). Integrating SPs into maternity care, such as making them feel welcome or providing them with information, has been posited to increase support for women in facility-based childbirth and improve health outcomes (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019).

Gaps in literature regarding social support during childbirth

To effectively design interventions to increase support for women during childbirth, we must address critical gaps in understanding what support women want and how the health care system currently facilitates women's support of choice. For example, literature has been dominated by research on labor and delivery companionship and male partner involvement, but

studies have shown that up to 60% of women may not want companions and many do not want their male partners as support persons, preferring other types of SPs, such as mothers, or sisters, etc. (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Alexander et al., 2014). Women's access to SPs needs to be reconceptualized to adequately capture the social support they need and provide insight into how the health care system can facilitate women's needs for support. A more granular assessment of women's preferences for social support—including a range of supportive functions and a broad array of types of SPs—is needed to design systems that ensure women have the support they want and need.

In addition, how the health care system currently interacts with and facilitates supportive function for women beyond labor and delivery companionship needs to be examined. The few studies that have surveyed women about how the maternity care system facilitated social support focused only on labor and delivery companionship or the ability to receive food or supplies from SPs (Abuya et al., 2015; Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). Furthermore, most studies exploring how the health care system facilitates SPs' presence and roles are qualitative studies (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). However, at a population-level, we lack quantitative data about how and to what extent the healthcare system integrates SPs in practice.

Lastly, a better understanding of the multi-level determinants that shape women's preferences and access to SPs is needed. Little research has explored the factors that contribute to women's preferences for support including types of SPs and the kind of support they want. Evidence also indicates that women in Kenya may have differing access to SPs based on their social status, health condition, or SPs' characteristics (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). In addition, qualitative studies have emphasized how provider practices, facility policies, infrastructure and level of resources influence women's preferences for support as well

as how SPs are excluded or integrated into the model of care (Adeyemi et al., 2018; Banda et al., 2010; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Kaye et al., 2014; Maimbolwa et al., 2001). The level of person-centered care also varies by the type of facility (e.g., public/private, hospitals, dispensaries, health centres) (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, & Montagu, 2016; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021) which influences whether SPs are allowed during care. Efforts to facilitate support for women must be made at multiple levels, from individual providers to organizations and systems (Burman et al., 2013). Knowledge of the multi-level factors that may facilitate engagement of SPs in maternity care is needed to effectively target interventions.

Person-centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)

This study aims to address these gaps through the proposal of the *Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)* concept into the literature and suggest indicators for use in research and practice.

Present study

Using the PC-ISP concept, the main objectives of this study were to quantitatively examine women's 1) preferences for integrating SPs and 2) experiences of whether SPs were integrated into their care. I applied a socioecological approach (Bronfenbrenner, 1986), recognizing that women's maternity care is nested within multiple levels of a social ecology (e.g., their relationships with their SPs, households, facilities), to understand how women's experiences of PC-ISP are influenced by factors at proximal and distal levels. I also investigated how factors at multiple levels (women, SP, household, and facility) were associated with both women's PC-ISP preferences and experiences. I hypothesized that women who are younger, more educated, born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties (individual level), have an SP present during labor and/or delivery (SP-level), have higher empowerment scores (household), and deliver at private facilities (vs. public) (facility level) are more likely to prefer PC-ISP. I also expected that women of lower social status would be subject to worse treatment from providers and experience less integration of SPs into care. I hypothesized that women who are younger, less educated, not born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties (individual-level), who have an SP who is of lower social position (e.g., non-male partners vs. male partners) (SP-level), have less household decisionmaking power (i.e., household-level), deliver at public facilities (vs. private), and whose deliveries are assisted by doctors (vs. midwives, nurses, etc.) (facility-level) are less likely to report experiences of PC-ISP. Understanding determinants at multiple levels can provide insight about patterns and trends in women's preferences and the extent to which SPs are integrated into maternity care in practice.

Methods

Data

This study used women's survey data from the Strengthening Person-centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study. Data were collected between September 2019 and January 2020 from women delivering at six facilities in Kiambu and Nairobi counties, which were selected as a mix of public and private facilities with high patient volumes (i.e., over 100 deliveries per month). Patient volumes of selected facilities ranged from 100-900 deliveries per month. Women between the ages of 15-49 who had recently delivered in these hospitals were interviewed at the facilities. Inclusion criteria for women were a) between 15-49 years of age, b) spoke English or Kiswahili, c) vaginal birth and d) owned a mobile phone and felt comfortable being contacted by the study team. Women were recruited from postpartum wards by female research assistants in collaboration with facility staff. Facility staff approached women who met eligibility criteria and asked if they would be interested in the study. Women were then referred to research assistants and led to a private setting. Research assistants described the study, assessed eligibility, obtained informed consent, and interviewed women. Interviews lasted approximately 1 hour. A total of 1,197 women provided baseline data and the analytic sample for this survey included 1,138 women who reported that they had someone either accompany them to the facility or stay with them during labor, delivery, or postpartum.

Measures

PC-ISP variables

The four themes in literature regarding integrating SPs into maternity care discussed previously were used to develop PC-ISP questions in the women's survey. These survey questions were designed to measure the extent to which care integrates SPs (in this context, family members) that is respectful and responsive to women's needs and preferences. Table 5.1 presents PC-ISP indicators that were developed for women's surveys. Women were surveyed regarding their preferences for PC-ISP using four questions corresponding to three subconstructs. Women also responded to five questions reporting on how their SPs were integrated into their care corresponding to four sub-constructs. Possible response options for all PC-ISP survey questions used a 3-point Likert-type scale: agree, somewhat agree, and disagree. Two summative score measures were constructed for PC-ISP preferences and experiences, respectively. The PC-ISP preference score (range 0-4) showed questionable reliability (α =0.651) and PC-ISP experiences (range 0-4) showed poor reliability (α =0.592) (DeVellis, 2017), indicating there was a fair amount of multidimensionality among the few measures. One PC-ISP experience in particular, *felt welcome*, showed low item-rest correlation (0.1820). Because of this, I omitted *felt welcome* from the summative PC-ISP experience variable (range 0-4), resulting in a slight improvement in reliability (α =0.616). I also examined a PC-ISP experience score that combined all 5-items to understand whether there were differences in including or excluding the indicator, *felt welcome*. In addition, PC-ISP preference measures displayed small to moderate correlations (r=0.20-0.64) while PC-ISP experience measures showed no to moderate correlations (r=0.04-0.61).

For analyses, I conservatively recoded PC-ISP variables with "Don't know" responses as "agree" (n=9 for felt welcome, n=30 for *welcome to ask questions* and *listened to concerns*) and excluded those who responded "N/A" for questions (n=19 for *welcome to ask questions* and *listened to concerns*). Since there were few "somewhat agree" responses for each of the variables (ranging from 1.5-3.9%), each measure was recoded as a dichotomous variable (agree/somewhat agree vs. disagree).

Women's PC-ISP measures						
Subconstruct	Women's pref	erences for PC-ISP	Women's <u>experiences</u> of PC-ISP			
	Variable Name	Question	Variable Name	Question		
Welcoming environment			Felt welcome	My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery		
Decision-making support	Consult decisions	I wanted to consult my family about	Opportunity to consult	I was given the opportunity by my health provider to		

 Table 5.1. Women-reported PC-ISP measures

		decisions about my care for delivery		consult my family about my health care decisions
Communiation and provision of information	Know condition/care	<i>re</i> I wanted my family to know about my condition/care <i>Told</i>		I was asked by my
	Understand condition/care	I wanted my family to understand my condition/care	e e	health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care
Ability to ask questions and express concerns	Derroete et eiere	I would have liked my family members to make sure my	Welcome to ask questions	My family was welcome to ask my health care provider questions
	Respects choices	provider respects my values and choices	Listened to concerns	My health care provider listened to my family members' concerns

Women's, SP, household, and facility variables

Women's individual-level factors included age (continuous), marital status (married or partnered vs. not), parity (continuous), educational attainment (primary or less; vocational/secondary; college/university), current employment status (employed vs. not), birthplace (born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties vs. not), and health insurance status (covered under health scheme/insurance vs. not). Given that health status and health conditions could also influence how providers acknowledge women's preferences and whether they integrate SPs, I also examined self-reported health status (excellent/very good, good, fair, poor/very poor) and women's reports of delivery complications, based on their self-report of delivery problems such as prolonged labor or hemorrhage (yes vs. no).

Support Person variables included the total number of SPs reported (continuous) and the types of SPs by their relation to the woman including eight types: male partner, mother, motherin-law, sister, brother, father (of the woman), other family member, and friend/neighbor/other. Binary indicator variables were constructed for each of the eight SP types indicating whether the woman reported having the type of SP (e.g., male partner SP vs. no male partner SP, mother SP vs. no mother SP, etc.). Women also reported on the timing of support, that is, whether an SP (or SPs) was present with them during different periods of maternity care (e.g., accompanied to the facility, labor and/or delivery, postpartum).

Because a woman's position within the household influences her expectations and preferences for care, I also examined household factors including household size (continuous) and women's empowerment indicators. Surveys asked women who were married or partnered four questions regarding decision-making power for various household decisions, including woman's health care, major household purchases, daily household purchases, and visits to family or relatives (Kishor & Lekha, 2008). I constructed a composite variable using these measures, *Empowered in household decisions*, indicating whether a woman reported involvement in all four types of household decisions (i.e., "woman only" or "jointly") versus lack of involvement (i.e., "partner only" or "someone else") in at least one type of household decision (Upadhyay & Karasek, 2012). Women who were not married or partnered were coded as being involved in all four types of decisions. Facility factors included the type of facility (government hospital; government health centre or dispensary; private facility), total number of providers who assisted the delivery (continuous), and type of provider who assisted with delivery (doctor or clinical officer, nurse or midwife, other, none).

Analysis

Analyses for women's reported PC-ISP preferences and experiences followed the same analytical process. I examined bivariate associations between dependent variables (i.e., PC-ISP variables) and all factors at the women's, SPs', household, and facility levels, using chi-square tests and t-tests. I also assessed: 1) factors associated with individual PC-ISP indicators using multivariable binomial logistic regression and 2) factors associated with the combined PC-ISP scores, using multiple linear regression.

Both sets of analyses followed a sequential, blocked model building approach, beginning with a model including a block of woman's individual factors, then adding increasingly distal levels for each subsequent model (i.e., adding SPs' factors, then household, etc.) according to the socioecological model (Bingham et al., 2019). Within each block of variables at a given level, I included theoretically relevant variables (e.g., age, parity) as well as all variables that showed statistically significant (two-sided alpha=0.05) bivariate associations. Final models included age, parity, education, marital status, birthplace, health insurance coverage, and health status (womanlevel), number of SPs, types of SPs, timing of support (SP-level), women's empowerment in the household (household-level), type of facility, and number of providers at delivery (facility-level). Equations for the full models for both 1) binomial logistic regression for individual PC-ISP indicators (Eq. 5.1) and 2) linear regression for the combined PC-ISP scores (Eq. 5.2) are detailed as follows:

Equation 5.1, Binomial Logistic (full model): $logit(p) = \alpha + X\beta_{Woman} + X\gamma_{SP} + X\delta_{HH} + X\zeta_{Facility} + \epsilon$ Where p is the probability of reporting a given PC-ISP item. β_{Woman} is the vector of parameters for women's individual factors γ_{SP} is the vector of parameters for SPs' individual factors δ_{HH} is the vector of parameters for household factors $\zeta_{Facility}$ is the vector of parameters for facility factors, and, ϵ is the vector of error terms

Equation 5.2, Linear regression (full model): $Y = \alpha + X\beta_{Woman} + X\gamma_{SP} + X\delta_{HH} + X\zeta_{Facility} + \epsilon$ Y is the combined PC-ISP score $\beta_{Woman}, \gamma_{SP}, \delta_{HH}, \zeta_{Facility} \text{ and } \epsilon \text{ are as defined in Eq. 6.1 above.}$

For OLS models of PC-ISP preference and PC-ISP experience scores, I inspected the normality of residuals visually using kernel density estimates, and quantile-quantile (Q-Q) plots

and tested normality using Shapiro-Wilk tests and found notable non-normality (Appendix 5A). I inspected heteroskedasticity by examining the plot of residuals vs. predicted values and the Breusch-Pagan test. I used link tests and Ramsey regression specification error tests (RESET) to examine model specification error. For PC-ISP preference scores, I found evidence of specification error but no omitted variables. For individual PC-ISP preference indicators, I found no evidence of specification error. I did not find any evidence of multicollinearity between factors (VIF=~1.41). For logistic regression models, I used link tests and Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit tests and found no evidence of specification error or poor fit. I also examined potential outliers using standardized Pearson residuals, deviance residuals, and Pregibon leverage. I performed sensitivity analyses excluding potentially influential observations but found that estimates and confidence intervals of associations were minimally affected.

To account for clustering by facility, I used two methods: First, I constructed single-level regression models with cluster-robust standard errors. Third, I used multi-level models including using fixed effects and random effects by facility. Because intraclass correlations were low (all were less than 0.035) (Appendix 5B), I only present results from OLS models. I was also concerned with confounding that may be due to women's selection of facilities and thus controlled for 1) whether women were referred to a particular facility and 2) whether women reported selecting the facility because of quality of care (e.g., cleanliness, higher quality, more privacy, trusted providers, etc.). To assess the extent to which PC-ISP occurs within and across facilities, I also examined facilities separately to explore possible differences in associations between PC-ISP and risk factors by facility.

Sensitivity analyses also examined different constructions of the PC-ISP experience score to understand whether results were robust. In addition to the 4-item combined score, I examined:

a) 5-item summative measure that includes *SP felt welcome*, c) High vs. low PC-ISP scores, dichotomizing the 5-item score as reporting SP integration on 4 or more items (high) vs. 3 or less items (low). Results examining factors associated with the 5-item score were highly consistent with results of the 4-item score presented here. Results of these sensitivity analyses are included in Appendix B.

Results

The analytic sample includes the 1,138 women who had an SP accompany them to the facility or stay at the facility during labor, delivery, or postpartum. Table 5.2 presents descriptive characteristics of the sample of women. On average, women were 25.4 years of age (SD 5.0) and the majority of women were multiparous (61.8%), married or partnered (83.0%), Christian (98.1%), not employed (60.4%), born outside of Nairobi or Kiambu counties (79.0%), and were covered by some form of health insurance (85.1%). There was a larger proportion of women who attained primary or less education (44.3%) compared to Vocational/Secondary (39.9%) or College/University education (15.8%). Most women rated their health as excellent/very good (35.0%) or good (40.1%) and reported no complications during delivery (93.4%). Women reported an average of 1.5 (SD 0.7) SPs which included their male partners (60.0%), sisters (16.7%), mothers (8.5%), other family members (21.2%), and friends/neighbors/others (34.7%), etc. Almost all women reported that they were accompanied to the facility (94.6%), while only a fraction reported that an SP (or SPs) stayed with them during labor and/or delivery (7.4%), or during the postpartum period (43.7%). Women who reported not having an SP stay with them during labor and delivery were also asked if they wanted an SP during labor and delivery. Of those 1,054 women, 317 (27.9% of the full sampled) women reported wanting an SP during

labor and/or delivery. Most women were empowered in household decision-making (54.5%). Most women surveyed delivered at a government hospital (73.3%) and reported an average of 1.1 (SD 0.4) providers assisting delivery. Most (64.4%) women selected their facility because of quality and 15.8% were referred to their facility.

Variable	N or mean	% or (SD)
Total participants	1,138	
Age		
Mean age	25.4	(5.0)
Parity		
Mean parity	2.0	(1.0)
Primiparous	435	38.2%
Multiparous	703	61.8%
Currently married or partnered		
No	194	17.1%
Yes	944	83.0%
Educational attainment		
Primary or less	504	44.3%
Vocational/Secondary	454	39.9%
College/University	180	15.8%
Religion		
Christian	1116	98.1%
Muslim/other	22	1.9%
Currently employed		
No	687	60.4%
Yes	451	39.6%
Birthplace		
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties	239	21.0%
Born elsewhere	899	79.0%
Self-rated health status		
Excellent or very good	398	35.0%
Good	456	40.1%
Fair	181	15.9%
Poor or very poor	103	9.1%
Complications during delivery		
No	1063	93.4%
Yes	75	6.6%
Health insurance/scheme coverage		
Not covered	169	14.9%
Covered	969	85.1%
Support person type*		
Male Partner	683	60.0%
Mother	97	8.5%
Mother-in-law	37	3.3%
Sister	190	16.7%

Table 5.2. Descriptive characteristics of the sample of women

Variable	N or mean	% or (SD)
Father	10	0.9%
Brother	18	1.6%
Other family member	241	21.2%
Friend/neighbor/other	395	34.7%
Total number of SPs		
Mean (min 1- max 6)	1.5	(0.7)
Timing of support*		
Accompanied to facility	1,076	94.6%
Labor and/or Delivery	84	7.4%
Postpartum	497	43.7%
Household size		
Mean	4.2	(1.4)
Empowered in household decisions		
Not involved in all decisions	518	45.5%
Involved in all decisions	620	54.5%
Facility type		
Gov't hospital	834	73.3%
Gov't Health Centre/Dispensary	137	12.0%
Private facility	167	14.7%
Providers assisting delivery*		
Mean total number of delivery assistants	1.1	(0.4)
Doctor/Clinical Officer	627	55.1%
Nurse/Midwife	594	52.2%
Other delivery assistant	78	6.9%
No delivery assistant	12	1.1%
Selected facility because of quality	733	64.4%
Referred to facility	180	15.8%

* Percentages do not sum to 100% because women could mark multiple response options (i.e., report multiple SPs, timings of support, and delivery assistants).

PC-ISP preferences and experiences

Table 5.3 presents frequencies of PC-ISP indicators. Most women preferred PC-ISP. The average PC-ISP preference score was 3.5 (SD 0.9) out of a maximum score of 4. For individual measures, most women reported that they preferred (agree/somewhat agree) integrating SPs (ranging from 73.6-93.6% for different indicators). The highest proportion of women (93.6%) reported that they wanted their SPs to *understand their condition/care* and the fewest women (73.6%) reported that they wanted to *consult decisions* with their SPs.

For PC-ISP experiences, the average PC-ISP experience score was 2.6 (SD 1.2) out of a maximum of 4 on the composite score. Most women reported positive experiences of PC-ISP (agree/somewhat agree): 78.7% reported that *family felt welcome*, 58.9% reported being given

the opportunity to consult family on decisions, 80.7% reported that family felt welcome to ask

questions, and 81.9% reported that providers listened to their family's concerns. However, only

45.3% reported being asked by providers if their family should be told about their condition

and/or care.

Table 5.3. Frequencies of PC-ISP preferences and experiences

Women's PC-ISP Preferences	N or mean	% or (SD)
Summative PC-ISP preference score (range 0-4)	3.47	(0.91)
Consult decisions		
I wanted to consult my family about decisions about my care for delivery		
Agree/Somewhat agree	837	73.6%
Disagree	301	26.4%
Know condition/care		
I wanted my family to know about my condition/care		
Agree/Somewhat agree	1,013	89.0%
Disagree	125	11.0%
Understand condition/care		
I wanted my family to understand about my condition/care		
Agree/Somewhat agree	1,065	93.6%
Disagree	73	6.4%
Respects choices		
I would have liked my family members to make sure my provider respects my		
values and choices		
Agree/Somewhat agree	1,033	90.8%
Disagree	105	9.2%
Women's PC-ISP Reports	N or mean	% or (SD)
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4)	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64	% or (SD) (1.23)
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome No site of the score o	N or mean 2.64	% or (SD) (1.23)
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Acrea(Samewhat Acrea	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64	<u>% or (SD)</u> (1.23)
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions	N or mean 2.64 896 242	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242 670	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242 670 468	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242 670 468	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my	N or mean 2.64 896 242 670 468	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care	N or mean 2.64 896 242 670 468	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care Agree/Somewhat agree Dis Agree/Somewhat agree	<u>N or mean</u> 2.64 896 242 670 468 516	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1% 45.3% 54.7%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree	N or mean 2.64 896 242 670 468 516 622	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1% 45.3% 54.7%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Welcome to ask questions ¹	N or mean 2.64 896 242 670 468 516 622	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1% 45.3% 54.7%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Welcome to ask questions ¹ My family was welcome to ask my health care provider questions	N or mean 2.64 896 242 670 468 516 622	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1% 45.3% 54.7%
Women's PC-ISP Reports Summative PC-ISP score (range 0-4) Felt welcome My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my delivery Agree/Somewhat Agree Disagree Opportunity to consult I was given the opportunity by my health provider to consult my family about my health care decisions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Told condition/care I was asked by my health provider if my family should be told about my condition/care Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree Welcome to ask questions ¹ My family was welcome to ask my health care provider questions Agree/Somewhat agree Disagree	N or mean 2.64 896 242 670 468 516 622 903 217	% or (SD) (1.23) 78.7% 21.3% 58.9% 41.1% 45.3% 54.7% 80.7% 10.2%

Listened to concerns¹

My health care provider listened to my family members' concerns		
Agree/Somewhat agree	917	82.0%
Disagree	202	18.1%

¹ N=1,119. N/A responses (N=19) were excluded from analyses.

Aim 1a: Examine the individual, support persons', household, and facility-level determinants of women's preferences for PC-ISP

Factors associated with women's PC-ISP preferences

Multivariate results showed that factors at multiple levels were associated with PC-ISP preferences. For the composite PC-ISP preference measure (Table 5.4), being married or partnered, employed, having a mother SP, having postpartum support, and being empowered in household decisions were associated with an increase in the number PC-ISP preferences. For example, having a mother SP was associated with an 8.3% increase in PC-ISP preferences (p=0.027) compared to not having a mother SP. In contrast, increases in age and having a greater number of SPs were negatively associated with the number of PC-ISP preferences.

	Combi	Combined preferences variable			
	В	p-value	95%CI		
Age	-0.04*	0.01	(-0.06, -0.01)		
Parity	0.056	0.176	(-0.04, 0.15)		
Marital status (Ref. Not married/partnered)					
Married or partnered	0.21*	0.04	(0.01, 0.42)		
Education (ref. Primary or less)					
Vocational/Secondary	-0.06	0.24	(-0.17, 0.05)		
College/University	-0.06	0.66	(-0.40, 0.27)		
Employed (ref. no)					
Yes	0.12*	0.04	(0.01, 0.23)		
Birthplace (ref. born elsewhere)					
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties	0.05	0.53	(-0.14, 0.24)		
Self-rated health	-0.03	0.30	(-0.09, 0.03)		
Covered under health scheme or health insurance (ref. No)					
Yes	0.04	0.69	(-0.21, 0.29)		
Total SPs	-0.18*	0.01	(-0.29, -0.06)		
Male partner SP (Ref. No)					
Yes	0.21	0.08	(-0.03, 0.44)		
Mother SP (Ref. No)					
Yes	0.33*	0.03	(0.06, 0.61)		
Mother-in-law SP (Ref. No)					
Yes	0.25	0.24	(-0.23, 0.73)		

Table 5.4. Factors associated with the summative PC-ISP preferences variable using OLS

	Combined preferences variable			
	В	p-value	95%CI	
Father SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.16	0.38	(-0.26, 0.58)	
Sister SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.22	0.12	(-0.08, 0.52)	
Brother SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.10	0.56	(-0.32, 0.52)	
Other family members SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.21	0.05	(-0.01, 0.43)	
Accompanied to facility (Ref. No SP accompanied)				
SP Accompanied	0.23	0.10	(-0.07, 0.53)	
Labor & Delivery (Ref. No SP during L&D)				
Had SP during Labor & Delivery	0.08	0.37	(-0.13, 0.30)	
Postpartum (Ref. No SP postpartum)				
Had SP during Postpartum	0.12**	0.007	(0.05, 0.19)	
Household decision-making (Ref. Does not have say in all				
decisions)	0.12*	0.02	(0.04.0.22)	
Empowered in HH decisions	0.13*	0.02	(0.04, 0.23)	
Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)				
Gov't HC/Disp	0.01	0.79	(-0.11, 0.14)	
Private facility	-0.11	0.07	(-0.22, 0.01)	
Total providers assisting delivery	-0.11	0.20	(-0.30, 0.08)	
Selected facility based on quality	0.05	0.59	(-0.16, 0.25)	
Referred to facility	0.14	0.08	(-0.02, 0.30)	
Constant	3.88	0.000	(3.24, 4.51)	

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

The Friend/Neighbor/Other SP indicator was omitted from models because of collinearity.

Results for the combined PC-ISP preference score were generally consistent with results for individual variables (Table 5.5) except for associations with SP types and facility types. For example, several other SPS types—male partner, sister, other family members—were also associated with wanting to *consult decisions* with SPs. Other family member SPs were also associated with wanting SPs to *know* and *understand women's condition/care*. In addition, individual PC-ISP indicators were inconsistently associated with facility types. Women in health centres/dispensaries were more likely to want to *consult decisions* with SPs, but less likely to want SPs to ensure that providers *respected their choices* compared to government hospitals. Women at private facilities were less likely to want SPs to *know their condition/care* or SPs to ensure that providers *respected their choices*.

For individual preference indicators and the combined PC-ISP preferences variable,

separate examination of facilities did not reveal notable differences by facilities. I did not find

significant facility random effects, indicating that there were no systematic differences by

facility.

	Consult decisions (n=1,138)		Know condition/care (n=1,138)		Understand condition/care (n=1,138)		Respect choices (n=1,138)		
	aOR	95%CI	aOR	95%	6CI	aOR	95%CI	aOR	95%CI
Age	0.93*	(0.88, 0.98)	0.91***	(0.88,	0.94)	0.90***	(0.88, 0.92)	0.93***	(0.91, 0.96)
Parity	1.09	(0.91, 1.29)	1.26*	(1.04,	1.53)	1.34*	(1.01, 1.78)	0.95	(0.75, 1.20)
Marital status (Ref. Not married/partnered)									
Married or partnered	1.21	(0.82, 1.78)	2.27**	(1.24,	4.16)	3.73*	(1.12, 12.41)	1.50	(0.69, 3.24)
Education (ref. Primary or less)									
Vocational/Secondary	0.71**	(0.58, 0.88)	0.94	(0.63,	1.39)	1.14	(0.80, 1.63)	0.97	(0.71, 1.32)
College/University	0.681	(0.37, 1.25)	1.03	(0.54,	1.95)	0.82	(0.33, 2.06)	1.08	(0.54, 2.17)
Employed (ref. no)									
Yes	1.27	(0.86, 1.86)	1.29	(1.00,	1.66)	1.54	(0.89, 2.65)	1.32	(0.82, 2.13)
Birthplace (ref. born elsewhere)									
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu		(0. (0. 1. 0.0)		(0. (0				1.0.644	(1.15.2.25)
Counties	0.79	(0.60, 1.06)	1.31	(0.62,	2.76)	1.54	(0.55, 4.26)	1.96**	(1.17, 3.27)
Self-rated health	0.95	(0.80, 1.13)	0.94	(0.79,	1.13)	0.98	(0.84, 1.15)	0.89	(0.78, 1.02)
health insurance (ref. No)									
Yes	1.14	(0.89, 1.46)	1.00	(0.46,	2.20)	0.87	(0.29, 2.60)	1.32	(0.61, 2.85)
Total number of SPs	0.67*	(0.48, 0.94)	0.65**	(0.51,	0.84)	0.53**	(0.36, 0.76)	0.80	(0.57, 1.13)
Male partner SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	1.98***	(1.50, 2.60)	1.32	(0.72,	2.44)	1.11	(0.61, 2.02)	1.45	(0.94, 2.23)
Mother SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	3.50**	(1.58, 7.74)	2.22	(0.67,	7.36)	8.97***	(2.65, 30.34)	0.89	(0.38, 2.09)
Mother-in-law SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	1.58	(0.46, 5.37)	2.35	(0.37,	14.83)	3.20	(0.23, 44.28)	1.68	(0.63, 4.49)
Father SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	1.52	(0.61, 3.79)	0.42*	(0.18,	0.95)	_			
Sister SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	1.760*	(1.08, 2.86)	1.41	(0.56,	3.55)	1.81	(0.62, 5.25)	1.65	(0.82, 3.29)
Brother SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	0.82	(0.40, 1.64)	2.83	(0.24,	33.11)	1.75	(0.11, 27.41)	1.62	(0.16, 16.15
Other family members SP (Ref. No)									
Yes	1.54*	(1.01, 2.34)	1.90*	(1.02,	3.52)	2.63**	(1.40, 4.95)	1.20	(0.83, 1.74)
Accompanied to facility (Ref. No SP accompanied)									
SP Accompanied	1.44*	(1.00, 2.05)	2.46**	(1.40,	4.34)	2.23	(0.79, 6.29)	1.06	(0.84, 1.33)
Labor & Delivery Support (Ref. No SP during L&D)									

 Table 5.5. Multivariate logistic models for individual women's PC-ISP preference indicators

 (n=1,138)

	Consult decisions (n=1,138)		Know condition/care (n=1,138)		Understand condition/care (n=1,138)		Respect choices (n=1,138)	
	aOR	95%CI	aOR	95%CI	aOR	95%CI	aOR	95%CI
Had SP during Labor and/or Delivery	1.26	(0.96, 1.66)	1.20	(0.43, 3.37)	1.47	(0.41, 5.18)	1.09	(0.70, 1.69)
Postpartum (Ref. No SP postpartum)								
Had SP during Postpartum	1.26	(0.94, 1.69)	1.77**	(1.28, 2.46)	1.77	(0.93, 3.36)	0.92	(0.64, 1.32)
Household decision-making (Ref. Does not have say in all decisions)								
Empowered in HH decisions Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)	1.29**	(1.11, 1.49)	1.78**	(1.27, 2.50)	1.85**	(1.17, 2.93)	1.00	(0.65, 1.56)
Gov't HC/Disp	1.25**	(1.10, 1.43)	1.19	(0.87, 1.62)	0.85	(0.45, 1.60)	0.66**	(0.50, 0.88)
Private facility	0.89	(0.79, 1.01)	0.76*	(0.60, 0.97)	1.09	(0.57, 2.10)	0.51**	(0.34, 0.76)
Total providers assisting delivery Selected facility based on	0.84 1.22	(0.60, 1.17) (0.90, 1.65)	0.78 0.71	(0.56, 1.09) (0.42, 1.20)	0.84 1.17	(0.50, 1.40) (0.68, 2.01)	0.65 1.32	(0.39, 1.10) (0.67, 2.63)
Referred to facility	1.62***	(1.26, 2.09)	1.09	(0.85, 1.40)	1.58	(0.84, 2.97)	1.26	(0.55, 2.86)
Constant	7.75	(1.67, 35.86)	15.96	(2.74, 93.11)	17.12	(8.19, 35.81)	56.71	(18.05, 178.10)

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

The Friend/Neighbor/Other SP indicator was omitted from models because of collinearity.

Aim 1b: Examine the individual, support persons', household, and facility-level determinants of women's experiences of PC-ISP

Factors associated with women's PC-ISP experiences

For the combined PC-ISP experiences score (Table 5.6), only one factor—having a male

partner-was associated with an increase in total PC-ISP experiences. Women who reported

having a male partner SP, were more likely to report 0.13 (93%CI: 0.02, 0.23) additional PC-ISP

experiences compared to women without a male partner SP.

Table 5.6.	Factors	associated	with total	woman-1	reported	PC-ISP	experiences	using	OLS
(n=1,138)									

	Combined		
	В	p-value	95% CI
Age	-0.001	0.90	(-0.02, 0.02)
Parity	0.03	0.45	(-0.07, 0.13)
Marital status (Ref. Not married/partnered)			
Married or partnered	-0.02	0.88	(-0.27, 0.24)
Education (ref. Primary or less)			
Vocational/Secondary	-0.01	0.94	(-0.17, 0.16)
College/University	-0.08	0.34	(-0.28, 0.12)
Employed (ref. no)			
Yes	0.07	0.47	(-0.17, 0.32)

		Combined		
		В	p-value	95% CI
Birthplace (ref. born elsewhere)				
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu Countie	-0.08	0.52	(-0.37, 0.21)	
Self-rated health		-0.05	0.45	(-0.19, 0.10)
Covered under health scheme or health	h insurance (ref. No)			
Yes		0.06	0.40	(-0.10, 0.22)
Total SPs		-0.09	0.40	(-0.34, 0.16)
Male partner SP (Ref. No)				
Yes		0.11*	0.04	(0.01, 0.22)
Mother SP (Ref. No)				
Yes		0.13	0.27	(-0.14, 0.41)
Mother-in-law SP (Ref. No)				
Yes		-0.01	0.96	(-0.41, 0.40)
Father SP (Ref. No)				
Yes		0.14	0.75	(-0.93, 1.20)
Sister SP (Ref. No)				
Yes		0.02	0.88	(-0.29, 0.33)
Brother SP (Ref. No)				
Yes		0.13	0.56	(-0.39, 0.65)
Other family members SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.14	0.07	(-0.01, 0.30)	
Timing of support: Accompanied to fa				
Accompanied	-0.04	0.84	(-0.48, 0.41)	
Timing of support: Labor & Delivery (Ref. No one during L&D)				
Labor & Delivery		0.03	0.63	(-0.13, 0.20)
Timing of support: Postpartum (Ref. N	No one postpartum)			
Postpartum		-0.04	0.56	(-0.21, 0.13)
Household decision-making (Ref. Doe	es not have say in all decisions)			
Empowered in HH decisions		0.06	0.64	(-0.23, 0.34)
Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)				
Gov't HC/Disp			0.20	(-0.12, 0.45)
Private facility			0.97	(-0.31, 0.30)
Total providers assisting delivery			0.06	(-0.01, 0.60)
Selected facility based on quality			0.14	(-0.07, 0.38)
Referred to facility			0.21	(-0.15, 0.54)
Constant	2.21	0.01	(1.01, 3.41)	
Log likelihood -1833.76	AIC = 3677.52		BIC = 3702.	.71

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

The Friend/Neighbor/Other SP indicator was omitted from models because of collinearity.

Sensitivity analyses using a random intercept for facilities are presented in Table 5.7. Although the likelihood ratio test indicated that the random-intercept model was a better fit than ordinary least squares regression (p=0.006), AIC and BIC (penalized measures of fit), indicated that the OLS model was a better fit. Thus, results from the random-intercept model should be interpreted conservatively. The random intercept model sheds light on how facility factors may
influence PC-ISP experiences: increases in the number of providers assisting delivery and being

referred to a facility were associated with increases in the number of PC-ISP experiences.

Table 5.7. Factors associated with women's combined PC-ISP experience score, random
intercept model (n=1,138)

	Combined	Combined		
	В	p-value	95% CI	
Age	-0.003	0.76	(-0.02, 0.02)	
Parity	0.02	0.75	(-0.09, 0.13)	
Marital status (Ref. Not married/partnered)				
Married or partnered	-0.02	0.86	(-0.28, 0.24)	
Education (ref. Primary or less)				
Vocational/Secondary	-0.02	0.78	(-0.18, 0.14)	
College/University	-0.11	0.35	(-0.34, 0.12)	
Employed (ref. no)				
Yes	0.08	0.33	(-0.08, 0.23)	
Birthplace (ref. born elsewhere)				
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties	-0.10	0.31	(-0.29, 0.09)	
Self-rated health	-0.05	0.24	(-0.12, 0.03)	
Covered under health scheme or health insurance (ref. No)				
Yes	0.087	0.41	(-0.11, 0.29)	
Total SPs	-0.10	0.27	(-0.27, 0.07)	
Male partner SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.11	0.28	(-0.09, 0.32)	
Mother SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.12	0.44	(-0.19, 0.43)	
Mother-in-law SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	-0.03	0.89	(-0.46, 0.40)	
Father SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.12	0.77	(-0.66, 0.89)	
Sister SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.03	0.82	(-0.20, 0.26)	
Brother SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.18	0.55	(-0.41, 0.77)	
Other family members SP (Ref. No)				
Yes	0.15	0.16	(-0.06, 0.37)	
Timing of support: Accompanied to facility (Ref. No one accompanied)				
Accompanied	-0.01	0.94	(-0.33, 0.31)	
Timing of support: Labor & Delivery (Ref. No one during L&D)				
Labor & Delivery	0.01	0.92	(-0.26, 0.29)	
Timing of support: Postpartum (Ref. No one postpartum)				
Postpartum	-0.05	0.50	(-0.21, 0.10)	
Household decision-making (Ref. Does not have say in all decisions)				
Empowered in HH decisions	0.06	0.46	(-0.10, 0.22)	
Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)				
Gov't HC/Disp	0.16	0.38	(-0.20, 0.53)	
Private facility	0.01	0.95	(-0.30, 0.32)	
Total providers assisting delivery	0.29**	0.00	(0.11, 0.47)	
Selected facility based on quality	0.14	0.10	(-0.03, 0.30)	
Referred to facility	0.30*	0.01	(0.07, 0.52)	

			Combined		
			В	p-value	95% CI
Constant			2.30***	0.00	(1.67, 3.01)
Random effects at the facility-level				SE	
		$\sigma_{u}{}^{2}$	0.015	0.013	(0.00, 0.08)
		$\hat{\sigma}_{\epsilon}^2$	1.453	0.061	(1.34, 1.58)
Log likelihood = -1830.62	AIC= 3719.23			BIC=3865	.31

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

0.97**

(0.96, 0.99)

0.99

Age

The Friend/Neighbor/Other SP indicator was omitted from models because of collinearity.

Analyses of individual PC-ISP experience measures showed that associations varied by factors at different levels (Table 5.8). Employed women were more likely to report having the *opportunity* to consult SPs and providers asking if SPs should be told about their condition/care. Having a greater number of SPs was negatively associated with SPs feeling welcome to ask questions and providers listening to SPs' concerns. Women who reported having a male partner SP were more likely to report SPs *felt welcome*, while those who had their father or brother as SPs were less likely. Having an SP present during labor/delivery or postpartum was positively associated SPs *feeling welcome* and being *welcome to ask questions*. Women with a greater number of providers assisting delivery were more likely to report having the opportunity to consult SPs on decisions and SPs feeling welcome to ask questions. Facility types, however, were inconsistently associated with PC-ISP experiences. Compared to government hospitals, women at government health centres/dispensaries were more likely to report an opportunity to consult SPs on decisions and that providers asked if SPs should be told about their condition/care, but less likely to report SPs felt welcome. The opposite pattern was observed at private facilities: women at private facilities were more likely to report SPs felt welcome but were less likely to be asked if SPs should be told about their condition/care compared to government hospitals.

I uble 5.01 Main	unuone	logibere i		101 0000		purate 1 (5 101	experien		leatons
			Орро	rtunity to			Welco	ome to ask		
	Felt	welcome	со	nsult	Told con	dition/care	qu	estions	Listene	d to concerns
	(n=	=1,138)	(n=	1,138)	(n=	1,138)	(n=	=1,119)	(n	=1,119)
	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI

Table 5.8. Multivariable logistic models for women's separate PC-ISP experience indicators

(0.95, 1.03)

1.00 0.97, 1.03) 1.00 (0.98, 1.02) 1.01

(0.97,

	Feli (n	t welcome =1,138)	Oppo c (n=	ortunity to onsult =1,138)	Told co (n	ndition/care =1,138)	Weld q (1	come to ask uestions 1=1,119)	Listened (n:	l to concerns =1,119)
	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI
Parity	1.00	(0.83.1.20)	1.13*	(1.03, 1.24)	1.01	(0.89, 1.15)	0.99	(0.83, 1.18)	1.09	(0.90, 1.32)
Marital status (Ref. Not married/partnered) Married/partnered	0.69	(0.45, 1.07)	1.04	(0.65, 1.66)	0.89	(0.70, 1.12)	0.94	(0.73, 1.19)	0.87*	(0.78, 0.98)
Education (ref. Primary or less)			 		1 1 1 1 1		1 1 1 1 1		 	
Vocation/Secondary	0.91	(0.78. 1.06)	0.91	(0.70, 1.19)	1.07	(0.73, 1.56)	0.92	(0.71, 1.20)	1.17**	(1.07, 1.28)
College/University	0.91	(0.51, 1.64)	0.71	(0.49, 1.02)	0.82	(0.48, 1.39)	1.04	(0.60, 1.81)	1.50***	(1.20, 1.86)
Employed (ref. no)										
Yes	1.05	(0.71, 1.54)	1.26**	(1.07, 1.49)	1.29**	(1.07, 1.55)	0.90	(0.53, 1.52)	0.78	(0.50, 1.22)
Birthplace (ref. born elsewhere)					1 1 1 1 1					
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties	1.28*	(1.03. 1.60)	1.05	(0.82, 1.36)	0.92	(0.57, 1.47)	0.92	(0.62, 1.37)	0.75	(0.43, 1.32)
Self-rated health	0.93	(0.83, 1.05)	0.94	(0.82, 1.09)	0.89**	(0.83, 0.96)	1.02	(0.85, 1.22)	0.99	(0.78, 1.25)
Covered under health insurance (ref. No)			1		1 1 1 1 1					
Yes	0.70*	(0.50, 0.98)	1.23	(0.94, 1.61)	1.19	(0.92, 1.53)	0.988	(0.85, 1.13)	1.00	(0.78, 1.27)
Total SPs Male partner SP (Ref.	0.99	(0.69, 1.42)	0.94	(0.67, 1.31)	1.00	(0.71, 1.42)	0.71*	(0.53, 0.96)	0.77*	(0.62, 0.97)
Yes	1.64***	(1.42, 1.89)	1.10	(0.89, 1.37)	1.10	(0.92, 1.33)	1.15	(0.85, 1.56)	1.47*	(1.07, 2.02)
Mother SP (Ref. No)			-		1 1 1				-	
Yes Mother-in-law SP	1.39	(0.84, 2.29)	1.49***	(1.23, 1.80)	1.19	(0.78, 1.80)	0.92	(0.53, 1.59)	0.92	(0.39, 2.15)
Yes	1.24	(0.57, 2.72)	1.23	(0.71, 2.13)	0.86	(0.40, 1.85)	0.76	(0.56, 1.03)	1.13	(0.60, 2.14)
Father SP (Ref. No)					1					
Yes	0.17***	(0.09, 0.33)	1.28	(0.20, 8.28)	0.33	(0.10, 1.07)	2.98	(0.56, 15.85)	3.16	(0.74, 13.5)
Sister SP (Ref. No)							 			
Yes	0.99	(0.61, 1.62)	1.17	(0.85, 1.60)	1.00	(0.76, 1.31)	0.82	(0.48, 1.38)	1.07	(0.73, 1.58)
Brother SP (Ref. No)			i 1 1		1					
Yes	0.47*	(0.24, 0.91)	0.77	(0.58, 1.03)	0.94	(0.40, 2.23)	1.48	(0.36, 6.15)	2.94	(0.70, 12.3)
Other family members SP (Ref. No)					1 1 1 1 1		1 1 1 1 1		 	
Yes Accompanied to	0.95	(0.54, 1.67)	1.17	(1.00, 1.36)	1.22	(0.84, 1.78)	1.21	(0.98, 1.51)	1.38	(0.91, 2.08)
SP Accompanied Labor & Delivery (Ref. No SP during	0.85	(0.54, 1.67)	0.99	(0.73, 1.36)	0.73	(0.37, 1.47)	1.08	(0.72, 1.62)	0.87	(0.54, 1.38)
Had SP during Labor & Delivery Postpartum (Ref. No	2.34*	(1.16, 4.71)	1.25	(0.89, 1.75)	1.00	(0.73, 1.36)	1.31	(0.67, 2.56)	0.80	(0.46, 1.38)
Had SP Postpartum Household decision- making (Ref. Does not have say in all decisions)	1.94**	(1.29, 2.92)	0.81	(0.56, 1.18)	0.74***	(0.67, 0.81)	1.34*	(1.04, 1.73)	1.14	(0.73, 1.77)
Empowered in HH decisions	0.89	(0.64, 1.24)	1.08	(0.82, 1.41)	1.28	(0.88, 1.84)	0.90	(0.69, 1.73)	0.97	(0.65, 1.45)
Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)										
Gov't HC/Disp	0.72***	(0.63, 0.82)	1.43***	(1.27, 1.60)	1.30**	(1.08, 1.57)	1.09	(0.69, 1.73)	1.17	(0.70, 1.96)
Private facility	1.64***	(1.31, 2.04)	1.04	(0.87, 1.47)	0.76*	(0.61, 0.95)	1.08	(0.46, 2.57)	1.18	(0.67, 2.10)

	Fe.	lt welcome n=1,138)	Oppe c (n	ortunity to onsult =1,138)	<i>Told co</i> (n	ondition/care =1,138)	Welco qu (n	ome to ask testions =1,119)	<i>Listene</i> (n	d to concerns =1,119)
	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI
Total providers assisting delivery	0.85	(0.51, 1.40)	1.54*	(1.10, 2.15)	1.10	(0.79, 1.54)	1.84*	(1.07, 3.17)	1.64	(0.87, 3.09)
Selected facility based on quality	0.87	(0.54, 1.38)	1.18	(0.95, 1.47)	1.05	(0.73, 1.52)	1.21*	(1.02, 1.45)	1.34*	(1.04, 1.73)
Referred to facility Constant	0.92 14.02	(0.59, 1.43) (9.78, 20.1)	1.43** 0.70	(1.10, 1.85) (0.30, 1.67)	1.31 0.90	(0.89, 1.92) (0.22, 3.74)	1.06 2.78	(0.77, 1.47) (1.39, 5.57)	1.14 1.98	(0.72, 1.79) (0.84, 4.65)

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Discussion

There is a lack of understanding of how to engage SPs into maternity care. This study introduces the novel construct of PC-ISP with related measures developed for it and sheds light on women's preferences and experiences for integrating SPs. Using survey data from postpartum women at facilities in Kenya, findings provide insight about women's needs for support and how their social support was facilitated (or not) by the healthcare system. These findings also show the utility of PC-ISP indicators for examining both women's preferences and experiences of integrating SPs into their care. I found that women desired specific types of support aside from birth companionship, but that these preferences varied by women's, SPs', and household characteristics. Results also indicate that women and SPs were treated differently due to differences in social status, SP types, and facility characteristics.

Results were partially consistent with my hypotheses. As expected, I found that women who were younger, more empowered were more likely to prefer integrating SPs. However, some hypothesized relationships, such as women's education, birthplace in Nairobi/Kiambu counties, having SPs present during labor/delivery, were not associated with PC-ISP preferences. I also expected that women at private facilities would desire SP integration, but instead found that women at private facilities were less likely to prefer integrating SPs than those at public hospitals. Similarly for women's PC-ISP experiences the finding that women with male partner SPs were more likely to report PC-ISP experiences was consistent with my hypotheses. Other results were partially consistent since I found that older age, higher education, and being born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties were associated with some but not all PC-ISP experiences. Some of this may may be because some PC-ISP experiences were salient for women with specific characteristics; for example, women's greater educational attainment may make it easier for them and their SPs to express concerns to providers and have them addressed. Other literature has found that providers are favorable towards and more willing to engage with women who are informed (P. A. Afulani et al., 2020). This may also be because variables may lack specificity in capturing social status: for example, although women's birthplace in Nairobi/Kiambu counties measures their history of migration, this indicator masks differences in migration (i.e., migration from rural areas, urban areas, internationally) and reasons for migration (e.g., poverty, conflict, education) that are relevant for women's social position. I also found that facility factors went against my hypotheses: although provider type was not associated with PC-ISP experiences, the number of providers assisting delivery was, and associations with facility types varied widely across indicators.

Importantly, I found that there is a sizeable unmet need for social support during childbirth. First, more than one-in-four women wanted an SP during labor and/or delivery but did not have one. Second, although a large majority of women wanted their SPs integrated into their maternity care (73.6-93.6% across different PC-ISP preference indicators), fewer women reported that their SPs were actually integrated in practice (45.3-82.0% across different PC-ISP experience indicators). I argue that more specific, support role-based efforts are needed to facilitate women's needs and preferences for support in maternity care.

Women's preferences for PC-ISP

Regarding specific PC-ISP preferences, over 90% of women wanted their SPs to understand their condition/care and have their SPs make sure their providers respected their values and choices while slightly less wanted their SPs to know about their condition/care or consult SPs on decisions, suggesting that desires to remain at the center of their own maternity care are among women's highest priorities. Especially because there is little patient participation in health care, in general (WHO, 2007), these findings highlight the need to increase women's involvement in their maternity care. Women deserve a voice in their own health care, ensuring they are properly informed, involved in decisions, and attended to with respect when they need help.

Multivariate results indicated that younger women were more likely to prefer PC-ISP, including for all PC-ISP preference indicators separately and the total number of preferences. Similarly, another study in Kenya found that younger women were more likely to desire labor support (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). Recent literature has also documented trends of younger women wanting support persons during childbirth. A study in Ghana reported that younger women were more likely to expect their partners to be more involved in their health care, stemming from a shift away from traditional gender norms (Ampim et al., 2020). Another study found that aboriginal Australian cultural preferences around birth have changed, finding that although older women traditionally gave birth themselves, younger women were more content to have an attendant support them during delivery (Simmonds et al., 2012). Our findings are consistent with these studies and extends the literature to show that beyond labor and delivery companionship, younger women are also more likely to want their SPs integrated into their care in specific ways. In addition, given literature that norms regarding support during childbirth are

changing for younger women, these results suggest that women's preferences for integrating SPs into care are growing over time.

Findings also suggest that women look to specific types of SPs for certain types of support. For example, having an SP who was mother (vs. no mother SP) was the only SP type that was associated with greater PC-ISP preferences indicating that women potentially look to their mothers for multiple supportive functions. In contrast, women may rely on other individuals for specific types of support; having an SP who was a male partner (vs. not) or sister (vs. not) were only associated with an increased likelihood of wanting to consult SPs for decisions. Interestingly, having other family members (e.g., aunts, cousins) as SPs was positively associated with a preference to consult on decisions, know condition/care, and understand condition/care. Given that literature and policy has predominantly focused on male partner involvement (Galle et al., 2021; UN Population Division, 1994), these findings challenge assumptions that male partners are women's primary SPs of choice. Many studies have found preferences for mothers, female relatives, etc., often stemming from cultural preferences (Alexander et al., 2014; Simmonds et al., 2012; Wanyenze et al., 2022; Yuenyong et al., 2008). Yet, providers frequently give preferential treatment to male partners and policies have stressed the inclusion of male partners, including in Kenya (Aborigo et al., 2018; Ampim et al., 2021; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Rather, maternity care systems must broaden efforts to facilitate SPs beyond involving male partners and expand policy recommendations to include an array of SP types into care processes.

Interestingly, increases in the number of SPs was negatively associated with several PC-ISP preferences and the total number of PC-ISP preferences. One potential reason for this is that women may desire a degree of privacy if multiple SPs are involved. Women may consider

certain individuals to be overbearing (e.g., coaching in ways women find unhelpful) and want to limit some individuals' involvement (Odent, 1984). Another study also found that having too many SPs was undesirable; 90% of women who had multiple family members (up to 6) present at childbirth wished to have fewer people present (Keirse et al., 1989). Ensuring women have the SPs of their choice also includes the ability to limit SPs to only those they want.

Notably, women's empowerment in household decision-making was associated with preferences for consulting decisions with SPs, and SPs knowing and understanding women's conditions and care. This may suggest that when women feel that they have a say among their household members, they are also more likely to want to integrate them into their care. On the other hand, this may also indicate that women who lack decision-making power at home may want to protect their autonomy in health care and thus prefer not to integrate SPs into their care. This underscores the need to assess women's preferences for support to ensure women's involvement and autonomy are given primacy (Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). Furthermore, given that women's decision-making power in their own health care is increasing in sub-Saharan Africa (Andriano et al., 2021), our findings linking women's empowerment and PC-ISP preferences suggest that, over time, women may increasingly prefer to integrate SPs.

Women's experiences of PC-ISP

The data suggests that women's preferences were not met. This underscores how the healthcare system is ill-equipped to facilitate social support. Maternity care providers lack a clear agenda for engaging SPs directly or productively (Ampim et al., 2021). Even when policies are in place, providers often have widely differing practices about including or engaging SPs, such

as only allowing certain types of SPs or only providing information about women's conditions if women experienced problems (Ampim et al., 2021; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019).

For the PC-ISP indicator, *told condition/care*, most women reported that they were not asked if their SP should be told about their condition/care. Asking women about whether their information should be shared prioritizes their decision-making about their own privacy and how they want their SPs to be involved. If desired, sharing information with SPs can substantially alter women's experience of care: providing information about women's conditions and care processes facilitates SPs' ability to tailor their support and advocate for women (Kululanga et al., 2012; H. L. Longworth & Kingdon, 2011). Future research should examine providers' communication with SPs and its impact on SPs provision of support and care delivery.

Findings also suggest more attention is needed on the equitable, inclusive treatment of SPs, since women may look to a variety of SP types for their support needs. However, few studies have investigated strategies to address discriminatory or differential treatment of SPs in maternity care. Intervention studies that aim to increase access to SPs have even reported instances of differential treatment (Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). Future research and interventions should also assess whether SPs are treated differently in practice and how this may affect women's receipt of support and outcomes.

Excluding SPs during intrapartum and postpartum periods may be particularly detrimental given that these are critical periods for women's health (Lunda et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 1996). Other studies have found that allowing women to have their SPs present with them throughout maternity care contributes to their network members' sense of inclusion and belonging in care (Mgawadere et al., 2019). Helping families and social network members feel welcome in facilities influences positive perceptions of facility-based care in the broader

community which contributes to women's and community members' future decisions to utilize health services and contributes to maternal and neonatal health (WHO, 2017b). These findings reaffirm other literature that emphasizes the importance of allowing their SPs of choice during the key periods of labor/delivery and postpartum (Bohren et al., 2017; Hodnett et al., 2012; WHO, 2016a).

This study corroborates existing literature that highlights the critical role of facility factors in influencing women's access to SPs. Notably, number of providers assisting delivery predicted women's experiences of SP integration. This is likely because adequate staffing contributes to providers' capacity to engage with SPs and facilitate support. This supports other studies that have attributed exclusion of SPs to understaffed wards and overworked providers (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Bruggemann et al., 2014; Mullany, 2006). Kabakian-Khasholian and Portela's (2017) review concluded that women's access to SPs largely depended upon facilities' *"allocation of resources, organization of care, facility-related constraints and cultural* inclinations." Overworked and busy staff perceive that they do not have the time to accommodate SPs, whom the obstetric team often considers to be an additional burden (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). Kenyan providers have commonly cited institutional factors as a major reason for their inability to provide more supportive care, including lacking the appropriate resources to provide services (P. Afulani, Kirumbi, et al., 2017). Given that I did not find evidence that the type of provider was associated with PC-ISP as hypothesized, these findings about facility factors suggest that organizational factors have more of an influence on PC-ISP experiences than individual provider characteristics.

Moreover, these institutional factors also highlight how health care providers are embedded in institutions, health care systems, and social systems. Despite wanting to provide the best care, providers are often constrained and frustrated by institutional policies, lack of resources, and social hierarchies (Sen et al., 2018; Solnes Miltenburg et al., 2018; WHO, 2016c). Maternity care practices tend to be similar within facilities while there is considerable variation in maternity care practice by county and facility, especially given Kenya's decentralized health care system (facilities are governed by counties) (Oyugi et al., 2018). Athough health policies and standards are established at the national level, implementation is left to counties. Greater coordination to address staff capacity and establish standard practices regarding SPs across the health system is needed.

Limitations

This study makes an important contribution to the literature on how SPs fit into a personcentered maternity care approach but there are notable limitations. The first relates to the PC-ISP survey measures. Although PC-ISP measures were developed from themes in extant literature, they were not validated within the sample, nor did they undergo psychometric or formal scale development. Additionally, given low reliability, the combined PC-ISP score may not accurately or validly measure PC-ISP as a broader concept. However, past studies have been primarily qualitative or only used single measures that do not adequately capture the PC-ISP construct.

Furthermore, although women were surveyed about their PC-ISP preferences, I was unable to assess how preferences aligned with or influenced reports of PC-ISP experiences because: 1) preference and report measures did not align well and 2) they were administered within the same interview and thus PC-ISP preferences may be biased by PC-ISP experiences. However, because acknowledging and respecting women's preferences is important for person-

centered care, knowledge of women's preferences for integrating SPs in maternity care is an important area of needed research.

Findings regarding some types of SPs (i.e., mother, mother-in-law, father, brother of the woman) should be interpreted conservatively, given the small numbers of women who reported these types of SPs and large standard errors in some models. Nonetheless, I included separate dummy variables for each of these types and did not combine them into a composite variable because literature has highlighted differences in how these SP types relate to women and within the maternity care setting. For example, mother-in-laws may act as gatekeepers for women's health care decision-making and women may feel more embarrassed in front of or be scolded by mother-in-laws compared to mothers and that (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Gupta et al., 2015).

Finally, there are limitations with regards to generalizability given the sample included only women who delivered at six facilities in urban areas in Nairobi and Kiambu counties. Since this study included only facilities with high-patient volumes, the results are biased towards those who attended high-level facilities and do not represent the preferences and experiences of those at lower-level facilities. More research is needed across a greater number of facilities to better examine women's access to SPs and how facility factors influence PC-ISP. Nevertheless, this study generates insights about gaps in maternity care practice and how health systems may better integrate SPs under broader efforts to improve person-centered care.

Future research

To address limitations in measuring SP integration, future research should include formal development and validation of a PC-ISP scale. More research is also needed to assess the extent

that women's PC-ISP preferences, which influence women's expectations of care, affect their experiences of care and QoC outcomes.

Future research should also further examine how additional facility factors, such as the financial resources or physical infrastructure (which influences privacy or crowded wards), are associated with women's access to SPs, potentially using facility data from DHIS2. This information is critical for developing comprehensive, multi-level interventions to increase support for women (Burman et al., 2013).

Future research may also examine the influence of other facility or broader social contextual factors using data from other sources. For example, I will use District Health Information System version 2 (DHIS2) to examine other facility-level factors such as deliveries attended by skilled personnel and antenatal care use and use Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) data to examine social norms (e.g., prevalence of intimate partner violence, attitudes towards wife-beating) in facility catchment areas. This may help us understand how local social norms such as care-seeking behaviors and gender norms influence experiences of integrating SPs. For example, measures of abuse in the the community may contribute stricter social hierarchies in obstetric practice and influence how SPs are integrated.

Study Implications

Because SPs play critical functions and are important to women, efforts to improve personcentered care should also include integrating SPs in the ways women want. By introducing and measuring the concept of PC-ISP, we found that most women wanted to integrate their SPs into maternity care and these preferences will likely continue to grow over time. Thus, integrating SPs, when desired, can bolster women's autonomy and involvement in their own care. Further,

maternity care practice needs appropriate instruments to better assess women's preferences for support. The PC-ISP indicators developed in this study could be used in both research and practice to examine women's preferences for integrating SPs more closely. The health care system should also establish processes to incorporate women's preferences to guide care delivery. At a minimum, the care team should acknowledge and engage with women's SP of choice. In addition, policies and training for providers are needed to ensure equitable treatment of women and different types of SPs given women rely on different types of family or community members for different forms of support. Lastly, efforts to integrate SPs into maternity care need to address facility factors including staff capacity, cultures of care, and patterns of provider behavior. For example, community health workers could potentially fill in gaps in staff shortages for non-technical care and better engage with training and integrating SPs during childbirth. Providers may also receive training about the benefits of integrating SPs for women's care, such as monitoring women's conditions or ensuring that information given to women is properly heard and understood. Lastly, although Kenya's health care system is decentralized, establishing and enforcing standard practices regarding SPs across the health system is needed. Ultimately, integrating SPs into maternity care in the ways women want increases needed support for women, bolsters efforts to advance person-centered care, and has the potential to improve health outcomes.

Chapter 6. Centering support persons' experiences of maternity care: results from support persons' surveys: <u>Aim 2</u>

Abstract

Support persons are commonly excluded in facility-based maternity care in Kenya which has implications for women's experience of childbirth and women's and newborns' health outcomes, including duration of labor, adverse birth outcomes, and postpartum mental health, among others. Integrating support persons in maternity care has been proposed as one strategy to improve health equity and improve health outcomes; however, there is a critical lack of data that centers on support persons' voices, including their perceptions in engagement in care. The primary objective of this study was to investigate how support persons perceive being integrated into care using the concept and measures of Person-centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP). This study used data from the Strengthening Person-centered, Accessibility, Respectful care, and Quality (SPARQ) study from six facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties. Support persons (n=606) of women who recently delivered were surveyed at facilities. I used multiple linear and logistic regression to estimate associations between factors at multiple levels and support persons' PC-ISP experiences. Findings highlighted poor communication between providers and support persons and support persons' lack of information about care; only 20% of SPs reported receiving information about the woman and even fewer (17%) reported receiving information about the newborn. Support persons were less likely to report being given information about women and newborns if women reported problems during delivery. This lack of information merits attention because women who have poorer health likely need more support from their support persons and support persons cannot adequately support women when they are uninformed of women's conditions and not educated about how to properly support women.

Support persons were also twice as likely to be integrated into care if they reported that facilities were not crowded. Health care systems need to develop processes to inform support persons about women's condition and care, especially at crowded facilities.

Introduction

The presence of a support person is among the most important factors that improve women's perceptions of their childbirth experience (Hodnett, 2002). I define a support person (SP) as a lay person who accompanies a woman to the facility or stays in or near the maternity ward during labor, delivery, or postpartum (Maimbolwa et al., 2001; Simmonds et al., 2012). Yet in many contexts, including Kenya (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019), SPs are pushed aside or actively excluded in maternity care, which has implications for the support women receive and subsequent health outcomes, such as longer duration of labor and greater need for cesarean deliveries (Bohren et al., 2019). Engaging both women and communities has been put forth as the primary strategy to improve safety, treatment, and interactions in healthcare (WHO, 2007), but little research has focused on understanding the healthcare experiences of SPs, who directly interact with the healthcare system as they support women in childbirth. Integration of SPs into care has been promoted to improve health outcomes and health equity (Bohren et al., 2019), and thus, SPs' perceived engagement in maternity care is needed to inform programs and practices to better integrate SPs. Exploring SPs' experiences can illuminate how the healthcare system treats SPs, how SPs' perceived experiences may differ by SPs' characteristics, and identify modifiable factors to help the healthcare system better integrate SPs.

Support Persons are critical for women's care

Women depend on their families and social networks for crucial instrumental,

informational, and emotional support during childbirth (WHO, 2013). SPs influence women's experience of care, their relationships with providers, and decisions to seek care (Alexander et al., 2014; Kozhimannil et al., 2016). Particularly in contexts where provider mistreatment is common, the absence of an SP increases women's risk of experiencing mistreatment (Abuya et al., 2015; Balde et al., 2020). SPs can be vital advocates for women by improving women's interactions with providers, facilitating communication, and calling for medical help (Ampim et al., 2021; McMahon et al., 2014).

The overlooked role of Support Persons in research

Although SPs are among women's closest relationships and provide care and support to women within the healthcare system, little is known about who SPs are, such as their characteristics, their relationships to women, and how they support women. Despite evidence that SPs span an array of types (e.g., male partners, mothers, sisters, friends) (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Simmonds et al., 2012), literature has primarily focused on the involvement and attitudes of male partners in maternal healthcare (Adeyemi et al., 2018; Labrague et al., 2013). We also do not understand the experiences of SPs, whether they differ by social status, nor how they are shaped by the healthcare environment. This information is important because they are participants in maternity care system and critical for women's support—in the institutional setting, during pregnancy, and postpartum (WHO, 2016b).

SPs face provider and institutional barriers to supporting women in maternity care, which have also been documented in Kenya (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Yet, aside from birth companionship, we lack

information about the extent to which SPs are excluded or, conversely, integrated into maternity care. This is largely because SPs, as a group, are seldom the subject of research and have rarely been examined in population studies. The few extant studies that have surveyed SPs have focused on male partners' involvement and were based in contexts where SPs were welcome and expected to provide companion support (Ampt et al., 2015; He et al., 2015; Porrett et al., 2013). Yet, there is evidence that women have an array of companions outside of their male partners. Existing studies included few measures assessing SPs' interactions with providers or the institution and did not explore the extent that SPs were integrated into maternity care, such as how they were educated about maternity care, provided information throughout care, or had opportunity to interact with providers.

Furthermore, quantitative investigations are particularly needed to identify and assess disparities in maternity care. Evidence suggests that treatment of SPs in Kenyan facilities can vary substantially by providers, women's characteristics, and SPs' characteristics (Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). One rural Kenyan study showed that access to birth companion support is greater for women of higher economic and educational status (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). This study also found that female relatives were more likely than male partners to be allowed as companions. Another study in urban Nairobi and Kiambu counties found that provider practices varied: some providers granted access to all companions while others gave preferential treatment based on the SPs' relation to the woman, allowing only male partners (Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). A more detailed, quantitative investigation of SPs experiences can reveal broader patterns of differential treatment of SPs.

Lastly, although studies have described how institutional factors contribute to providers' treatment of SPs, quantitative assessments of how facility factors influence SPs' experiences of

care represent a gap in literature. The facility and broader health care system—through policies, organization, level of resources, and the built environment—determines and normalizes treatment of SPs. Qualitatively, many studies have shown that crowded maternity wards in Nairobi are not conducive to having SPs present; for example, when space is so limited that women need to share beds, there is neither space nor privacy to accommodate SPs (Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). A systems-approach is needed to understand how facility factors contribute to disparities for SPs and how they are linked with factors at multiple levels (e.g., SP, woman, facility, etc.). Investigating the multi-level factors will reveal the modifiable factors to better integrate SPs in maternity care.

Present study

This study investigated how SPs perceive being integrated into care using the concept of Person-centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP). Specifically, I investigated SPs' reports of PC-ISP in three domains: 1) *Communication and provision of information*, 2) *Ability to ask questions and express concerns*, and 3) *Decision-making support*.

Using SP-reported PC-ISP measures, the main objective of this study was to examine how factors at the SP, woman, dyadic, household, and facility levels are associated with PC-ISP. I expected that SPs of lower social position who support women of lower social position will report less integration. I hypothesized that SPs who are younger, unemployed, not male partners (SP-level) who support women who are younger, less educated, non-locally born (woman-level), report lower relational connectedness (dyad-level), assist women with lower empowerment scores (household-level), deliver at public hospitals (facility-level) are less likely to report that they were integrated into care. Because the facility infrastructure is needed to accommodate SPs, I also expected that SPs who report worse perceptions of the facility environment are less likely to report being integrated into care.

A secondary objective was to explore the bivariate associations between women's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility-level factors and three support variables: types of SPs, number of SPs, and timing of SPs' support.

Methods

Data

This study used women's and SPs' survey data from the Strengthening Person-centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study in Kenya. Data were collected between September 2019 and January 2020 from women delivering at six facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties. Women between the ages of 15-49 who had recently delivered in these hospitals were recruited at facilities. A total of 1,197 women provided data about their characteristics, SPs, households, and experiences of care.

Following interviews, women identified an SP for possible participation in the SPs' survey. Inclusion criteria for SPs were a) anyone who accompanied the woman to the hospital, stayed and assisted the woman during labor and/or delivery or visited during the postpartum period, b) at least 18 years of age, and c) spoke English of Kiswahili. Eligible and interested SPs were interviewed in a private setting for approximately 20 minutes. In total, 606 SPs completed surveys.

Measures

PC-ISP variables

PC-ISP survey measures were developed to assess SPs' experience of care according to the three themes discussed previously. Table 6.1 displays the PC-ISP indicators that were administered to SPs. Five PC-ISP questions corresponding to three sub-constructs were included in SPs' surveys. Response options for all SP-reported PC-ISP questions were binary: yes vs. no. Missing responses for PC-ISP indicators were excluded from analyses.

Two questions were only administered to the subsample of SPs who reported staying with the woman during labor and/or delivery (n=134): *help speak up during healthcare* and *help decide during healthcare*. Because these PC-ISP questions should have been asked of all SPs, this represents a notable limitation of the SPs' data. For this reason, I analyzed SPs' PC-ISP variables separately and did not create a summative score.

PC-ISP sub-	Variable name	Question				
construct						
Communication	Provided	Were you provided resources or information from the				
and provision of	information	mother's health provider on how to help care for the				
information	about woman	mother?				
	Provided	Were you provided resources or information from the				
	information	mother's health provider on how to help care for the				
	about newborn	newborn?				
Ability to ask	Welcome to ask	Were you or do you think you would have been				
questions and	questions	welcome to ask the health care providers questions				
express concerns		about the mother and baby's care?				
	Help speak up	Did you ever help speak up to the health facility staff				
	during	on behalf of the mother?*				
	healthcare					
Decision-making	Help decide	Did you help the mother with any decisions during				
support	during	labor and/or delivery?*				
	healthcare					

Table 6.1. PC-ISP indicators included in the SPs' survey

* Question was only asked of a subset of SPs who reported staying with the woman during her labor and/or delivery (n=134).

Support persons', women's, dyadic, household, and facility variables

SPs reported on their relation to the woman within 8 specific categories (i.e., male partner, mother, mother-in-law, sister, brother, father, other family member, and friend/neighbor/other). For analyses, I constructed a variable that collapsed these 8 types into 4 categories (i.e., male partner, mother/mother-in-law, other family members, friend/neighbor/other) because of how the data were distributed and because literature has highlighted these particular types of relationships as important for women's maternal health care (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, Melo, et al., 2016; Ono et al., 2013). SP-reported variables also included the SPs' age (continuous), marital status (married/partnered vs. not), birthplace (born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties vs. not). Additional SP variables from the women's surveys included women's reports of all the SP types who provided support during three time periods (i.e., accompanying, staying during labor/delivery, or visiting postpartum). Using this data, I summed all SP types across times of support to obtain the total number of SPs assisting the woman at the facility.

Women's individual-level factors included age, marital status, parity, educational attainment, current employment status, birthplace, and health insurance coverage. Because literature has described instances where providers grant women access to SPs based on women's health conditions, I also examined women's reports of self-rated health status (range 1-4, included as a continuous variable with higher values representing worse health), pregnancy problems, and any problems during delivery.

Dyadic factors that describe the woman-SP relationship were reported by SPs and included how long the SP knew the mother and SP's relational connectedness to the woman (range 1-7, higher values corresponding with greater connectedness). Missing values for relational connectedness (n=5) were recoded as the mode value (7, the highest connectedness

rating). I also explored whether SPs accompanied the woman to antenatal care (yes vs. no), an indicator of past involvement in maternal health care. A total of 43 SPs reported that the woman did not attend antenatal care and were thus coded as 'did not accompany.' I also examined the age difference between the SP and the woman (continuous) by calculating the difference between the SP's and woman's reported ages.

Household factors likely influence what type of SPs are selected and how they support women. Household factors reported by women included household size and women's empowerment in household decision-making. The variable *Empowered in household decisions*, was a binary variable that indicated whether a woman reported involvement in four separate measures of involvement in household decisions (i.e., responding either "woman only" or "jointly"), which I refer to as *"Empowered*," versus lack of involvement (i.e., "partner only" or "someone else") in at least one question, which I refer to as *"Not empowered"* (Upadhyay & Karasek, 2012). Women who were not married or partnered were not asked this question—they were coded as being involved in all four types of decisions (i.e., *"Empowered"*).

Facility factors that were reported by women included the type of facility, total number of providers who assisted the delivery, and types of providers who assisted with delivery (doctor or clinical officer, nurse or midwife, other, none). The physical infrastructure of the facility (e.g., crowding, whether the facility is properly equipped) can influence the degree to which providers integrate SPs (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Mgawadere et al., 2019). Because of this, I also examined SPs' reported perceptions of the facility environment including whether the facility was crowded, safe, clean, and had water or electricity.

Analysis

For my primary objective, I investigated determinants of SPs' reports of PC-ISP as separate indicators, corresponding to different levels of the socioecological model (Bronfenbrenner, 1986). I applied a socioecological approach to this inquiry to examine how experiences of care are situated within broader systems at multiple levels. The socioecological model guided my measures and analyses, allowing me to examine how forces at multiple levels influence SPs' experiences of care.

I first examined the pairwise correlation matrix of SP-reported PC-ISP measures (see Appendix 6A), which ranged from no correlation to strong positive correlations (r=-0.006 to r=0.772). Notably, a strong correlation was only observed between the *provided information about woman* and *provided information about newborn*, two measures in the same sub-construct of provision of information and education.

I explored bivariate associations between PC-ISP indicators and all factors at the SPs', women's, dyadic, household, and facility factors using chi-square and t-tests. I constructed multivariate binomial logistic regression models using a blocked modeling approach, beginning with a model including a block of SPs' individual factors, women's factors, then adding increasingly distal levels for each subsequent model (i.e., adding other SPs' factors and household, the facility). Factors that I included in multivariate models were either theoretically important (e.g., age, parity, etc.), or were statistically significant ($\alpha = 0.05$) in bivariate analyses. Final models included SP variables: SPs' relation to the woman (recategorized into four types: male partner, mother/mother-in-law, other family, friend/neighbor/other), age, birthplace, employment status, SPs' connectedness rating, whether SP accompanied the woman to antenatal care, and whether the SP reported accompanying the woman to the facility or stayed with the woman during labor and/or delivery (I excluded postpartum because nearly all SPs were

recruited from postpartum wards); women's variables: age, parity, marital status, educational attainment, birthplace, self-rated health, and report of delivery problems; other SP and household variables: total number of SPs and household empowerment; and facility variables: facility type, number of providers assisting delivery, and SPs' perception of crowding at the facility; and two variables to control for selection: woman selected facility because of quality, and woman was referred to the facility.

I used the following equation for logistic regression for the separate PC-ISP indicators, describing the full model:

Equation 6.1, Binomial Logistic (full model): $logit(p) = \alpha + X\beta_{Woman} + X\gamma_{SP} + X\eta_{Dyadic} + X\delta_{HH} + X\zeta_{Facility} + \epsilon$ Where p is the probability of SPs reporting a given PC-ISP item. β_{Woman} is the vector of parameters for women's individual factors γ_{SP} is the vector of parameters for SPs' individual factors η_{Dyadic} is the vector of parameters for dyadic factors δ_{HH} is the vector of parameters for household factors $\zeta_{Facility}$ is the vector of parameters for facility factors, and, ϵ is the vector of error terms

I checked models using Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit tests which indicated that the full models for each of the PC-ISP indicators fit the data well (i.e., failed to reject the null hypothesis that the models poorly fit the data). To check for multicollinearity between predictors, I examined relationships between continuous predictors visually (Appendix 6C) and calculated the variance inflation factor of all factors included in full models (mean VIF=1.45) and found little evidence of correlation between predictors included in the full model. I checked for influential outliers by examining standardized Pearson residuals, deviance residuals, and Pregibon leverage (Appendix 6D). I ran models without potential outliers and generally found that no observations were particularly influential. For models examining *help decide* and *help*

speak up, I found that excluding observations with high leverage (>3(k-1)/N) resulted in several more factors being significant (for *help decide*: education, total SPs, total providers assisting delivery; for *help speak up*: accompanied to antenatal care, age, private facilities) (Velleman & Welsch, 1981). While this analysis was informative in showing that a handful of observations (n=7 in each case) influenced estimates to be more conservative, I included all observations in final models presented in this study.

I used several methods to address clustering by facility. First, I used cluster-robust standard errors in single-level regression models. Second, I included two variables to control for possible confounding by facility selection: whether the facility was selected because of quality and whether women were referred to the facility. Lastly, I explored intraclass correlations (Appendix 6B) and using multi-level models by adding a random effect for facilities to account for any unmeasured variance by facility. However, intraclass correlations for all PC-ISP indicators were low and likelihood ratio tests (random intercept model nested within traditional logistic model) showed that none of the multi-level models were shown to be a better fit than traditional logistic regression models, indicating that the facility factors included in models were able to account for facility-level effects. Thus, I only present the results of single-level logistic models.

I also conducted sensitivity analyses to check the robustness of results by SP types and facilities. I examined SP types as their original 8-category classification and alternative variables collapsing SP types into different categories. These analyses produced similar results. I also performed analyses stratified by facility to explore possible facility-specific effects. Comparisons of individual facilities did not reveal any notable patterns or differences by facility. For the secondary objective (Sub-Aim 2b), I explored factors associated with the A) types of SPs, B) number of SPs, and C) timing of support. I analyzed bivariate associations between each of these three dependent variables and factors at different levels of the socioecological model. For dependent variabls that were reported by both SPs and women (i.e., SP type, timing of support), I conducted separate analyses for both SP and women-reported variables.

Because women could report multiple SP types (mean 1.5), for analyses of womenreported SP types, I compared women who reported having a given SP type with those who did not report that type (i.e., women who reported a male partner SP vs. women without a male partner SP). Because only one SP was interviewed per woman and thus mutually exclusive, for SP-reported SP type, I compared SP types against other types (i.e., male partner vs. mother/mother-in-law vs. other family members vs. friend/neighbor/other). I analyzed women's and SPs' reports of three different timings of support (accompanying to the facility, present during labor/delivery, visited postpartum). However, given that SPs were recruited from postpartum wards, nearly all SPs surveyed reported visiting women postpartum. I therefore did not analyze SPs' reports of postpartum support due to lack of variation in the data.

I used chi-square tests, t-tests and ANOVA to test for statistically significant differences by the factors investigated (two-sided $\alpha = 0.05$). I visually inspected scatter plots of continuousby-continuous variables (e.g., number of SPs and age) and used Spearman's rank correlation coefficient to assess statistical dependence. I also conducted sensitivity analyses to check the robustness of results by SP types and facilities. I examined SP types as their original 8-category classification and alternative variables collapsing SP types into different categories. These analyses produced similar results. Results and discussion for this secondary objective (Sub-Aim 2b) are presented in Appendix A.

Results

Descriptive characteristics of the sample of SPs

In total, there were 606 SPs who stayed and supported women during labor, delivery, and/or postpartum (Table 6.2). Partners represented the most frequently interviewed type (42.7%), followed by friends/neighbors/others (20.0%), sisters (14.7%), other family members (13.2%), and mothers/mothers-in-law (8.7%). Most SPs reported accompanying the woman to the facility (80.2%) and visiting the woman post-partum (99.3%), while less than a quarter reported staying with the woman during labor and/or delivery (22.1%). The average age of SPs was 30.9 years of age (SD 8.1). Most SPs were married or partnered (82.5%), Christian (97.5%), and born outside of Nairobi or Kiambu counties (80.5%). Most SPs were employed (77.7%) and were distributed somewhat evenly across occupational categories. On average, SPs rated themselves as being "very close and connected" to the delivering woman (6.3, SD 1.2) but nearly half (47.8%) only knew the woman for 5 years or less. Less than half of SPs accompanied women to an antenatal care appointment (42.9%).

On average, SPs supported women who were 25.1 (SD 5.02) years old with 1.98 (SD 0.98) live births. Most women were married or partnered (82.0%), not employed (63.0%), and had health insurance coverage (86.6%). Nearly half of women's educational attainment was primary or less (45.9%). Most women reported excellent/very good or good health (73.5%), and only 7.4% of women reported having problems during delivery, such as prolonged labor or hemorrhage.

Among women who had an SP interviewed, they reported an average of 1.49 (SD 0.67) SPs. Almost all women reported being accompanied to the facility (93.7%), a small fraction reported an SP during labor and/or delivery (6.8%), and almost half reported an SP visit postpartum (45.4%). The average household size of women was 4.23 (SD 1.41) members and approximately half (52.8%) of women were empowered in household decisions.

Most SPs interviewed were at government hospitals (71.6%), followed by private facilities (15.7%), then government health centres/dispensaries (12.7%). Of this sample, women reported an average of 1.16 (SD 0.40) providers assisting delivery. Almost half of SPs (46.0%) reported that the facilities were crowded. Nearly all SPs reported that they felt safe in the facility (95.5%), facilities were clean (95.7%), and had water (94.7%) and electricity (98.2%). Most women selected the facility because of quality (63.0%) and 15.8% of women were referred to their facility.

Factors	N or mean	% or (SD)
Support Person's characteristics		
Relationship to woman		
Male partner	259	42.7%
Mother	10	1.7%
Mother-in-law	43	7.1%
Sister	89	14.7%
Father	1	0.2%
Brother	3	0.5%
Other Family	80	13.2%
Friend/Neighbor/Other	121	20.0 %
SP Age (mean)	30.9	(8.05)
SP currently married or partnered	501	82.5%
Time SP has known the woman		
Less than 1 year	32	5.3%
1-2 years	116	19.1%
3-5 years	142	23.4%
6-10 years	95	15.7%
11+ years	221	36.5%
SP Born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties	118	19.5%
SP currently employed	471	77.7%
Occupation		
Casual Labor	124	20.5%
Salaried Worker	128	21.1%
Self-employed in petty trade	183	30.2%
Self-employed small-scale industry	36	5.9%

Table 6.2. Descriptive characteristics of the sample of SPs. (n=606)

Unemployed/homemaker 135 22.3% SP connectedness raing ¹ Mean connectedness (range 1-7) 6.25 (1.20) Time SP has known the woman 32 5.3% less than one year 32 5.3% l-2 years 116 19.1% 3-5 years 142 23.4% 6-10 years 95 15.7% 11+ years 221 36.5% SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments 260 42.9% Timing of support SP provided 486 80.2% Accompanied to facility 486 80.2% Present during Labor and/or Delivery 134 22.1% Visited post-partum 602 93.3% Women's characteristics 71 61.2% Woman is Age (mean) 25.1 (5.02) Parity (mean) 198 (0.98) Multiparous 371 61.2% Woman is Age (mean) 224 39.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% College/University 86 142	Factors	N or mean	% or (SD)
SP connectedness rating 1 6.25 (1.20) Ime SP has known the woman 1 1.2 (1.20) Ime SP has known the woman 32 5.3% 1.2 years 116 19.1% 3-5 years 116 19.1% 3-5 years 122 36.5% SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments 260 42.9% Years 221 36.5% SP accompanied to facility 486 80.2% Present during Labor and/or Delivery 134 22.1% Visited post-partum 602 99.3% Women's characteristics Woman's Age (mean) 25.1 (5.02) Parity (mean) 1.98 (0.98) Multiparous 371 61.2% Woman's Age (mean) 242 39.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% College/University 86 14.2%	Unemployed/homemaker	135	22.3%
Mean connectedness (range 1-7)6.25(1.20)Time SP has known the woman32 5.3% less than one year32 5.3% l-2 years116 19.1% 3-5 years12 36.5% SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments 260 220% Timing of support SP provided 486 80.2% Accompanied to facility 486 80.2% Present during Labor and/or Delivery 134 22.1% Voisited post-partum 602 99.3% Woman's Age (mean) 25.1 (5.02) Parity (mean) 1.98 (0.98) Multiparous 371 61.2% Woman 's Educational attainment 78 45.9% Vocational/Secondary 242 39.9% College/University 86 14.2% Woman 's self-rated health status 224 37.0% Excellent or very good 203 33.5% Good 244 40.3% Fair 97 16.0% Proor very poor 62 22% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 225 SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP resent duri	SP connectedness rating ¹		
Time SP has known the womanless than one year32 5.3% l-2 years11619.1%3-5 years14223.4%6-10 years9515.7%11 + years22136.5%SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments26042.9%Timing of support SP provided	Mean connectedness (range 1-7)	6.25	(1.20)
less than one year325.3%1-2 years11619.1%3-5 years14223.4%6-10 years9515.7%11+ years22136.5%SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments26042.9%Timing of support SP provided42.9%7Accompanied to facility48680.2%Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1%Visited post-partum60299.3%Woman's Age (mean)25.1(5.02)Parity (meaa)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman currently married or partnered49782.0%Woman's Educational attainment77Primary or less27845.9%Vocational/Secondary22437.0%Woman is Educational attainment20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very good20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very good6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance52586.6%Pregnancy complications457.4%Additional SP factors1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP556893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%4.23Household factors28647.2%4.2%<	Time SP has known the woman		
1-2 years11619.1%3-5 years14223.4%6-10 years9515.7%11+ years22136.5%SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments26042.2%Timing of support SP provided48680.2%Accompanied to facility48680.2%Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1%Visited post-partum60299.3%Women's characteristics501Woman's Age (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman currently married or partnered49782.0%Woman's Educational attainment7161.2%Primary or less27845.9%Vocational/Secondary24239.9%College/University8614.2%Woman is noirobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman is self-rated health status20333.5%Excellent or very good20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Mutitional SP factors1.49(0.67)Timing of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP58SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP present duri	less than one year	32	5.3%
3-5 years14223.4% $6-10$ years9515.7% $11+$ years22136.5%SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments26042.9%Timing of support SP provided48680.2%Accompanied to facility48680.2%Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1%Visited post-partum60299.3%Women's characteristics $*$ Woman's Age (mean)25.1(5.02)Parity (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman currently married or partnered49782.0%Woman currently married or partnered22439.9%College/University8614.2%Woman currently employed22437.0%Woman orne not in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman orne in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman orne or ery good20333.5%GoodGood24440.3%35%GoodPregnancy complications16927.9%27.9%Delivery complications457.4%Additional SP factors45.37%7.4%Total number of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP5893.7%SP resent during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visied postpartum27545.4%Household factors28647.2%Mottional SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP p	1-2 years	116	19.1%
6-10 years9515.7% 11+ years15.7% 221136.5% 36.5%SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments26042.9%Timing of support SP provided48680.2% 	3-5 years	142	23.4%
11+years22136.5%SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments26042.9%Timing of support SP provided48680.2%Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1%Visited post-partum60299.3%Woman's characteristics60299.3%Woman's characteristics71(5.02)Parity (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman's Age (mean)25.1(5.02)Parity (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman's Educational attainment24239.9%College/University8614.2%Woman currently employed22437.0%Woman's self-rated health status20333.5%Excellent or very good20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance52586.6%Pregnancy complications1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP5826893.7%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors32052.8%Facility type32052.8%Facility type7712.7%Facility type7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of all HI decisions 232052.8%Facility type7712.7%	6-10 years	95	15.7%
SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments260 42.9% Timing of support SP provided48680.2%Accompanied to facility48680.2%Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1%Visited post-partum60299.3%Woman's characteristics60299.3%Woman's Age (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman's Educational attainment49782.0%Primary or less27845.9%Vocational/Secondary24239.9%College/University8614.2%Woman turnently employed22437.0%Woman's self-rated health status12620.8%Excellent or very good20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance525SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors28647.2%Encomparied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors28647.2%Kitty type7712.7%Government in household decisions 27712.7%Fracility type7712.7%Government hos	11+ years	221	36.5%
Timing of support SP provided Accompanied to facility486 400 and/or Delivery80.2% 4134 422.1% 422.1% 422.1% 400290.3% 400290.3% 4002Woman's Age (mean)25.1 (5.02)(5.02) Parity (mean)1.98 (0.98) 40.98)Multiparous371 61.2%61.2% 407 Woman currently married or partnered497 497 497 40782.0% 40.98)Woman's Educational attainment Primary or less278 45.9% Vocational/Secondary242 437.0% 40639.9% 45.2%Woman currently employed224 437.0%37.0% 40033.5% 46 44.2%Woman or in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% 203 433.5%203 43.5% 44 40.3% Fair977 16.0% 44 40.3% FairPoor or very good Colde nealth status203 45 7.4%33.5% 7.4% 44ditional SP factors Total number of SPs1.49 45 45 45.4%Muture of SPs SP accompanied to facility SP present during labor and/or delivery SP present during labor and/or delivery SP present during labor and/or delivery SP isited postpartum 320 S2.8%4.23 4.141)Empowered in all Hu decisions 2 Government in household decision 2 Not empowered in all Hu decisions 2 Recompanied to facility SP resent during labor and/or delivery SP isited postpartum S20 S2.8%2.28% S2.8%Facility fuctors Facility type Government hospital Government hospital Government hospital Government hospital Government hospital S20 S2.8%434 41.6% 434 41.6% 434 41.6% 434 41.6% 434 41.6% 434 41.6% <br< td=""><td>SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments</td><td>260</td><td>42.9%</td></br<>	SP accompanied woman to any antenatal care appointments	260	42.9%
Accompanied to facility48680.2%Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1%Visited post-partum60299.3%Women's characteristics60299.3%Woman's Age (mean)25.1(5.02)Parity (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman 's Educational attainment7820%Primary or less27845.9%Vocational/Secondary24239.9%College/University8614.2%Woman currently employed22437.0%Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman's self-rated health status21620.8%Excellent or very good20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance525SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP necomplications16927.9%Delivery complications146.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%SP necompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum2052.8%Facility fuctors2052.8%Facility type32052.8%Government hospital43471.6%Government hospital43471.6%Government hospital43471.6%Gover	Timing of support SP provided		
Present during Labor and/or Delivery13422.1% Visited post-partum200Women's characteristics99.3%Women's characteristics55.1Woman's Age (mean)25.1Parity (mean)1.98Multiparous371Koman currently married or partnered497Woman's Educational attainment97Primary or less278Vocational/Secondary242College/University86H4.2%Woman urrently employed224Woman's self-rated health statusExcellent or very good203Good24440.3%Fair97Poor or very poor62Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance525Pregnancy complications16927.9%Delivery complications16927.9%SP accompanied to facility568SP resent during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household size4.23Household size4.23Household size2.28%Facility typeGovernment in hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp777712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's percention of facility	Accompanied to facility	486	80.2%
Visited post-partum60299.3%Woman's characteristics 25.1 (5.02)Woman's Age (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman currently married or partnered49782.0%Woman's Educational attainment 212 39.9%College/University8614.2%Woman currently employed22437.0%Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman's self-rated health status 203 33.5%Excellent or very good20333.5%Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance52586.6%Pregnancy complications16927.9%Delivery complications16927.9%Delivery complications1457.4%Additional SP factors 320 52.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors 320 52.8%Facility type 320 52.8%Government in household decisions 2 320 52.8%Facility type 320 52.8%Facility type 320 52.8%Facility type 77 12.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)BP's percention of facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)	Present during Labor and/or Delivery	134	22.1%
Women's characteristicsWoman's Age (mean)25.1(5.02)Parity (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous37161.2%Woman currently married or partnered49782.0%Woman's Educational attainment77845.9%Primary or less27845.9%Vocational/Secondary24239.9%College/University8614.2%Woman currently employed22437.0%Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman's self-rated health status20333.5%Good20444440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very goor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance52586.6%Pregnancy complications16927.9%Delivery complications16927.9%Delivery complications1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factorsHousehold size4.23(1.41)Empowered in all HI decisions 2 28.647.2%Mot empowered in all HI decisions28647.2%Government in household decision 2 7712.7%Not empowered in all HI decisions28647.2%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total nu	Visited post-partum	602	99.3%
Woman's Age (mean)25.1(5.02)Parity (mean)1.98(0.98)Multiparous371 61.2% Woman currently married or partnered497 82.0% Woman's Educational attainment497 82.0% Primary or less278 45.9% Vocational/Secondary242 39.9% College/University86 14.2% Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health statusExcellent or very good203 33.5% Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% 0.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications169 27.9% Delivery complications45 7.4% Additional SP factors1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP1 6.8% SP present during labor and/or delivery41 6.8% SP visited postpartum275 45.4% Household factors11.16Facility type568 93.7% Government household decisions 252.8\%Facility type565 57.8% Government hospital434 71.6% Government hospital434 71.6% Government hospital434 71.6% Government hospital95 1	Women's characteristics		
Parity (mean)1.98 (0.98) Multiparous371 61.2% Woman currently married or partnered497 82.0% Woman's Educational attainment	Woman's Age (mean)	25.1	(5.02)
Multiparous371 61.2% Woman currently married or partnered497 82.0% Woman's Educational attainment78 82.0% Primary or less278 45.9% Vocational/Secondary242 39.9% College/University86 14.2% Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health status 203 33.5% Excellent or very good203 33.5% Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications45 7.4% Additional SP factors 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 286 47.2% Impowerment in household decisions 2 320 52.8% Not empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Government hospital 434 71.6% Government hC/Disp 77 12.7% Private facility 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) BY is percention of facility <t< td=""><td>Parity (mean)</td><td>1.98</td><td>(0.98)</td></t<>	Parity (mean)	1.98	(0.98)
Woman currently married or partnered497 82.0% Woman's Educational attainment778 45.9% Primary or less278 45.9% Vocational/Secondary242 39.9% College/University86 14.2% Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health status 126 20.8% Excellent or very good203 33.5% Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications169 27.9% Delivery complications169 27.9% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP resent during labor and/or delivery41 6.8% SP visited postpartum275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowered in all HH decisions 2 2.86 47.2% Not empowered in all HH decisions 2 2.86 47.2% Facility factors 52.8% 52.8% Facility type $Government hospital43471.6\%Government HC/Disp7712.7\%Private facility9515.7\%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP 's percention of facility5440.40$	Multiparous	371	61.2%
Woman's Educational attainmentPrimary or less278 45.9% Vocational/Secondary242 39.9% College/University86 14.2% Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman's self-rated health status203 33.5% Good24440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance52586.6%Pregnancy complications16927.9%Delivery complications16927.9%Delivery complications1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP resent during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factorsHousehold size4.23(1.41)Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Facility type7712.7%Government hospital43471.6%Government Hc/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP 's necention of facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)	Woman currently married or partnered	497	82.0%
Primary or less278 45.9% Vocational/Secondary242 39.9% College/University86 14.2% Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health status 203 33.5% Excellent or very good203 33.5% Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications45 7.4% Additional SP factors 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factorsHousehold size4.23 (1.41) Empowered in all HI decisions 2 866 47.2% Not empowered in all HI decisions 2 2866 47.2% Facility factors 77 12.7% Facility fuctors 77 12.7% Private facility95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP 's encention of facility 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40)	Woman's Educational attainment		
Vocational/Secondary242 39.9% College/University 86 14.2% Woman currently employed 224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties 126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health status 203 33.5% Excellent or very good 203 33.5% Good 244 40.3% Fair 97 16.0% Poor or very poor 62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 45 7.4% Additional SP factors 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowerment in household decisions 2 866 47.2% Facility factors 826 47.2% Facility factors 866 47.2% Facility factors 286 47.2% Facility factors 866 47.2% Facility factors 826 47.2% Facility factors 826 47.2% Facility factors 856 952.8% Facility factors 856 434 Facility factors 856 452.7% Facility factors 856 452.7% Facility factors 856 452.7% Facility factors 856 452	Primary or less	278	45.9%
College/University8614.2%Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health status203 33.5% Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications169 27.9% Delivery complications1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SPSP 32.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP resent during labor and/or delivery41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factorsHousehold size4.23 (1.41) Empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Empowered in all household decision 320 52.8% Facility fuctorsFacility fuctors77 12.7% Private facility 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40)	Vocational/Secondary	242	39.9%
Woman currently employed224 37.0% Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties126 20.8% Woman's self-rated health status 126 20.8% Excellent or very good 203 33.5% Good 244 40.3% Fair 97 16.0% Poor or very poor 62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 45 7.4% Additional SP factors 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP resent during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Empowered in all household decision 320 52.8% Facility factors 77 12.7% Facility futors 77 12.7% Facility futors 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP is percention of facility 95 15.7%	College/University	86	14.2%
Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties12620.8%Woman's self-rated health status20333.5%Good20440.3%Fair9716.0%Poor or very poor6210.2%Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance52586.6%Pregnancy complications16927.9%Delivery complications457.4%Additional SP factors7100.67Total number of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP resent during labor and/or delivery416.8%Household factors4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 228647.2%Mot empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)	Woman currently employed	224	37.0%
Woman's self-rated health statusExcellent or very good203 33.5% Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications45 7.4% Additional SP factors 45 7.4% Total number of SPs 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowered in all HH decisions 2 286 47.2% Empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Government hospital 434 71.6% Government hospital 434 71.6% Government hospital 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP's percention of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40)	Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties	126	20.8%
Excellent or very good203 33.5% GoodGood244 40.3% FairFair97 16.0% Poor or very poorPoor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 45 7.4% Additional SP factors 45 7.4% Total number of SPs 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowered in all HH decisions 2 286 47.2% Mot empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Empowered in all household decision 320 52.8% Facility factors 77 12.7% Facility type 77 12.7% Government hospital 434 71.6% Government HC/Disp 77 12.7% Private facility 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP's percention of facility 56 1.16	Woman's self-rated health status		
Good244 40.3% Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 45 7.4% Additional SP factors 45 7.4% Total number of SPs 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowernent in household decisions 2 286 47.2% Engowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Engowernent hospital 434 71.6% Government hospital 434 71.6% Government hospital 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP's percention of facility 95 15.7%	Excellent or very good	203	33.5%
Fair97 16.0% Poor or very poorPoor or very poor62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 45 7.4% Additional SP factors 45 7.4% Total number of SPs 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factors 4.23 (1.41) Empowerment in household decisions 2 286 47.2% Empowered in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Empowered in all household decision 320 52.8% Facility factors 77 12.7% Facility type 77 12.7% Private facility 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40)	Good	244	40.3%
Poor or very poor 62 10.2% Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance 525 86.6% Pregnancy complications 169 27.9% Delivery complications 45 7.4% Additional SP factors 45 7.4% Total number of SPs 1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP 568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility 568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery 41 6.8% SP visited postpartum 275 45.4% Household factorsHousehold size 4.23 (1.41) Empowerred in all HH decisions 286 47.2% Empowered in all household decision 320 52.8% Facility factorsFacility factors 77 12.7% Private facility 95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP's percent on of facility 95 15.7%	Fair	97	16.0%
Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance525 86.6% Pregnancy complications169 27.9% Delivery complications45 7.4% Additional SP factors1.49 (0.67) Total number of SPs1.49 (0.67) Timing of support from any SP568 93.7% SP accompanied to facility568 93.7% SP present during labor and/or delivery41 6.8% SP visited postpartum275 45.4% Household factorsHousehold size4.23 (1.41) Empowerment in household decisions 2 286 47.2% Not empowered in all HH decisions286 47.2% Facility factors 500 52.8% Facility factors 77 12.7% Private facility95 15.7% Total number of delivery assistants 1.16 (0.40) SP's percention of facility 95 15.7%	Poor or very poor	62	10.2%
Pregnancy complications16927.9%Delivery complications457.4%Additional SP factors7Total number of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factorsHousehold size4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 228647.2%Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Facility factors32052.8%Facility type7712.7%Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility9515.7%	Woman covered under health scheme or health insurance	525	86.6%
Delivery complications457.4%Additional SP factors	Pregnancy complications	169	27.9%
Additional SP factorsTotal number of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factorsHousehold size4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 228647.2%Mot empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factorsFacility factors7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.16(0.40)	Delivery complications	45	7.4%
Total number of SPs1.49(0.67)Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors1.49(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 21.41)Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors1.16%Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.16(0.40)	Additional SP factors		
Timing of support from any SP56893.7%SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions ² 28647.2%Mot empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors7712.7%Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.16(0.40)	Total number of SPs	1.49	(0.67)
SP accompanied to facility56893.7%SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 228647.2%Mot empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors7712.7%Facility type7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.16(0.40)	Timing of support from any SP		
SP present during labor and/or delivery416.8%SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 21Not empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors52.8%Facility type7712.7%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.161.16	SP accompanied to facility	568	93.7%
SP visited postpartum27545.4%Household factors4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 24.23(1.41)Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors5Facility type6434Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.161.16	SP present during labor and/or delivery	41	6.8%
Household factorsHousehold size4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 228647.2%Empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors52.8%52.8%Facility type607712.7%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility52.8%52.8%	SP visited postpartum	275	45.4%
Household size4.23(1.41)Empowerment in household decisions 228647.2%Not empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors7712.7%Facility type7712.7%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.161.16	Household factors		
Empowerment in household decisions 2Not empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factorsFacility type677Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.161.16	Household size	4.23	(1.41)
Not empowered in all HH decisions28647.2%Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factors7771.6%Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.161.16	Empowerment in household decisions ²		
Empowered in all household decision32052.8%Facility factorsFacility factorsFacility typeGovernment hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility951.16	Not empowered in all HH decisions	286	47.2%
Facility factorsFacility typeGovernment hospital434Government HC/Disp77Private facility959515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16SP's perception of facility	Empowered in all household decision	320	52.8%
Facility typeGovernment hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility951.16	Facility factors		
Government hospital43471.6%Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility951.16	Facility type		
Government HC/Disp7712.7%Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.16(0.40)	Government hospital	434	71.6%
Private facility9515.7%Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility1.16(0.40)	Government HC/Disp	77	12.7%
Total number of delivery assistants1.16(0.40)SP's perception of facility	Private facility	95	15.7%
SP's perception of facility	Total number of delivery assistants	1.16	(0.40)
	SP's perception of facility	-	

Factors	N or mean	% or (SD)
Feel safe in the facility		
Not safe	27	4.5%
Safe	579	95.5%
Crowding		
Crowded	279	46.0%
Not crowded	327	54.0%
Clean wards, washrooms, general		
Dirty/very dirty	26	4.3%
Clean/very clean	580	95.7%
Water in the facility		
No	32	5.3%%
Yes	574	94.7%
Electricity		
No	11	1.8%
Yes	595	98.1%
Referred to facility	180	15.8%
Selected facility because of quality	382	63.0%

Notes: ¹ n=601, 5 refused to answer

² n=494, Asked only of women who were married/partnered

Support Persons' reports of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)

Table 6.3 displays frequencies of SP-reported PC-ISP indicators. For SP-reported PC-ISP, the highest proportion of SPs reported that they had the ability to ask questions (81.0%). In contrast, less than one-in-five SPs reported that they were provided information about the woman (19.7%) or baby (17.1%). Among those who reported staying with the mother during labor and delivery, most reported helping the woman make decisions (63.4%) and helping to speaking up on behalf of the woman (64.2%).

Indicator	N	%
Provided information about woman		
No	486	80.3%
Yes	119	19.7%
Provided information about newborn		
No	501	82.9%
Yes	103	17.1%
Welcome to ask questions		
No	115	19.0%
Yes	490	81.0%
Help decide during health care*		
No	49	36.6%
Yes	85	63.4%
Help speak up during health care*		

Table 6.3. SP-reported PC-ISP frequencies

No	48	35.8%
Yes	86	64.2%

Note: *asked of the subsample of SPs who reported staying with the woman during labor/delivery (n=134)

Factors associated with SP-reported PC-ISP

Full multivariable logistic regression models for the three PC-ISP indicators administered to all SPs (i.e., *provided information about woman, provided information about newborn*, *welcome to ask questions*) are presented in Table 6.4.

Provided information about women: Regarding communication and receiving information, Mothers/mothers-in-law or other family were more likely to be *provided information about the* woman compared to friends/neighbors/others (Mothers/mothers-in-law aOR=2.35, 95%CI: 1.30, 4.25; Other family members aOR=1.82, 95%CI: 1.20, 2.75). On the other hand, male partners were just as likely as friends/neighbors/others to report that they were provided information about the woman. SPs' employment was negatively associated with being provided information *about the woman*, but further analyses of SPs' occupation did not reveal any patterns by occupation. SPs reporting staying with the woman during labor and/or delivery was positively associated with being provided information about the woman (aOR=1.80, 95%CI: 1.18, 2.74). SPs were also less likely to be *provided information about the woman* if women had poorer selfrated health or reported delivery problems. SPs at government health centres/dispensaries (aOR=0.44, 95%CI: 0.30, 0.63) and private facilities (aOR=0.57, 95%CI: 0.35, 0.93) were both less likely to be *provided information about woman* compared to government hospitals. SPs who perceived that the facility was not crowded were more than twice as likely to report provided information about the woman (aOR=2.84, 95%CI: 1.99, 4.07).

Provided information about newborn: SPs were more likely to be *provided information about the newborn* if they accompanied the woman to antenatal care appointments (aOR=1.69, 95%CI: 1.05, 2.72) or were present during labor and/or delivery (aOR=1.80, 95%CI: 1.11, 2.94). In contrast, SPs of women who had delivery problems were less likely to report being *provided information about newborn.* SPs were less likely to report *provided information about newborn* at government health centres/dispensaries compared to government hospitals. SPs who perceived that the facility was not crowded were also more than twice as likely to report *provided information about newborn* compared to SPs who perceived the facility as crowded (aOR=2.30, 95%CI: 1.35, 3.92).

Welcome to ask questions: SPs were also more likely to report feeling *welcome to ask questions* if they had accompanied women to antenatal care appointments (aOR=1.80, 95%CI: 1.17, 2.77) or were present during labor and/or delivery (aOR=1.71, 95%CI: 1.05, 2.78). Feeling *welcome to ask questions* was also positively associated with increases in women's age and women's employment in household decisions, but negatively associated with women's employment and increases in the number of total SPs. Further analysis disaggregating women's employment by occupation showed that the association between women's employment and SPs feeling *welcome to ask questions* was driven by women who were self-employed in small scale industries (results not shown). SPs were also more likely to feel *welcome asking questions* in a government health centre/dispensary (aOR=1.52, 95%CI: 1.22, 2.88) or private facility (aOR=2.88, 95%CI: 1.98, 4.19) compared to government hospitals. SPs who reported that the facility was not crowded were twice as likely to report feeling welcome to ask questions (aOR=2.00, 95%CI: 1.39, 2.89) than those who thought the facility was crowded.

Table 6.4. Multivariable logistic regression results for SP-reported PC-ISP indicators: provided information about woman, provided information about newborn, welcome to ask questions (n=605)

	Provided info about woman (n=605)		Provided info about newborn (n=604)		Welcome to ask questions (n=605)	
	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI
Support Person's factors						
Relationship to woman (ref.						
Friend/Neighbor/Other)						
Male partner	1.45	(0.71, 2.96)	1.02	(0.40, 2.60)	0.73	(0.39, 1.34)
Mother/mother-in-law	2.35**	(1.30, 4.25)	1.11	(0.52, 2.35)	0.92	(0.44, 1.92)
Other Family	1.82**	(1.20, 2.75)	1.60	(0.87, 2.94)	1.23	(0.75, 2.03)
SP Age	1.00	(0.97, 1.02)	1.02	(0.97, 1.06)	1.02	(0.99, 1.04)
SP born in Nairobi or Kiambu	1.07	(0.51, 2.23)	0.96	(0.67, 1.36)	1.45	(0.70, 3.01)
SP currently employed (ref. no)	0.71***	(0.59, 0.86)	0.75**	(0.61, 0.91)	1.45	(0.61, 3.44)
SP connectedness rating	0.96	(0.82, 1.12)	0.96	(0.79, 1.16)	0.89	(0.75, 1.05)
Accompanied woman to						
antenatal care appointments						
(ref. no)	1.56	(0.97, 2.52)	1.69*	(1.05, 2.72)	1.80**	(1.17, 2.77)
Accompanied woman to facility						
(ref. no)	1.47	(0.89, 2.43)	1.30	(0.62, 2.70)	0.77	(0.45, 1.33)
Present during Labor and/or						
Delivery (ref. no)	1.80**	(1.18, 2.74)	1.80*	(1.11, 2.94)	1.71*	(1.05, 2.78)
Women's factors						
Age	1.03	(0.96, 1.10)	1.01	(0.97, 1.06)	1.04***	(1.02, 1.06)
Parity	0.98	(0.66, 1.47)	1.04	(0.79, 1.34)	0.77**	(0.64, 0.92)
Married/partnered (Ref. not)	0.62	(0.25, 1.56)	0.67	(0.27, 1.68)	0.99	(0.52, 1.90)
Education (ref. Primary or less)						
Vocational/Secondary	0.88	(0.57, 1.37)	1.10	(0.61, 2.01)	0.92	(0.55, 1.54)
College/University	1.00	(0.63, 1.58)	1.51	(0.90, 2.51)	0.77	(0.41, 1.45)
Employed (ref. no)	1.35	(0.99, 1.83)	1.30	(0.96, 1.75)	0.60***	(0.46, 0.80)
Birthplace in Nairobi or		())				
Kiambu counties (ref. born						
elsewhere)	0.75	(0.46, 1.23)	0.78	(0.49, 1.23)	0.98	(0.65, 1.47)
Self-rated health	0.78*	(0.63, 0.98)	0.82	(0.64, 1.06)	1.03	(0.91, 1.18)
Covered under health scheme						
or health insurance (ref. no)	0.82**	(0.71, 0.94)	0.73	(0.44, 1.20)	1.010	(0.71, 1.43)
Delivery problems (ref. no)	0.58*	(0.37, 0.92)	0.55*	(0.34, 0.91)	0.95	(0.56, 1.61)
Other SP & Household factors						
Total SPs	1.04	(0.75, 1.44)	0.97	(0.71, 1.32)	0.69**	(0.53, 0.90)
Empowered in HH decisions						
(ref. not empowered)	1.19	(0.80, 1.76)	1.14	(0.64, 2.04)	1.55*	(1.09, 2.21)
Facility factors						
Facility type (Ref. Gov't						
hospital)						
Gov't HC/Disp	0.44***	(0.30, 0.63)	0.48***	(0.31, 0.74)	1.52***	(1.22, 1.88)
Private facility	0.57*	(0.35, 0.93)	0.81	(0.47, 1.42)	2.88***	(1.98, 4.19)
Total providers assisting						
delivery	1.02	(0.82, 1.27)	1.15	(0.93, 1.43)	1.07	(0.41, 2.82)
SP reported facility not		<i></i>		<i></i>		<i></i>
crowded (ref. crowded)	2.84***	(1.99, 4.07)	2.30**	(1.35, 3.92)	2.00***	(1.39, 2.89)

	Provided info about woman (n=605)		Provided info about newborn (n=604)		Welcome to ask questions (n=605)	
	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI
Selected facility based on						
quality	1.25	(0.73, 2.13)	0.96	(0.43, 2.19)	2.11***	(1.47, 3.01)
Referred to facility	1.07	(0.71, 1.61)	0.85	(0.40, 1.79)	0.71*	(0.50, 0.99)
Constant	0.12	(0.03, 0.57)	0.09	(0.02, 0.41)	1.59	(0.56, 4.51)

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Multivariable logistic regression models for *help decide during health care* and *help speak up during health care* are displayed in Table 6.5, the measures administered only to SPs who reported being present at labor and/or delivery.

Help woman decide during health care: SPs were more likely to report that they *helped women decide during health care* if they were at government health centres/dispensaries (aOR=4.97, 95%CI: 2.19, 11.27) compared to government hospitals. Notably, higher SP connectedness ratings were positively associated with *helping a woman decide during health care* in smaller models (including only SP and woman factors) but became non-significant once facility factors were added to the model.

Help speak up during health care: Women's empowerment was negatively associated with SPs reporting that they *helped speak up during health care* on behalf of women. Being at a government health centre/dispensary compared to government hospitals and having more providers assisting delivery were positively associated with reporting they *helped speak up* for women. SPs accompanying women to any antenatal care appointments and increases in women's age were marginally positively associated with *help speak up*. In smaller models including only women's and SPs' factors, male partners and SPs born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties were negatively associated with *helping speak up* for women, but these associations became non-

significant once women's empowerment was added to the model, suggesting that SPs who were

male partners and locally born reflected the effect of women's empowerment.

	Help decide during health care (n=134)		Help speak up during health care (n=134)	
	aOR	95% CI	aOR	95% CI
Support Person's factors				
Relationship to mother (ref. Friend/Neighbor/Other)				
Male partner	1.49	(0.21, 10.40)	0.36	(0.09, 1.40)
Mother/mother-in-law	0.85	(0.01, 61.93)	1.15	(0.01, 104.90)
Other Family	3.55	(0.13, 94.77)	0.40	(0.05, 2.98)
SP Age	1.07	(0.93, 1.22)	0.96	(0.82, 1.12)
SP born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties (ref. no)	0.93	(0.36, 2.43)	0.65	(0.36, 1.15)
SP currently employed (ref. no)	0.51	(0.02, 12.01)	0.58	(0.14, 2.31)
SP connectedness rating	1.23	(0.81, 1.86)	0.93	(0.61, 1.43)
Accompanied woman to antenatal care appointments	• • • •		a a a	
(ref. no)	2.00	(0.78, 5.17)	2.50	(1.00, 6.29)
Accompanied woman to facility (ref. no)	0.3/*	(0.16, 0.86)	1.68	(0.45, 6.31)
Present during Labor and/or Delivery (ref. no)				
Women's factors	.			
Age	0.95	(0.80, 1.12)	1.17	(1.00, 1.37)
Parity	0.87	(0.34, 2.21)	0.61	(0.34, 1.09)
Married/partnered (Ref. not)	1.66	(0.49, 5.65)	1.11	(0.65, 1.90)
Education (ref. Primary or less)				
Vocational/Secondary	2.17	(0.60, 7.75)	2.12	(0.45, 10.03)
College/University	3.06	(0.34, 27.76)	0.68	(0.14, 3.31)
Employed (ref. no)	0.61	(0.23, 1.61)	1.37	(0.49, 3.83)
Birthplace in Nairobi or Kiambu counties (ref. born				
elsewhere)	2.35	(0.88, 6.29)	0.92	(0.29, 2.90)
Self-rated health	0.94	(0.45, 1.96)	0.81	(0.50, 1.30)
Covered under health scheme or health insurance	0.26	(0, 07, 1, 0.4)	1.76	
(ref. no)	0.36	(0.07, 1.94)	1.76	(0.59, 5.26)
Delivery problems (ref. no)	0.85	(0.18, 3.96)	0.56	(0.19, 1.64)
Other SP & Household factors	0.71	(0.20.1.(())	1.05	
I otal SPs	0.71	(0.30, 1.66)	1.35	(0.70, 2.59)
Empowered in HH decisions (ref. not empowered)	0.58	(0.29, 1.17)	0.57*	(0.35, 0.92)
Facility factors				
Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)				
Gov't HC/Disp	4.97***	(2.19, 11.27)	3.45*	(1.14, 1.48)
Private facility	0.94	(0.44, 1.98)	2.19	(0.93, 5.16)
Total providers assisting delivery	1.96	(0.98, 3.94)	2.50*	(1.24, 5.04)
SP reported facility not crowded (ref. crowded)	0.95	(0.46, 1.98)	0.58	(0.15, 2.24)
Selected facility based on quality	1.26	(0.65, 2.44)	0.56	(0.21, 1.50)
Referred to facility	3.73	(0.72, 19.17)	0.84	(0.42, 1.69)
Constant	0.47	(0.00, 165.22)	0.21	(0.01, 5.83)

Table 6.5. Multivariate results for PC-ISP indicators: *help decide during health care*, and *help speak up during health care* (n=134)

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001
Discussion

In this study, I used SP-reported PC-ISP measures to examine how SPs perceived being integrated into maternity care. Findings highlighted poor communication between providers and SPs and SPs lack of information about care. Only 20% of SPs reported receiving information about the woman and even fewer, 17%, reported receiving information about the newborn. Having information about the well-being and maternity care processes is crucial to providing needed support during childbirth (Kululanga et al., 2012; Wanyenze et al., 2022). Because failure to provide information to SPs and poor provider-SP communication is associated with greater mistreatment in maternity care (Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, Melo, et al., 2016), this finding has implications for women's vulnerability in maternity care.

I also found that many of the results were contrary to my expectations: SPs of lower social status were not less likely to be integrated into care, factors related to women's social status were only associated with one measure of integration (i.e., *welcome to ask questions*), provider types were not associated with any PC-ISP indicators, and facility types were inconsistently associated with SPs' integration into care. On the other hand, I found that PC-ISP associations with SPs' perceptions of facility crowding were consistent with my hypotheses— SPs who reported that the facility was crowded were less likely to report integration.

Support Person factors associated with increased Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)

Results from multivariate analyses revealed that several SP factors influenced whether SPs reported receiving information from providers. For example, SPs who were mothers/mothers-in-law were more likely to report receiving information about the woman compared to friends/neighbors/others. In contrast, results showed that male partners were just as likely to report receiving information as friends/neighbors/others (i.e., less likely than mothers/mothers-in-law or other family members). This sheds light on who may need more information: in Chapter 5 (Aim 1), results show that women with male partner SPs preferred to consult SPs on decisions—male partners may need more information to effectively support women in decision-making during care.

These findings are consistent with multiple studies that have highlighted male partners' perceived exclusion from maternal health care (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). Childbirth and maternity care have been described as a "woman's affair" and studies have detailed the multiple provider and institutional barriers male partners perceive when supporting women (Aborigo et al., 2018; Ampim et al., 2021; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). For example, male partners have reported that providers deny them information about women even in instances when women have been transferred to other facilities (Kaye et al., 2014). Lacking information contributes to male partners' sense of helplessness and incompetence when assisting women who need help or are in pain (Kululanga et al., 2012).

SPs who reported accompanying women to antenatal care appointments were more likely to report that they were provided info about newborns and were welcome to ask questions. SPs' prior experience with antenatal care may have increased their familiarity interacting with providers that helped them ask for and receive information. This highlights how integrating SPs in all stages of maternal health care may have implications for women's support and health care use throughout pregnancy and after birth (Ampim et al., 2021; Mullany et al., 2007). Fostering SPs' integration in women's antenatal care can also be a useful strategy to educate them about

how to monitor women's health, advocate for women, and become more comfortable engaging with providers.

In addition, SPs who reported being present during labor/delivery were more likely to receive information about women and newborns and feel welcome to ask questions. Being present during this critical period of childbirth likely increases opportunities to interact and communicate with providers. Women often look to their SPs to help communicate with providers during labor and delivery when they need medical attention (Kaye et al., 2014; McMahon et al., 2014). Giving information to SPs during labor and delivery can also help women understand information, make decisions, and be informed and involved in their own care (Ampim et al., 2021; Kululanga et al., 2012; M. K. Longworth et al., 2015). Communicating information to SPs, especially information about labor and delivery problems, potentially has implications for maternal mortality and morbidity. Hemorrhage and hypertensive disorders, which often occur postpartum, account for approximately 54% of Kenya's maternal deaths (Kassebaum et al., 2016). If informed and present, SPs can closely monitor women's blood loss, watch for danger signs, and summon health providers in emergencies (von Dadelszen & Magee, 2016).

Women's factors associated with improved Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (*PC-ISP*)

PC-ISP indicators also varied by women's characteristics, corroborating evidence that providers differentially grant women access to SPs (Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Women with lower parity were more likely to have SPs report that they felt welcome to ask questions. This may be because providers are more willing to answer SPs' questions about women with less birthing experience. Primiparous women may face greater challenges than multiparous women such as feeling less psychologically and physically ready for childbirth and need more support to prepare for birth and motherhood (Salarvand et al., 2020). Primiparous women also desire more communication and information from providers (Jenkins et al., 2014; van der Pijl et al., 2021). Some studies have reported the providers give special attention to educating first-time mothers, including additional breastfeeding counseling (Abu-Moghli et al., 2009), but other studies have found that first-time mothers have been disappointed by the lack of communication guiding them through childbirth (Bradley et al., 2016b). When providers can give clear, specific information in response to women and SPs' concerns during maternity care, women and SPs anxiety is reduced and they are better able to manage pain (Beake et al., 2018).

Results also suggest that SPs may be integrated according to women's social status. SPs were more likely to feel welcome asking questions when they were with older women, but less likely if women were employed. Further analysis showed that this result was driven by women who were self-employed in petty trade and small scale industries—an occupation with low prestige. People employed in this type of occupation are considered as "low productivity subsistence entrepreneurs" and, while self-employed, tend to live in poverty (Cho et al., 2016). In sub-Saharan Africa, these self-employed people are more likely to be women and 80% live in poor households. Women of lower social status are already subject to discrimination in maternal health care (P. Afulani, Sayi, et al., 2018; Andersen, 2004; Bayo et al., 2020; Simmonds et al., 2012) and less likely to be allowed birth companions (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). This study adds to the literature by showing that women of lower social status are also less likely to have their SPs integrated into care.

I found associations between women's health factors and PC-ISP: SPs were less likely to report being given information about women's condition and care when women had poorer selfrated health and delivery problems. This corroborates other literature that have found that providers tend not to allow companions for women with complications because of a need to maintain confidentiality (e.g., HIV status), monitor women's conditions, or protect women from SPs negative influences (e.g., fear, anxiety, discouragement) (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018). However, while providers in that study described excluding companions, they also acknowledged the need to provide SPs with information about the procedures and examinations they were performing.

Although SPs should be given more information about women when they have health concerns or experience health problems, it is plausible that providers were busy providing clinical care to these women with health issues and thus had less time to give information to SPs. Providers may see their primary responsibility as ensuring positive clinical outcomes, they may view SPs as extraneous or an extra burden and feel that interacting with SPs as unimportant (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Bruggemann et al., 2014; Giessler et al., 2020; Horstman et al., 2017). It is also possible that providers withheld information from SPs out of fear of being blamed for poor outcomes and potential legal trouble (Rominski et al., 2017). Alternatively, SPs may have had greater expectations of receiving more information when women had poor health and thus perceived that information was insufficiently provided (Kaye et al., 2014). Regardless, SPs cannot adequately support women if they do not understand women's conditions or are not educated about how to support women with poor health (Alio et al., 2013; Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Bondas-Salonen, 1998). Because women who have poorer health need more support from their SPs, health care systems need to develop procedures to ensure SPs are informed.

Household factors associated with increased Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)

Women's empowerment in household decisions was inconsistently associated with SPreported PC-ISP. Women's empowerment was positively associated with SPs feeling welcome to ask questions but negatively associated with SPs speaking up on behalf of the woman. I hypothesized that higher empowerment would be correlated with greater SP integration because more empowered women may want their SPs to advocate on their behalf, especially if they are concerned with the quality of care. The finding that SPs felt welcome to ask questions when women were empowered was consistent with my expectations. This explanation behind this result is unclear: it may reflect SPs' expectations of engaging with providers or it may reflect providers' differential treatment by social status. For example, Kenyan providers have reported giving better treatment to empowered, well-informed women (P. A. Afulani et al., 2020), so that more empowered women were given more attention and SPs had more opportunities to ask questions. On the other hand, women's empowerment is correlated with higher educational attainment (Andriano et al., 2021), so it is plausible that women and SPs who are more educated may be more inclined to ask questions and expect that providers will answer them. Since we lacked data on SPs' education, however, I was not able to test these theories.

The finding that women's empowerment was negatively associated with SPs speaking up on behalf of women during health care was contrary to my expectations. This result suggests that women's lower household decision-making power was associated with SPs' greater perceived involvement in care. I argue that this finding may reveal social and cultural norms in how SPs and women relate in the Kenyan context. Some studies have found similar results: in contexts where women are less involved in household decision-making, other family members may

expect to communicate with providers on their behalf (Moyer et al., 2014; Simmonds et al., 2012). However, literature has reported inconsistent associations between women's empowerment and male partner involvement, for instance, revealing differences due to sociocultural context. In Malawi, less empowered women were more likely to have male partners involved in health care because they had less decision-making power to decide on their SPs (Jennings et al., 2014). Other studies have found opposite associations, where more empowered women include their male partners because they know that they will maintain a sense of control in their own care (Jennings et al., 2014; Miedema et al., 2018). Nonetheless, this finding raises questions about women's autonomy in care and SPs' roles to bolster or hinder autonomy. Did these women want their SPs to speak on their behalf? When these SPs spoke with providers, did it undermine women's control over their own care? Although results from woman-reported PC-ISP preferences do not provide strong support one way or another, these questions merit further investigation. This also emphasizes the need to tailor PC-ISP indicators to specific populations. Indicators may need to be adjusted by context to ensure that integrating SPs advances women's autonomy and control over their own maternity care.

Facility factors associated with increased Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP)

Facility factors also played a large role in SPs' PC-ISP experiences. Similar to results in Chapter 5 (Aim 1), I did not find associations between provider type and PC-ISP as hypothesized. Facility factors appeared to be more consistent across indicators and consistent with my hypotheses. SPs were more likely to report receiving information and feeling welcome to ask questions when they reported the facility was not crowded. This study corroborates previous literature has reported that SPs have been excluded from maternity wards in Nairobi when they are crowded and space is inadequate, especially when patient volumes are high (Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). This study also adds to this literature showing that crowded wards contribute to less interaction between providers and SPs about women's care. SPs were also more likely to report speaking up during care when there were more providers assisting delivery. Several studies have reported on the challenges of understaffing in Nairobi leading to the provision of lower person-centered care (Giessler et al., 2020; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021).

Facility types were associated with PC-ISP but the direction of associations varied by indicator. SPs were more likely to report receiving information at government hospitals compared to government health centres/dispensaries and private facilities, net of other factors. In contrast, SPs were more likely to report feeling welcome to ask questions, helping women decide, and helping speak up during health care at health centres/dispensaries compared to government hospitals. These results suggest that facilities likely normalize certain practices which may vary by governance or level of resources. Maternity care in health centres and dispensaries has been characterized by understaffing and overstretched staff, since they often need to simultaneously provide a wide range of health services (UNICEF, 2017). Results show, however, that although facility resources influence PC-ISP, SPs are more likely to report some PC-ISP indicators at health centres/dispensaries than government hospitals when controlling for crowding and number of providers. This highlights the possibility that health centres/dispensaries have developed different practices and ways of interacting with women and SPs compared to hospitals, potentially because they are designed to be primary care facilities and frequently have a greater connection with communities. Taken together, results on facility factors corroborates

findings from women's PC-ISP experiences (Chapter 5, Aim 1) that organizational factors have a greater influence on PC-ISP than individual provider characteristics.

Additionally, there were no statistically significant differences in PC-ISP by facility type in bivariate analyses, which suggest that SPs' and women's factors in bivariate results obscured the role of facilities in PC-ISP and that the populations of women and SPs attending different types of facilities varied.

Limitations

Although this is one of the first studies to survey SPs, our data had some notable limitations. While women reported an average of 1.5 SPs, we only interviewed one SP. Other SPs who were not interviewed may have had different experiences of PC-ISP, and it is unclear if they may have played a more significant role compared to the SP that was interviewed. Data about SPs was limited and subject to reporting error. Women provided little information about their SPs, so we could not triangulate some dyadic measures, such as if women perceived the same relational connectedness as SPs.

Analyses also showed notable discrepancies between women's and SPs' reports of timing of support (detailed in Appendix 6E). For example, 89% of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor and delivery were contradicted by women's reports of having no SP present during labor and delivery. This highlights how survey questions may be understood differently by women and SPs; SPs may likely have reported being "present" with the woman if they were at the facility, even if they were not staying with the woman in the labor and delivery wards.

To address this, I compared differences in factors associated with 1) women's and SPs' reports of timing of support and 2) concordant vs. discordant reports between women and SPs, to assess if certain groups of women or SPs were associated with contradictory reports. These analyses revealed that the factors associated with women's and SP's reports of labor/delivery were entirely different. In addition, SPs' employment status and greater relational connectedness were associated with discordant reports. It is likely that SPs with higher social status who feel closer relationships with women may perceive that they provide greater support during childbirth. For these reasons, I expect that women's reports are more valid and reliable and that results regarding SPs' timing of support should be interpreted conservatively. SP reports, rather, could potentially capture continuity of support—whether SPs remained at the facility throughout the duration of labor/delivery through postpartum. Because there was notable reporting error and because self-report measures may often underreport negative maternity care experiences (Bohren, Mehrtash, et al., 2019), I still expect that findings may be conservative estimates of PC-ISP.

In addition, because I examined many factors in multivariable models, it is possible that some associations are spurious, especially factors that are not consistent across indicators or that were in a direction opposite of hypothesized associations (e.g., SPs' employment status, household empowerment). Models for two indicators, *help decide* and *help speak up during health care* should be interpreted cautiously because of small, poorly defined samples.

Future research

As with woman-reported PC-ISP measures, PC-ISP measures administered to SPs should be formally developed and validated. Future development of PC-ISP measures should also consider tailoring PC-ISP indicators to specific contexts to ensure that integrating SPs advances women's autonomy and control over their own maternity care. For example, future scales may also explore SPs' attitudes towards integration and motivations for being integrated into women's care. Given that many women had more than one SP, it may also be useful to survey multiple SPs to better understand women's structures of support and how different SP types corresponding to the same women may experience care differently. Future development of measures should also include validating SPs' and women's responses with observational data in order to better compare women's and SPs' perceptions.

More research is also needed on SPs experiences of care, in general. Little is known about SPs and their characteristics, and this study was also limited in SPs' data (e.g., educational attainment). Future research should collect more data about SPs' characteristics to better understand how their social position influences their expectations, attitudes, and experiences of care.

Lastly, future research should investigate how integrating SPs is consequential for women's and newborns' health. For example, although SPs were seldom informed (and especially not if women had poor health) nor integrated during labor/delivery and postpartum, it would be useful to understand how these practices may be linked to reduced mortality and morbidity.

Study Implications

Childbirth and the early postpartum period continue to be high-risk periods for maternal and neonatal mortality in Kenya (Masaba & Mmusi-Phetoe, 2020; The World Bank, 2017), and at a county-level, the neonatal mortality rate is the highest in Nairobi County (UNICEF Kenya,

2018). This study highlights gaps in providing SPs with crucial knowledge about women and newborns' health—a key area to focus efforts for integrating SPs into maternity care. Equipping SPs with information to monitor women's and newborns' health and provide essential assistance can be a community-based strategy to reduce mortality and morbidity.

Findings add evidence to inequitable access to care since SPs supporting women of lower social status and those who were male partners are less likely to report SP integration. Because health care systems can be defined by social hierarchies (WHO, 2016c) and more inclusive policies and accountability systems are needed to ensure women are provided equal access to SPs. For example, a policy may grant that all women are allowed one SP or be able to communicate with SPs during all periods of care which can be enforced by the facility. Establishing protocols may also help providers interact with women and SPs in a standardized way, for example, providing specific information about care processes, or asking if women and SPs have questions during specific procedures or certain times during labor and delivery. Providers should be trained on standard practices in how to integrate SPs, including providing information and interacting with SPs. Continued efforts are also needed to better integrate male partners in care, when desired by women. Despite political will to increase male partner involvement, practical barriers for male partners persist in care. But rather than focusing on male partner integration, I argue that interventions should focus on the equitable treatment of all SPs, addressing providers' biases and ensure privacy for all women and SPs.

This study also stresses the importance of SPs' continued experiences with formal maternal health care, especially because involvement in antenatal care and labor and delivery was associated with increased integration. Continued involvement as a SP in care will help SPs feel more comfortable and familiar with health care settings and interacting with providers in

constructive ways. It will also help SPs be more aware of care processes and aid providers in caring for women outside of the institutional setting. Health care systems should design programs and processes to educate and inform SPs throughout the spectrum of maternal health services, including pre-conception, antenatal, delivery, postpartum, and newborn care. Continuity of support also has the potential to prevent maternal morbidity and mortality if SPs have adequate information to assess women's conditions and assist them to seek medical attention.

Lastly, facility policies and normalized practices must be addressed to better integrate SPs into care. Given that health centres/dispensaries demonstrated higher PC-ISP than government hospitals, it is worth exploring whether practices at health centres/dispensaries can be scaled up to be used at government hospitals and adapted by private hospitals. For example, some health centres have developed community engagement programs that have informed the design of maternity wards, improved person-centered care and increased utilization of services (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2013). Collaborative partnerships between facilities and communities may yield innovative solutions that meet the needs of more stakeholders and achieve mutual goals of improving women's health.

SPs are stakeholders and participants in maternal health care system and important to women's experiences of care. Integration and equitable treatment of SPs is part of the equitable treatment of women. Integrating SPs, especially by communicating information about women's and newborns' condition and care, has implications for the support women receive during the vulnerable period of childbirth.

Chapter 7. How does integrating support persons influence the quality of care?: Associations of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) with personcentered and clinical outcomes: Aim 3

Abstract

Integrating support persons may be a potentially important strategy to improve the person-centered and clinical quality of maternity care, but little research has closely examined how SP integration (including specific experiences of integration) is linked to quality of care outcomes. This study uses the Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP) concept and measures to investigate how integrating support persons is associated with quality of care indicators specified by the WHO Quality of Care Framework for maternal and newborn health, specifically person-centered outcomes (i.e., Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC), satisfaction with care, and willingness to return to the facility) and clinical outcomes (i.e., coverage of key practices). I leveraged women's (n=1,138) and SPs' (n=606) data from the Strengthening Person-Centered, Accessibility, Respectful Care, and Quality (SPARQ) study from six facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties in Kenya. I used linear and logistic regression to estimate associations between PC-ISP indicators and QoC outcomes. I found that each additional women-reported PC-ISP experience was associated with a 3.64-point increase in PCMC (95% CI: 2.39, 4.90) and 0.28-point (95% CI: 0.18, 0.39) increase in satisfaction with care. Although each additional woman-reported PC-ISP experience was associated with a 32% increase (95% CI: 14%, 52%) in likelihood of willingness to return to the facility, I found evidence that SPs' report of receiving information about women was negatively associated with women's willingness to return to the facility (aOR=0.55, 95% CI: 0.34, 0.89). Integrating SPs was associated with women's reports of an additional 1.26 (95% CI: 1.13, 1.40) key clinical

practices performed, and that integrating SPs was particularly important for newborn key practices. Consistently, women's report of providers listening to SPs concerns was strongly associated with QoC indicators. I also found evidence of a statistical interaction between PC-ISP and facility measures of patient volume and crowding such that associations between PC-ISP and quality of care indicators were stronger at crowded, high-volume facilities. Integrating support persons, particularly improving communication between support persons and providers, can potentially improve multiple dimensions of the quality of maternity care.

Introduction

Calls to improve the quality of maternal and newborn health care in Kenya highlight the need for preventive interventions during labor, delivery, and postpartum periods (Keats et al., 2017). The WHO defines quality of care as 'the extent to which health care services provided to individuals and populations improve desired health outcomes' which are 'safe, effective, timely, efficient, equitable, and people-centred' (Tunçalp et al., 2015; WHO, 2006). Poor quality of maternity care continues to contribute to high rates of maternal and newborn mortality and morbidity; 90% of maternal deaths in Kenya have been linked to substandard maternity care (Godia et al., 2017) and low quality of care underlies Nairobi county's high neonatal mortality rate despite higher numbers of births occurring in facilities compared to elsewhere (Murphy et al., 2016). In addition, mistreatment in maternity care is prevalent, with studies in Kenya reporting that 20% of women are treated with disrespect or feel humiliated during the childbirth experience (Abuya et al., 2015).

Integrating support persons is a potential strategy to improve the quality of care (QoC). A support person (SP) is defined as a lay person (i.e., one who is not a medical professional

employed by the facility) who accompanies a woman to the facility or stays in or near the maternity ward during labor, delivery, or postpartum (Maimbolwa et al., 2001; Simmonds et al., 2012). Doulas, Accredited Social Health Advocates (ASHAs), or community health workers who provide support but are not employed by the health facility may also be included within the definition of SPs. WHO's policy framework for People-Centered Health Care asserts that engaging women, families, and communities in maternal and newborn health is essential for increasing patient safety, improving treatment, and improving interactions with the health care system (WHO, 2007, 2017b).

Social support of choice essential to Quality of Care

The WHO Quality of Care Framework for maternal and newborn health identifies social and emotional support of choice as one essential component of the experience of care (Tunçalp et al., 2015). The experience of care (i.e., how women were treated by providers and their perceptions of service) is posited to interplay with the provision of care (i.e., evidence-based practices for routine care and management of complications) to improve outcomes specified within the WHO vision: person-centered and clinical outcomes (Tunçalp et al., 2015). Because I used a person-centered approach, I investigated women-reported indicators specified by the WHO QoC framework, specifically, clinical QoC outcomes (i.e., *coverage of key practices*); and people centered outcomes (i.e., *person-centered maternity care, satisfaction with care* and *willingness to return* to the facility).

Person-centered outcomes refers to outcomes that takes into account patients' and families' values, needs, and concerns (Institute of Medicine (US), 2001). Person-centered maternity care (PCMC) refers to care during childbirth that is respectful and responsive to

individual women and their families' preferences, needs, and values. Satisfaction with care captures women's perceptions of the quality and adequacy of care (Srivastava et al., 2015).

Integrating SPs into care likely increases person-centered outcomes. Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC) is defined as 'care that is respectful of and responsive to women's preferences, needs, and values' (P. Afulani, Diamond-Smith, et al., 2017; Sudhinaraset et al., 2017). Integrating SPs in care may increase PCMC, since SPs can increase respectful care and facilitate communication between women and providers (Abuya et al., 2015; Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, Melo, et al., 2016). PCMC is also one pathway that integrating SPs can influence health outcomes: greater PCMC is associated with improved maternal mental health and decreased maternal and newborn complications (Sudhinaraset et al., 2020, 2021). Patients' satisfaction measures the extent that patients' health care needs are met (Melese et al., 2014), gauges the quality of health care, and indicates their likeliness of adhering to treatment (Kigenyi et al., 2013; Onyango-Ouma et al., 2001). Because SPs are one of the most important factors that improve women's perceptions of the childbirth experience (Hodnett, 2002) and can help women receive the care they want (Ampim et al., 2021; Kigenyi et al., 2013), women may be more satisfied with care when SPs are integrated. Finally, willingness to return to the facility for care is a measure of future care-seeking attitudes refers to women's stated intentions to return to the facility for future deliveries (Paudel et al., 2015). since women's decisions to seek care are influenced by family and communities' attitudes (Moyer et al., 2014; Ochieng & Odhiambo, 2019), SPs' experiences of care potentially shape women's future care-seeking behavior. Women's willingness to return for future care is related to how women were treated during care, perceived quality, and satisfaction with care (Kujawski et al., 2015), which may also be influenced by how SPs were integrated.

Integrating SPs likely improves clinical care as well. Coverage of key practices refers to the number of quality measures performed within defined standards of care (WHO, 2016b). SPs can act as liaisons between women and providers, provide accountability for medical practice, and advocate for better care (Ampim et al., 2021; Kaye et al., 2014). Evidence also indicates that, in addition to maternal care, SPs are important for newborn clinical care: companion support is associated with lower neonatal intensive unit admissions and better breastfeeding outcomes (Gadappa & Deshpande, 2021).

Yet, despite recognition that women's support of choice is essential to QoC, provider and facility barriers to support persons persist, including exclusion of birth companions and negative attitudes from providers (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017). Integrating SPs, particularly during labor and delivery, has been proposed to increase women's receipt of support and improve health outcomes (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019). More evidence is needed, however, to understand how integrating SPs translates to improved outcomes, especially those identified by the WHO framework: person-centered and clinical outcomes.

Gaps in understanding how integrating support persons can improve outcomes

We lack an understanding of the pathways by which integrating SPs improves care and health outcomes. Numerous studies have found positive health outcomes associated with social support (including companionship). Social support during intrapartum care is associated with better delivery outcomes (i.e., less need for pain medication, fewer delivery complications, lower likelihood of adverse birth outcomes) and better postpartum outcomes (i.e., less postpartum depression, increased exclusive breastfeeding) (Bohren et al., 2017; Hetherington et al., 2015; Hodnett et al., 2012; Sapkota et al., 2013). Most studies have proposed underlying psychosocial mechanisms, such as SPs reducing the adverse consequences of fear and distress women face when laboring alone (Bohren et al., 2017). But evidence suggests that a more likely mechanism is through improved QoC, since SPs can influence the social dynamic of care and providers' behavior (Keirse et al., 1989). Most research in this area has linked SPs with improved person-centered care and less on clinical QoC. For example, recent studies have shown that the inclusion of SPs is associated with lower mistreatment, such as physical or verbal abuse, discrimination, or non-supportive care (Balde et al., 2020) and higher person-centered care (Kiti et al., 2022). But because SPs can also advocate for medical attention and interact with providers, integrating SPs in care likely impacts multiple dimensions of care, including clinical care as well as person-centered outcomes identified by the WHO QoC Framework.

Another notable gap in literature is the need for a nuanced understanding of how specific experiences of integrating SPs (e.g., SPs feeling welcome to ask questions, opportunities to consult SPs about decisions, etc.) is associated with quality of care. Most research investigating the impact of integrating SPs have introduced companion support, which entails changing institutional policies (to permit companions) and providers' behaviors (e.g., training providers about the benefits of companion support). These studies examined the presence of an SP but not the quality of engagement in care or ways that the health care system facilitated their involvement (Banda et al., 2010; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018; Munkhondya et al., 2020). We still lack information on whether particular practices to integrate SPs are more consequential for outcomes, such as providing SPs with information about women and newborns' condition and care or welcoming SPs' questions. A more granular examination of specific practices to

integrate SPs may highlight practices that are more significant for higher quality of care knowledge that is crucial to design targeted interventions.

SPs have rarely been surveyed, despite being participants and stakeholders of the health care system. The WHO policy framework for People-Centered recommends greater engagement of women, their families, and their communities to improve quality of care but the extent that health care systems facilitate SPs' involvement has not been measured (WHO, 2007, 2017b). Although qualitative research has highlighted how SPs face both institutional and provider barriers to providing support to women (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017), little research has explored whether SPs' experiences of integration influence women's experience of care. More research is needed to assess SPs' perceptions of being integrated into care and their relationship to women-reported QoC outcomes.

Lastly, evidence suggests that the institutional context of maternity care can substantially modify the influence of social support in maternity care, but there is little quantitative research in this area. Across qualitative studies, providers have cited that the institutional capacity of facilities inhibit their abilities to integrate SPs. Whether facilities are crowded, are adequately equipped, or properly staffed influences the extent that providers facilitate SPs' supportive roles (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017; Mgawadere et al., 2019). For example, providers may not allow SPs in crowded wards because of a lack of space or concern for women's privacy (Mgawadere et al., 2019). One meta-analysis found that the effect of continuous support on women's health outcomes was enhanced or reduced by policies and practices in the birth setting: in settings where SPs were not normally permitted, the effect of continuous support on the likelihood of cesarean deliveries and need for pain medication was greater than in settings where SPs were normally allowed, although findings were inconclusive (Bohren et al., 2017). This suggests that in contexts where SPs encounter more barriers—perhaps due to high-patient volumes, crowding, or understaffing—integrating SPs may be more important for women's experience of care and the clinical care received. Studies have posited that this may be because SPs can reduce the fear and distress in unfamiliar environments, especially when staff are not able to provide more supportive care (Bohren et al., 2017; Campero et al., 1998). A context-specific investigation is needed to better understand the interplay of facility capacity and integrating SPs on quality of care.

Present Study

The primary objective for this study was to estimate associations between women and SP-reported PC-ISP experiences and quality of care indicators. Guided by the WHO Quality of Care Framework for maternal and newborn health, I posited that PC-ISP is positively associated with people-centered outcomes (i.e., *person-centered maternity care, satisfaction with care,* and *willingness to return to the facility*) and clinical outcomes (i.e., *coverage of key practices*).

The secondary objective was to examine how facilities' capacity (e.g., facility-reported indicators of level of resources, staffing, crowding) potentially modifies associations between woman-reported PC-ISP and QoC. I hypothesized that there would be evidence of a statistical interaction between PC-ISP and facility capacity such that at facilities with fewer resources, lower staffing, and more crowding, associations between PC-ISP and QoC (i.e., PCMC, coverage of key practices, satisfaction, and willingness to return) are more positive than at facilities with lower patient volumes, greater staffing, and less crowding.

Methods

Data

This study used women's and SPs' survey data from the Strengthening Person-centered Accessibility, Respectful Care and Quality (SPARQ) study in Kenya. Data were collected from women delivering at six facilities (public and private) in Kiambu and Nairobi counties between September 2019 and January 2020. Women between the ages of 15-49 who had recently delivered in these hospitals were interviewed at the facilities. Inclusion criteria for women were a) between 15-49 years of age, b) spoke English or Kiswahili, c) vaginal birth, and d) owned a mobile phone and felt comfortable being contacted by the study team. Women were recruited from postpartum wards and provided informed consent and interviewed in a private setting for approximately one hour. Following interviews, women identified an SP for potential participation the support persons' survey. Inclusion criteria for SPs were a) anyone who accompanied the woman to the hospital, stayed and assisted the woman during labor and/or delivery or visited during the postpartum period, b) at least 18 years of age, and c) spoke English or Kiswahili. SPs provided informed consent and were interviewed in a private setting for approximately 20 minutes.

The analytic sample for this study includes 1,138 women who were interviewed postpartum at facilities and 606 of their respective SPs who were also interviewed at facilities. Although most of the data from this study were obtained from baseline surveys, one outcome, willingness to return to the facility, was asked of women at follow-up surveys at 2-4 weeks and 10 weeks postpartum over phone interviews. A total of 965 women completed at least one follow-up survey at 2-4 weeks or 10 weeks postpartum.

Measures

PC-ISP variables

PC-ISP survey measures were developed for women's and SPs' surveys. Table 7.1 summarizes PC-ISP experience measures included in women's and SPs' surveys. Women's PC-ISP indicators were combined in a total PC-ISP score, which summed responses to four PC-ISP experiences: *opportunity to consult, told condition/care, ask questions, and listened to concerns* and ranged from 0-4. The woman-reported PC-ISP score showed poor reliability (α =0.592), likely because there were few items and a degree of multidimensionality as items spanned several sub-constructs (DeVellis, 2017). Because not all measures were asked of SPs, I did not construct a combined SP-reported PC-ISP variable. Two questions, *help decide* and *help speak up during healthcare*, were only asked of SPs who reported staying with the woman during labor and/or delivery (n=134). These questions ought to have been asked of all SPs, representing a notable limitation of this study.

Women's measures of PC-ISP experiences					
	Variable				
Sub-construct	name	Question			
Decision-making	Opportunity to	I was given the opportunity by my health provider to			
support	consult	consult my family about my health care decisions			
Communication	Told				
and provision of	condition/care	I was asked by my health provider if my family should			
information		be told about my condition/care			
Welcoming	Felt welcome	My family member(s) felt welcome by the facility at my			
environment		delivery			
	Ask questions	My family was welcome to ask my health care provider			
Ability to ask		questions			
questions and	Listened to	My health care provider listened to my family members'			
express concerns	concerns	concerns			
Support persons' measures of PC-ISP experiences					
Decision-making	Help decide				
support	during health	Did you help the mother with any decisions during the			
	care	labor and/or delivery? *			

Table 7.1. PC-ISP indicators, for women's and SPs' surveys

Communication	Provided info	Were you provided resources or information from the
and provision of	about woman	mother's health provider on how to help care for the
information		mother?
	Provided info	Were you provided resources or information from the
	about newborn	mother's health provider on how to help care for the
		newborn?
Ability to ask	Welcome to	Were you or do you think you would have been welcome
questions and	ask questions	to ask the health care providers questions about the
express concerns		mother and baby's care?
	Help speak up	
	during health	Did you ever help speak up to the health facility staff on
	care	behalf of the mother? *

* Question was only asked of a subset of SPs who reported staying with the woman during her labor and/or delivery (n=134).

Dependent variables

Person-centered outcomes

Person-centered Maternity Care

The Person-Centered Maternity Care (PCMC) scale is a measure of the experience of care,

which has demonstrated high reliability and validity in rural and urban Kenyan populations (P. Afulani, Diamond-Smith, et al., 2017). The PCMC scale was developed as an instrument to assess the extent to which maternity care is respectful and responsive to individual women's preferences, needs, and values. The 30-item PCMC scale was administered in the women's survey and is comprised of three subdomains: *dignity and respect* (6 items), *communication and autonomy* (9 items), and *supportive care* (15 items). Response options for each item was a 4-point Likert-type scale. The total combined PCMC score ranges from 0 to 90. Similar to other studies, I standardized the total score and three separate sub-domains to 100-point scales to aid in comparisons across scales and studies (Odiase et al., 2021; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Makanga, et al., 2021). Within this sample, reliability for the total PCMC score was very good (α =0.87) while subdomains had respectable to undesirable reliability (Dignity & Respect α =0.64,

Communication & Autonomy α =0.71, Supportive Care α =0.78).

Satisfaction

Women's reported *Satisfaction with care* is a multidimensional construct that encompasses perceptions of the quality and adequacy of care (Srivastava et al., 2015). The *Satisfaction with care* variable is a combination of three questions of satisfaction with different types of care and services received: during labor and delivery, after delivery, and newborn care received. Possible responses corresponded to a 4-point Likert-type scale (Very satisfied; satisfied, dissatisfied, very dissatisfied). The combined *Satisfaction with care* variable sums the three items and ranges from 0-9. The *Satisfaction with care* variable demonstrated respectable reliability (α =0.78).

Willingness to return

Willingness to return refers to women's stated intentions to return to the facility for future deliveries (Paudel et al., 2015). This outcome was assessed at women's follow-up interviews (at 2-4 and/or 10 weeks after delivery) by the question "Would you go back to the same provider/facility next time you are delivering a baby? (yes/no)". Women who reported that they would go back to the same provider/facility at either follow-up interview were coded as 'willing to return.' Notably, this is the only variable used from follow-up surveys in this study. Because of attrition, the sample of women who reported willingness to return was smaller (n=965 compared to the full sample n=1,138)

Clinical Quality of Care

Coverage of key practices (Clinical QoC)

Coverage of key practices sums the total number of standard procedures or exams that women reported receiving during care at the facility (Montagu et al., 2020; WHO, 2016d). Women reported on 28 key practices from WHO's standards of maternal and newborn care. These practices include maternal key practices (17 items): pre-delivery practices such as whether a health provider asked how a woman was feeling, had headaches, had bleeding, if her water had broken, if she was examined, had blood pressure and pulse checked, had contractions timed, if the fetal heartbeat was assessed, if she was given a vaginal exam, and post-delivery practices such as blood pressure and pulse checks, whether she was asked if she was in pain, abdominal, perineum, and bleeding examinations, and whether staff were always accessible. *Newborn key practices* (11 items) included whether the infant was examined following birth, put immediately on the mother's chest after delivery, wiped dry, not bathed in the first 6 hours, had temperature assessed, had the cord examined, and whether a health provider counseled on newborn danger signs, checked if breastfeeding was going well, observed breastfeeding, helped show how to breastfeed, and whether breastfeeding was initiated in the first hour after birth. The coverage of key practices variable sums the reported number of these practices for each woman (range 0-28) and comprises two subdomains: maternal key practices (range 0-17) and newborn key practices (range 0-11). Coverage of key practices demonstrated very good reliability (α =0.82), while subdomains maternal key practices demonstrated respectable reliability (α =0.79) and newborn key practices had undesirable reliability (α =0.63) (DeVellis, 2017).

Other variables

Women's, SPs', Household, and Facility Factors

I included multi-level factors as covariates in models and examined any potential confounding effects. Women's factors included age (continuous), marital status (married or partnered vs. not), parity (continuous), educational attainment (primary or less; vocational/secondary; college/university), current employment status (employed vs. not), birthplace (born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties vs. born elsewhere), health insurance coverage (covered vs. not), and self-rated health status (ordinal variable: excellent/very good (ref.), good, fair, poor/very poor). Support Person factors included the type(s) of SPs (e.g., male partner; mother, mother-in-law, sister, etc.), the total number of SPs (continuous), and timing of support (dummy variables for: accompanied to the facility, labor and/or delivery, post-partum). For SP-reported PC-ISP analyses, I also examined SPs' occupation (casual labor, salaried worker, self-employed in petty trade, self-employed in small scale industry, unemployed) and whether SPs accompanied the woman to antenatal care (yes vs. no). Household factors included household size (continuous) and a measure of household empowerment. Surveys asked women who were married or partnered four questions regarding decision-making power for various household decisions, including woman's health care, major household purchases, daily household purchases, and visits to family or relatives (Kishor & Lekha, 2008). A composite variable was constructed using these questions, indicating whether a woman reported involvement in each type of decision (i.e., 'woman only' or 'jointly') deemed empowered in household decisions versus lack of involvement (i.e., 'partner only' or 'someone else') in at least one type of decision (Upadhyay & Karasek, 2012). Women who were not married or partnered were coded as being involved in all household decisions.

Facility factors included the type of facility (government hospital; government health centre or dispensary; private facility) and total number of providers assisting delivery (continuous). I examined several indicators of facility capacity related to infrastructure and level of resources. A charge nurse at each facility provided estimates for the number of beds in the facility and in the maternity ward, the number of patients per day, and the number of staff on duty per day in the maternity ward. I examined the total number of beds at facilities as an indicator of patient volume and overall level of resources of a given facility (Riviello et al., 2011). Total number of beds ranged from 18-100 across facilities. To measure staffing, I constructed a variable, *patient:staff ratio*, dividing the daily average number of maternity patients by the daily average number of clinical staff on duty. Lack of staff has been cited as a reason for excluding SPs, especially when SPs are seen as extraneous or burdensome to providers (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Rominski et al., 2017). Patient:staff ratio ranged from 0.6 to 6.7 patients per staff across facilities. I also constructed a measure of crowding, *patient: bed ratio*, dividing the daily average number of patients by the number of maternity beds. Crowded facilities have been considered unconducive for allowing and accommodating SPs due to lack of space and privacy (Adeyemi et al., 2018). Patient: bed ratio (per day) in maternity wards ranged from 0.3-5 patients per beds across facilities.

Analysis

I estimated associations using both women and SP-reported PC-ISP experiences. Analyses for women's PC-ISP used both separate PC-ISP indicators and the PC-ISP combined score as primary independent variables. Analyses for SP-reported PC-ISP only used separate PC-ISP indicators. I expected that PC-ISP and PCMC (full scale and the three sub-domains) would be correlated and assessed associations using multiple linear regression, adjusting for women's, SPs', household, and facility factors (Eq 7.1). I also used linear regression to estimate associations between PC-ISP and *coverage of key practices* (total key practices and subdomains maternal and newborn practices) and *Satisfaction with care*. I conducted sensitivity analyses for satisfaction with types of care dichotomizing measures of satisfaction (Dissatisfied/Very dissatisfied vs. Satisfied/Very satisfied) and using logistic regression. Associations between PC-ISP and *Willingness to return* were estimated using logistic regression (Eq 7.2).

All models included theoretically relevant factors including *women's factors*: age, parity, marital status, birth location, insurance coverage, and self-rated health status; *SPs' factors*: total number of SPs, types of SPs (i.e. relation to the woman), timing of support (accompanied to facility, labor/delivery, postpartum); *household factors*: empowered in household decisions; and *facility factors*: number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, indicator of whether the facility was selected because of quality. Models of SP-reported PC-ISP also included an indicator of whether the SP accompanied the woman to antenatal care. For each outcome, I examined whether other factors were associated the outcome and included additional factors that were statistically significant (e.g., employment status, and whether the woman was referred to the facility). While covariates varied slightly by outcome, I included the same covariates in the full models for each outcome grouping (i.e., all PCMC models had the same covariates). Lists of covariates are detailed below each table of results.

The modeling approach for regression analyses followed a blocked modeling approach. Using the regression framework, I first ran a model examining only bivariate associations between PC-ISP and QoC indicator as the primary association of interest. I then added covariates in blocks corresponding to increasingly distal levels of the socioecological model to examine

how factors at each level impacts the variance of the association of interest. Because

observations were clustered at facilities, I estimated robust standard errors in statistical models.

Equations are specified as follows:

Equation 7.1, Linear Regression (full model): $Y = \alpha + \beta_{PC-ISP} x_1 + X \beta_{Woman} + X \gamma_{SP} + X \delta_{HH} + X \zeta_{Facility} + \epsilon$ Where Y is the outcome (e.g. woman's PCMC score, coverage of key practices, or satisfaction with care) α is the sample mean of the outcome, when all variables are evaluated at zero β_{PC-ISP} is the PC-ISP variable β_{Woman} is the vector of parameters for women's individual factors γ_{SP} is the vector of parameters for SP and household factors δ_{HH} is the vector of parameters for household factors $\zeta_{Facility}$ is the vector of parameters for facility factors, and, ϵ is the vector of error terms

Equation 7.2, Binomial Logistic (full model): $logit(p) = \alpha + \beta_{PC-ISP} x_1 + X \beta_{Woman} + X \gamma_{SP} + X \delta_{HH} + X \zeta_{Facility} + \epsilon$

Where *p* is the probability of *Willingness to return*. α is the average *Willingness to return* across the sample, when all variables are evaluated at zero. β_{PC-ISP} , β_{Woman} , γ_{SP} , δ_{HH} , $\zeta_{Facility}$ and ϵ are as defined in Eq. 7.1 above.

Intraclass correlations across facilities were low (min 0.012 – max 0.78) (Appendix 7A). However, to address potential unmeasured facility effects and clustering, I compared traditional OLS and logistic models with models including facility fixed effects and random-intercept models. Likelihood ratio tests, AIC and BIC showed that models with facility fixed effects were the best fit for the data compared to traditional OLS and random-intercept models. Thus, I included individual facility fixed effects in all models.

I performed diagnostics for all models, assessing whether assumptions were violated (additional information included in Appendix 7B-C). I inspected the normality of residuals visually using kernel density estimates, standardized normal probability (P-P), and quantilequantile (Q-Q) plots and tested normality using Shapiro-Wilk tests. Shapiro-Wilk tests and Q-Q plots indicated that the residuals departed from normality for PCMC and key practices (less severe). I found evidence of heteroskedasticity for PCMC models using the Breusch-Pagan test but examination of the plot of residuals vs. predicted values showed that heteroskedasticity was likely not too severe. Because residuals were non-normal and/or errors were heteroskedastic, I also examined other possible functional forms (e.g., log-transformed outcome, Poisson, negative binomial), however, goodness-of-fit tests, AIC, and BIC indicated that these models fit more poorly than OLS. All associations presented are thus estimated from OLS.

Using link tests and Ramsey regression specification error tests (RESET) I detected model specification error (i.e., prediction squared had explanatory power) in some of the models that used the total woman-reported PC-ISP scores. In contrast, models using separate PC-ISP indicators did not show evidence of specification error, providing further evidence that the summative PC-ISP score may not adequately measure PC-ISP as a concept as well as individual indicators. For models with evidence of specification error, I also examined other possible variables or transformed variables to add to models. For example, in *satisfaction* models, I found that adding a squared term for total delivery providers eliminated the specification error but showed that it was a much worse fit using AIC and BIC. In addition, I found that primary estimates of associations of interest (i.e., between PC-ISP and the outcome) did not change substantially (0.08-3.2%). Thus, for the sake of fit and simplicity, I did not include the squared term. Regardless, the use of cluster robust standard errors can compensate for biased standard errors.

There was no evidence of multicollinearity among variables (VIF=~1.54). I checked linearity between outcomes and continuous variables by plotting them against residuals—age, parity, and health status—and found that linearity was reasonable to assume. I also examined potentially influential points by inspecting residuals plotted against predicted values and leverage

against residuals squared. Although there were some outliers, they did not greatly influence estimates of association. I also ran models that excluded points that had leverage greater than (2k+2)/N (where k is the number of predictors and N is the sample size) (Rousseeuw et al., 1987). Although excluding the observations with high leverage led to stronger estimates of association for PCMC and Key practices models, including all 'outliers' resulted in more conservative and arguably more realistic estimates. The opposite was true for satisfaction models: excluding observations with high leverage (n=60) decreased the magnitude of association between PC-ISP and satisfaction, suggesting that influential points may have positively biased estimates. PC-ISP associations with satisfaction should thus be interpreted with caution.

For the logistic regression models for the outcome, *willingness to return*, I checked model specification using link tests and goodness-of-fit using Hosmer-Lemeshow tests. These tests showed no evidence of specification error nor poor fit. I also inspected potentially influential observations by examining standardized Pearson residuals, deviance residuals and Pregibon leverage (Appendix 7D). Running models without potential outliers (high standardized residual values) and high leverage (>3(k-1)/N) had minimal influence on the estimates of PC-ISP associations (Velleman & Welsch, 1981).

I also examined the moderating role of facility capacity in the association between women's PC-ISP reports and QoC variables by including a main effect for the facility capacity variable (grand mean-centered) and an interaction term between PC-ISP and facility capacity. In these models, I only used the PC-ISP score rather than individual PC-ISP indicators. I estimated associations using OLS using the the following model: Equation 7.3, Linear regression model, moderating role of facility capacity (full model): $Y = \alpha + \beta_{PC-ISP} x_1 + \beta_{Fac \ Capacity} x_2 + \beta_{PC-ISP} \times \beta_{Fac \ Capacity} x_3 + X\beta_{Woman} + X\gamma_{SP} + X\delta_{HH} + X\zeta_{Facility} + \epsilon$ Where Y is the QoC variable (i.e., PCMC, key practices, satisfaction) $\beta_{PC-ISP} \text{ is the women's } PC-ISP \ score$ $\beta_{Fac \ Cacpacity} \text{ is the } Facility \ Capacity \ indicator \ (i.e. \ beds, \ maternity \ beds, \ patient: staff \ ratio, \ patient: beds \ ratio)$ $\beta_{Woman}, \gamma_{SP}, \delta_{HH}, \zeta_{Facility}, \ and \ \epsilon \ are \ as \ defined \ in Eq. 7.1 \ above.$

Willingness to return used the equivalent model using logistic regression. Sensitivity analyses included fitting a multi-level model, estimating a cross-level direct effect, but found that estimates were highly consistent. Given low intraclass correlations and poorer indicators of fit (log likelihood, AIC, BIC), I presented the single-level OLS and logistic regression models in the results. Sensitivity analyses were also conducted with different constructions of the woman-reported PC-ISP combined score (Appendix 7B), comparing the 4-item score (presented in this chapter) with a) a 5-item score also including the variable, *SP felt welcome*, and b) a binary variable: high vs. low PC-ISP, categorizing 4 or more PC-ISP experiences as high and 3 or less experiences as low. Results for these sensitivity analyses were consistent and use of the high vs. low PC-ISP variable may be useful for clinical practice.

Results

Distributions of *person-centered maternity care (PCMC), clinical quality of care, satisfaction, and willingness to return* to the facility are presented in Table 7.2. The average PCMC score was 66.7 points (SD 15.3) out of 100. Of subdomains, women generally rated Dignity & Respect measures higher (mean 77.3, SD 18.4) and Communication & Autonomy lower (mean 59.2, SD 21.3). For clinical quality, on average, women reported receipt of 17.8 (SD 5.03) practices out of 28, representing only 64% of standard key practices, approximately. Women tended to report more gaps in care in maternal practices (mean 10.0 out of 17, SD 3.4) compared to newborn practices (mean 7.8 out of 11, SD 2.2). Most women reported being satisfied with the care they received (6.9 out of 9, mean 1.7). Most women (87.6%) reported that they would return to the same provider/facility the next time they delivered.

	Mean or N	(SD) or %
Person-centered outcomes		
Person-centered maternity care scale total	66.69	(15.27)
score (0-100)* (n=1,138))		
Dignity & Respect (0-100)	77.34	(18.46)
Communication & Autonomy (0-100)	59.24	(21.34)
Supportive Care (0-100)	66.90	(15.16)
Satisfaction total (0-9)	6.93	(1.67)
Willing to return to the facility (n=1,085)		
No, not willing to return	120	12.4%
Yes, willing to return	845	87.6%
Clinical Quality of Care		
Coverage of Key Practices (total) (0-28)	17.84	(5.03)
Maternal key practices (0-17)	10.02	(3.59)
Newborn key practices (0-11)	7.81	(2.15)

Table 7.2. QoC outcome distributions among the sample of women

*PCMC and all sub-scales were standardized to a 100-point scale

Aim 3a: Estimate how women's and support persons' reports of PC-ISP are associated with women's reports of <u>person-centered quality of care outcomes</u>

Person-centered outcomes

Person-centered maternity care (PCMC)

Table 7.3 presents estimates of association between woman-reported PC-ISP and PCMC

scores. The combined women's PC-ISP score and all but one women-reported PC-ISP indicator

was associated with higher PCMC scores. Each additional experience of PC-ISP was, on

average, associated with a 3.64-point (95% CI: 2.39, 4.90) higher PCMC score. In models,

estimates of association were primarily attenuated by facility factors rather than women's, SPs',

or household factors (i.e., health centres/dispensaries increased PCMC scores by 3.4 points,

while private facilities increased by 6.6 points).

Examination of separate indicators showed that, net of women's, SPs', household, and facility factors, PC-ISP correlations ranged from a 5.10-point (95% CI: 3.77, 6.44) higher PCMC score for women reporting providers asked if their SP should be *told about their condition/care* to a 10.52-point (95% CI: 6.64, 14.40) higher PCMC score for women reporting that providers *listened to their SPs' concerns*. There was no evidence of correlation between women reporting their SPs *felt welcome* and PCMC.

	PCMC total score		Sub-domains		
	Ν	Coeff.	Dignity & Communication		n Supportive
		(95% CI)	Respect	& Autonomy	Care
			Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.
			(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Total PC-ISP score	1,138	3.64**	3.15***	4.39***	3.39**
		(2.39, 4.90)	(2.15, 4.15)	(3.30, 5.48)	(1.63, 5.16)
Opportunity to	1,138	6.53**	4.22*	8.37**	6.35*
consult		(2.92, 10.14)	(0.68, 7.76)	(4.85, 11.90)	(2.32, 10.38)
Told condition	1,138	5.10***	4.12**	5.77**	5.10**
		(3.77, 6.44)	(2.41, 5.83)	(3.30, 8.24)	(2.52, 7.68)
Felt welcome	1,138	3.84	3.93*	2.62	4.53*
		(-0.29, 7.96)	(0.70, 7.16)	(-4.68, 9.92)	(1.41, 7.65)
Welcome to ask	1,119	7.65**	7.60**	9.43**	6.60*
questions ¹		(3.59, 11.70)	(4.69, 10.51)	(5.37, 13.49)	(1.22, 11.98)
Listened to	1,119	10.52**	10.79***	12.56***	9.19**
concerns ¹		(6.64, 14.40)	(7.64, 13.94)	(9.09, 16.03)	(4.39, 13.98)

Table 7.3. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and PCMC scores using OLS

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Full models controlled for age, parity, marital status, education, employment status, birth location, health status, insurance coverage, male partner SP, mother SP, mother-in-law SP, father SP, sister SP, brother SP, friend/neighbor/other SP, accompanied to facility, had SP during labor/delivery, had SP postpartum, household empowerment, number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility.

¹19 women responded N/A to these questions

Estimates of association (coefficients and 95% CI) between PC-ISP indicators and

PCMC subdomains are graphed in Figure 7.1. Examining PCMC sub-domains showed that the

combined PC-ISP score and most PC-ISP indicators (4 out of 5) were most strongly correlated

with increases in Communication & Autonomy.



Figure 7.1. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP measures and PCMC subdomains

Associations of SP-reported PC-ISP experiences and woman-reported PCMC score are presented in Table 7.4. In fully adjusted models, no SP-reported PC-ISP indicators were associated with PCMC. Analyses of smaller models showed that bivariate associations for two SP-reported PC-ISP indicators (*provided info about woman* and *welcome to ask questions*) with total PCMC score could be explained by variations in facility factors. These results were not consistent with my hypotheses.

 Table 7.4. Associations between SP's reported PC-ISP and women's reported PCMC using OLS

	Ν	PCMC score –	PCMC – Full model
		unadjusted	Coeff.
		Coeff.	(95% CI)
		(95% CI)	
Provided info about woman	605	2.36**	1.26
		(1.04, 3.68)	(-1.04, 3.57)
Provided info about newborn ¹	604	2.72	1.72
		(-1.70, 7.14)	(-3.78, 7.21)
Welcome to ask questions	605	4.19**	1.90
		(1.62, 6.76)	(-1.77, 5.58)
Helped decide during care ²	134	2.30	4.67
		(-4.85, 9.44)	(-1.53, 10.88)
Helped speak up during care ²	134	0.29	-1.14
--	-----	---------------	---------------
		(-4.31, 4.89)	(-4.74, 2.46)

Full models controlled for women's characteristics (age, parity, marital status, education, birth location, health status, insurance coverage), SPs' characteristics (relation to woman: male partner SP vs. mother/mother-in-law SP vs. other family member vs. friend/neighbor/other SP; accompanied to antenatal care, accompanied to facility, had SP during labor/delivery, had SP postpartum, number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, and a fixed effect for each facility.

¹One missing response for this question

² Only asked of SPs who reported staying with the woman during labor and delivery (n=134)

Satisfaction with care

Table 7.5 reports associations between women's reported PC-ISP and their satisfaction

with care. The combined total PC-ISP score and all separate PC-ISP indicators were associated

with increased satisfaction ratings. Each increase in PC-ISP score was associated with a 0.28-

point (95% CI: 0.18, 0.39) increase in satisfaction score, corresponding to a 3.1%-point increase

in satisfaction. Providers listening to SPs' concerns was associated with the greatest increase in

satisfaction (11.1%-point increase), while SPs feeling welcome was associated with the smallest

increase in satisfaction (3.4%-point increase).

Two SP-reported indicators were also associated with women's increased satisfaction

scores: SPs' being provided info about newborn and being welcome to ask questions (Table 7.6).

 Table 7.5. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and satisfaction with care using OLS

	Satisfac	Satisfaction total score		
	Ν	Coeff		
		(95% CI)		
Total PC-ISP score	1,138	0.28**		
		(0.18, 0.39)		
Opportunity to consult	1,138	0.46**		
		(0.17, 0.75)		
Told condition	1,138	0.45***		
		(0.17, 0.73)		
Felt welcome	1,138	0.31**		
		(0.16, 0.46)		
Welcome to ask questions ¹	1,119	0.56*		
		(0.21, 0.92)		

Listened to concerns ¹	1,119	0.77**
		(0.47, 1.06)

Controlled for age, parity, marital status, education, employment status, birth location, health status, insurance coverage, total number of SPs, male partner, mother, mother-in-law, father, sister, brother, other family, friend/neighbor/other, accompanied to facility, had SP during labor/delivery, had SP postpartum, household empowerment, number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility, and a fixed effect for each facility.

¹19 women responded N/A to these questions

Table 7.6. Associations between	SP-reported PC-ISP	scores and	women's sa	tisfaction v	with
care using OLS					

	Satisfaction total score		
	Ν	Coeff	
		95% CI	
Provided info about woman	605	0.04	
		(-0.22, 0.30)	
Provided info about newborn ¹	604	0.34*	
		(0.08, 0.59)	
Welcome to ask questions	605	0.27*	
		(0.16, 0.38)	
Helped decide during care ²	134	0.17	
		(-0.60, 0.94)	
Helped speak up during care ²	134	0.09	
		(-0.74, 0.92)	

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Full models controlled for women's characteristics (age, parity, marital status, education, birth location, employment, health status, insurance coverage), SPs' characteristics (relation to woman: male partner SP vs. mother/mother-in-law SP vs. other family member vs. friend/neighbor/other SP; SP's occupation, SP accompanied to antenatal care, woman had SP accompany to facility, woman had SP present during labor/delivery, woman had SP visit postpartum, empowered in household decisions), and facility factors (number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, and a fixed effect for each facility).

¹One missing response for this question

² Only asked of SPs who reported staying with the woman during labor and delivery (n=134)

Willingness to return to the facility

The total PC-ISP score and nearly all (4 of 5) woman-reported PC-ISP measures were associated

with increased likelihood of women stating they would return to the provider/facility for future

deliveries (Table 7.7). Each additional PC-ISP experience was associated with a 32% increased

likelihood (aOR=1.32, 95% CI: 1.14, 1.52) of being willing to return for care. Women's report of

SPs feeling welcome was mostly strongly associated with willingness to return, more than

doubling the likelihood of willingness to return (aOR=2.12, 95% CI: 1.93, 2.34).

	Willingness to return	
	N	aOR – Full model
		(95% CI)
Total PC-ISP score	965	1.32***
		(1.14, 1.52)
Opportunity to consult	965	1.96***
		(1.44, 2.69)
Told condition	965	1.19
		(0.83, 1.71)
Felt welcome	965	2.12***
		(1.93, 2.34)
Welcome to ask questions ¹	952	1.82**
		(1.27, 2.60)
Listened to concerns ¹	952	1.89**
		(1.29, 2.76)

Table 7.7. Associations between women's PC-ISP scores and willingness to return to the facility using logistic regression

Full models adjusted for women's characteristics (age, parity, marital status, education, birth location, employment, health status, insurance coverage), SPs' characteristics (male partner SP, mother SP, mother-in-law SP, father SP, sister SP, brother SP, friend/neighbor/other SP, woman had SP present during labor/delivery, woman had SP visit postpartum), household factors (household empowerment), and facility factors (number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility, and a fixed effect for each facility). ¹13 women responded N/A to these questions

Figure 7.2 shows predicted probabilities of willingness to return by number of PC-ISP experiences (computed at the mean values of all covariates). The predicted probability of willingness to return if women reported no experiences of PC-ISP was 79.3% (95% CI: 74.3%, 84.2%) while reporting four PC-ISP experiences corresponded to a predicted probability of 91.2% (95% CI: 89.4%, 93.0%), an 11.9%-point increase in probability. Predicted probabilities for individual woman-reported PC-ISP measures showed that SPs *feeling welcome* displayed the greatest difference in predicted probability of willingness to return (8.4%-point increase in probability), followed by providers listening to SPs' concerns (7.0%-point increase), and having the opportunity to consult SPs for decisions (6.8%-point increase).

Figure 7.2. Predicted probabilities of willingness to return to the facility by women's reported PC-ISP combined score, logistic regression results



Table 7.8 shows results from SP-reported PC-ISP indicators and women's willingness to return to the facility. Contrary to my hypotheses, SPs' report of being *provided information about the woman* was associated with lower likelihood of women's willingness to return to the facility. Among factors included in the model, facility fixed effects were most strongly associated with willingness to return. No SP-reported PC-ISP indicators were positively associated with women's willingness to return to the facility.

Table 7.8. Associations between SPs' PC-ISP and women's willingness to return to the facility using logistic regression

	Willingness to return		
	N	aOR	
		(95% CI)	
Provided info about woman	525	0.55*	
		(0.34, 0.89)	
Provided info about newborn ¹	524	0.56	
		(0.32, 1.00)	
Welcome to ask questions	525	1.26	
_		(0.34, 4.64)	
Helped decide during care ²	103 ³	1.66	

		(0.26, 10.60)
Helped speak up during care ²	103^{3}	1.91
		(0.73, 5.00)

Full models adjusted for women's characteristics (age, parity, marital status, education, birth location, employment, health status, insurance coverage), SPs' characteristics (relation to woman: male partner SP vs. mother/mother-inlaw SP vs. other family member vs. friend/neighbor/other SP; SP's occupation, SP accompanied to antenatal care, SP accompanied to facility, SP present during labor/delivery), household factors (empowered in household decisions), and facility factors (facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to the facility, and a fixed effect for each facility).

¹One missing response for this question

² Only asked of SPs who reported staying with the woman during labor and delivery (n=134)

³ Models dropped 14 observations because the facility effect for one facility predicted success perfectly. Due to small sample sizes and empty cells, these models did not include covariates: SP's occupation, SP accompanied to facility, SP present during labor/delivery, and facility type.

Aim 3b: Estimate how women's and support persons' reports of PC-ISP are associated with women's reports of <u>clinical quality of care outcomes</u>

Clinical Quality of Care

Coverage of key practices

Table 7.9 presents associations between women's reported PC-ISP and key clinical

practices. All woman-reported PC-ISP variables were associated with an increase in total

reported key practices after adjusting for other factors. For the combined score, each additional

PC-ISP report was associated with 1.26 (95% CI: 1.13, 1.40) additional key practices reported,

corresponding to a 4.5%-point increase in clinical practices reported. Providers asking if SPs

should be told about women's condition/care was associated with the greatest increase in key

practices (2.50 additional practices, 95% CI: 2.06, 2.93), while SPs feeling welcome was

associated with the smallest increase in key practices (1.28 additional practices, 95% CI: 0.15,

2.40).

Table 7.9. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and coverage of key clinical practices using OLS

Total key practices		Sub-domains	
Ν	Coeff	Maternal key	Newborn key
	(95% CI)	practices	practices
		Coeff	Coeff

			(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Total PC-ISP score	1,138	1.26***	0.84***	0.42***
		(1.13, 1.40)	(0.67, 1.00)	(0.37, 0.48)
Opportunity to	1,138	2.36***	1.63***	0.73***
consult		(1.71, 3.01)	(1.19, 2.08)	(0.49, 0.96)
Told condition	1,138	2.50***	1.80***	0.70**
		(2.06, 2.93)	(1.48, 2.12)	(0.42, 0.97)
Felt welcome	1,138	1.28*	0.71	0.57*
		(0.15, 2.40)	(-0.19,1.60)	(0.11, 1.03)
Welcome to ask	1,119	2.00*	1.20	0.80***
questions ¹		(0.60, 3.40)	(-0.04, 2.45)	(0.56, 1.04)
Listened to concerns ¹	1,119	2.46**	1.49*	0.96***
		(1.32, 3.59)	(0.55, 2.44)	(0.75, 1.18)

Controlled for age, parity, marital status, education, employment status, birth location, health status, insurance coverage, total number of SPs, male partner, mother, mother-in-law, father, sister, brother, other family, friend/neighbor/other, accompanied to facility, had SP during labor/delivery, had SP postpartum, household empowerment, number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility, and a fixed effect for each facility.

¹19 women responded N/A to these questions

Figure 7.3 graphically presents estimates of association by each PC-ISP variable. Each bar

presents associations with maternal and newborn key practices, which, when summed together

equal the estimated association for total key practices (total key practices = maternal + newborn

key practices). In sub-analyses, interestingly, all PC-ISP indicators were associated with

increases in newborn practices. Only three of five indicators were associated with increases in

maternal practices (opportunity to consult, told condition, listened to concerns), mainly related to

the sub-construct: provision of information and education.

Figure 7.3. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and maternal/newborn key practices using OLS



Maternal key practices
Newborn key practices

Table 7.10 presents associations between SP-reported PC-ISP experiences and womenreported key practices. Only two SP-reported PC-ISP indicators were associated with key practices: *provided info about the woman* and *provided info about the newborn*. SPs reports of being provided information about the woman was associated with women reporting an additional 1.55 (95% CI: 0.77, 2.32) key practices. SPs reports they were *provided information about the newborn* was associated with an additional 0.98 (95% CI: 0.33, 1.63) key practices.

	Key practices		
	Ν	Coeff	
		(95% CI)	
Provided info about woman	605	1.55**	
		(0.77, 2.32)	
Provided info about newborn ¹	604	0.98**	
		(0.33, 1.63)	
Welcome to ask questions	605	0.42	
_		(-1.16, 2.00)	
Helped decide during care ²	134	1.81	
		(-1.11, 4.73)	
Helped speak up during care ²	134	-0.19	
		(-1.18, 0.80)	

Table 7.10. Associations between SP's reported PC-ISP and key practices using OLS

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Full models controlled for women's characteristics (age, parity, marital status, education, birth location, health status, insurance coverage), SPs' characteristics (relation to woman: male partner SP vs. mother/mother-in-law SP vs. other family member vs. friend/neighbor/other SP; SP's occupation, accompanied to antenatal care, accompanied to facility, was present during labor/delivery), and facility factors (number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, and a fixed effect for each facility).

Sub-Aim 3c: Examine the degree that facility factors moderate associations between PC-ISP and QoC outcomes

Facility capacity as a potential modifier of PC-ISP and Quality of Care (QoC)

Table 7.11 presents characteristics and data on measures of capacity of each of the six facilities. The sample size within each facility ranged from 48-358 participants. *Total beds in the facility*, a measure of the size and volume of a facility, ranged from 18-100 (mean 49.6, SD 34.7). *Patient:staff ratio*, a measure of staffing, ranged from 0.6 to 6.7 patients per staff (mean 4.1, SD 2.1). *Patient:beds ratio* (per day) in maternity wards ranged from 0.3-5 patients per beds (mean 2.3, SD 1.9), indicated the extent of crowding.

Facility	Ν	Facility type	Total	Patient:staff	Patient:bed
ID			Beds	ratio	ratio
1	48	Private	50	6.67	0.80
2	119	Private	18	0.60	0.27
3	358	Gov't hospital	100	6.00	5.00
4	237	Gov't hospital	24	1.88	0.83
5	239	Gov't hospital	30	5.63	1.80
6	137	Gov't health	24	2.67	0.53
		centre/disp			

 Table 7.11. Facility capacity measures

Table 7.12 presents estimates of association for main effects of PC-ISP, number of beds, and the interaction term of these two variables. I found evidence of a statistical interaction between PC-ISP and beds for PCMC, key practices, and satisfaction. For PCMC, key practices, and satisfaction, there was a small positive interaction in which the slope of PC-ISP was steeper in facilities with more total beds, although the effect is very slight for key practices and satisfaction. Figure 7.4 graphs the predicted outcomes of these interactions. Facilities with more beds had generally lower PCMC scores but showed a greater effect of PC-ISP on PCMC. For example, comparing facilities with more versus fewer beds (+1SD vs. -1SD from the mean), the predicted difference in PCMC score between high and low PC-ISP scores (i.e., 4 vs. 0) was 17.66 vs. 11.46 points. Facilities with more beds generally had lower satisfaction scores but slightly stronger associations between PC-ISP and satisfaction. For key practices, facilities with more beds have greater coverage of key practices, I observed a stronger association between PC-ISP and key practices. This result was contrary to my expectations since PC-ISP appears to have a greater effect in high-resourced, high-volume facilities.

 Table 7.12. Interactions between woman-reported PC-ISP and total beds in the facility using linear and logistic regression

		Women's PC-ISP	Beds	PC-ISP x Beds
		score		Interaction term
QoC Outcome	Ν	Coeff (95% CI)	Coeff (95% CI)	Coeff (95% CI)
PCMC	1,138	3.64 (3.12, 4.16)***	-0.13 (-0.18, -	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)**
			0.09)**	
Satisfaction	1,138	0.28 (0.20, 0.36)***	-0.01 (-0.01, -0.00)*	0.002 (0.000, 0.003)*
Key practices	1,138	1.23 (1.18, 1.28)***	0.01 (-0.00, 0.02)	0.002 (0.001, 0.003)**
		aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
Willingness to	965	1.27 (1.07, 1.52)**	0.98 (0.97, 1.00)*	1.00 (1.00, 1.01)
return				

Figure 7.4. Moderating effect of total bed numbers on PC-ISP and PCMC, key practices, and satisfaction



Investigations of patient:bed ratio (an indicator of crowding) showed evidence of moderation for PCMC and key practices (Table 7.13, Figure 7.5. Facilities with higher patient:bed ratios (i.e., more crowding) had, on average, lower PCMC scores but higher coverage of key practices. In facilities with higher patient:bed ratios (i.e., more crowding), I found evidence that PC-ISP was more strongly associated with both PCMC and key practices. For example, comparing facilities with higher vs. lower *patient:bed ratios* (+1SD vs. -1SD from the mean), the predicted difference in PCMC score between high and low PC-ISP scores (i.e., 4 vs. 0) was 17.47 vs. 11.37 points. Similarly (comparing facilities by patient:bed ratios), the predicted difference in key practices between high and low PC-ISP scores was 5.26 vs. 4.63

practices. This result was in line with my expectations that greater integration of SPs would have a

greater effect on QoC in facilities with greater crowding.

Table 7.13	. Interactions between	woman-reported	PC-ISP and pa	tients:beds ratio	(mean-
centered) u	using linear and logistic	c regression			

		Women's PC-ISP	Patients:Beds	PC-ISP x
		score		Patients:Beds
				Interaction term
QoC Outcome	Ν	Coeff (95% CI)	Coeff (95% CI)	Coeff (95% CI)
PCMC	1,138	3.61 (3.09, 4.12)***	-2.66 (-3.49, -1.83)***	0.40 (0.21, 0.59)**
Satisfaction	1,138	0.28 (0.20, 0.35)***	-0.15 (-0.25, 0.35) *	0.03 (-0.00, 0.06)
Key practices	1,138	1.24 (1.19, 1.29)***	0.20 (0.08, 0.33)**	0.04 (0.01, 0.07)*
		aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
Willingness to	965	1.26 (1.06, 1.51)**	0.71 (0.56, 0.90)**	1.05 (0.97, 1.14)
return				

Figure 7.5. Moderating effect of patient:bed ratio on PC-ISP and PCMC and key practices.





I also investigated potential moderation by patient:staff ratio, a measure of staffing, but found no evidence of moderation (Appendix 7E).

Discussion

Using women's and SP's PC-ISP indicators, this study provides evidence that women's perceptions of integrating SPs—as a strategy for a person-centered care approach—is linked to the quality of maternity care across multiple dimensions. This study fills critical gaps in the literature, showing that women's perceptions of integrating SPs is associated with women's positive experiences of care, better clinical care experiences, higher satisfaction with care, and greater willingness to return to facilities for care. I found mixed evidence of SPs' PC-ISP experiences related to women's satisfaction with care, but no indicators were associated with increased key practices and women's satisfaction with care, but no indicators were associated with PCMC, and one indicator was associated with a decreased likelihood of women's willingness to return for care. These findings suggest that women's *perceptions* of integrating SPs are more important for their experiences of care than SPs' experiences of being integrated.

Although it is possible that SPs' surveys did not fully capture the experiences of all SPs, since only one SP was interviewed and there may have been other SPs who were more present, it is perhaps more likely that women's reported PC-ISP measures reflect their perceptions of QoC.

Yet, findings do underscore the importance of integrating SPs in several ways, especially by giving SPs opportunities to communicate with providers about care. Among SP's PC-ISP experiences, indicators related to communication were associated with increased key practices and women's satisfaction.

As expected, I found that facility factors critically affected associations between PC-ISP and QoC. Facility factors, such as facility type and individual facility fixed effects attenuated associations more than women's or SPs' characteristics in models. I also found that facility capacity modified the strength of PC-ISP on PCMC, key practices, and satisfaction. Evidence indicates that in facilities with high volumes and more crowding, greater integration of SPs is associated with more dramatic increases in the quality of care. This suggests that integration of SPs is particularly crucial for high volume and more crowded facilities.

Women's perceptions of integrating support persons is an indicator of person-centered care

Results showed that women's PC-ISP indicators were associated with PCMC and tended to be most strongly associated with the Communication & Autonomy subdomain. On the contrary, I did not find evidence of associations between SP-reported PC-ISP indicators and women-reported PCMC. This suggests that women's *perceptions* of integrating SPs reflect their positive interactions with providers via care that was more communicative and promoted their autonomy more than the actual extent that SPs were integrated into care.

Literature has demonstrated that women often consider SPs as a part of their experience of care. SPs can bridge communication with providers during childbirth, especially when they feel that staff do not give them adequate time or attention (Bondas-Salonen, 1998). SPs can express and reiterate women's concerns to providers (Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018; Kululanga et al., 2012) and SPs can also help women be properly informed by ensuring that information from providers is clearly heard and understood (Ampim et al., 2021; Elwyn et al., 2012).

Other literature has found that companion support during labor and delivery, in particular, is associated with less provider mistreatment and higher person-centered maternity care (Abuya et al., 2015; Diamond-Smith, Sudhinaraset, Melo, et al., 2016; Kiti et al., 2022) likely because providers interact with women differently when SPs are present (Keirse et al., 1989; Kozhimannil et al., 2016). It is probable that SPs' physical presence during care has more of an impact on how women are treated. When SPs can be present with women, they can be more involved in the processes of care and interact with providers as care is being delivered.

Integrating support persons is associated with increased key practices

I found that integrating SPs was associated with women's reports of receiving better clinical care; each increase in the number of woman-reported PC-ISP experiences was associated with an additional 1.3 key practices received. These results support evidence that SPs are important advocates for women during care. SPs can call for medical attention when needed, point out gaps in clinical care, and ask providers to perform needed exams or procedures (Kaye et al., 2014; McMahon et al., 2014). As witnesses, SPs can also hold providers accountable for poor treatment or malpractice (Rominski et al., 2017).

The finding that PC-ISP was associated with key practices fills a particularly notable gap in literature. Previous studies that proposed that integrating SPs can improve health outcomes posit this would be due to women's increased receipt of support. But given results that integrating SPs was associated with increased key practices, I argue that improved quality of care could be an additional mechanism. Simply put, SPs who are integrated can advocate for better QoC for women, potentially resulting in better health outcomes.

Results further suggest that integrating SPs may lead to greater partnership between providers, women, and SPs. Increased key practices was most strongly associated with women having the opportunity to consult SPs on decisions, being asked if SPs should be told about their condition/care, and providers listening to SPs concerns. This suggests that allowing women to make decisions with their SPs, especially when SPs are informed, and being able to express their concerns to providers stresses the importance of giving women and SPs opportunities to both interact with each other *and* with providers. Health services research has demonstrated that collaborative processes of health care delivery—where clinicians, patients, and their families coassess patients' situations, co-decide on the best treatment, and co-design the care plan—lead to cost-effective, high-quality care (Elwyn et al., 2020). This study's results suggest that integrating SPs can be a strategy to foster greater partnership between providers, women, and SPs in the collaborative delivery of care.

Women are more satisfied and more willing to return for care when they perceive support persons are integrated

Several studies have found that women are more satisfied with care when they are allowed birth companions (Gadappa & Deshpande, 2021; Okumu & Oyugi, 2018). This study

extends this literature by showing that women also prefer care that integrates SPs by providing opportunities for SPs to interact with providers. Across settings, studies have consistently found that women's satisfaction with maternity care is linked to their positive interactions and communication with providers (Kumbani et al., 2012; Melese et al., 2014; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021). Importantly, I found that some SP-reported PC-ISP indicators were also associated with women's satisfaction with care, providing evidence linking SPs' experiences of care to women's attitudes about care.

Results also shed light on implications for women's willingness to return to the facility for future care. When women perceived that SPs felt welcome, they were twice as likely to be willing to return to the facility for future deliveries. Because family and community members influence women's decisions about how and where to seek care (Moyer et al., 2014; Tunçalp et al., 2015), whether SPs feel included during care or are able to help women negotiate decisions about care can affect whether women feel comfortable returning for future care. Moreover, integrating SPs may potentially could influence broader community perceptions of care. For instance, patients' negative experiences with providers affect not only their own future careseeking, but also influence the decisions of the social network members (Ochieng & Odhiambo, 2019). Fostering SPs' sense of inclusion in care may have a ripple effect in the community, influencing both women's and SPs' social networks' decisions to seek care.

However, while some SP-reported PC-ISP indicators were associated with women's increased satisfaction with care, SPs' report of being provided information about women's condition/care was associated with *lower* likelihood of willingness to return, which went against my expectations. These results may suggest that women desire some degree of privacy regarding their health information. Other studies have found that some women fear SPs will discuss their

private matters, gossip with others, or divulge confidential information, like HIV status (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Alexander et al., 2014). Future research should explore what information women consider useful to share with SPs or desire to withhold from SPs. In contrast, analyses showed that factors specific to individual facilities primarily contribute to women's willingness to return. This is consistent with other literature, supporting evidence that perceptions of quality are among the most important factors for women's selection of facilities (Escamilla et al., 2018; Njoroge et al., 2005).

Integrating support persons is important for newborn care

Sub-analyses of key practices revealed that all women-reported PC-ISP indicators were associated with higher reported newborn care practices. SPs' reports of being provided information about newborn care was also associated with the greatest increase with women's satisfaction with care. These results corroborate evidence that SPs plan an important role in newborn care, especially when women are busy with procedures or recovering postpartum. Women have reported that SPs' involvement was essential when they felt that their newborns were treated poorly (Bondas-Salonen, 1998). An intervention trial found that women who had an SP had significantly less neonatal intensive care unit admissions and earlier initiation of breastfeeding than those without an SP (Gadappa & Deshpande, 2021). Moreover, in this context, nearly one in five newborns was separated from their mother while at the facility (Nakphong et al., 2021), highlighting women's inability to be involved at times. Integrating SPs may help families be more involved in the newborn's care, ensure that newborns are receiving high-quality care, and provide a communication link to help women be aware of their newborns' well-being and care.

Facility capacity moderates the effect of integrating support persons on quality of care

Findings contribute knowledge to how the facility context modifies the experience and effects of integrating SPs. Results showed a stronger 'effect' of integrating SPs on QoC indicators at crowded, high-volume facilities. Numerous studies have cited lack of resources and space to accommodate SPs (Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). When facilities cannot provide adequate space for SPs, SPs are excluded, which also has implications for the care women receive (Asefa et al., 2020; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021). For example, lack of space for SPs to sleep or sit results in earlier discharges for women and newborns (McMahon et al., 2015). Several studies in Kenya have highlighted that many maternity wards have such high patient volumes and crowding, women must share beds and that space for providers to move around is even limited (Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Guzman, et al., 2021; Sudhinaraset et al., 2019). Other studies have also found that companion support yields greater benefits to women's health outcomes in settings where companion support is ordinarily not allowed compared to where it is normalized or expected (Bohren et al., 2017). It is possible that in those types of settings, which are likely crowded and have high patient-volumes, having an SP to help navigate the experience of care can make a bigger difference.

Notably, I did not find any moderation effects by the level of staffing. This finding goes against numerous other studies describing providers' perceptions that understaffing contributes to their inability to provide person-centered care or accommodate SPs (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; Giessler et al., 2020). Interestingly, some quantitative evidence indicates that Kenyan facilities are adequately staffed despite perceived staffing shortages (IHME, 2014). That study found that most medical personnel in Kenya, especially in urban areas, treat a small number of

patients each day and most facilities had the human resource capacity to serve more patients (IHME, 2014). This present study supports the latter evidence, finding that the level of staffing did not change how integrating SPs was associated with QoC.

This study supports and extends this literature by showing that integrating SPs in particular institutional settings—those that are crowded and with high patient volumes—appears to have a greater positive effect on both women's experience of care and receipt of clinical care. Experts have proposed centralizing childbirth services at larger volume facilities that tend to have greater clinical care capabilities (e.g., surgery, cesarean deliveries), but caution that efforts to ensure equity are needed (Arsenault et al., 2020). These findings add evidence that integrating SPs is a potential strategy to improve clinical and person-centered QoC in crowded, high-volume facilities, which could help promote the equitable delivery of care.

Limitations

This study has several limitations, particularly relating to measures. It must be reiterated that PC-ISP measures were not formally developed nor validated. PC-ISP measures were also unable to examine a range of experiences of SP integration. This is particularly remarkable within the PC-ISP measures administered in the SPs' survey. Only three measures were asked of all SPs and two indicators were only asked of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor and/or delivery (n=134), which is a poorly defined sample (discordance between women's and SPs' reports of this measure is detailed in Chapter 7). In addition, only one SP was interviewed per women, so that SP-reported PC-ISP responses may not fully capture all SPs' experiences, especially if women had more than one SP. Moreover, while I presented results from both women's and SPs' reported PC-ISP measures, I could not directly compare them since

they did not match nor align well. Lastly, I used a combined woman-reported PC-ISP score that displayed poor reliability, indicating multi-dimensionality between indicators. In addition, this score was merely the sum of PC-ISP experiences but assumed that each PC-ISP experience was weighted equally.

Self-reported QoC indicators are also limited. Literature is mixed regarding the validity of women's reports. Some studies have found notable inaccuracies in women's report of maternity practices when compared to trained observers' reports (Day et al., 2021) while others have found that Kenyan women are able to accurately report on multiple aspects of care for themselves and their newborns (McCarthy et al., 2018). Women may not be fully aware of or remember all the procedures conducted, especially if providers were less communicative. It is also possible that because many of the key practices included items assessing whether women were asked about certain symptoms (e.g., Were you asked if you have pain? Headaches? etc.) these measures may reflect better communication. However, using the reported number of key practices may still be a more objective measure of clinical quality than ratings of perceived quality typically used in studies, since women can often be unaware of care standards and expect low QoC (Kumbani et al., 2012). Similarly, satisfaction ratings have been criticized as a poor indicator of quality. Women tend to rate satisfaction high, even when care is of low quality (Rishard et al., 2021). In addition, facility capacity measures may also be inaccurate because they were reported by a charge nurse, rather than official registry data.

Because the facility-level measures on capacity were reported by a charge nurse, it is possible that there is reporting error in these indicators. It is also likely that because these measures are averages, these indicators can not capture variations in capacity since patient volumes and staffing may vary daily and even throughout the day; for example, many facilities

have fewer staff at night (P. Afulani, Kusi, et al., 2018; P. A. Afulani et al., 2020). Thus, the moderating effect of patient:bed ratios should be interpreted conservatively. Similarly, the lack of evidence of moderation for patient:staff ratios may not necessarily mean that the level of staffing does not have an effect on PC-ISP and QoC, especially since Chapter 5 and 6 (Aims 1 and 2) found that the number of providers assisting delivery influenced women's and SPs' PC-ISP experiences.

This study is also unable to establish causality and the direction of effects, given almost all measures were collected at baseline interview. In addition, the inability to establish directionality in the relationship between PC-ISP and PCMC must be reiterated, especially because PC-ISP and PCMC theoretically occur and interact simultaneously. All results presented in this study are associations and may be due to reverse causality (care that is higher quality may tend to integrate SPs more).

Results also show that women-reported PC-ISP measures were highly correlated with QoC indicators while SP-reported PC-ISP were often not. Women's perceptions of PC-ISP may have been biased when QoC was higher. Thus, a major limitation of using women-reported PC-ISP is the possibility that these measures may better represent women's perceptions of QoC than the actual extent that SPs were integrated into care. Furthermore, I did not examine how QoC measures were related to one another, although it is likely that person-centered care and clinical quality influence satisfaction, which in turn, contribute to women's willingness to return for future care.

Lastly, these findings may have limited generalizability, given that associations between mistreatment and companion support can vary widely across countries because of social and institutional differences (Balde et al., 2020). In addition, because this study was conducted in a

small number of high patient-volume facilities, these results may not be generalizable to lowerlevel, primary care/community facilities.

Future research

Future research should carefully design PC-ISP measures, ensure that they adequately cover PC-ISP experiences, and allow for direct comparison between women's and SPs' measures. More detailed measures are needed, especially regarding the content and nature of communication between women, SPs, and providers, to better understand what information shared with SPs is constructive and positively contributes to improved clinical care and what information women consider unhelpful or unnecessary to share.

Future research should also collect or use validated measures of facility-level data to better understand how facility factors interact with PC-ISP and QoC. Future research may also explore time variations in facility capacity variables, such as the number of staff at a given day and time. Given that this study contradicted qualitative literature about staffing constraints and person-centered care, more detailed investigation is needed to reconcile differences between qualitative and quantative studies and better understand relationships between staffing, integrating SPs, and QoC.

Since this study suggests that integrating SPs may improve QoC, intervention trials are needed to establish temporality and causality. Research should also investigate how SP integration is associated with other outcomes including maternal and newborn morbidity and mortality while investigating QoC and other factors (e.g., stress, receipt of social support) as mediators. Further investigation is needed across a larger array of facilities (e.g., national-level,

lower-level facilities) across contexts to understand whether these relationships are consistent and generalizable.

Given findings regarding associations between PC-ISP and newborn practices and the lack of literature on person-centered newborn care, more qualitative research should also explore how SPs specifically interact with newborn care, investigating how women and families navigate newborn care together and specific SPs' specific roles in care. Community-based participatory research with communities and policymakers may also help develop greater partnerships between providers, women, and SPs to collaboratively and comprehensively improve QoC.

Study Implications

This study affirms WHO Quality of Care Framework for women and newborn health, providing needed evidence that integrating SPs is related to women's more positive personcentered outcomes and higher clinical quality. Women's experiences of care are tied to how SPs are treated in the maternity care setting.

There are several practical implications for maternity care. Communication between SPs and providers, especially opportunities to engage over questions and concerns, is essential for QoC. How providers communicate with SPs—as it pertains to women's and newborns' care must be addressed. Providers need to be trained in how to engage and interact with SPs in a productive manner. Given that poor provider-SP communication has been documented across settings, there is a broad need to develop trainings, curriculum, and tools to assist providers in effectively communicating with women and SPs.

In addition, efforts can empower SPs and communities to be more actively engaged in women's maternal health care. More education can bolster SPs' roles and maximize their benefit

to women (WHO, 2016b), especially in settings where companionship is not normalized. Community-based education surrounding maternal and newborn health has focused on increasing skilled birth attendance, seeking antenatal care, and caring for newborns (Gitaka et al., 2018; Mochache et al., 2018; Ochieng & Odhiambo, 2019), but little training has focused on helping women and communities navigate maternity care while at facilities. Education that specifically trains SPs how to effectively bridge communication between women and providers including how to advocate for women, negotiate decisions, articulate needs, and how to better partner with providers to deliver concerted care to women.

This study also adds to the literature that institutional contexts matter for integrating SPs and quality of care. Although some providers acknowledge that SPs can fill in gaps in care when facilities are crowded or lack space (Chalmers & Wolman, 1993; Maimbolwa et al., 2001), providers may continue to deny women access to their SPs because of fears that SPs will obstruct or inhibit care delivery (Bruggemann et al., 2014; Kabakian-Khasholian et al., 2018). Efforts to integrate SPs in these high-volume facilities may be particularly important as women likely have greater needs for support. In addition, integrating SPs must be in conjunction with health systems strengthening, recognizing that a stronger health system is key for more respectful and better experiences of maternity care (Asefa et al., 2020). Other infrastructure interventions, such as dedicated space for SPs to sit or sleep, may facilitate better care for women and alleviate the burden on providers.

Ideally, interventions to integrate SPs could create mutual understanding and facilitate the co-production of maternity care between providers, women, and communities. Studies have reported tensions between providers and women (and their SPs), often because providers prioritize technical aspects of care to the neglect of respectful treatment (Jolly et al., 2019;

Moyer et al., 2021). In Kenya, models of care that have encouraged collaborations (e.g., between health centres and communities or between skilled birth attendants and traditional birth attendants) have demonstrated that they are able to leverage the strengths of different groups to improve obstetric outcomes and increase respectful experiences of maternity care (Byrne et al., 2016; Kenya Ministry of Health, 2013). Health care systems should explore ways that women, SPs, providers, and facilities can co-design health services that would cooperatively deliver, monitor, and evaluate maternity care (Elwyn et al., 2020). Ultimately, women, communities, and providers share the goals of reducing adverse maternal and newborn outcomes and improving well-being.

Chapter 8. Conclusions and Research, Practice, and Policy Implications

Research Implications

In this research project I reconceptualized facilitating access to social support in maternity care, introducing the concept of Person-Centered Integration of Support Persons (PC-ISP). Because current concepts and measurement of social support during childbirth do not adequately match women's preferences nor address how the health care system facilitates support, I showed that PC-ISP can provide a more detailed perspective of how women want their SPs integrated into care and an assessment of how the maternity care treats SPs, centered in women's experience of care.

This study provides nuanced evidence regarding women's unmet need for support, which has seldom been quantified. Over one-in-four women in the sample of participants in Nairobi and Kiambu county facilities wanted but did not have an SP during labor and/or delivery. Most women also wanted social support in different ways than previously measured: consulting SPs on decisions, wanting SPs to know and understand their condition/care, and opportunities for SPs to engage with providers about their questions and concerns. I further showed that in practice, these needs for support are still unmet for a substantial proportion of women.

This project also highlighted how integrating SPs is associated with higher quality of care for women and newborns, spanning both person-centered and clinical outcomes. To our knowledge, this is the first study examining and finding associations between integrating SPs and clinical quality of care. Findings lend evidence to integrating SPs as a potential strategy to improve QoC and maternal and newborn health outcomes.

One major contribution of this study is a better understanding of how the facility context influences how SPs integration and its relationship with QoC. Facility factors, including facility

types and number of providers assisting delivery, were important determinants of SP integration. I also found that patient volume and crowding modified associations between PC-ISP and QoC outcomes: person-centered maternity care and key practices.

Inequitable access to support persons by women's factors and support person types

This research addresses gaps in understanding social determinants that shape structures of social support for women by revealing inequalities in access to SPs by women's individual factors and SP types. For example, SPs who supported women with low-income, low-prestige occupations were less likely to report feeling welcome to ask questions. Providers frequently look down on poorer, less educated women, especially if they fail to bring needed supplies (e.g., cloths, sanitary pads) and give greater attention to wealthier, more informed women (P. A. Afulani et al., 2020).

Findings also revealed complexities in how different SP types were treated, particularly male partners. For example, treatment of male partners yielded unexpected results. For instance, women who had male partner SPs were more likely to report that their SPs felt welcome at the facility than those without male partner SPs. On the other hand, male partners were less likely to report being given information about women's condition and care than mothers/mothers-in-law. Male partners also tended to be excluded from staying with women during labor or delivery while mothers and mothers-in-law were more likely to be included. Male partners are given preferential treatment in some ways yet excluded in other ways.

These findings are consistent with some studies that have found that some providers grant male partners some benefits, such as allowing women with male partners shorter wait times but

are frequently pushed out of maternity wards since childbirth and maternity care is by-and-large regarded as a woman's affair (Ampim et al., 2020, 2021).

Tension between women's autonomy and experiences of integrating support persons

This study also addressed a gap in literature about understanding women's preferences for social support during maternity care beyond companionship finding that women had specific ways they wanted to integrate their SPs into care even when they did not desire labor or delivery companionship. Findings also underscored the need to better assess women's preferences to ensure person-centered care as results revealed the tension between experiences of integrating SPs and women's autonomy.

Most women preferred integrating their SPs into care and results suggest a trend that these preferences will increase over time since younger, more empowered women tended to prefer integrating SPs. But this research also indicates that women desire privacy: a higher number of SPs was negatively associated with greater PC-ISP preferences, fewer women wanted SPs to know about their condition and care compared to other PC-ISP indicators, and SPs report of receiving information about women was associated with a lower likelihood of women's willingness to return for future care. Future research is needed to develop simple tools to help providers assess, acknowledge, and respect women's preferences for SP types and roles, especially because providers may be overworked and under resourced.

Integrating support persons is associated with quality of care

This research addressed gaps in investigating SPs' experience of care in relation to (or as a part of) women's experience of care and measuring the extent that it influences the care women

receive, especially in contexts like Kenya where women continue to face barriers to SPs during maternity care. Developing PC-ISP measures for both women and SPs, I put woman-reported and SP-reported PC-ISP measures in conversation with one another, estimating how both were associated with QoC indicators reported by women. I showed that both women's and SPs' perceptions of SP integration were associated with coverage of key practices, a clinical outcome prioritized by the WHO (Tunçalp et al., 2015). I also showed that women's perceptions of integrating SPs were associated with more person-centered care, higher satisfaction with care, and greater willingness to return to facilities for future care.

Associations between PC-ISP and QoC measures are arguably the most important finding of this research because they provide empirical evidence to support proposed pathways in the WHO Quality of Care framework for maternal and newborn health (Tunçalp et al., 2015). Furthermore, most literature has focused on how SPs influence women's experience of care and women's health outcomes, but this study extends the literature to show that integrating SPs is also linked with newborns' experience of care—a part of maternity care that is crucially important to women and families (Nakphong et al., 2021; Sacks & Kinney, 2015).

Communication between providers, women, and support persons must be addressed

This research addressed gaps regarding how the health care system can facilitate support for women beyond companionship by identifying specific ways SPs can be integrated, specifically emphasizing positive communication between providers, women, and SPs. Providers' communication with SPs was the lowest of reported PC-ISP indicators: less than half of women reported that a provider asked if their SP should be told about their condition or care and only one-in-five SPs reported that they received information about women's condition and care (even fewer reported receiving information about newborn care). Results also highlighted that SPs were even less likely to receive information if women experienced problems during delivery, arguably a key area that SPs need to be better integrated.

Surprisingly, I found that SPs' reports of receiving information about women was associated with a lower likelihood of women's willingness to return for future care. This unexpected result raises questions about the nature of communication between providers, women, and SPs and points to the importance of examining *what* and *how* information is communicated to SPs. Future research is needed to investigate the content and manner of communication of information to women and SPs, examining what is useful and how women's confidentiality can be ensured.

Results show that PC-ISP indicators were most strongly associated with the Communication & Autonomy subdomain of the Person-centered maternity care scale, which suggests that integrating SPs may be a promising strategy to improve communication and autonomy in maternity care. SPs can aid communication between providers and women by acting as a liaison or ensuring information is heard and understood (Bondas-Salonen, 1998; McMahon et al., 2014). Moreover, studies have generally shown that the Communication & Autonomy subdomain is rated lowest of all three PCMC subdomains, both in Kenya and elsewhere (Dagnaw et al., 2020; Odiase et al., 2021; Oluoch-Aridi, Afulani, Makanga, et al., 2021). But, because communication with providers is among the most important factors influencing women's perceptions of care (McLellan & Laidlaw, 2013), integrating SPs may be a viable intervention to improve communication between providers and women.

Addressing facility capacity is critical for integrating support persons

In addition, this study identified several facility factors that may be targeted to improve integrating SPs into care. Across the study, facility factors consistently emerged as crucially determining or modifying SP integration into care—a finding that most closely corresponded with my hypotheses. For example, a greater number of providers assisting delivery was associated with greater SP integration, likely because greater numbers of clinical staff allow providers to deliver more person-centered care (Giessler et al., 2020). Furthermore, the likelihood that SPs were integrated into care across indicators varied by facility type, although inconsistently. However, results also showed that the type of provider assisting delivery was not associated with PC-ISP as expected, further corroborating evidence that organizational factors, rather than individual provider characteristics contributed to PC-ISP.

Maternity care practices tend to be similar within facilities and vary little between providers, indicating that facilities develop unique patterns and cultures of care (Helfinstein et al., 2020). Interventions that have primarily focused on shifting the behavior of individual maternity care providers have often not been successful in Kenya (Giessler et al., 2020). Instead, these findings suggest that interventions to integrate SPs must focus on changing the culture and the characteristics of facilities. For example, strategies to integrate SPs may include establishing overarching policies and accountability systems, standardizing communication with women and SPs, or reconfiguring maternity wards to accommodate SPs.

Although literature has highlighted facility organization and infrastructure as crucial for integrating SPs (Kabakian-Khasholian & Portela, 2017), this study provided evidence that the positive associations between SP integration and QoC varied by facility capacity. Particularly at facilities with high patient volumes and crowding, SP integration may be more beneficial for ensuring key practices are performed and promoting person-centered care. These facilities tend

to be level 4 or 5 government facilities that prioritize clinical aspects of care over personcentered care (Felarmine et al., 2016). Providing women with a needed advocate for medical attention and respectful care may be especially important in settings where women receive little individualized attention and person-centered care is lower.

The influence of broader social norms merits further investigation

Additional investigation is also needed to examine the influence of the broader social context on women's preferences for support and how they may modify the associations between integrating SPs and QoC. Social and gender norms, such as community perceptions of gender-based violence, perpetuate inequalities and mistreatment in obstetric care; normalized abuse at home and in the community corresponds with normalized abuse in health care settings (Warren et al., 2017). Future studies could use Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) data to assess community norms about attitudes towards wife-beating or prevalence of intimate partner violence, aggregating perceptions within facility catchment areas.

Support persons need to be integrated across maternal health services

Lastly, this study reflects a need to integrate SPs across the spectrum of maternal health care. Increasing women's access to SPs during childbirth, across the continuum of her birthing experience, is regarded as a priority area for improving global maternal health (WHO, 2015, 2017b). Since SPs who accompanied women to antenatal care appointments were more likely to report being integrated into maternity care, increasing opportunities for women and SPs to navigate health care experiences together may improve support for women and increase familiarity with the health care system and engaging with providers about care. Most antenatal

education for women and SPs focuses on preparing them for the experience of childbirth (e.g., pain relieving techniques, coaching, danger signs) and is helpful for developing women and SPs' childbirth confidence in line with their sociocultural values (Munkhondya et al., 2020). Formal antenatal education is needed for SPs to learn how to support women's values and decision-making, how to interact with providers, and how to advocate for high quality care (Downe et al., 2016).

Results also affirm calls to better integrate SPs into labor and delivery care (Bohren, Berger, et al., 2019; Bohren et al., 2017). I found that women who had SPs during labor or delivery were more likely to report that SPs felt welcome. In addition, SPs who were present during labor or delivery were more likely to receive information and feel welcome to ask questions, showing that being physically present with women increased opportunities for SPs to be integrated in multiple ways. Women need access to their SPs during the critical high-risk period of labor and delivery when their needs are greatest.

Practice Implications

This study has a number of practice implications for healthcare providers and staff and broader healthcare facilities. Providers need to be trained in how to better integrate SPs in maternity care as part of the delivery of high-quality care. Providers need to be educated on how women can benefit from integrating SPs and how to establish SPs as partners in maternity care. For example, providing information to SPs can help them fill in gaps in medical care to better monitor women's conditions and progress, supporting providers when providers simultaneously attend to multiple women.

Training for providers must also sensitize them to women's preferences and how to appropriately acknowledge and respond to them, since there is no one-size-fits-all approach to integrating SPs. For example, providers need to play a critical gatekeeping role, able to both facilitate access to women's chosen SPs in the ways they want and bar SPs that women do not find helpful. At a minimum, providers should ask women which SP they prefer as a way to promote women's involvement in their own care. Providers and staff also need to be given clear guidelines for how to interact with and engage with all types of women and SPs equally, regardless of social status, and be trained to recognize their implicit biases (P. A. Afulani et al., 2020).

Undoubtedly, training to integrate SPs will require more nuance than merely allowing SPs as labor and delivery companions because SP integration focuses on specific types of interactions between providers, women, and SPs. For instance, providers will need to be trained in multiple areas of PC-ISP practice: how to make SPs feel welcome, how to provide opportunities for women to consult SPs on decisions, how to provide information to women and SPs, and how to welcome questions and concerns from women and SPs. The benefit of this training is that it will give providers a framework for how to think about women's preferences and needs in these areas and help them have a more nuanced perspective of person-centered care.

Providers need to receive training in how to involve women in decisions about communicating information to SPs so that women's privacy and autonomy can be protected. This research highlighted poor communication between providers, women, and SPs. Providers must strike a balance between giving SPs timely and appropriate information while protecting women's confidential and private information, especially since recent research has shown that some women report that SPs gossip about their private information with others (Wanyenze et al.,

2022). Notably, less than half of women reported that their provider *asked* if SPs should be told about their condition and care. Asking women about whether their information should be shared should be standard practice. Additionally, providers should be trained in how to customarily check in with women and SPs throughout maternity care. For example, if women experience delivery complications, providers should ask women if SPs should be informed as a standard practice. These are some examples of how providers can be trained in how to communicate with patients and their families while keeping women at the center of maternity care.

A greater emphasis on antenatal education for women and SPs is also needed to lay a foundation for integrating SPs and help them gain familiarity with the health care system. The antenatal period is key for preparing for childbirth and education needs to also help women and SPs expect and advocate for high quality intrapartum care. Education should include curriculum preparing women and SPs for how to understand their rights as patients, navigate interactions with providers, and assert preferences during care. Although some self-advocacy curricula have been developed in high-income countries for minoritized populations (Wicks, 2021), self-advocacy training materials need to be culturally tailored to Kenyan populations and the Kenyan health care setting.

Policy implications

National and county-level policies need to normalize SPs' involvement and integrate them into maternity care with equity and consistency. Integrating SPs into maternity care aligns with Kenya's Community Health Strategy which seeks to "build the capacity of individuals and households to know and progressively realize their rights to equitable, good quality health care" (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2020). Policies are needed to ensure that women and households

have the capacity to advocate for themselves and be involved in their own care regardless of facility level or type.

This research urges the Reproductive Maternal Health Services Unit in the Kenyan Ministry of Health to issue standard guidelines for how to integrate SPs in maternity care and implement a universal policy to allow women access to an SP of choice at any point during maternity care. Although not all women desire SPs to be present, all women should be able to access their SPs regardless of social status, type of SP, providers, or facility. Because Kenya's decentralized health care system gives counties authority to govern and supervise health facilities, a nation-wide set of guidelines and policy must also be accompanied with steps for implementation and accountability processes across counties. Policies to integrate SPs into maternity care could be incorporated into other existing national campaigns that share goals of improving QoC in maternity care, such as the joint stakeholder efforts to end fistula and ensure women's rights (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2021), to enrich efforts to support person-centered care and benefit from the national coordination.

From an organizational standpoint, changes to funding allocation and human resources management can also help to integrate SPs. Funding should be earmarked to ensure that maternity wards have adequate space and privacy for women and SPs. In high-volume facilities, resources should provide for an adequate number of beds (at least enough so that women do not need to share beds) and curtains for privacy. Allocating material resources to accommodate SPs' integration should be viewed as an investment in women's and newborns' health.

Health care systems also need to adjust how providers and staff are evaluated and rewarded in their work. Providers frequently see their responsibilities as solely attending to the proper delivery of clinical care (Jolly et al., 2019; Moyer et al., 2021). Making person-centered
outcomes, such as women's perceptions of PC-ISP or PCMC, part of how providers are evaluated and rewarded may help providers see integrating SPs and person-centered care as part of their essential duties.

Conclusions

Because integrating SPs into care can potentially influence QoC, health care systems should consider integrating SPs as a low-cost, person-centered quality improvement intervention. The novel PC-ISP concept and measures in this study can be used to develop tools to better assess women's preferences and experiences of support to promote person-centered care in practice. Providers need to be trained on integrating SPs and health care systems must establish standard practices to assess and acknowledge women's preferences in maternity care, permit access to SPs when desired, and create accountability systems to ensure policies and practices are implemented equitably. Efforts to integrate SPs into care should be focused on high-capacity facilities since SP integration may yield the greatest benefit to women and their communities in crowded facilities with high-patient volumes, providing women with essential advocates and filling in gaps in care. Integrating SPs in ways that keep women at the center of their own care can increase needed support for women, boost women's experience of care, and bolster efforts to measurably improve the quality of care.

Appendices Appendix 5A-C. Chapter 5 appendices A. Correlation matrix of woman-reported PC-ISP measures

	Consult decisions	Know condition /care	Understand condition /care	Respect choices	Opportunity to consult	Told condition /care	Felt welcome	Welcome to ask questions	Listened to concerns
Consult	1								
decisions									
Know	0.3980	1							
condition/care									
Understand	0.3266	0.6368	1						
condition/care									
Respect choices	0.2047	0.1973	0.2349	1					
Opportunity to	0.2218	0.1424	0.1717	0.1813	1				
consult									
Told	0.1317	0.1175	0.1319	0.1525	0.4599	1			
condition/care									
Felt welcome	-0.0193	0.0416	0.0485	0.0045	0.0482	0.0548	1		
Welcome to ask	0.0118	0.0330	-0.0079	0.0439	0.1207	0.1488	0.2365	1	
questions									
Listened to	0.0394	0.0717	0.0441	0.0939	0.1959	0.2227	0.2082	0.6122	1
concerns									

B. Model diagnostics

Normality







Heteroskedasticity



Assessing influential observations



C. Intraclass correlations for woman-reported PC-ISP measures across facilities

	ICC	SE	95%CI
PC-ISP Preferences	< 0.001	0.002	
Consult decisions	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Know condition/care	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Understand condition/care	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Respect choices	0.019	0.021	(0.002, 0.147)
PC-ISP Experiences	0.007	0.007	(0.001, 0.045)
Opportunity to consult	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Told condition/care	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Felt welcome	0.011	0.012	(0.001, 0.097)
Welcome to ask questions	0.033	0.029	(0.005, 0.172)
Listened to concerns	0.030	0.023	(0.007, 0.126)

D. Distribution of women's PC-ISP experience scores



Appendix 6A-E. Chapter 6 appendices

A. Correlation matrix of SP-reported PC-ISP measures

	Provided info about woman	Provided info about newborn	Welcome to ask questions	Help decide	Help speak up
Provided info	1				
about woman					
Provided info	0.7715	1			
about newborn					
Welcome to ask	0.1024	0.1179	1		
questions					
Help decide	0.1521	0.0692	-0.0063	1	
Help speak up	0.1430	0.969	-0.0532	0.2084	1

B. Intraclass correlations for SP-reported PC-ISP measures across facilities

	ICC	SE	95%CI
Provided info	0.418	0.032	(0.009, 0.173)
about woman			
Provided info	0.036	0.031	(0.006, 0.181)
about newborn			
Welcome to ask	0.067	0.056	(0.012, 0.291)
questions			
Help decide	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Help speak up	< 0.001	< 0.001	



C. Evaluating multicollinearity: Matrix of pairwise scatterplots for continuous variables

D. Assessing influential observations: Pearson residuals, deviance residuals and leverage *Provided info about woman*



Provided info about newborn



.8



1.2

.6 Pr(fe_ask_rc)

.8

.4

0

.2



Help decide during health care



Help speak up during health care



E. Discrepancies between women's and SPs' reports of being present during labor and/or delivery

There were notable discrepancies between woman and SP-reported timing of support, especially for labor and delivery. For example, 89% of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor and delivery were contradicted by women's reports. Analyses of discordant SP/woman reports revealed that SPs who were employed and reported being more connected to the woman were more likely to report providing labor and delivery support that were contradicted by women (Table 7E below). SP reports of labor/delivery support were not associated with any women's or household factors.

In contrast, women's reports of an SP present with them during labor and/or delivery were associated with different factors: primiparity, having a greater number of SPs, and delivering at a private hospital (vs. government hospital) compared to women without SPs during labor and/or delivery (women's reports not shown).

	Present during labor & deliver							
Characteristic	No	Yes	p-value					
Total number	472	134						
Support Person's characteristics								
SP Age (mean)	30.8	31.1	0.755					
SD	(8.18)	(7.60)						
SP currently married or partnered								
No	16.9%	18.7%	0.645					
Yes	83.1%	81.3%						
SP born in Nairobi or Kiambu								
No	80.7%	79.9%	0.822					
Yes	19.3%	20.1%						
SP currently employed								
No	24.8%	13.4%	0.005					
Yes	75.2%	86.6%						
Time SP has known woman								
less than one year	6.4%	1.5%	0.176					
1-2 years	19.5%	17.9%						
3-5 years	22.9%	25.4%						
6-10 years	16.1%	14.2%						
11+ years	35.2%	41.0%						
SP connectedness rating	6.18	6.53	0.003					
SD	(1.27)	(0.88)						
SP Accompanied to ANC								
No	58.9%	50.7%	0.092					
Yes	41.1%	49.3%						
Facility factors								
Facility type								
Gov't hospital	72.9%	67.2%	0.17					
Gov't HC/Disp	12.9%	11.9%						
Private facility	14.2%	20.9%						
Total number of delivery assistants	1.14	1.22	0.0496					

Table 7E. Bivariate associations between SP-reported timing of support and SPs'	and facility
factors (sample of SPs surveyed, n=606)	

	Present during labor & delivery						
Characteristic	No	Yes	p-value				
SD	(0.39)	(0.41)					
SP's perception of labor, delivery,							
postnatal wards							
Crowded	47.3%	41.8%	0.264				
Not crowded	52.8%	58.2%					

Appendix 7A-E. Chapter 7 appendices A. Intraclass correlations for outcome measures across facilities

	ICC	SE	95% CI
PCMC	0.078	0.046	(0.024, 0.228)
Coverage of key	0.012	0.011	(0.002, 0.068)
practices			
Satisfaction	0.058	0.035	(0.017, 0.175)

B. Diagnostic plots for women's reported PC-ISP score and PCMC, key practices, and satisfaction with care

Frequencies of dependent variables: PCMC, coverage of key practices, and satisfaction





C. Diagnostic plots for PCMC, Key practices, and Satisfaction with care Checking linearity



Normality





Heteroskedasticity of residuals







Influential points





D. Diagnostic plots for Willingness to Return

Residuals & Influential observations



E. Interactions between woman-reported PC-ISP and patient:staff ratio (mean-centered) Women's PC-ISP Patient:Staff ratio PC-ISP x

	score		Patient:Staff ratio Interaction term
QoC Outcome	Coeff (95% CI)	Coeff (95% CI)	Coeff (95% CI)
РСМС	3.81 (2.95, 4.66)***	-1.63 (-3.54, 0.27)	0.31 (-0.09, 0.70)
Key practices	1.20 (1.10, 1.30)***	-0.05 (-0.51, 0.41)	0.01 (-0.05, 0.07)
Satisfaction	0.28 (0.19, 0.37)***	-0.24 (-0.37, -0.10)**	0.03 (-0.01, 0.08)
	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
Willingness to	1.33 (1.12, 1.58)**	0.78 (0.61, 0.99)*	1.01 (0.93, 1.10)

Appendix A. SP types, number of SPs, and timing of support: Sub-Aim 2b

Objective: The objective of this sub-Aim (2a) was to explore the bivariate associations between women's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility-level factors and three support variables: types of SPs, number of SPs, and timing of SPs' support. Little research has investigated what factors shape women's support structures in maternity care. I hypothesized that A) the type of SPs (reported by women and SPs), B) number of SPs (reported by women) and C) and the timing of support (reported by women and SPs) differ by women's, SPs', dyadic, household, and facility factors.

Methods

Data

I used survey data from 1,138 postpartum women and 606 SPs sampled from 6 facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties. The setting, data, and measures are detailed in Chapter 5.

Analysis

I explored factors associated with the A) types of SPs, B) number of SPs, and C) timing of support. I analyzed bivariate associations between each of these three dependent variables and factors at different levels of the socioecological model. For dependent variables that were reported by both SPs and women (i.e., SP type, timing of support), I conducted separate analyses for both SP and woman-reported variables.

Because women could report multiple SP types (mean 1.5), for analyses of womenreported SP types, I compared women who reported having a given SP type with those did not report that type (i.e., women who reported a male partner SP vs. women without a male partner SP). Because only one SP was interviewed per woman and thus mutually exclusive, for SPreported SP type, I compared SP types against other types (i.e., male partner vs. mother/motherin-law vs. other family members vs. friend/neighbor/other). I analyzed women's and SPs' reports of three different timings of support (accompanying to the facility, present during labor/delivery, visited postpartum). However, given that SPs were recruited from postpartum wards, nearly all SPs surveyed reported visiting women postpartum. I therefore did not analyze SPs' reports of postpartum support due to lack of variation in the data.

I used chi-square tests, t-tests and ANOVA to test for statistically significant differences by the factors investigated (two-sided $\alpha = 0.05$). I visually inspected scatter plots of continuousby-continuous variables (e.g., number of SPs and age) and used Spearman's rank correlation coefficient to assess statistical dependence. I also conducted sensitivity analyses to check the robustness of results by SP types and facilities. I examined SP types as their original 8-category classification and alternative variables collapsing SP types into different categories. These analyses produced similar results.

Results

<u>A. Support Person types</u>

Factors associated with Support Person types: Women's reports

Factors associated with various SP types reported by women are presented in Table A1. Women who reported having male partner SPs tended to be older, higher parity, born outside Nairobi or Kiambu counties and covered by health insurance. Women with male partner SPs were also more likely to be accompanied to the facility, from smaller households, but less empowered than those who did not report male partner SPs. In contrast, women with mother/mother-in-law SPs tended to be younger, lower parity, had a smaller proportion who were married or partnered, had higher educational attainment, and were more likely to be born in Nairobi and Kiambu counties compared to women without a mother/mother-in-law SP.

Women with mother/mother-in-law SPs were more likely to have someone present with them during labor and delivery, live in larger households, be empowered in household decisions, and deliver at government hospitals (rather than government health centres/dispensaries) compared to women without mother/mother-in-law SPs.

Factors associated with other family members were similar, but weaker compared to factors associated with mothers/mothers-in-law: Women tended to be younger, of lower parity, less likely to be married or partnered, less likely to be employed, and more empowered than women without other family member SPs.

Women with SPs who were friends/neighbors/others were more likely to be multiparous, born outside of Nairobi or Kiambu counties than women without friend/neighbor/other SPs. Having friend/neighbor/other SPs was also more common at government health centres/dispensaries than government hospitals.

Women's health factors, including self-rated health, pregnancy complications, or delivery complications were not associated with any SP types.

Table A1. Bivariate associations between SP types and SPs', women's, household, and facility factors of the sample of women surveyed (n=1,138)

		Male partner Vs. no male partner			Mothe	Mothe r-in-law	r/ vs. not	Other Family Members Vs. not			Friend/Neighbor/ Other vs. not		
Characteristic	Total 1138	No 455	Yes 683	p- valu	No 1009	Yes 129	p- valu	No 897	Yes 241	p- valu	No 743	Yes 395	p- value
<i>Women's factors</i> Age (mean)	25.4	25.0	25.7	0.018	25.8	22.3	<0.001	25.7	24.9	0.011	25.2	25.7	0.109

	Male partner			Mothe	Mother	r/ vs. not	Other Family Member Vs. not			Friend/Neighbor/ Other vs. not			
		Vs. no	male p	artner	liter	i ili iuv			v 5. no		0	ther vo. n	
	T ()	N	• 7	p- valu	.	•	p- valu			p- valu	•		p-
Characteristic	Total	N0	Yes		N0	Yes	, uru	N0	Yes		No (5.12)	Yes	value
SD	(4.97)	(5.23)	(4.78)	0.001	(4.92)	(4.27)	.0.001	(4.84)	(5.15)	0.007	(5.12)	(4.66)	0.040
Parity (mean)	2.0	1.9	2.1	0.001	2.1	1.4	<0.001	2.0	1.9	0.006	2.0	2.0	0.243
SD Maltin gran	(0.96)	(0.94)	(0.97)		(0.97)	(0.68)		(0.97)	(0.95)		(0.98)	(0.94)	
Mumparous	125	44 20/	24 20/	0 001	22 70/	72 60/	~0.001	25.00/	12 60/	0.004	40.69/	22 70/	0.021
No	435	44.2%	54.5%	0.001	55./% 66.20/	/3.0%	<0.001	55.0% 65.0%	43.0%	0.004	40.0%	55./% 66.20/	0.021
Currently married or pa	artnered	33.870	03.770		00.370	20.470		03.0%	30.470		39.470	00.5%	
No	193	42.4%	.0%	<0.001	13.3%	45.7%	<0.001	9.7%	29.2%	<0.001	17.8%	15.4%	0.32
Yes	945	57.6%	100.0%		86.7%	54.3%		90.3%	70.8%		82.2%	84.6%	
Educational attainment	t												
Primary or less	504	45.9%	43.2%	0.612	46.0%	31.0%	<0.001	45.4%	42.5%	0.466	42.7%	47.3%	0.313
Vocational/	454	20.20/	41.00/		20.50/	12 (0/		20.50/	12.20/		40.00/	20.00/	
Secondary	454	38.2%	41.0%		39.5%	42.6%		38.5%	42.2%		40.9%	38.0%	
College/	190	15 90/	15 90/		14 504	26 10/		16 10/	15 20/		16 404	14 704	
Currently employed	160	13.870	13.070		14.370	20.470		10.170	13.370		10.470	14.//0	
No	687	50 1%	61.2%	0.482	50 /%	68 2%	0.053	57.6%	65 1%	0.012	61 2%	58 7%	0.411
Ves	451	40.9%	38.8%	0.462	39.470 40.6%	31.8%	0.055	37.070 47.4%	34.9%	0.012	38.8%	41 3%	0.411
Born in Nairobi or Kia	mbu Coi	inties	50.070		40.070	51.070		72.770	54.970		50.070	41.570	
No	899	76.0%	81.0%	0 046	83.6%	42.6%	<0.001	80.5%	76 4%	0 099	76.9%	83.0%	0.015
Yes	239	24.0%	19.0%	0.040	16.4%	57.4%	-0.001	19.5%	23.6%	0.077	23.1%	17.0%	0.015
Covered under health s	scheme o	r health	17.070		10.470	57.470		17.570	23.070		23.170	17.070	
No	169	17.8%	12.9%	0.022	15.0%	14.0%	0.761	15.4%	13.9%	0.494	15.7%	13.2%	0.244
Yes	969	82.2%	87.1%	0.022	85.0%	86.0%	0.701	84.6%	86.1%	0.171	84.3%	86.8%	0.211
Self-rated health status	,0,	02.270	07.170		05.070	00.070		01.070	00.170		01.570	00.070	
Excellent or	398	32.3%	36.7%	0.292	34.9%	35.7%	0.973	35.6%	34.0%	0.95	36.9%	31.4%	0.076
Good	456	42.0%	38.8%		39.9%	41.1%		39.6%	40.8%		38.4%	43.3%	
Fair	181	15.4%	16.3%		16.1%	14.7%		15.7%	16.3%		16.7%	14.4%	
Poor or very	103	10.3%	8.2%		9.1%	8.5%		9.1%	9.0%		8.1%	10.9%	
Pregnancy complication	ons												
No	815	71.9%	71.4%	0.878	71.1%	76.0%	0.244	71.1%	72.4%	0.649	72.4%	70.1%	0.416
Yes	323	28.1%	28.6%		28.9%	24.0%		28.9%	27.6%		27.6%	29.9%	
Delivery complications	5												
No	1063	93.8%	93.1%	0.628	93.6%	92.2%	0.572	93.7%	92.9%	0.611	94.1%	92.2%	0.213
Yes	75	6.2%	6.9%		6.4%	7.8%		6.3%	7.1%		5.9%	7.8%	
SP factors													
Total number of SPs	1.5	1.2	1.6	<0.001	1.4	2.0	<0.001	1.3	1.8	<0.001	1.3	1.7	<0.001
SD	(0.66)	(0.48)	(0.72)		(0.58)	(0.94)		(0.46)	(0.79)		(0.56)	(0.74)	
1 iming of support prov	/ided	:											
Accompanied to	1076	92.7%	95.8%	0.029	94.2%	97.7%	0.097	95.1%	93.6%	0.292	93.7%	96.2%	0.074
Present L&D (vs.	84	7.7%	7.2%	0.743	6.5%	14.0%	0.002	7.0%	8.0%	0.526	6.7%	8.6%	0.249
Postpartum	497	39.1%	46.7%	0.012	42.4%	53.5%	0.017	37.0%	55.0%	<0.001	40.9%	48.9%	0.01
Household factors		1											
nousenoid size	4.2	4.5	4.0	<0.001	4.2	4.7	<0.001	4.1	4.3	0.021	4.3	4.1	0.078
SD Empowerment in 1	(1.42)	(1.77)	(1.09)		(1.34)	(1.92)		(1.29)	(1.62)		(1.49)	(1.27)	
Empowerment in nous	enoia ae	cisions											

		Ma Vs. no	ale part) male p	ner artner	Moth	Mothe ner-in-law	er/ vs. not	Other	Family N Vs. not	Members	Frie O	end/Neigh ther vs. n	bor/ ot
Characteristic	Total	No	Yes	p- valu	No	Yes	p- valu	No	Yes	p- valu	No	Yes	p- value
Not empowered	518	33.8%	53.3%	<0.001	48.4%	23.3%	<0.001	49.2%	39.4%	0.001	44.1%	48.1%	0.202
Empowered	620	66.2%	46.7%		51.6%	76.7%		50.8%	60.6%		55.9%	51.9%	
Facility factors													
Facility type													
Gov't hospital	834	72.7%	73.6%	0.835	72.2%	81.4%	0.004	71.7%	75.9%	0.144	76.3%	67.6%	<0.001
Gov't HC/Disp	137	12.7%	11.6%		13.2%	3.1%		12.0%	12.0%		9.2%	17.5%	
Private facility	167	14.5%	14.8%		14.6%	15.5%		16.2%	12.0%		14.5%	14.9%	
Total number of													
del. Assistants	1.2	1.1	1.2	0.333	1.1	1.2	0.230	1.2	1.1	0.228	1.1	1.2	0.059
SD	(0.39)	(0.37)	(0.4		(0.38)	(0.43)		(0.39)	(0.38)		(0.38)	(0.40)	

Factors associated with Support Person types: Support Persons' reports

Support person factors

With the additional details about the SPs from the SPs' surveys, results indicate that types of SPs differed across all SP characteristics investigated (Table A2). More friends/neighbors/others (89.3%) were married or partnered than mothers/mothers-in-law or other family members (64.2%). Mothers/mothers-in-law (28.3%) or other family members (24.9%) had greater proportions of being born in Nairobi and Kiambu counties than male partners (15.8%) or friends/neighbors/others (15.7%).

Dyadic factors

SPs tended to be older than women regardless of type (mean 5.8 years, SD=8.44). The time that the SP knew the birthing woman varied widely for male partners, and most friends/neighbors/others with 79.3% reporting knowing the birthing woman for only 5 years or less. Over half of male partners (55.2%), roughly a third of other family members (36.4%) and friend/neighbors/others (32.2%), and over a quarter of mothers/mothers-in-law (28.3%) previously accompanied the woman to antenatal care appointments (p<0.001). The highest

proportions of male partners (86.5%) and mothers/mothers-in-law (83.0%) reported accompanying the woman to the facility, although similar proportions of mothers/mothers-in-law (24.5%), other family members (23.7%), and male partners (22.8%) reported staying with the woman during labor and/or delivery.

Women's factors

Younger women (22.2 yrs, SD=4.68) of low parity (1.4, SD= 0.74) tended to include mothers/mothers-in-law while the oldest (25.5 yrs, SD=5.08) with highest parity (2.2, SD=1.00) tended to include friends/neighbors/others. Non-married/non-partnered women (62.3% not partnered) and those with higher educational attainment also tended to have more mothers/mother-in-law SPs.

Women born in Nairobi or Kiambu counties also had more mothers/mothers-in-law, potentially because women who migrated may not have parents nearby. SP types did not differ by health insurance coverage, women's self-rated health, or pregnancy or delivery complications.

SP types were not associated with women's total number of SPs or household size. SP types, however, did vary significantly by women's empowerment. Women who were empowered in household decisions also had large proportions of mothers/mothers-in-law SPs compared to male partners (44.0%).

SP types also differed in facility types (p=0.031); for example, a high proportion of mothers/mothers-in-law were at government hospitals compared to other SP types, while greater proportions of friends/neighbors/others were at government health centres/dispensaries and private facilities compared to other SP types.

222

				SP type		
Characteristic	Total	Male	Mother/ Mother-	Other family	Friend/ Neighbor/ Other	p-
Total number in group	10181	partner 250	111-1aw	172	121	value
Support Bargon's factors	000	239		1/3	121	
Support Ferson's juctors	20.0	20.5	12 0	286	20.2	~0.00
SP Age (mean)	30.9	30.5	43.8	28.0 (7.52)	29.3	<0.00
	(8.03)	(3.92)	(9.23)	(7.32)	(0.99)	
SP currently married or partnered	105	0.00/	20.20/	27 (0)	10.00/	.0.00
No	105	0.0%	30.2%	37.6%	19.8%	<0.00
Yes	501	100.%	69.8%	62.4%	80.2%	
SP born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties	3	a 	-1 -0 (a	
No	488	84.2%	71.7%	75.1%	84.3%	0.028
Yes	118	15.8%	28.3%	24.9%	15.7%	
SP currently employed						
No	135	3.1%	26.4%	39.9%	36.4%	<0.00
Yes	471	96.9%	73.6%	60.1%	63.6%	
Time SP has known birthing woman						
less than one year	32	1.5%	0.0%	1.7%	20.7%	<0.00
1-2 years	116	22.4%	7.5%	8.7%	32.2%	
3-5 years	142	35.5%	5.7%	8.7%	26.4%	
6-10 years	95	25.5%	3.8%	7.5%	11.6%	
11+ years	221	15.1%	83.0%	73.4%	9.1%	
SP connectedness rating mean	6.3	6.4	6.6	6.2	5.9	<0.00
SD	(1.20)	(1.07)	(0.89)	(1.13)	(1.54)	
Accompanied woman to any antenatal	care appointme	ents	()			
No	346	44.8%	71.7%	63.6%	67.8%	<0.00
Ves	260	55.2%	28.3%	36.4%	32.2%	0.00
Timing of support provided	200	20.270	20.370	50.170	52.270	
Did not accompany to facility	120	13.5%	17.0%	22.0%	31.4%	0.001
Accompanied to facility	120	86.5%	83.0%	78.0%	68.6%	0.001
Not present during Labor and/or L	$\mathbf{Peliverv} A77$	77 70%	75 5%	76.3%	82.6%	
Descent during Labor allu/of I	Juniory 4/2	//.2/0	15.570	/0.3/0	02.070	
Present during Labor and/or	104	11 007	24 50/	22 70/	17 40/	
	134	22.8%	24.3%	25.1%	1/.4%	
women's factors	25.1	25.2	22.2	247	25.5	~0.00
woman's Age (mean)	25.1	25.3	22.2	24.7	25.5	<0.00
SD	(5.02)	(4.77)	(4.68)	(5.07)	(5.08)	.0.00
woman's Parity (mean)	2.0	2.1	1.4	1.9	2.2	<0.00
SD	(0.98)	(0.97)	(0.74)	(0.97)	(1.00)	
Multiparous						
No	235	32.8%	73.6%	45.1%	27.3%	<0.00
Yes	371	67.2%	26.4%	54.9%	72.7%	
Woman currently married or partnered						
No	108	.0%	62.3%	35.8%	10.7%	<0.00
Yes	498	100.0%	37.7%	64.2%	89.3%	
Woman's educational attainment						
Primary or less	278	42.5%	37.7%	47.4%	54.5%	0.024
Vocational/Secondary	242	44.4%	37.7%	41.6%	28.9%	
College/University	86	13.1%	24.5%	11.0%	16.5%	
Woman currently employed						

Table A2. Bivariate associations between SP types and SPs', women's, household, and facility factors of the sample of SPs surveyed (n=606)

		SP type				
			Mother/	Other	Friend/	
		Male	Mother-	family	Neighbor/	p-
Characteristic	Total	partner	in-law	member	Other	value
No	382	62.9%	64.2%	66.5%	57.9%	0.512
Yes	224	37.1%	35.8%	33.5%	42.1%	
Woman born in Nairobi or Kiambu Cour	nties					
No	480	81.5%	49.1%	78.0%	89.3%	<0.001
Yes	126	18.5%	50.9%	22.0%	10.7%	
Woman covered under health scheme or	health					
No	81	13.1%	15.1%	16.8%	8.3%	0.204
Yes	525	86.9%	84.9%	83.2%	91.7%	
Woman's self-rated health status						
Excellent or very good	203	35.9%	32.1%	31.2%	32.2%	0.962
Good	244	38.6%	39.6%	42.8%	40.5%	
Fair	97	16.2%	15.1%	14.5%	18.2%	
Poor or very poor	62	9.3%	13.2%	11.6%	9.1%	
Pregnancy complications						
No	437	72.6%	71.7%	74.6%	67.8%	0.64
Yes	169	27.4%	28.3%	25.4%	32.2%	
Delivery complications						
No	561	92.7%	90.6%	90.8%	95.9%	0.383
Yes	45	7.3%	9.4%	9.2%	4.1%	
SP factors						
Total number of SPs mean	1.5	1.51	1.43	1.53	1.43	0.572
SD	(0.67)	(0.69)	(0.57)	(0.72)	(0.57)	
Household factors 2		` <i>´</i>		, í		
Household size mean	4.2	4.02	5.26	4.24	4.2	0.110
SD	(1.41)	(1.04)	(2.10)	(1.54)	(1.35)	
Empowerment in household decisions	``	× /			, , ,	
Not empowered in all HH	286	56.0%	18.9%	41.0%	49.6%	<0.001
Empowered in all household	320	44.0%	81.1%	59.0%	50.4%	
Facility factors						
Facility type						
Gov't hospital	434	71.0%	86.8%	74.6%	62.0%	0.031
Gov't HC/Disp	77	14.3%	3.8%	9.8%	17.4%	
Private facility	95	14.7%	9.4%	15.6%	20.7%	
Total number of delivery assistants	1.2	1.17	1.26	1.13	1.12	0.1099
SD	(0.40)	(0.42)	(0.45)	(0.36)	(0.37)	
SP's perception of labor, delivery,		× /	× -/	x /	× 7	
postnatal wards						
Crowded	279	46.7%	50.9%	50.9%	35.5%	0.056
Not crowded	327	53.3%	49.1%	49.1%	64.5%	

B. Number of SPs

Factors associated with the number of Support Persons: women's reports

Table A3 presents factors associated with the total number of SPs reported by women. On average, women reported 1.47 (SD=0.66) SPs, with a maximum value of six SPs. Having a greater number of SPs was negatively correlated with age and parity. Women who were married or partnered, born in Nairobi/Kiambu counties, and covered by insurance tended to have a higher number of SPs. Health status, household factors, and facility factors were not associated with the number of SPs.

Table A3. Bivariate associations between the number of SPs and women's, household, and facility factors of the sample of women surveyed (n=1,138)

Characteristic	Mean or rho	(SD)	p-value
Total number in group			
Women's factors			
Age	r=-0.0892		0.0026
Parity	r=-0.0995		0.001
Multiparous			
No	1.54	(0.68)	0.007
Yes	1.43	(0.65)	
Currently married or partnered			
No	1.34	(0.55)	0.002
Yes	1.5	(0.68)	
Educational attainment			
Primary or less	1.42	(0.63)	0.062
Vocational/Secondary	1.51	(0.67)	
College/University	1.52	(0.72)	
Currently employed			
No	1.51	(0.68)	0.010
Yes	1.41	(0.62)	
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties			
No	1.43	(0.60)	<0.001
Yes	1.62	(0.85)	
Covered under health scheme or health insurance			
No	1.3	(0.51)	<0.001
Yes	1.5	(0.68)	
Self-rated health status			
Excellent or very good	1.46	(0.67)	0.897
Good	1.48	(0.67)	
Fair	1.44	(0.59)	
Poor or very poor	1.47	(0.73)	
Pregnancy complications			
No	1.47	(0.66)	0.821
Yes	1.46	(0.66)	
Delivery complications			
No	1.46	(0.66)	0.075

Characteristic	Mean or rho	(SD)	p-value
Yes	1.6	(0.68)	
Household factors			
Household size	r=-0.0618		0.038
Empowerment in household decisions			
Not empowered in all HH decisions	1.48	(0.64)	0.693
Empowered in all household decision	1.46	(0.68)	
Facility factors			
Facility type			
Gov't hospital	1.48	(0.67)	0.580
Gov't HC/Disp	1.48	(0.67)	
Private facility	1.42	(0.63)	
Total number of delivery assistants	R=-0.0379	. ,	0.201

C. Timing of support

Factors associated with timing of support: Women's reports

Table A4 presents associations with women's reports of having SPs present with them during specific times. Women who reported being accompanied to the facility tended to be younger, lower parity, and less likely to have pregnancy complications compared to women lacking accompaniment. Women who reported having an SP present with them during labor and/or delivery were more likely to be primiparous and deliver at private hospitals (vs. government hospitals) compared to women without SPs during labor and/or delivery.

	Accompanied to the facility			Present during L&D			Visited postpartum ward		
Characteristic	No	Yes	p- value	No	Yes	p- value	No	Yes	p- value
Total number in group	62	1076		1054	84		641	497	
Women's factors									
Age (mean)	27.24	25.28	0.002	25.41	25.05	0.522	25.47	25.27	0.509
SD	(4.66)	(4.97)		(4.95)	(5.30)		(5.08)	(4.83)	
Parity (mean)	2.40	1.95	<0.001	1.99	1.74	0.019	2.01	1.93	0.207
SD	(1.00)	(0.96)		(0.97)	(0.89)		(0.97)	(0.95)	
Multiparous									
No	16.1%	39.5%	<0.001	37.2%	51.2%	0.011	37.0%	39.8%	0.324
Yes	83.9%	60.5%		62.8%	48.8%		63.0%	60.2%	
Currently married or partnered									
No	17.7%	16.9%	0.866	16.5%	22.6%	0.151	15.9%	18.3%	0.285

Table A4. Bivariate associations between woman-reported timing of support and women's, SPs', household, and facility factors (sample of women surveyed, n=1,138)

	Accompanied to the				Visited postpartum				
	:	facility		Presen	t during l	L&D		ward	
Characteristic	No	Yes	p- value	No	Yes	p- value	No	Yes	p- value
Yes	82.3%	83.1%		83.5%	77.4%		84.1%	81.7%	
Educational attainment									
Primary or less	56.5%	43.6%	0.139	44.3%	44.0%	0.669	47.3%	40.4%	0.071
Vocational/Secondary	30.6%	40.4%		40.1%	36.9%		37.8%	42.7%	
College/University	12.9%	16.0%		15.6%	19.0%		15.0%	16.9%	
Currently employed									
No	62.9%	60.2%	0.675	60.5%	58.3%	0.692	59.4%	61.6%	0.466
Yes	37.1%	39.8%		39.5%	41.7%		40.6%	38.4%	
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu									
No	85.5%	78.6%	0.197	79.2%	76.2%	0.512	77.1%	81.5%	0.069
Yes	14.5%	21.4%		20.8%	23.8%		22.9%	18.5%	
Covered under health scheme									
No	16.1%	14.8%	0.771	14.8%	15.5%	0.867	15.1%	14.5%	0.761
Yes	83.9%	85.2%		85.2%	84.5%		84.9%	85.5%	
Self-rated health status									
Excellent or very good	32.3%	35.1%	0.614	35.1%	33.3%	0.948	34.3%	35.8%	0.845
Good	45.2%	39.8%		40.0%	40.5%		39.8%	40.4%	
Fair	11.3%	16.2%		15.9%	15.5%		16.7%	14.9%	
Poor or very poor	11.3%	8.9%		8.9%	10.7%		9.2%	8.9%	
Pregnancy complications	•			•					
No	59.7%	72.3%	0.032	71.1%	78.6%	0.142	71.3%	72.0%	0.784
Yes	40.3%	27.7%		28.9%	21.4%		28.7%	28.0%	
Delivery complications									
No	96.8%	93.2%	0.272	93.4%	94.0%	0.807	93.9%	92.8%	0.434
Yes	3.2%	6.8%		6.6%	6.0%		6.1%	7.2%	
SP factors									
Total number of SPs mean	1.21	1.48	0.002	1.46	1.62	0.030	1.29	1.7	<0.001
SD	(0.55)	(0.66)		(0.65)	(0.76)		(0.49)	(0.77)	
SPs present during time									
Male partner		55.6%			40.5%			57.9%	
Mother		7.5%			14.3%			8.9%	
Mother-in-law		2.5%			3.6%			3.2%	
Sister		13.8%			9.5%			20.7%	
Father		.9%			.0%			.4%	
Brother		1.2%			.0%			1.2%	
Other Family		16.7%			20.2%			21.5%	
Friend/Neighbor/Other	:	30.9%		:	26.2%	:		28.8%	
Household factors 2									
Household size mean	4.39	4.2	0.309	4.22	4.1	0.449	4.23	4.18	0.599
SD	(1.36)	(1.43)		(1.41)	(1.52)		(1.41)	(1.44)	
Empowerment in household									
Not empowered in all HH	43.5%	45.6%	0.749	45.5%	45.2%	0.957	46.8%	43.9%	0.323
Empowered in all	56.5%	54.4%		54.5%	54.8%		53.2%	56.1%	
Facility factors									
Facility type	77 1 0 /		0.10	- 4 00 /	C 1 0 01	0.0.1.		= 0.001	0.00-
Gov't hospital	77.4%	73.0%	0.13	/4.0%	64.3%	0.046	75.2%	/0.8%	0.007
Gov't HC/Disp	16.1%	11.8%		12.0%	11.9%		9.4%	15.5%	
Private facility	6.5%	15.1%		13.9%	23.8%		15.4%	13.7%	

	Accompanied to the facility Present during				L&D	Visite	d postpai ward	•tum	
Characteristic	No	Yes	p- value	No	Yes	p- value	No	Yes	p- value
Total number of delivery	1.13	1.15	0.6965	1.15	1.18	0.445	1.15	1.14	0.499
SD	(0.34)	(0.39)		(0.38)	(0.42)		(0.39)	(0.38)	

Factors associated with timing of support: Support Persons' reports

Factors associated with SPs' reports of timing of support are presented in Table A5. SPs who were currently employed and rated being more relationally connected to the woman were more likely to report accompanying the woman to the facility and being present during labor and/or delivery. SPs who accompanied women to antenatal care appointments were also more likely to accompany women for childbirth. SPs reports of staying at labor/delivery was associated with a higher number of providers assisting delivery. SP-reported timing of support was not associated with any women's or household factors (results not shown).

There were notable discrepancies between woman and SP-reported timing of support, especially for labor and delivery. For example, 89% of SPs who reported being present with the woman during labor and delivery were contradicted by women's reports. Analyses of discordant SP/woman reports revealed that SPs who were employed and reported being more connected to the woman were more likely to report providing labor and delivery support that were contradicted by women (results not shown).

Table A5. Bivariate associations between SP-reported timing of support and SPs' a	and facility
factors (sample of SPs surveyed, n=606)	

	Accompa	anied to th	ne facility	Present during labor &		
Characteristic	No	Yes	p-value	No	Yes	p-value
Total number	120	486		472	134	
Support Person's characteristics						
SP Age (mean)	30.8	30.9	0.832	30.8	31.1	0.755
SD	(8.93)	(7.82)		(8.18)	(7.60)	
SP currently married or partnered						
No	21.9%	78.1%	0.552	16.9%	18.7%	0.645

	Accompanied to the facility			Present during labor &			
Characteristic	No	Yes	p-value	No	Yes	p-value	
Yes	19.4%	80.6%	_	83.1%	81.3%		
SP born in Nairobi or Kiambu							
No	82.5%	80.0%	0.542	80.7%	79.9%	0.822	
Yes	17.5%	20.0%		19.3%	20.1%		
SP currently employed							
No	32.5%	19.8%	0.003	24.8%	13.4%	0.005	
Yes	67.5%	80.2%		75.2%	86.6%		
Time SP has known woman							
less than one year	9.2%	4.3%	0.185	6.4%	1.5%	0.176	
1-2 years	20.0%	18.9%		19.5%	17.9%		
3-5 years	20.0%	24.3%		22.9%	25.4%		
6-10 years	12.5%	16.5%		16.1%	14.2%		
11+ years	38.3%	36.0%		35.2%	41.0%		
SP connectedness rating	6.03	6.31	0.021	6.18	6.53	0.003	
SD	(1.36)	(1.15)		(1.27)	(0.88)		
Accompanied woman to any antenatal c	are appoint	tments					
No	72.5%	53.3%	<0.001	58.9%	50.7%	0.092	
Yes	27.5%	46.7%		41.1%	49.3%		
Facility factors							
Facility type							
Gov't hospital	65.8%	73.0%	0.239	72.9%	67.2%	0.17	
Gov't HC/Disp	16.7%	11.7%		12.9%	11.9%		
Private facility	17.5%	15.2%		14.2%	20.9%		
Total number of delivery assistants	1.11	1.17	0.1373	1.14	1.22	0.0496	
SD	(0.31)	(0.42)		(0.39)	(0.41)		
SP's perception of labor, delivery,							
postnatal wards							
Crowded	40.8%	47.3%	0.201	47.3%	41.8%	0.264	
Not crowded	59.2%	52.7%		52.8%	58.2%		

Discussion

My examination of SP types, number of SPs and timing of support showed that the women's social support structures are primarily shaped by SPs', women's, and household sociodemographic characteristics. In contrast, results also show that women's health factors do not play a role in influencing the SPs and support women have. I also found that facility factors critically determine whether women reported SPs during certain times of maternity care (labor and delivery, postpartum), but did not influence the types of numbers of SPs women have.

Women's factors

Women's characteristics and household factors had the strongest associations with the types and numbers of SPs women reported. Older, higher parity, and non-locally born women were more likely to have male partner SPs while younger, lower parity, and locally born women were more likely to have their mothers/mothers-in-law or other family members as SPs. Women who were locally born were also more likely to have more SPs than women born outside of Nairobi or Kiambu counties, potentially because their families and social networks were local. Women who were less empowered in household decisions were more likely to have male partner SPs while more empowered, more educated women tended to have mother/mother-in-law SPs. This result again raises questions about women's autonomy and whether less empowered women wanted their male partners as SPs (Jennings et al., 2014). Continued efforts are needed to ensure women's involvement in their own care. Women's health factors, including self-rated health, pregnancy complications, or delivery problems did not influence the types or numbers of SPs women reported.

My findings suggest that in this context, selection of SPs appeared to be more fixed and determined by women's individual and social network characteristics rather than the circumstantially determined by women's well-being and health needs. This suggests that social support structures are driven by sociocultural norms that are likely not adjusted to provide specific types of health condition-related supports. These findings support other literature that find that the structure and hierarchies of communities are important factors in women's delivery decisions and care (Moyer et al., 2014) and adds nuance to our understanding of the factors influence selection of SPs.

SPs' factors

SP surveys, which had additional information about SPs' characteristics, provided more information about patterns of support for women. All SP types, on average, were older than women. Older SPs may act as guides through the experience of childbirth (Simmonds et al., 2012). In addition, more friend/neighbor/other SPs were married or partnered compared to family members (80% vs. 62%), suggesting that women may select non-family member SPs specifically for experienced support. Alternatively, it is also possible that older SPs were included as a strategy to garner respect from providers. Some studies have found that women choose SPs so that providers treat them more favorably, such as including male partners to reduce wait times (Ampim et al., 2021). Further research could explore how and why women choose their SPs.

This study also sheds light on the social ties of birthing women. Unexpectedly, most friend/neighbor/other SPs that were surveyed knew the woman for five years or less. In free responses, women identified a broad range of who these "other" SPs were, including employers, church congregants, and house help. Most support literature has focused on women's family networks, assuming that childbirth support would mainly be provided by strong ties (Edmonds et al., 2012; Moyer et al., 2014). This finding provides evidence that many women rely on weaker ties for childbirth. Social support literature has found that individuals often confide in 'non-close' social network members when they are seen as knowledgeable or available (Small, 2013; Small & Sukhu, 2016). It is likely that these characteristics—SPs' knowledge and availability— also determined whether women had SPs with weaker ties.

Facility factors

The investigation of timing of support indicated that facility policies and practices play a critical role in whether women were allowed SPs during labor/delivery and postpartum. In comparison to government hospitals, private facilities were more likely to allow SPs in labor/delivery wards and health centres/dispensaries were more likely to allow SPs in postpartum wards. In addition, although a small fraction of women was allowed SPs during labor and delivery, results show that *who* was allowed differed by SP types and women's characteristics, suggesting patterns in how providers treat SPs. For example, lower parity women were more likely to report having an SP during labor/delivery. Mothers/mothers-in-law SPs were also more likely than other SP types to be allowed during labor/delivery.

Other survey questions sheds light on whether these characteristics aligned with women's preferences: the women's survey specifically asked women who did not report an SP during labor/delivery about whether and who they wanted to stay with them during labor/delivery. Of those women, 36% of primiparous women wanted someone to stay with them during labor/delivery compared to 26% of multiparous women (p<0.001), suggesting women with lower parity are more likely to desire labor/delivery support. These measures also reveal that mothers may be given preferential access while male partners may tend to be excluded, despite women's preferences. Similar proportions of women wanted and reported their mothers to be present during labor/delivery (18% vs. 14%, respectively). On the contrary, over half (53%) of women reported that they wanted their male partner while only 41% who had someone during labor/delivery reported their male partner, indicating that male partners continue to face barriers to providing support in the ways women want. Male partners, across contexts, are frequently "side-lined" or excluded by providers in maternity care (Alexander et al., 2014; Bäckström & Hertfelt Wahn, 2011; Kaye et al., 2014; Kululanga et al., 2012). Although, an earlier study in

232

public facilities in Nairobi and Kiambu counties found that some providers reported giving preferential access to male partners (Sudhinaraset et al., 2019), these findings show that, at a population-level, male partners still tend to be excluded.

Limitations

Because these analyses examined many factors using bivariate associations, it is possible that some of associations are spurious or may be confounded by other factors. Therefore, it must be reiterated that these analyses are used for exploratory purposes to expand our understanding of how factors at different levels influence women's structures of support. Future research may examine these relationships in multivariable regression models.

Conclusions

Women's structures of social support are primarily socioculturally formed. Women's support networks include SPs who vary by type and time known but are likely selected because they are knowledgeable and/or available. However, there is evidence suggesting discriminatory treatment by women's social status and type of SP. Efforts to make practices more equitable are needed, including fair and clear policies, provider trainings, and accountability mechanisms. All women should be able receive the support available to them regardless of their social status, relation to their SPs, or facility resources.

Appendix B. Sensitivity analyses using alternative constructions of the PC-ISP score Analyses comparing different constructions of the PC-ISP score: a) 4-item summative measure, which is presented throughout the study, b) 5-item summative measure that includes SP felt welcome (these 5 items were less reliable than the 4 items in (a)), c) High vs. low PC-ISP scores, dichotomizing the 5-item score as reporting SP integration on 4 or more items (high) vs. 3 or less items (low). Approximately half (51.2%) of participants reported high integration.



Figure B1. Histogram of 5-item PC-ISP score

Table B1. Factors associated with high (SP integration on 4+ items) vs. low PC-ISP score, logistic model (n=1,138)

	Combined	l	
	aOR	p-value	95% CI
Age	0.99	0.46	(0.97, 1.01)
Parity	1.05	0.28	(0.96, 1.14)
Marital status (Ref. Not married/partnered)			
Married or partnered	0.89	0.64	(0.55, 1.44)
Education (ref. Primary or less)			
Vocational/Secondary	0.95	0.58	(0.78, 1.15)
College/University	0.78	0.21	(0.53, 1.15)
Employed (ref. no)			
	Combined		
--	----------	---------	---------------
	aOR	p-value	95% CI
Yes	1.03	0.86	(0.73, 1.46)
Birthplace (ref. born elsewhere)	-		
Born in Nairobi or Kiambu Counties	0.95	0.81	(0.64, 1.42)
Self-rated health	0.89	0.08	(0.78, 1.01)
Covered under health scheme or health insurance (ref. No)			
Yes	1.04	0.69	(0.86, 1.26)
Total SPs	0.89	0.50	(0.64, 1.24)
Male partner SP (Ref. No)	1		
Yes	1.23	0.07	(0.98, 1.55)
Mother SP (Ref. No)			
Yes	1.26	0.07	(0.98, 1.63)
Mother-in-law SP (Ref. No)			
Yes	1.39	0.36	(0.68, 2.83)
Father SP (Ref. No)			
Yes	1.75	0.55	(0.27, 11.15)
Sister SP (Ref. No)			
Yes	1.11	0.53	(0.79, 1.57)
Brother SP (Ref. No)			
Yes	1.13	0.77	(0.51, 2.49)
Other family members SP (Ref. No)			
Yes	1.17	0.09	(0.97, 1.42)
Timing of support: Accompanied to facility (Ref. No one accompanied)			
Accompanied	0.79	0.31	(0.50, 1.25)
Timing of support: Labor & Delivery (Ref. No one during L&D)			
Labor & Delivery	1.46*	0.01	(1.10, 1.95)
Timing of support: Postpartum (Ref. No one postpartum)	-		
Postpartum	0.95	0.77	(0.69, 1.31)
Household decision-making (Ref. Does not have say in all decisions)			
Empowered in HH decisions	1.12	0.41	(0.85, 1.47)
Facility type (Ref. Gov't hospital)			
Gov't HC/Disp	1.46**	0.004	(1.13, 1.88)
Private facility	1.02	0.92	(0.73, 1.41)
Total providers assisting delivery	1.45	0.09	(0.95, 2.21)
Selected facility based on quality	1.08	0.63	(0.80, 1.45)
Referred to facility	1.14	0.53	(0.76, 1.72)
Constant	1.10	0.84	(0.43, 2.85)

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 The Friend/Neighbor/Other SP indicator was omitted from models because of collinearity.

Table B2. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and PCMC scores

	PCMC total score		Sub-domains			
	Ν	Coeff.	Dignity &	Communication	Supportive	
		(95% CI)	Respect	& Autonomy	Care	
			Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.	
			(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	
Total PC-ISP score	1,138	3.64**	3.15***	4.39***	3.39**	
(4 items)		(2.39, 4.90)	(2.15, 4.15)	(3.30, 5.48)	(1.63, 5.16)	
Total PC-ISP score	1,138	3.31**	2.91**	3.81***	3.17**	
(5 items)		(2.04, 4.57)	(1.95, 3.88)	(2.67, 4.95)	(1.51, 4.82)	

Hi vs. lo PC-ISP	1,138	7.22**	5.10**	8.93**	7.95**
(4+ vs. <4)		(3.99, 10.46)	(2.75, 7.45)	(5.93, 11.93)	(2.81, 11.29)_

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Full models controlled for age, parity, marital status, education, employment status, birth location, health status, insurance coverage, male partner SP, mother SP, mother-in-law SP, father SP, sister SP, brother SP, friend/neighbor/other SP, accompanied to facility, had SP during labor/delivery, had SP postpartum, household empowerment, number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility.

	Satisfac	Satisfaction total score		
	Ν	Coeff		
		(95% CI)		
Total PC-ISP score (4 items)	1,138	0.28**		
		(0.18, 0.39)		
Total PC-ISP score (5 items)	1,138	0.26***		
		(0.18, 0.33)		
Hi vs. lo PC-ISP (4+ vs. <4)	1,138	0.52*		
		(0.18, 0.85)		

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Controlled for age, parity, marital status, education, employment status, birth location, health status, insurance coverage, total number of SPs, male partner, mother, mother-in-law, father, sister, brother, other family, friend/neighbor/other, accompanied to facility, had SP during labor/delivery, had SP postpartum, household empowerment, number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility, and a fixed effect for each facility.

¹19 women responded N/A to these questions

Table B4. Associations between women's PC-ISP scores and willingness to return to the facility

	Willingness to return	
	N	aOR – Full model
		(95% CI)
Total PC-ISP score (4 items)	965	1.32***
		(1.14, 1.52)
Total PC-ISP score (5 items)	965	1.34***
		(1.20, 1.51)
Hi vs. lo PC-ISP (4+ vs. <4)	965	1.80***
		(1.33, 2.42)

Notes: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Full models adjusted for women's characteristics (age, parity, marital status, education, birth location, employment, health status, insurance coverage), SPs' characteristics (male partner SP, mother SP, mother-in-law SP, father SP, sister SP, brother SP, friend/neighbor/other SP, woman had SP present during labor/delivery, woman had SP visit postpartum), household factors (household empowerment), and facility factors (number of providers assisting delivery, facility type, selected facility because of quality, referred to facility, and a fixed effect for each facility). ¹13 women responded N/A to these questions

Table B5. Associations between women's reported PC-ISP and coverage of key clinical practices

Total key practices	Sub-domains
---------------------	-------------

	Ν	Coeff	Maternal key	Newborn key
		(95% CI)	practices	practices
			Coeff	Coeff
			(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Total PC-ISP score	1,138	1.26***	0.84***	0.42***
(4-item)		(1.13, 1.40)	(0.67, 1.00)	(0.37, 0.48)
Total PC-ISP score (5	1,138	1.14***	0.75***	0.40***
items)		(1.01, 1.27)	(0.56, 0.93)	(0.33, 0.46)
Hi vs. lo PC-ISP (4+	1,138	2.64***	1.82***	0.82***
vs. <4)		(2.11, 3.18)	(1.24, 2.41)	(0.65, 0.98)

References

- Aborigo, R. A., Reidpath, D. D., Oduro, A. R., & Allotey, P. (2018). Male involvement in maternal health: perspectives of opinion leaders. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1641-9
- Abu-Moghli, F. A., Callister, L. C., Mahadeen, A. I., Kaawa, K., Zomot, A. F., & Khalaf, I. A. (2009). Jordanian health care providers' perceptions of post-partum health care. *International Nursing Review*, 56(4), 442–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1466-7657.2009.00733.X
- Abuya, T., Warren, C. E., Miller, N., Njuki, R., Ndwiga, C., Maranga, A., Mbehero, F., Njeru, A., & Bellows, B. (2015). Exploring the Prevalence of Disrespect and Abuse during Childbirth in Kenya. *PLOS ONE*, 10(4), e0123606. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123606
- Adeyemi, A. B., Fatusi, A. O., Phillips, A. S., Olajide, F. O., Awowole, I. O., & Orisawayi, A. O. (2018). Factors associated with the desire for companionship during labor in a Nigerian community. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 141(3), 360–365. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.12471
- Afulani, P. A., Kelly, A. M., Buback, L., Asunka, J., Kirumbi, L., & Lyndon, A. (2020). Providers' perceptions of disrespect and abuse during childbirth: a mixed-methods study in Kenya. *Health Policy and Planning*, 35(5), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1093/HEAPOL/CZAA009
- Afulani, P., Diamond-Smith, N., Golub, G., & Sudhinaraset, M. (2017). Development of a tool to measure person-centered maternity care in developing settings: validation in a rural and urban Kenyan population. *Reproductive Health*, 14(1), 118. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-017-0381-7
- Afulani, P., Kirumbi, L., & Lyndon, A. (2017). What makes or mars the facility-based childbirth experience: Thematic analysis of women's childbirth experiences in western Kenya. *Reproductive Health*, *14*(1), 180. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-017-0446-7
- Afulani, P., Kusi, C., Kirumbi, L., & Walker, D. (2018). Companionship during facility-based childbirth: results from a mixed-methods study with recently delivered women and providers in Kenya. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 150. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-1806-1
- Afulani, P., Phillips, B., Aborigo, R. A., & Moyer, C. A. (2019). Person-centred maternity care in low-income and middle-income countries: analysis of data from Kenya, Ghana, and India. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(1), e96–e109. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30403-0
- Afulani, P., Sayi, T. S., & Montagu, D. (2018). Predictors of person-centered maternity care: The role of socioeconomic status, empowerment, and facility type. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3183-x

- Alexander, A., Mustafa, A., Emil, S. A. v, Amekah, E., Engmann, C., Adanu, R., & Moyer, C.
 A. (2014). Social support during delivery in rural central Ghana: a mixed methods study of women's preferences for and against inclusion of a lay companion in the delivery room. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 46(5), 669–685. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932013000412
- Alio, A. P., Lewis, C. A., Scarborough, K., Harris, K., & Fiscella, K. (2013). A community perspective on the role of fathers during pregnancy: A qualitative study. *BMC Pregnancy* and Childbirth, 13, 60. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-60
- Al-Mandeel, H. M., Almufleh, A. S., Al-Damri, A. J. T., Al-Bassam, D. A., Hajr, E. A., Bedaiwi, N. A., & Alshehri, S. M. (2013). Saudi women's acceptance and attitudes towards companion support during labor: Should we implement an antenatal awareness program? *Annals of Saudi Medicine*, 33(1), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.5144/0256-4947.2013.28
- Ampim, G. A., Blystad, A., Kpoor, A., & Haukanes, H. (2021). "I came to escort someone": Men's experiences of antenatal care services in urban Ghana—a qualitative study. *Reproductive Health*, 18(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12978-021-01152-5/PEER-REVIEW
- Ampim, G. A., Haukenes, H., & Blystad, A. (2020). Making fathers: Masculinities and social change in the Ghanaian context. *Africa Today*, 67(1), 25–47. https://doi.org/10.2979/AFRICATODAY.67.1.03/0
- Ampt, F., Mon, M. M., Than, K. K., Khin, M. M., Agius, P. A., Morgan, C., Davis, J., & Luchters, S. (2015). Correlates of male involvement in maternal and newborn health: A cross-sectional study of men in a peri-urban region of Myanmar. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15(1), 122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-015-0561-9
- Andersen, H. M. (2004). "Villagers": Differential treatment in a Ghanaian hospital. Social Science and Medicine, 59(10 SPEC. ISS.), 2003–2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.03.005
- Andriano, L., Behrman, J., & Monden, C. (2021). Husbands' Dominance in Decision-Making About Women's Health: A Spatial Diffusion Perspective in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Demography*, 58(5), 1955–1975. https://doi.org/10.1215/00703370-9429489
- Arsenault, C., English, M., Gathara, D., Malata, A., Mandala, W., & Kruk, M. E. (2020). Variation in competent and respectful delivery care in Kenya and Malawi: a retrospective analysis of national facility surveys. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 25(4), 442. https://doi.org/10.1111/TMI.13361
- Asefa, A., Morgan, A., Bohren, M. A., & Kermode, M. (2020). Lessons learned through respectful maternity care training and its implementation in Ethiopia: An interventional mixed methods study. *Reproductive Health*, 17(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12978-020-00953-4/TABLES/3
- Aziz Ali, S., Ahmed Dero, A., Aziz Ali, S., & Bano Ali, G. (2018). Factors affecting the utilization of antenatal care among pregnant women: A literature review. *Journal of*

Pregnancy and Neonatal Medicine, 02(02). https://doi.org/10.35841/neonatalmedicine.2.2.41-45

- Bäckström, C., & Hertfelt Wahn, E. (2011). Support during labour: First-time fathers' descriptions of requested and received support during the birth of their child. *Midwifery*, 27(1), 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2009.07.001
- Balde, M. D., Nasiri, K., Mehrtash, H., Soumah, A. M., Bohren, M. A., Diallo, B. A., Irinyenikan, T. A., Maung, T. M., Thwin, S. S., Aderoba, A. K., Vogel, J. P., Mon, N. O., Adu-Bonsaffoh, K., & Tuncalp, Ö. (2020). Labour companionship and women's experiences of mistreatment during childbirth: Results from a multi-country communitybased survey. In *BMJ Global Health* (Vol. 5, Issue Suppl 2). BMJ Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003564
- Banda, G., Kafulafula, G., Nyirenda, E., Taulo, F., & Kalilani, L. (2010). Acceptability and experience of supportive companionship during childbirth in Malawi. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 117(8), 937–945. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02574.x
- Bayo, P., Belaid, L., Tahir, E. O., Ochola, E., Dimiti, A., Greco, D., & Zarowsky, C. (2020).
 "Midwives do not appreciate pregnant women who come to the maternity with torn and dirty clothing": Institutional delivery and postnatal care in Torit County, South Sudan: A mixed method study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 20(250). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-02910-2
- Beake, S., Chang, Y. S., Cheyne, H., Spiby, H., Sandall, J., & Bick, D. (2018). Experiences of early labour management from perspectives of women, labour companions and health professionals: A systematic review of qualitative evidence. *Midwifery*, 57, 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIDW.2017.11.002
- Betron, M. L., McClair, T. L., Currie, S., & Banerjee, J. (2018). Expanding the agenda for addressing mistreatment in maternity care: a mapping review and gender analysis. *Reproductive Health*, 15(1), 143. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-018-0584-6
- Bingham, D., Jones, D. K., & Howell, E. A. (2019). Quality Improvement Approach to Eliminate Disparities in Perinatal Morbidity and Mortality. In *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America* (Vol. 46, Issue 2, pp. 227–238). W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2019.01.006
- Bohren, M. A., Berger, B. O., Munthe-Kaas, H., & Tunçalp, Ö. (2019). Perceptions and experiences of labour companionship: A qualitative evidence synthesis. In *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (Vol. 2019, Issue 3). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012449.pub2
- Bohren, M. A., Hofmeyr, G. J., Sakala, C., Fukuzawa, R. K., & Cuthbert, A. (2017). Continuous support for women during childbirth. In *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (Vol. 2017, Issue 7). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003766.pub6

- Bohren, M. A., Hunter, E. C., Munthe-Kaas, H. M., Souza, J. P., Vogel, J. P., & Gülmezoglu, A. M. (2014). Facilitators and barriers to facility-based delivery in low- and middle-income countries: A qualitative evidence synthesis. In *Reproductive Health* (Vol. 11, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-71
- Bohren, M. A., Mehrtash, H., Fawole, B., Maung, T. M., Balde, M. D., Maya, E., Thwin, S. S., Aderoba, A. K., Vogel, J. P., Irinyenikan, T. A., Adeyanju, A. O., Mon, N. O., Adu-Bonsaffoh, K., Landoulsi, S., Guure, C., Adanu, R., Diallo, B. A., Gülmezoglu, A. M., Soumah, A. M., ... Tunçalp, Ö. (2019). How women are treated during facility-based childbirth in four countries: a cross-sectional study with labour observations and community-based surveys. *The Lancet*, *394*(10210), 1750–1763. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31992-0
- Bohren, M. A., Vogel, J. P., Hunter, E. C., Lutsiv, O., Makh, S. K., Souza, J. P., Aguiar, C., Saraiva Coneglian, F., Diniz, A. L. A., Tunçalp, Ö., Javadi, D., Oladapo, O. T., Khosla, R., Hindin, M. J., & Gülmezoglu, A. M. (2015). The Mistreatment of Women during Childbirth in Health Facilities Globally: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review. *PLoS Medicine*, 12(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001847
- Bohren, M. A., Vogel, J. P., Tunçalp, Ö., Fawole, B., Titiloye, M. A., Olutayo, A. O., Oyeniran, A. A., Ogunlade, M., Metiboba, L., Osunsan, O. R., Idris, H. A., Alu, F. E., Oladapo, O. T., Gülmezoglu, A. M., & Hindin, M. J. (2016). "By slapping their laps, the patient will know that you truly care for her": A qualitative study on social norms and acceptability of the mistreatment of women during childbirth in Abuja, Nigeria. SSM - Population Health, 2, 640–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.07.003
- Bondas-Salonen, T. (1998). How Women Experience the Presence of their Partners at the Births of their Babies. *Qualitative Health Research*, 8(6), 784–800. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973239800800605
- Bowser, D., & Hill, K. (2010). Exploring Evidence for Disrespect and Abuse in Facility-Based Childbirth Report of a Landscape Analysis.
- Boyce, P., Condon, J., Barton, J., & Corkindale, C. (2007). First-Time Fathers' study: Psychological distress in expectant fathers during pregnancy. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 41(9), 718–725. https://doi.org/10.1080/00048670701517959
- Bradley, S., McCourt, C., Rayment, J., & Parmar, D. (2016a). Disrespectful intrapartum care during facility-based delivery in sub-Saharan Africa: A qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis of women's perceptions and experiences. In *Social Science and Medicine* (Vol. 169, pp. 157–170). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.09.039
- Bradley, S., McCourt, C., Rayment, J., & Parmar, D. (2016b). Disrespectful intrapartum care during facility-based delivery in sub-Saharan Africa: A qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis of women's perceptions and experiences. *Social Science & Medicine*, 169, 157–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOCSCIMED.2016.09.039

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Recent advances in research on the ecology of human development. In *Development as Action in Context* (pp. 287–309). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-02475-1_15
- Bruggemann, O. M., Ebsen, E. S., de Oliveria, M. E., Gorayeb, M. K., & Ebele, R. R. (2014). Reasons which lead the health services not to allow the presence of the birth companion: nurses' discourses. *Texto & Contexto - Enfermagem*, 23(2).
- Brüggemann, O. M., Osis, M. J. D., & Parpinelli, M. A. (2007). Support during childbirth: Perception of health care providers and companions chosen by women. *Revista de Saude Publica*, 41(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-89102007000100007
- Buback, L., Kinyua, J., Akinyi, B., Walker, D., & Afulani, P. A. (2021). Provider perceptions of lack of supportive care during childbirth: A mixed methods study in Kenya. *Health Care for Women International*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2021.1961776
- Burman, M. E., Robinson, B., & Hart, A. M. (2013). Linking evidence-based nursing practice and patient-centered care through patient preferences. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, *37*(3), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1097/NAQ.0b013e318295ed6b
- Byrne, A., Caulfield, T., Onyo, P., Nyagero, J., Morgan, A., Nduba, J., & Kermode, M. (2016). Community and provider perceptions of traditional and skilled birth attendants providing maternal health care for pastoralist communities in Kenya: A qualitative study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 16(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-016-0828-9/TABLES/2
- Calhoun, L. M., Speizer, I. S., Guilkey, D., & Bukusi, E. (2018). The Effect of the Removal of User Fees for Delivery at Public Health Facilities on Institutional Delivery in Urban Kenya. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 22(3), 409. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10995-017-2408-7
- Campero, L., García, C., Díaz, C., Ortiz, O., Reynoso, S., & Langer, A. (1998). "Alone, I wouldn't have known what to do": A qualitative study on social support during labor and delivery in Mexico. *Social Science and Medicine*, 47(3), 395–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00077-X
- Chalmers, B., & Wolman, W. (1993). Social support in labor a selective review. In *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology* (Vol. 14, Issue 1, pp. 1–15). Informa Healthcare. https://doi.org/10.3109/01674829309084426
- Charton-Bigot, H., & Rodriguez-Torres, Deyssi. (2010). *Nairobi today: the paradox of a fragmented city*. Mkuki na Nyota Publishers.
- Cho, Y., Robalino, D., & Watson, S. (2016). Supporting self-employment and small-scale entrepreneurship: potential programs to improve livelihoods for vulnerable workers. *IZA Journal of Labor Policy*, 5(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40173-016-0060-2/TABLES/4

- Cogan, R., & Spinnato, J. A. (2009). Social support during premature labor: effects on labor and the newborn. https://doi.org/10.3109/01674828809016789
- Cook, K., & Loomis, C. (2012). The Impact of Choice and Control on Women's Childbirth Experiences. *The Journal of Perinatal Education*, 21(3), 158–168. https://doi.org/10.1891/1058-1243.21.3.158
- Dagnaw, F. T., Tiruneh, S. A., Azanaw, M. M., Desale, A. T., & Engdaw, M. T. (2020). Determinants of person-centered maternity care at the selected health facilities of Dessie town, Northeastern, Ethiopia: Community-based cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy* and Childbirth, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-020-03221-2/TABLES/6
- Darling, N. (2007). Ecological Systems Theory: The person in the center of the circles. *Research in Human Development*, *4*, 203–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427600701663023
- Day, L. T., Sadeq-ur Rahman, Q., Ehsanur Rahman, A., Salim, N., KC, A., Ruysen, H., Tahsina, T., Masanja, H., Basnet, O., Gore-Langton, G. R., Zaman, S. bin, Shabani, J., Jha, A. K., Gordeev, V. S., Ameen, S., Shamba, D., Jha, B., Boggs, D., Hossain, T., ... KC, N. P. (2021). Assessment of the validity of the measurement of newborn and maternal health-care coverage in hospitals (EN-BIRTH): an observational study. *The Lancet Global Health*, 9(3), e267–e279. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30504-0
- De Vaus, D. A. (1995). Surveys In Social Research (4th ed.). Routledge.
- Deave, T., & Johnson, D. (2008). The transition to parenthood: What does it mean for fathers? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 63(6), 626–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04748.x
- DeVellis, R. F. (2017). *Scale Development: Theory and Applications* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications Inc. https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/scale-development/book246123
- Diamond-Smith, N., Sudhinaraset, M., Melo, J., & Murthy, N. (2016). The relationship between women's experiences of mistreatment at facilities during childbirth, types of support received and person providing the support in Lucknow, India. *Midwifery*, 40, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2016.06.014
- Diamond-Smith, N., Sudhinaraset, M., & Montagu, D. (2016). Clinical and perceived quality of care for maternal, neonatal and antenatal care in Kenya and Namibia: The service provision assessment. *Reproductive Health*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-016-0208-y
- Dim, C. C., Ikeme, A. C., Ezegwui, H. U., & Nwagha, U. I. (2011). Labor support: An overlooked maternal health need in Enugu, south-eastern Nigeria. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 24(3), 471–474. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2010.501121
- Downe, S., Finlayson, K., Tunçalp, & Metin Gülmezoglu, A. (2016). What matters to women: a systematic scoping review to identify the processes and outcomes of antenatal care

provision that are important to healthy pregnant women. *BJOG : An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 123(4), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13819

- Dudgeon, M. R., & Inhorn, M. C. (2004). Men's influences on women's reproductive health: Medical anthropological perspectives. *Social Science and Medicine*, 59(7), 1379–1395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.11.035
- Dunne, C. L., Fraser, J., & Gardner, G. E. (2014). Women's perceptions of social support during labour: Development, reliability and validity of the Birth Companion Support Questionnaire. *Midwifery*, 30(7), 847–852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2013.10.010
- Elwyn, G., Frosch, D., Thomson, R., Joseph-Williams, N., Lloyd, A., Kinnersley, P., Cording, E., Tomson, D., Dodd, C., Rollnick, S., Edwards, A., & Barry, M. (2012). Shared decision making: A model for clinical practice. In *Journal of General Internal Medicine* (Vol. 27, Issue 10, pp. 1361–1367). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-012-2077-6
- Elwyn, G., Nelson, E., Hager, A., & Price, A. (2020). Coproduction: when users define quality. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 29, 711–716. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2019-009830
- Escamilla, V., Calhoun, L., Winston, J., & Speizer, I. S. (2018). The Role of Distance and Quality on Facility Selection for Maternal and Child Health Services in Urban Kenya. *Journal of Urban Health*, *95*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-017-0212-8
- Ese, A., & Ese, K. (2020). The City Makers of Nairobi : An African Urban History. *The City Makers of Nairobi*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003018162
- Essex, H. N., & Pickett, K. E. (2008). Mothers without companionship during childbirth: An analysis within the millennium cohort study. *Birth*, *35*(4), 266–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-536X.2008.00253.x
- Federenko, I. S., & Wadhwa, P. D. (2004). Women's mental health during pregnancy influences fetal and infant developmental and health outcomes. In *CNS Spectrums* (Vol. 9, Issue 3, pp. 198–206). MBL Communications. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852900008993
- Felarmine, M., Joachim, O., & Agina, O. (2016). Facility factors influencing utilization of active management of third stage of labour among skilled birth attendants in Kiambu county, Kenya. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 25(Suppl 2), 11. https://doi.org/10.11604/PAMJ.SUPP.2016.25.2.9705
- Fenwick, J., Bayes, S., & Johansson, M. (2012). A qualitative investigation into the pregnancy experiences and childbirth expectations of Australian fathers-to-be. *Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare*, 3(1), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2011.11.001
- Fotso, J. C., Ezeh, A., & Oronje, R. (2008). Provision and use of maternal health services among urban poor women in Kenya: What do we know and what can we do? *Journal of Urban Health*, 85(3), 428–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-008-9263-1

- Gadappa, S. N., & Deshpande, S. S. (2021). A Quasi-Experimental Study to Compare the Effect of Respectful Maternity Care Using Intrapartum Birth Companion of Her Choice on Maternal and Newborn Outcome in Tertiary Care Centre. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology of India*, 71(2), 84–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13224-021-01587-7/TABLES/3
- Gage, A. J. (2007). Barriers to the utilization of maternal health care in rural Mali. *Social Science and Medicine*, 65(8), 1666–1682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.06.001
- Galle, A., Plaieser, G., Van Steenstraeten, T., Griffin, S., Osman, N. B., Roelens, K., & Degomme, O. (2021). Systematic review of the concept 'male involvement in maternal health' by natural language processing and descriptive analysis. *BMJ Global Health*, 6(4), e004909. https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJGH-2020-004909
- Ganle, J. K., Dery, I., Manu, A. A., & Obeng, B. (2016). 'If I go with him, I can't talk with other women': Understanding women's resistance to, and acceptance of, men's involvement in maternal and child healthcare in northern Ghana. *Social Science & Medicine*, 166, 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.08.030
- Gaudino, J. A., Jenkins, B., & Rochat, R. W. (1999). No fathers' names: a risk factor for infant mortality in the State of Georgia, USA. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 48(2), 253–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(98)00342-6
- Giessler, K., Seefeld, A., Montagu, D., Phillips, B., Mwangi, J., Munson, M., Green, C., Opot, J., & Golub, G. (2020). Perspectives on implementing a quality improvement collaborative to improve person-centered care for maternal and reproductive health in Kenya. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 32(10), 671. https://doi.org/10.1093/INTQHC/MZAA130
- Gitaka, J., Natecho, A., Mwambeo, H. M., Gatungu, D. M., Githanga, D., & Abuya, T. (2018). Evaluating quality neonatal care, call Centre service, tele-health and community engagement in reducing newborn morbidity and mortality in Bungoma county, Kenya. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12913-018-3293-5/FIGURES/1
- Gitobu, C. M., Gichangi, P. B., & Mwanda, W. O. (2018). The effect of Kenya's free maternal health care policy on the utilization of health facility delivery services and maternal and neonatal mortality in public health facilities. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-1708-2
- Gjerdingen, D. K., Froberg, D. G., & Fontaine, P. (1991). The effects of social support on women's health during pregnancy, labor and delivery, and the postpartum period. *Family Medicine*, 23(5), 370–375.
- Godia, P. M., Mgamb, E., Maua, J., Okoro, D., Smith, H., Mathai, M., & van den Broek, N. (2017). First Confidential Report into Maternal Deaths in Kenya Citation: Ministry of Health Kenya 2017: Saving Mothers Lives.

- Gupta, M. L., Aborigo, R. A., Adongo, P. B., Rominski, S., Hodgson, A., Engmann, C. M., & Moyer, C. A. (2015). Grandmothers as gatekeepers? The role of grandmothers in influencing health-seeking for mothers and newborns in rural northern Ghana. *Global Public Health*, 10(9), 1078–1091. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2014.1002413
- He, H. G., Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., Qian, X. F., Sapountzi-Krepia, D., Gong, Y., & Wang, W. (2015). Fathers' feelings related to their partners' childbirth and views on their presence during labour and childbirth: A descriptive quantitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 21(S2), 71–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12339
- Helfinstein, S., Jain, M., Ramesh, B. M., Blanchard, J., Kemp, H., Gothalwal, V., Namasivayam, V., Kumar, P., & Sgaier, S. K. (2020). Facilities are substantially more influential than care providers in the quality of delivery care received: a variance decomposition and clustering analysis in Kenya, Malawi and India. *BMJ Global Health*, 5(8). https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJGH-2020-002437
- Hetherington, E., Doktorchik, C., Premji, S. S., McDonald, S. W., Tough, S. C., & Sauve, R. S. (2015). Preterm Birth and Social Support during Pregnancy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 29(6), 523–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12225
- Hodnett, E. D. (2002). Pain and women's satisfaction with the experience of childbirth: A systematic review. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *186*(5 SUPPL.). https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2002.121141
- Hodnett, E. D., Gates, S., Hofmeyr, G. J., & Sakala, C. (2012). Continuous support for women during childbirth. In *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd003766.pub4
- Horstman, H. K., Anderson, J., & Kuehl, R. A. (2017). Communicatively Making Sense of Doulas within the U.S. Master Birth Narrative: Doulas as Liminal Characters. *Health Communication*, 32(12), 1510–1519. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1234537
- Ibitoye, O. F., & Phetlhu, D. R. (2018). Women and Continuous Labour Support in Public Health Facilities in Nigeria. *Africa Journal of Nursing and Midwifery*, 20(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.25159/2520-5293/4036
- IHME. (2014). Health Service Provision in Kenya: Assessing Facility Capacity, Costs of Care, and Patient Perspectives. https://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/policy_report/2015/ABCE_Kenya_finalr eport_Jan2015.pdf
- Independent Expert Review Group (iERG). (2013). Every woman, every child: Strengthening equity and dignity through health.
- Institute of Medicine (US). (2001). Crossing the Quality Chasm: A new health system for the 21st Century. In *Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century*. National Academies Press (US).

- Jenkins, M. G., Ford, J. B., Morris, J. M., & Roberts, C. L. (2014). Women's expectations and experiences of maternity care in NSW--what women highlight as most important. *Women* and Birth : Journal of the Australian College of Midwives, 27(3), 214–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WOMBI.2014.03.002
- Jennings, L., Na, M., Cherewick, M., Hindin, M., Mullany, B., & Ahmed, S. (2014). Women's empowerment and male involvement in antenatal care: analyses of Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) in selected African countries. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14(1), 297. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-297
- Jewkes, R., Abrahams, N., & Mvo, Z. (1998). Why do nurses abuse patients? Reflections from South African obstetric services. *Social Science and Medicine*, 47(11), 1781–1795. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00240-8
- Jewkes, R., & Penn-Kekana, L. (2015). Mistreatment of Women in Childbirth: Time for Action on This Important Dimension of Violence against Women. *PLoS Medicine*, 12(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001849
- Jolly, Y., Aminu, M., Mgawadere, F., & van den Broek, N. (2019). "We are the ones who should make the decision" - Knowledge and understanding of the rights-based approach to maternity care among women and healthcare providers. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2189-7
- Kabakian-Khasholian, T., Bashour, H., El-Nemer, A., Kharouf, M., Elsheikh, O., Sheikha, S., Saleh, S., Jaffa, M., Barazi, R., el Lakany, N., Barakat, R., Nameh, N., Chahine, R., & Portela, A. (2018). Implementation of a labour companionship model in three public hospitals in Arab middle-income countries. *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics*, 107, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.14540
- Kabakian-Khasholian, T., & Portela, A. (2017). Companion of choice at birth: Factors affecting implementation. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 17(1), 265. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1447-9
- Kassebaum, N. J., Barber, R. M., Dandona, L., Hay, S. I., Larson, H. J., Lim, S. S., Lopez, A. D., Mokdad, A. H., Naghavi, M., Pinho, C., Steiner, C., Vos, T., Wang, H., Achoki, T., Anderson, G. M., Arora, M., Biryukov, S., Blore, J. D., Carter, A., ... Zuhlke, L. J. (2016). Global, regional, and national levels of maternal mortality, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet*, 388(10053), 1775–1812. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31470-2/ATTACHMENT/9A2F2321-82F0-430F-B73A-2DD4424ABD60/MMC1.PDF
- Kaye, D. K., Kakaire, O., Nakimuli, A., Osinde, M. O., Mbalinda, S. N., & Kakande, N. (2014). Male involvement during pregnancy and childbirth: men's perceptions, practices and experiences during the care for women who developed childbirth complications in Mulago Hospital, Uganda. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14(1), 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-54

- Keats, E. C., Ngugi, A., Macharia, W., Akseer, N., Khaemba, E. N., Bhatti, Z., Rizvi, A., Tole, J., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2017). Progress and priorities for reproductive, maternal, newborn, and child health in Kenya: a Countdown to 2015 country case study. *The Lancet Global Health*, 5(8), e782–e795. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30246-2
- Keirse, M., Enkin, M., & Lumley, J. (1989). Social and professional support during childbirth. In I. Chalmers, M. Enkin, & M. Keirse (Eds.), *Effective care in pregnancy and childbirth* (Vol. 2, pp. 805–814). Oxford University Press. http://hdl.handle.net/2027/mdp.39015015306999
- Kennell, J., Klaus, M., Mcgrath, S., Robertson, S., & Hinkley, C. (1991). Continuous Emotional Support During Labor in a US Hospital: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 265(17), 2197–2201. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1991.03460170051032
- Kenya, M. of H. (2013). Speech by H.E. Hon. Uhuru Kenyatta, C.G.H., President and Commander-in-Chief of the Defence Forces of the Republic of Kenya During the Madaraka Day Celebrations.
- Kenya Ministry of Devolution and Planning. (2017). *Implementation of the agenda for sustainable development in Kenya*.
- Kenya Ministry of Health. (2011). Comprehensive National Health Policy Framework.
- Kenya Ministry of Health. (2013). Community Health Volunteers (CHV) Basic Modules Handbook. Division of Community Health Services. http://guidelines.health.go.ke:8000/media/CHV handbook PDF-F.pdf
- Kenya Ministry of Health. (2020). *Kenya Community Health Strategy 2020-2025*. https://www.health.go.ke/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Kenya-Community-Health-Strategy-Final-Signed-off_2020-25.pdf
- Kenya Ministry of Health. (2021, May 26). *Health Principal Secretary call joint stakeholder efforts to end fistula – MINISTRY OF HEALTH*. Press Releases. https://www.health.go.ke/health-principal-secretary-call-joint-stakeholder-efforts-to-end-fistula/
- Kenya Ministry of Health. (2022). *Kenya Master Health Facility List: Find all the health facilities in Kenya*. http://kmhfl.health.go.ke/#/home
- Khan, K. S., Wojdyla, D., Say, L., Gülmezoglu, A. M., & van Look, P. F. (2006). WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. *Lancet*, 367(9516), 1066–1074. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68397-9
- Kigenyi, O., Tefera, G. B., Nabiwemba, E., & Orach, C. G. (2013). Quality of intrapartum care at Mulago national referral hospital, Uganda: Clients' perspective. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *13*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-162/TABLES/4

- Kishor, S., & Lekha, S. (2008). Understanding Women's Empowerment: A Comparative Analysis of Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) Data. DHS Comparative Reports No. 20. www.measuredhs.com
- Kiti, G., Prata, N., & Afulani, P. A. (2022). Continuous Labor Support and Person-Centered Maternity Care: A Cross-Sectional Study with Women in Rural Kenya. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 26(1), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10995-021-03259-4
- Kozhimannil, K. B., Vogelsang, C. A., Hardeman, R. R., & Prasad, S. (2016). Disrupting the Pathways of Social Determinants of Health: Doula Support during Pregnancy and Childbirth. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 29(3), 308–317. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2016.03.150300
- Kruk, M. E., & Freedman, L. P. (2008). Assessing health system performance in developing countries: A review of the literature. In *Health Policy* (Vol. 85, Issue 3, pp. 263–276). Health Policy. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2007.09.003
- Kujawski, S., Mbaruku, G., Freedman, L. P., Ramsey, K., Moyo, W., & Kruk, M. E. (2015). Association Between Disrespect and Abuse During Childbirth and Women's Confidence in Health Facilities in Tanzania. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 19(10), 2243–2250. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10995-015-1743-9/TABLES/2
- Kululanga, L. I., Malata, A., Chirwa, E., & Sundby, J. (2012). Malawian fathers' views and experiences of attending the birth of their children: a qualitative study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *12*(1), 141. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-12-141
- Kumbani, L. C., Chirwa, E., Malata, A., Odland, J. Ø., & Bjune, G. (2012). Do Malawian women critically assess the quality of care? A qualitative study on women's perceptions of perinatal care at a district hospital in Malawi. *Reproductive Health*, 9(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-9-30/TABLES/3
- Kwambai, T. K., Dellicour, S., Desai, M., Ameh, C. A., Person, B., Achieng, F., Mason, L., Laserson, K. F., & ter Kuile, F. O. (2013). Perspectives of men on antenatal and delivery care service utilisation in rural western Kenya: A qualitative study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-134
- Labrague, L. J., Cariño, J. R., Student, B., Catap, R. C., Naizza, M., & Uy, B. (2013). Exploring First-Time Fathers' Feelings and Experiences during Labor-Delivery of their Partner/Wife. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 6(2), 217–226. www.internationaljournalofcaringsciences.org
- Langer, A., Campero, L., Garcia, C., & Reynoso, S. (1998). Effects of psychosocial support during labour and childbirth on breastfeeding, medical interventions, and mothers' wellbeing in a Mexican public hospital: A randomised clinical trial. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 105(10), 1056–1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1998.tb09936.x

- Lawton, J., Snowdon, C., Morrow, S., Norman, J. E., Denison, F. C., & Hallowell, N. (2016). Recruiting and consenting into a peripartum trial in an emergency setting: A qualitative study of the experiences and views of women and healthcare professionals. *Trials*, 17(1), 195. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1323-3
- Leahy-Warren, P. (2018). Social Support for New Mothers. In *Nursing Concept Analysis*. Springer Publishing Company. https://doi.org/10.1891/9780826126825.0027
- Leahy-Warren, P., Newham, J., & Alderdice, F. (2018). Perinatal social support: panacea or a pitfall. In *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology* (Vol. 36, Issue 3, pp. 219–221). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646838.2018.1477242
- Longworth, H. L., & Kingdon, C. K. (2011). Fathers in the birth room: What are they expecting and experiencing? A phenomenological study. *Midwifery*, 27(5), 588–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2010.06.013
- Longworth, M. K., Furber, C., & Kirk, S. (2015). A narrative review of fathers' involvement during labour and birth and their influence on decision making. In *Midwifery* (Vol. 31, Issue 9, pp. 844–857). Churchill Livingstone. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2015.06.004
- Lunda, P., Minnie, C. S., & Benadé, P. (2018). Women's experiences of continuous support during childbirth: A meta-synthesis. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 167. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-1755-8
- Madi, B. C., Sandall, J., Bennett, R., & MacLeod, C. (1999). Effects of female relative support in labor: a randomized controlled trial.[Erratum appears in Birth 1999 Jun;26(2):137]. *Birth*, 26(1), 4–8.
- Maimbolwa, M. C., Sikazwe, N., Yamba, B., Diwan, V., & Ransjö-Arvidson, A. B. (2001). Views on involving a social support person during labor in Zambian maternities. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 46(4), 226–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1526-9523(01)00134-9
- Masaba, B. B., & Mmusi-Phetoe, R. M. (2020). Neonatal Survival in Sub-Sahara: A Review of Kenya and South Africa. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, 13, 709. https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S260058
- McCarthy, K. J., Blanc, A. K., Warren, C. E., & Mdawida, B. (2018). Women's recall of maternal and newborn interventions received in the postnatal period: a validity study in Kenya and Swaziland. *Journal of Global Health*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.7189/JOGH.08.010605
- McLellan, J., & Laidlaw, A. (2013). Perceptions of postnatal care: Factors associated with primiparous mothers perceptions of postnatal communication and care. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *13*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-227/FIGURES/3
- McMahon, S. A., George, A. S., Chebet, J. J., Mosha, I. H., Mpembeni, R. N., & Winch, P. J. (2014). Experiences of and responses to disrespectful maternity care and abuse during

childbirth; a qualitative study with women and men in Morogoro Region, Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14(1), 268. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-268

- McMahon, S. A., Mohan, D., LeFevre, A. E., Mosha, I., Mpembeni, R., Chase, R. P., Baqui, A. H., & Winch, P. J. (2015). "You should go so that others can come" the role of facilities in determining an early departure after childbirth in Morogoro Region, Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-015-0763-1/TABLES/3
- Melese, T., Gebrehiwot, Y., Bisetegne, D., & Habte, D. (2014). Assessment of client satisfaction in labor and delivery services at a maternity referral hospital in Ethiopia. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 17. https://doi.org/10.11604/PAMJ.2014.17.76.3189
- Mgawadere, F., Smith, H., Asfaw, A., Lambert, J., & Broek, N. van den. (2019). "There is no time for knowing each other": Quality of care during childbirth in a low resource setting. *Midwifery*, 75, 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2019.04.006
- Miedema, S. S., Haardörfer, R., Girard, A. W., & Yount, K. M. (2018). Women's empowerment in East Africa: Development of a cross-country comparable measure. *World Development*, 110, 453–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WORLDDEV.2018.05.031
- Miller, S., & Lalonde, A. (2015). The global epidemic of abuse and disrespect during childbirth: History, evidence, interventions, and FIGO's mother–baby friendly birthing facilities initiative. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 131, S49–S52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.02.005
- Ministry of Health. (2016). Kenya reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health (RMNCAH) investment framework.
- Mochache, V., Irungu, E., El-Busaidy, H., Temmerman, M., & Gichangi, P. (2018). "Our voices matter": A before-after assessment of the effect of a community-participatory intervention to promote uptake of maternal and child health services in Kwale, Kenya 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1117 Public Health and Health Services. *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12913-018-3739-9/TABLES/4
- Montagu, D., Giessler, K., Nakphong, M. K., Roy, K. P., Sahu, A. B., Sharma, K., Green, C., & Sudhinaraset, M. (2020). Results of a person-centered maternal health quality improvement intervention in Uttar Pradesh, India. *PLoS ONE*, 15(12 December). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0242909
- Moyer, C. A., Adongo, P. B., Aborigo, R. A., Hodgson, A., Engmann, C. M., & Devries, R. (2014). "It's up to the woman's people": How social factors influence facility-based delivery in Rural Northern Ghana. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 18(1), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-013-1240-y
- Moyer, C. A., McNally, B., Aborigo, R. A., Williams, J. E. O., & Afulani, P. (2021). Providing respectful maternity care in northern Ghana: A mixed-methods study with maternity care providers. *Midwifery*, 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIDW.2020.102904

- Mullany, B. C. (2006). Barriers to and attitudes towards promoting husbands' involvement in maternal health in Katmandu, Nepal. Social Science and Medicine, 62(11), 2798–2809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.013
- Mullany, B. C., Becker, S., & Hindin, M. J. (2007). The impact of including husbands in antenatal health education services on maternal health practices in urban Nepal: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Health Education Research*, *22*(2), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cy1060
- Mullany, B. C., Hindin, M. J., & Becker, S. (2005). Can women's autonomy impede male involvement in pregnancy health in Katmandu, Nepal? *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 61(9), 1993–2006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.04.006
- Munkhondya, B. M. J., Munkhondya, T. E., Chirwa, E., & Wang, H. (2020). Efficacy of companion-integrated childbirth preparation for childbirth fear, self-efficacy, and maternal support in primigravid women in Malawi. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 20(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2717-5
- Murphy, G. A. V., Gathara, D., Abuya, N., Mwachiro, J., Ochola, S., Ayisi, R., & English, M. (2018). What capacity exists to provide essential inpatient care to small and sick newborns in a high mortality urban setting? A cross-sectional study in Nairobi City County, Kenya. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(4), e0196585. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0196585
- Murphy, G. A. V., Gathara, D., Aluvaala, J., Mwachiro, J., Abuya, N., Ouma, P., Snow, R. W., & English, M. (2016). Nairobi Newborn Study: a protocol for an observational study to estimate the gaps in provision and quality of inpatient newborn care in Nairobi City County, Kenya. *BMJ Open*, 6(12), e012448. https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJOPEN-2016-012448
- Nakphong, M. K., Sacks, E., Opot, J., & Sudhinaraset, M. (2021). Association between newborn separation, maternal consent and health outcomes: findings from a longitudinal survey in Kenya. *BMJ Open*, 11(9). https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJOPEN-2020-045907
- National Bureau of Statistics Nairobi, K. (2015). *Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2014*. www.DHSprogram.com.
- Nieuwenhuijze, M. J., Korstjens, I., de Jonge, A., de Vries, R., & Lagro-Janssen, A. (2014). On speaking terms: A Delphi study on shared decision-making in maternity care. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-223
- Njoroge, P. K., Audo, M. O., Ferguson, A., & Njoroge, P. (2005). Quality of health care and its effects in the utilisation of maternal and child health services in Kenya. *East African Medical Journal*, 82(11).
- Ochieng, C. A., & Odhiambo, A. S. (2019). Barriers to formal health care seeking during pregnancy, childbirth and postnatal period: a qualitative study in Siaya County in rural Kenya. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1), 339. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2485-2

Odent, M. (1984). Birth Reborn. Pantheon.

- Odiase, O., Akinyi, B., Kinyua, J., & Afulani, P. (2021). Community Perceptions of Person-Centered Maternity Care in Migori County, Kenya. *Frontiers in Global Women's Health*, 2, 668405. https://doi.org/10.3389/FGWH.2021.668405
- Okumu, C., & Oyugi, B. (2018). Clients' satisfaction with quality of childbirth services: A comparative study between public and private facilities in Limuru Sub-County, Kiambu, Kenya. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(3), e0193593. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0193593
- Oluoch-Aridi, J., Afulani, P. A., Guzman, D. B., Makanga, C., & Miller-Graff, L. (2021). Exploring women's childbirth experiences and perceptions of delivery care in peri-urban settings in Nairobi, Kenya. *Reproductive Health*, 18(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12978-021-01129-4/TABLES/2
- Oluoch-Aridi, J., Afulani, P., Makanga, C., Guzman, D., & Miller-Graff, L. (2021). Examining person-centered maternity care in a peri-urban setting in Embakasi, Nairobi, Kenya. *PLoS* ONE, 16(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0257542
- Ono, M., Matsuyama, A., Karama, M., & Honda, S. (2013). Association between social support and place of delivery: A cross-sectional study in Kericho, Western Kenya. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-214
- Onyango-Ouma, W., Thiong'o, F. W., Odero, T. M., & Ouma, J. H. (2001). Introduction The health system in Kenya The Health Workers for Change impact study in Kenya. *Health Policy and Planning*, *16*, 33–39. https://academic.oup.com/heapol/article/16/suppl 1/33/651329
- Owiti, A., Oyugi, J., & Essink, D. (2018). Utilization of Kenya's free maternal health services among women living in Kibera slums: A cross-sectional study. *Pan African Medical Journal*, 30. https://doi.org/10.11604/pamj.2018.30.86.15151
- Owuor, H., & Amolo, A. S. (2019). Interrupted time series analysis of free maternity services policy in Nyamira County, Western Kenya. *PloS One*, 14(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0216158
- Oyugi, B., Kioko, U., Kaboro, S. M., Okumu, C., Ogola-Munene, S., Kalsi, S., Thiani, S., Gikonyo, S., Korir, J., Baltazar, B., & Ranji, M. (2018). A facility-based study of women' satisfaction and perceived quality of reproductive and maternal health services in the Kenya output-based approach voucher program. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-018-1940-9
- Partnership for Maternal Health, N. and C. H. (PMNCH). (2011). Essential Interventions, Commodities and Guidelines for Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn and Child Health. In *WHO*. World Health Organization.
- Paudel, Y. R., Mehata, S., Paudel, D., Dariang, M., Aryal, K. K., Poudel, P., King, S., & Barnett, S. (2015). Women's Satisfaction of Maternity Care in Nepal and Its Correlation with

Intended Future Utilization. *International Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, 2015, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/783050

- Porrett, L., Barkla, S., Knights, J., de Costa, C., & Harmen, S. (2013). An Exploration of the Perceptions of Male Partners Involved in the Birthing Experience at a Regional Australian Hospital. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 58(1), 92–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-2011.2012.00238.x
- Qian, X., Smith, H., Zhou, L., Liang, J., & Garner, P. (2001). Evidence-based obstetrics in four hospitals in China: An observational study to explore clinical practice, women's preferences and provider's views. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 1(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-1-1
- Rapley, T. (2008). Distributed decision making: The anatomy of decisions-in-action. *Sociology* of Health and Illness, 30(3), 429–444. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2007.01064.x
- Rishard, M., Fahmy, F. F., Senanayake, H., Ranaweera, A. K. P., Armocida, B., Mariani, I., & Lazzerini, M. (2021). Correlation among experience of person-centered maternity care, provision of care and women's satisfaction: Cross sectional study in Colombo, Sri Lanka. *PLOS ONE*, 16(4), e0249265. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0249265
- Riviello, E. D., Letchford, S., Achieng, L., & Newton, M. W. (2011). Critical care in resourcepoor settings: Lessons learned and future directions. *Critical Care Medicine*, 39(4), 860– 867. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.0B013E318206D6D5
- Rominski, S. D., Lori, J., Nakua, E., Dzomeku, V., & Moyer, C. A. (2017). When the baby remains there for a long time, it is going to die so you have to hit her small for the baby to come out: Justification of disrespectful and abusive care during childbirth among midwifery students in Ghana. *Health Policy and Planning*, 32(2), 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czw114
- Rousseeuw, P. J., Leroy, A. M., & Wiley, J. (1987). *Robust Regression and Outlier Detection*. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471725382
- Sacks, E., & Kinney, M. v. (2015). Respectful maternal and newborn care: Building a common agenda. In *Reproductive Health* (Vol. 12, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-015-0042-7
- Sadler, M., Santos, M. J., Ruiz-Berdún, D., Rojas, G. L., Skoko, E., Gillen, P., & Clausen, J. A. (2016). Moving beyond disrespect and abuse: addressing the structural dimensions of obstetric violence. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 24(47), 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhm.2016.04.002
- Salarvand, S., Mousavi, M. S., Esmaeilbeigy, D., Changaee, F., & Almasian, M. (2020). The Perceived Health Needs of Primiparous Mothers Referring to Primary Health Care Centers: A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 12, 745. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S258446

- Sapkota, S., Kobayashi, T., & Takase, M. (2013). Impact on perceived postnatal support, maternal anxiety and symptoms of depression in new mothers in Nepal when their husbands provide continuous support during labour. *Midwifery*, 29(11), 1264–1271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2012.11.010
- Sapountzi-Krepia, D., Raftopoulos, V., Psychogiou, M., Tzavelas, G., & Vehvilainen-Julkunen, K. (2009). Test-retest reliability of the Kuopio instrument for fathers (KIF): a questionnaire to assess fathers' feelings, experiences and preparation for their wife/partner's delivery. *Midwifery*, 25(4), 366–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2007.06.003
- Schmitt, N. (1996). Psychological Assessment Uses and Abuses of Coefficient Alpha. *Psychological Assessment*, 8(4), 350–353.
- Seidler, Y., Mosor, E., & Stamm, T. (2019). "No one to consult! That is the hardest part" choicemaking experiences for prenatal screening tests among Japanese women and their spouses in Austria - A qualitative interview study. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 102(12), 2286–2295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.07.014
- Sen, G., Reddy, B., & Iyer, A. (2018). Beyond measurement: the drivers of disrespect and abuse in obstetric care. In *Reproductive Health Matters* (Vol. 26, Issue 53, pp. 6–18). Taylor and Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1080/09688080.2018.1508173
- Shakibazadeh, E., Namadian, M., Bohren, M. A., Vogel, J. P., Rashidian, A., Nogueira Pileggi, V., Madeira, S., Leathersich, S., Tunçalp, Oladapo, O. T., Souza, J. P., & Gülmezoglu, A. M. (2018). Respectful care during childbirth in health facilities globally: a qualitative evidence synthesis. In *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* (Vol. 125, Issue 8, pp. 932–942). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15015
- Sharma, J., Leslie, H. H., Kundu, F., & Kruk, M. E. (2017). Poor quality for poor women? Inequities in the quality of antenatal and delivery care in Kenya. *PLoS ONE*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171236
- Simmonds, D. M., West, L., Porter, J., Davies, M., Holland, C., Preston-Thomas, A., O'Rourke, P. K., & Tangey, A. (2012). The role of support person for Ngaanyatjarra women during pregnancy and birth. *Women and Birth*, 25(2), 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2010.12.007
- Sochas, L. (2019). Women who break the rules: Social exclusion and inequities in pregnancy and childbirth experiences in Zambia. *Social Science and Medicine*, 232, 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.013
- Solnes Miltenburg, A., van Pelt, S., Meguid, T., & Sundby, J. (2018). Disrespect and abuse in maternity care: individual consequences of structural violence. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 26(53), 88–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/09688080.2018.1502023

- Sosa, R. (1986). Effects of social support during parturition on maternal and infant morbidity. *British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 293(6547), 585–587. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.293.6547.585
- Souza, J. P., Gülmezoglu, A. M., Vogel, J., Carroli, G., Lumbiganon, P., Qureshi, Z., Costa, M. J., Fawole, B., Mugerwa, Y., Nafiou, I., Neves, I., Wolomby-Molondo, J. J., Bang, H. T., Cheang, K., Chuyun, K., Jayaratne, K., Jayathilaka, C. A., Mazhar, S. B., Mori, R., ... Say, L. (2013). Moving beyond essential interventions for reduction of maternal mortality (the WHO Multicountry Survey on Maternal and Newborn Health): A cross-sectional study. *The Lancet*, *381*(9879), 1747–1755. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60686-8
- Srivastava, A., Avan, B. I., Rajbangshi, P., & Bhattacharyya, S. (2015). Determinants of women's satisfaction with maternal health care: A review of literature from developing countries. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-015-0525-0
- Steen, M., Downe, S., Bamford, N., & Edozien, L. (2012). Not-patient and not-visitor: A metasynthesis fathers' encounters with pregnancy, birth and maternity care. *Midwifery*, 28(4), 422–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2011.06.009
- Sudhinaraset, M., Afulani, P., Diamond-Smith, N., Bhattacharyya, S., Donnay, F., & Montagu, D. (2017). Advancing a conceptual model to improve maternal health quality: The personcentered care framework for reproductive health equity. *Gates Open Research*, 1. https://doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.12756.1
- Sudhinaraset, M., Giessler, K., Golub, G., & Afulani, P. (2019). Providers and women's perspectives on person-centered maternity care: A mixed methods study in Kenya. In *International Journal for Equity in Health* (Vol. 18, Issue 1, p. 83). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-0980-8
- Sudhinaraset, M., Landrian, A., Afulani, P., Diamond-Smith, N., & Golub, G. (2020). Association between person-centered maternity care and newborn complications in Kenya. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 148(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.12978
- Sudhinaraset, M., Landrian, A., Golub, G. M., Cotter, S. Y., & Afulani, P. A. (2021). Personcentered maternity care and postnatal health: associations with maternal and newborn health outcomes. *AJOG Global Reports*, 1(1), 100005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xagr.2021.100005
- Tama, E., Molyneux, S., Waweru, E., Tsofa, B., Chuma, J., & Barasa, E. (2018). Examining the Implementation of the Free Maternity Services Policy in Kenya: A Mixed Methods Process Evaluation. *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*, 7(7), 603–613. https://doi.org/10.15171/IJHPM.2017.135
- The World Bank. (2017). *Maternal mortality ratio (modeled estimate, per 100,000 live births.* https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.STA.MMRT

- The World Bank. (2019). Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2017 : Estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division (Vol. 2) (English).
- Tokhi, M., Comrie-Thomson, L., Davis, J., Portela, A., Chersich, M., & Luchters, S. (2018). Involving men to improve maternal and newborn health: A systematic review of the effectiveness of interventions. *PloS One*, *13*(1), e0191620. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191620
- Tunçalp, Were, W. M., Maclennan, C., Oladapo, O. T., Gülmezoglu, A. M., Bahl, R., Daelmans, B., Mathai, M., Say, L., Kristensen, F., Temmerman, M., & Bustreo, F. (2015). Quality of care for pregnant women and newborns - The WHO vision. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *122*(8), 1045–1049. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13451
- UN Habitat. (2015). *Slum Almanac 2015-2016: Tracking Improvement in the Lives of Slum Dwellers*.
- UN joint programme on reproductive maternal newborn child and adolescent health 2016-2020. (2017). *Reducing preventable maternal, newborn, and child deaths in ten high-burden counties in Kenya.*
- UN Population Division. (1994). *Cairo Declaration on Population & Development, ICPPD* (No. 94-09–04). UN Population Division, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, UNFPA.
- UNDP Kenya, & Ministry of Devolution and Planning. (2013). *Millennium Development Goals* Status Report for Kenya 2013.
- UNICEF. (2017). *Child poverty in Kenya: A multidimensional approach*. https://www.unicef.org/esa/media/1356/file/UNICEF-Kenya-2017-Child-Poverty.pdf
- UNICEF Kenya. (2018). *Situation Analysis of Children and Women in Kenya*, 2017. https://www.unicef.org/kenya/media/136/file/SITAN-report-2017-pdf.pdf
- Upadhyay, U. D., & Karasek, D. (2012). Women's empowerment and ideal family size: an examination of DHS empowerment measures in sub-Saharan Africa. *International Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 38(2), 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1363/3807812
- van der Pijl, M. S. G., Kasperink, M., Hollander, M. H., Verhoeven, C., Kingma, E., & de Jonge, A. (2021). Client-care provider interaction during labour and birth as experienced by women: Respect, communication, confidentiality and autonomy. *PLOS ONE*, 16(2), e0246697. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0246697
- Vedam, S., Stoll, K., McRae, D. N., Korchinski, M., Velasquez, R., Wang, J., Partridge, S., McRae, L., Martin, R. E., & Jolicoeur, G. (2019). Patient-led decision making: Measuring autonomy and respect in Canadian maternity care. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 102(3), 586–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.10.023

- Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., & Liukkonen, A. (1998). Fathers' experiences of childbirth. *Midwifery*, 14(1), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0266-6138(98)90109-7
- Velleman, P. F., & Welsch, R. E. (1981). Efficient computing of regression diagnostics. *American Statistician*, 35(4), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1981.10479362
- von Dadelszen, P., & Magee, L. A. (2016). Preventing deaths due to the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Best Practice & Research. Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *36*, 83. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BPOBGYN.2016.05.005
- Wairoto, K. G., Joseph, N. K., Macharia, P. M., & Okiro, E. A. (2020). Determinants of subnational disparities in antenatal care utilisation: a spatial analysis of demographic and health survey data in Kenya. In *BMC Health Services Research* (Vol. 20, Issue 1, pp. 1–12). BioMed Central. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05531-9
- Wanyenze, E. W., Byamugisha, J. K., Tumwesigye, N. M., Muwanguzi, P. A., & Nalwadda, G. K. (2022). A qualitative exploratory interview study on birth companion support actions for women during childbirth. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 22(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-022-04398-4/TABLES/4
- Warren, C. E., Njue, R., Ndwiga, C., & Abuya, T. (2017). Manifestations and drivers of mistreatment of women during childbirth in Kenya: Implications for measurement and developing interventions. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 17(1), 102. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1288-6
- WHO. (2006). *Quality of care : a process for making strategic choices in health systems*. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43470
- WHO. (2007). People-Centred Health Care: A policy framework.
- WHO. (2013). Support during labour and childbirth. In *Counselling for Maternal and Newborn Health Care: A Handbook for Building Skills*. World Health Organization. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK304186/
- WHO. (2015). Strategies toward ending preventable maternal mortality (EPMM). In *WHO*. World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2016a). *Companion of choice during labour and childbirth for improved quality of care* . https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13451
- WHO. (2016b). Framework on integrated, people-centred health services: Report by the Secretariat. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/174536/1/9789241564977_eng.pdf?ua=1,
- WHO. (2016c). Midwives' voices, midwives' realities report 2016. In *WHO*. World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/midwives-voices-realities/en/

- WHO. (2016d). *WHO standards of care to improve maternal and newborn quality of care in facilities*. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/mca-documents/advisory-groups/quality-of-care/standards-for-improving-quality-of-maternal-and-newborn-care-in-health-facilities.pdf?sfvrsn=3b364d8_2
- WHO. (2017a). SDG 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages. In *WHO*. World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2017b). Working with Individuals, Families and Communities to Improve Maternal and Newborn Health A Toolkit for Implementation.
- WHO. (2018). *WHO recommendations: intrapartum care for a positive childbirth experience.* World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2019). Trends in Maternal Mortality 2000-2017.
- Wicks, T. (2021). Elevating Black Pregnant Voices for Self-Advocacy. *Journal for Equity*, 1(1). http://journalforequity.com/journalforequity/article/view/4
- Widarsson, M., Engström, G., Tydén, T., Lundberg, P., & Hammar, L. M. (2015). "Paddling upstream": Fathers' involvement during pregnancy as described by expectant fathers and mothers. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 24(7–8), 1059–1068. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12784
- Wirth, M., Sacks, E., Delamonica, E., Storeygard-, A., Minujin, A., & Balk, D. (2008).
 "Delivering" on the MDGs?: equity and maternal health in Ghana, Ethiopia and Kenya. *East African Journal of Public Health*, 5(3), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.4314/eajph.v5i3.38991
- Wittmann-Price, R. A. (2004). Emancipation in decision-making in women's health care. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 47(4), 437–445. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03121.x
- Wubs, E., Brals, D., van der List, M., & Elbers, C. (2016). Lessons learned from a maternal health study in Nandi County, Kenya.
- Yuenyong, S., Jirapaet, V., & O'brien Rn, B. A. (2008). Support from a Close Female Relative in Labour: The Ideal Maternity Nursing Intervention in Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai, 91(2). http://www.medassocthai.org/journal
- Zhang, J., Bernasko, J. W., Leybovich, E., Fahs, M., & Hatch, M. C. (1996). Continuous labor support from labor attendant for primiparous women: A meta-analysis. In *Obstetrics and Gynecology* (Vol. 88, Issue 4 II SUPPL., pp. 739–744). Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. https://doi.org/10.1016/0029-7844(96)00232-3